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Transmit Entertainment Limited
(Stock code: 1326)

As a diverse development enterprise focusing on film, television
and variety show content creation and production with the spirit
of business value “Enabling”, Transmit Entertainment Limited
principally engages in (i) film, TV series and variety show production,
distribution and licensing of film rights; (ii) film exhibition; (iii) pan
entertainment (including artiste and celebrity agency business as
well as pan entertainment businesses along the value chain); and
(iv) other businesses. The Group strives to realize the development
strategy in relation to the stay-at-home economy and brand diversity.
In addition, the Group endeavors to develop its self-owned full
industry chain model and construct a unique soft power desirable to
the Group through persistently combined resources of scriptwriters,
directors and artistes to offer quality content, nurture talented
artistes and explore, cultivate and create popular film and television
copyright.

Taking advantages of online platforms to cultivate new artistes and
celebrities, the Group will also proactively explore and develop its
self-owned retail brand targeting young consumers by continuously
identifying business opportunities in relation to the stay-at-home
economy on four aspects including online stream, short videos,
celebrity cultivation and traffic monetization with the aim to focus on
film, television and variety show as its business direction following
the Group's core. Meanwhile, the Group attaches great importance
to expanding its business dimension through collaboration with
partners and establishing more sophisticated upstream and
downstream industry chains by enriching the industry layout with
physical products, thereby seizing new opportunities arising from
the pan entertainment business.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
ERERE

On behalf of the board of directors (the “Board”) of Transmit Entertainment
Limited (“Transmit Entertainment” or the “Company”), | am pleased to present
to you the annual results of the Company and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) for

the year ended 30 June 2021.
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During the year under review, despite gradual recovery from the
impact of the novel coronavirus pandemic, the global economy
remained overcast by considerable uncertainties; with prevention
and control measures actively brought into play, in addition to the
gradual release of domestic demands, the economy in China has
seen a robust trend of recovery well in advance. In 2020, China’s
GDP grew 2.3% year-on-year, being the only major economy
worldwide to achieve positive economic growth. According to a
report published by the World Bank in June 2021, it is expected that
the economy of China will record a strong growth of 8.9% in 2021,
exceeding the global growth of 5.6%, taking the lead in the regional
and global economic recovery.

With the number of internet users in China exceeding 1 billion for
the first time, the increasing demand for diverse entertainment
content creates ample room in the market for production of high-
quality series and variety shows. According to the data published
by the China Internet Network Information Center, the number
of Chinese netizens increased from 710 million in June 2016 to
1,011 million in June 2021, representing a CAGR of 7.33%, thereby
becoming the largest digital society in the world. In particular, the
number of online video users increased from 514 million in June
2016 to 944 million in June 2021, representing a CAGR of 12.93%,
which is favourable for refined and differentiated development of
the video content creation market.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
EREwE

To keep up with current trends and entertainment preferences of
young people, Transmit Entertainment will continue to focus on
creative production and branding of series and variety shows. We
will seize the development opportunities brought by the upgrade of
entertainment content consumption by carefully selecting topics for
film and TV, and rolling out more high-quality works together with
our scriptwriters, directors and artistes.

To conclude, on behalf of the Board, | would like to take this
opportunity to convey my most sincere gratitude to all our
shareholders, partners and dedicated senior management team
for their long-term care and support and to all the staff for their
unremitting efforts.

Zhang Liang, Johnson
Chairman

27 September 2021
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BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group is principally engaged in (i) film, TV series and variety
show production, distribution and licensing of film rights; (ii) film
exhibition; (iii) pan entertainment; and (iv) other businesses. The
Group mainly produces Chinese films, variety shows and TV series
in both Mainland China and Hong Kong. It also operates one Hong
Kong based cinema. During the year ended 30 June 2021, the
Group further advanced the “Stay-at-Home Economy” and its brand
diversification strategy. The Group's proportion of revenue from
Mainland China increased by 19.1 percentage points year-on-year to
approximately 83.7% from approximately 64.6% last year. Mainland
China continued to be the major source of revenue and business
growth for the Group.

Following the development of the industry and the entertainment
tastes of young viewers, the Group has continued to focus on the
development and production of outstanding variety contents, while
actively exploring innovative business models such as web series,
online movies and short videos. For the year ended 30 June 2021,
film, TV series and variety show production and distribution business
remained as the core business of the Group with reported revenue
of approximately HK$205.3 million, representing a decrease of
approximately 33.1% as compared to last year, mainly due to the
fact that no new movie was released during the year ended 30
June 2021, and certain TV series and variety shows were still in
production, the revenue of which was not yet recognized in the year.

The 24-episode new urban idol drama “The Trick of Life and Love”,
directed by Li Yangian, was launched on the video website Mango
TV in May 2021. It continued to arouse heated discussions among
audiences on multiple internet platforms such as Weibo, Maoyan,
and Douban, quickly occupied the major hot lists such as the Guduo
Heat Index rankings (& =2 5 EBE{T1%) and the Beacon Real-time
Broadcast Volume rankings (&35 B EIREHE1TES). At the same
time, the megahit reality show “The Detectives’ Adventures” was
aired on the video website iQlYI in May 2021. Through restoring
the classic scenes of many popular film and television works, it
was integrated into script killing and room escape, which are the
two forms of entertainment that is widely popular among young
audiences, and has repeatedly appeared on Weibo's hot searches,
which has aroused heated discussions among fans all over the
network. In addition, the urban romantic drama “Miss Crow and Mr.
Lizard”, directed by Wu Qiang, was exclusively aired on Tencent
Video in April 2021; the urban romantic drama “How Adorable the
Programmer” (2% 8 #E A] &) adapted from a popular comic strip,
has been broadcasted in September 2021 on Tencent Video; the
costume sweet-pet web drama “Xu Chunchun’s Camellia Luck”
(FRAE 4B A TEHE) has been completed in February 2021 and will be
broadcasted exclusively on iQIYI.

TRANSMIT ENTERTAINMENT LIMITED Annual Report 2020/21

E 3 e

AEBFEREBNEY  ERBEIRLEEEE
BIYE « BT RIRHBEEEITEERA ¢ (i)
BB () IREE  R(iv)H AR - R
EUFERNSEESAEEMSE  WIEER
B  HMEFHBERERE - UKE—HED
B c HE2021F6A30B IEFE » A&
EiE— D [ BB I RmEE T ba
B - NEER AP E ARG
FEA191EBE DB - HETF464.6%1E N0
£4983.7% & RE A E A AREBHIRA
REBRENEBZRIR -

BETENERPENFEH T RED
K AEEBEZINESTREZERNEN
HERE RANBERETEGAFEXNE
Bl - BREY  ORBASEBFRE -HE
2021F6 A30RIEFE » B « BREI LR
EEHBRIERBITERNAREBNZLE
%o BN E N ABE206.38 8L BREF
AL HI33.1%  EEHRAEBEREE2021
FOANALFEYEREFL LM MAT
EREMGERERBRNEREEY - K
EIEARNFEEARER ©

HEREREN24EHTHBERE (EE D
REEE)EN2021F5 AER AR IEERTY
FE - ENE - HE - SREZERKTE
SES|EERMEZ R TRREEE S
EEIREHEITE - BEBERERTES
FZREFIEE - AR EEREEREEA
FCHAFREERR) D R2021455 AR SE48 4
EHEREL  BEERFZHMZERERN
HUSE - BEABIARE R R ARRT
FEEREBEMNREERN - 205 EREER
Sl EMAT ARG o YN REBEHFE
mETREEBE(EH/MEENIG L) E
R2021F4 A ERAMBABREL RS
AREENHTREEBE(IERFEAER
EYBR2021FIAEBAMGIRE L « HEH
MBI EIEE) ER2021F2 A%
T EBREFEBREDLD -



During the year ended 30 June 2021, market sentiment continued
to be weak due to the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic, and
the Hong Kong Government's control and social distancing
measures for public entertainment venues such as cinemas also
had a significant negative impact on our operations, resulting in
a significant decline in revenue from the film exhibition business.
The Group's film exhibition segment experienced unprecedented
challenges as its cinemas were intermittently closed during the
year ended 30 June 2021, resulting in a significant decrease in
size of audience compared to last year. The Group’s film exhibition
revenue decreased by approximately 55.1% to approximately
HK$62.8 million for the year as compared to last year, accounting for
approximately 13.7% of the Group's total revenue.

Considering that the COVID-19 pandemic has brought about
a challenging business environment for the film exhibition
business, the Group disposed partial equity interests in the film
exhibition business aiming to reallocate financial resources to
other businesses with higher development potential, thereby
generating better returns for shareholders of the Company (the
“Shareholders”). The disposal transaction was completed on 26
May 2021. Thereafter, in accordance with a management agreement
and a supplemental agreement entered into between the Group,
Cinema City (WL) Limited and Mandarin Motion Pictures Limited,
the Group earned fees for the operation of Langham Place Cinema
within the term of the agreement. The management believes that
the above-mentioned strategic measures will have a positive impact
on the Group's future results and financial performance. For further
details of the disposal and the management agreement, please refer
to the announcements of the Group dated 18 January 2021 and 26
May 2021, respectively.

During the year ended 30 June 2021, the Group continued to
improve its industry chain and broaden its revenue base to capture
the “Stay-at-Home Economy” business opportunities. With
booming fan base of internet celebrities under our management
across all platforms, the Group's influence and live commerce ability
in vertical market segments continued to grow. Combined with the
resources advantage of celebrity marketing, the Group launched
light luxury beauty brands during the year ended 30 June 2021 with
a focus on creating beauty boutiques for young female consumers
through precise marketing.
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For artiste and internet celebrity agency business, a number of TV
series that our artiste, Yang Chaoyue starred in, including “The
Promise of Chang'an”, “Midsummer is Full of Love” and “Dance
of the Phoenix"”, were officially released, and the megahit TV series
“The Ideal City” in which she played a role has been broadcasted
in August 2021 on the video website iQlYI, and “Heroes” is also
expected to be broadcasted in the second half of 2021. Meanwhile,
Li Yitong, our artiste, has been on the top search list for the hit TV
series “Dear Missy”, and “Dt. Appledog’s Time"” and “Court Lady”,
in which she played a role, has been broadcasted during February
to April 2021, while “The Dark Clouds Meet the Bright Moon"” has
been completed in February 2021.

Benefiting from the continued growth in business scale, the Group's
pan entertainment and other businesses recorded a total revenue
of approximately HK$188.8 million for the year, representing a
significant increase of approximately 920.2% as compared to
approximately HK$18.5 million last year. This business segment
achieved a profit turnaround during the year ended 30 June 2021
and recorded a profit of approximately HK$41.0 million (30 June
2020: loss of approximately HK$23.1 million).

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue of the Group for the year amounted to approximately
HK$457.0 million, representing a decrease of approximately HK$8.5
million or 1.8% as compared to last year, mainly contributed by
revenue from the pan entertainment and the other segments,
and the business segments of film, TV series and variety show
production and distribution of approximately HK$188.8 million and
HK$205.3 million, respectively.

For the film, TV series and variety show production and distribution
segment, the Group recorded revenue mainly from TV series, variety
show, script writing and directing during the year ended 30 June
2021. The Group recorded revenue from sales of certain movie and
television copyrights last year, while there was no such revenue
recorded during the year ended 30 June 2021. For the film exhibition
segment, due to the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic, market
sentiment was still weak during the year ended 30 June 2021,
resulting in a significant decrease in the revenue from film exhibition
business. For the pan entertainment and the other segments, the
Group recorded a total revenue of approximately HK$188.8 million
from artiste management services and sale of merchandise under
self-owned retail brands during the year ended 30 June 2021,
representing a significant increase of approximately 920.2% as
compared to last year. This was mainly benefited from the growth in
agency and celebrity business.
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Gross profit of the Group was approximately HK$131.1 million,
representing a decrease of approximately HK$42.6 million or
approximately 24.5% as compared to last year. Gross profit
margin for the year decreased year-on-year by approximately 8.6
percentage points to approximately 28.7%, mainly due to the fact
that the revenue recorded during the year was mainly derived from
scriptwriting and directing, and the Group also recorded revenue
from disposal of certain films and television copyrights with a higher
gross profit margin last year. During the year ended 30 June 2021,
the gross profit margin of scriptwriting and directing business
remained the same as compared to last year.

During the year ended 30 June 2021, other gains and losses and
other income was approximately HK$185.7 million, representing
an increase of approximately HK$146.1 million or approximately
369.4% as compared to last year, which was mainly due to a one-
off gain of HK$114.6 million on a disposal of partial equity interests
in the film exhibition business completed on 26 May 2021 by the
Group and the rent concessions from landlords and government
subsidies from the Hong Kong Government received by our
cinemas.

Selling and distribution expenses decreased by approximately
HK$22.3 million or 12.3% from approximately HK$181.8 million
last year to approximately HK$159.5 million for the year, which
was mainly due to the fact that the Group completed the disposal
of partial equity interests in the film exhibition business on 26 May
2021, reducing the sales and distribution expenses of the related
film exhibition business.

Administrative expenses increased by approximately HK$21.4
million or approximately 35.1% from approximately HK$61.0 million
last year to approximately HK$82.4 million for the year, which was
attributable to the ordinary administrative expenses incurred by the
expanding pan entertainment business, in particular, Wenlan, a non-
wholly owned subsidiary acquired in March 2020.
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The Group's loss and total comprehensive income attributable to
owners of the Company for the year amounted to approximately
HK$7.6 million (30 June 2020: loss of approximately HK$126.6
million) and approximately HK$16.5 million (30 June 2020: total
comprehensive expense of approximately HK$128.1 million)
respectively.

The decrease in loss for the year was mainly caused by (i) the
continuous weakened market sentiment during the year ended 30
June 2021 due to the COVID-19 pandemic, and mandatory closure
of cinemas and social distancing measures implemented by the
Hong Kong Government, resulting in a significant decrease in the
revenue from the film exhibition business. On 26 May 2021, the
Group completed a disposal of partial equity interests in the film
exhibition business, generating a one-off gain of HK$114.6 million
on such disposal; (ii) the impairment loss of property, plant and
equipment related to movie theater operation and the impairment
loss of right-of-use assets were recorded at approximately HK$31.1
million last year, and no such impairment loss was recorded during
the year ended 30 June 2021; and (iii) revenue recorded from sales
of certain movie and television copyrights last year, while there
was no such revenue recorded during the year ended 30 June
2021. The decrease was offset by results generated from the pan
entertainment segment, including increasing revenue from artiste
management services and sale of merchandise under self-owned
retail brands.

IMPAIRMENT LOSS ON RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS
AND PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
(“IMPAIRMENT")

As disclosed in note 43, the Group completed the disposal of the
equity interests in numerous subsidiaries that operate the film
exhibition business of four Hong Kong cinemas on 26 May 2021.

The Impairment for the year amounted to HK$Nil (2020: HK$31.1
million) was made on right-of-use assets derived from the lease
agreements of several cinemas in Hong Kong operated by the Group
(the “Cinemas”) and property, plant and equipment in relation to the
Cinemas, which was determined after considering the difference
between the recoverable amount based on value in use calculations
and the carrying value as at 30 June 2021 and 30 June 2020. The
Cinemas located in Hong Kong have been operating for years and
the management assessed the income to be generated therefrom
after taking into account of the factors explained in the section
headed "Circumstances leading to the Impairment” below.
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The relevant Cinemas (not including the buildings) were developed
by the Group on its own and were not acquired from third parties,
and the relevant right-of-use assets and property, plants and
equipment in relation to the Cinemas was acquired at various time
from the relevant suppliers in the course of the establishment of the
Cinemas.

Circumstances leading to the Impairment

For the years ended 30 June 2021 and 30 June 2020, the
management of the Company assessed the carrying value and
recoverable amount of the right-of-use assets and property, plants
and equipment in relation to the Cinemas after taking into account of
the following factors:

(@)  the global economic downturn since mid-2019 which leads to
the expected decline of occupancy rate of the Cinemas;

(b)  the change of the movie industry atmosphere in Hong Kong
and the expected slowdown in shooting of international
blockbuster movie, and thus the expected decline in the box
office in the forthcoming year;

(c) the decrease in movie viewers since the first quarter of 2020
due to the adverse impact of the novel coronavirus disease
(COVID-19) outbreak;

(d) the review and comparison of the budget of the Cinemas
prepared for the year and the actual income and profit
generated from the Cinemas during the period, and found that
there is a material shortfall from the projected income and
operating profit; and

(e) the need to adopt a reasonable approach in evaluating the
cashflow to be generated from the cinema operation by the
adoption of a discount rate of 13.3% (30 June 2020: 13%) with
reference to the use of weighted average costs of capital when
the recoverable amount was determined based on value in use
calculations.

The above factors were identified close to the end of the years
ended 30 June 2021 and 30 June 2020 and assessed and considered
during the course of the preparation of the annual financial
information of the Company for the years ended 30 June 2021 and
30 June 2020. The above factors were not anticipated nor taken into
account when the development plan of the relevant Cinemas was
implemented.
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The method, basis and key assumptions used in

determining the amount of the Impairment and the

recoverable amount
The Impairment relied on the assessment based on the discount
cash flow method (“DCF"). DCF is adopted because:

(a)

the entire carrying amount of the right-of-use assets and
property, plants and equipment was tested for impairment
in accordance with the HKAS 36 issued by the HKICPA by
comparing its recoverable amount with its carrying amount;
and

the Group adopted the DCF method under the income-based
approach in arriving at the value in use. According to the HKAS
36, measuring value in use of an entity should consider an
estimate of the future cash flows the entity expects to derive
from the asset. Therefore, the Company adopted the DCF and
that the asset-based approach and market based approach
were not applicable.

The basis and key assumptions used in the assessment are as
follows:

(a)

the Group recognised the impairment loss on right-of-
use assets and property, plants and equipment due to the
deteriorating economic environment and intense competition
in the market of cinema and film exhibition;

the economic downturn will be a mid-to-long term one and
the performance of occupancy rate of the cinema and the box
office will not rebound in a short period taking into account the
declining economic performance of Hong Kong and the PRC
and the uncertainties brought by the intensification of the trade
war between the United States of America and the PRC as well
as the outbreak of novel coronavirus disease (COVID-19);

the interest rate of the banking facilities obtained by the Group
for the operation of the Cinemas will not decrease substantially
in the foreseeable period and hence affecting the discount rate
used when adopting the DCF approach; and

for the impairment testing, the recoverable amount was
determined based on value in use calculations which was
performed by management. The calculation uses cash flow
projections of the Group based on financial budgets approved
by the management of the Company covering a lease term
period of the Cinemas and a pre-tax discount rate of 13.3% (30
June 2020: 13.5%). The key assumption includes the future
expected cash flows based on management's view of future
business prospects and past performance of the Group.
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Taking into account of the above factors and the reasonable
approach in adopting the relevant accounting standard and the more
suitable discount rate when making cash flow projections, the Board
considers that the Impairment is fair and reasonable.

Taking into account the challenging environment of film exhibition
business brought about by the COVID-19 pandemic, the Group has
reallocated its financial resources to the other businesses, which
have higher development potential, by disposing partial equity
interests of the film exhibition business, in order to generate more
return for the Shareholders. The disposal was completed on 26
May 2021. Subsequent to the disposal, pursuant to a management
agreement and a supplemental agreement entered by the Group
with Cinema City (WL) Limited and Mandarin Motion Pictures
Limited, the Group earns fee for the operation of the Langham
Cinema during the term of the agreements. The management
believes that the above strategies and measures will proactively
pose a positive effect on the Group's future results and financial
performance. Please refer to the Group’s announcements dated 18
January 2021 and 26 May 2021 respectively for further information
on the disposal and the management agreement.

LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND
CAPITAL STRUCTURE

As at 30 June 2021, the Group’s bank balances and cash amounted
to approximately HK$103.8 million (30 June 2020: approximately
HK$112.3 million), which are denominated mainly in HKS$, United
States Dollar ("US$") and Renminbi ("RMB").

As at 30 June 2021, the Group’s total debts, including bank and
other borrowings, bonds payable, loans from related companies
and a controlling shareholder amounted to approximately HK$96.6
million, approximately HK$27.6 million, approximately HK$189.0
million and approximately HK$38.6 million, respectively (30 June
2020: approximately HK$67.0 million, approximately HK$51.5
million, approximately HK$120.0 million and approximately
HK$27.5 million, respectively). As at 30 June 2021, the gearing
ratio, representing the ratio of total debts to the total assets, was
approximately 21.6% (30 June 2020: approximately 14.9%).

As at 16 May 2019, 16 September 2019 and 24 February 2020, the
Group and Royston Securities Limited (the “Placing Agent”) entered
into a placing agreement, pursuant to which the Placing Agent
conditionally agreed to procure, on a best efforts basis, placees to
subscribe in cash for the bonds in an aggregate principal amount
of up to HK$150,000,000 during the placing period. Details of the
placing of bonds are set out in the announcements of the Company
dated 16 May 2019, 16 September 2019, 24 February 2020 and 21
August 2020 respectively. As at 30 June 2021, the Group’s bonds
payable amounted to approximately HK$27.6 million.
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As at 30 June 2021, the Group had total non-current assets of
approximately HK$793.2 million (30 June 2020: approximately
HK$1,308.9 million), net current liabilities of approximately HK$31.3
million (30 June 2020: net current liabilities of approximately
HK$126.3 million) and net assets of approximately HK$249.8 million
(30 June 2020: approximately HK$205.6 million). The current ratio
of the Group, representing the ratio of current assets to current
liabilities, was approximately 0.96 as at 30 June 2021 (30 June 2020:
approximately 0.79).

During the year ended 30 June 2021, the Group mainly funded its
liquidity by bank and other borrowings, bonds, loans from related
companies and the controlling shareholder, and resources generated
internally. The Group’s financial resources are sufficient to support
its business and operations. The Group would also consider other
financing activities when appropriate business opportunities arise
under favourable market conditions.

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS

As at 18 January 2021, Cinema City Group Limited, a wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company, and a purchaser (a company
beneficially owned by Mr. Wong Pak Ming, a director of certain
subsidiaries of the Company who is deemed as the connected
person of the Company) entered into an agreement. Pursuant
to which, the purchaser purchased the entire equity interests in
Cinema City (WL) Limited, which holds Cinema City (Hong Kong)
Limited, Cinema City (Chai Wan) Limited, Cinema City (TW) Limited
and Screen Media & Promotion Limited, at the consideration of
HK$108.2 million. The disposal was completed on 26 May 2021.
Upon completion of the disposal, Cinema City (WL) Limited and
the Company entered into a management agreement, in respect of
the management of the Cinema located in Langham Place, Mong
Kok and the Company, Cinema City (WL) Limited and Mandarin
Motion Pictures Limited entered into a supplemental agreement,
under which Mandarin Motion Pictures Limited agreed to provide
the Company with management services during the terms of the
agreement. The management agreement will constitute an exempt
continuing connected transaction of the Company. Please refer to
the Company's circular dated 25 February 2021 and announcements
dated 18 January 2021 and 26 May 2021, respectively, for further
information on the disposal, the management agreement and the
supplemental agreement.

Save as disclosed above, there were no other significant
investments, material acquisition and disposal of subsidiaries,
associates and joint ventures by the Group for the year ended
30 June 2021 and there was no plan authorised by the Board for
material investments or additions of capital assets during the year
ended 30 June 2021.
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HUMAN RESOURCES

As at 30 June 2021, the Group employed a total of 220 permanent
employees (30 June 2020: 308) in Mainland China and Hong Kong.
The total salaries and wages, including the Directors’ remuneration
and part-time workers' salary, amounted to approximately HK$58.4
million during the year ended 30 June 2021 (30 June 2020:
approximately HK$50.5 million).

The Group offers remuneration packages for employees mainly
based on their performances and experiences, and with reference
to prevailing industry practices. In addition to enrolling our new
employees into the mandatory provident fund scheme in Hong Kong
and the State-managed pension scheme in the PRC and making
contributions for them on a periodic basis, the Group also provides
medical coverage, internal and external training programs and
grants share options and discretionary bonuses to employees based
on employees’ individual performances and the Group's overall
performance. The Group reviews the remuneration policies and
packages on a regular basis.

CHARGE ON ASSETS

As at 30 June 2021, the Group had bank deposits amounting to
approximately HK$0.7 million (30 June 2020: approximately HK$0.7
million) that were pledged to banks for the bank guarantee provided
to a subsidiary of the Group regarding its due payment under a
cinema equipment rental agreement. The Group’s bank borrowings
of RMB33,000,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$39,600,000)
were secured by pledged bank deposits of HK$21,000,000 and
guaranteed by an insurance company in the PRC, and loan advances
of RMB45,000,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$55,756,000)
from a third party company were secured by trade receivable
amounting to RMB19,705,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$23,647,000).

ANEIR

R2021F6A30H * REERFRHAMRE
BAEEEB220% 2B E 8 (2020966 A30
H :308%) c #E202146 A30H It FE -
e TEBE(RIEEERRBETIMS)
HEEEES8. 4B & IT(2020F6 A308 : 4978
#5056 BB TT) °

AEETZREEBEZRREERIZ2ER
TTEERRRSRERHFHEBE -BRTH
HPHFEERERNELESE(FR)
LREERASTE (FE)ITEHREEIE
HEFSN - AEETREBERR - AE R
SMEBIERIERIZ A R ENME B 2 A AR K AR
SEZERRANEEREBRENRBIEE
Ao AEEETEREMFIBER LTS -

EEMT

MR2021F6 A30H  "EB B AEHHBE
0.7BE T(2020F6 B30H : #yB%0.78H
BT ZRITHEHERFRITURGBAEER
—HNBARREREREERAERHEE
TZ R FIRE ZRITER - AEE®
$R1THE A R #33,000,0007T (FHE R 4745
# 39,600,000 7T ) LA B 4K # 4R 17 17 Z B M
21,000,000 L EHE M K B —HE R ERBR D
AIREER MEE—HEZALFINE
B A R 45,000,000 7T (HBE R 45
¥ 55,756,0007C ) LA B S EW KR IE AR
19,705,0007T (18 M 494 #23,647,0007T )
YEI IR o

BRIREBR AT 2020/21 F#

I



TREASURY POLICY

The Group’s business operations were conducted mainly in PRC
and Hong Kong with transactions principally denominated in HKS,
US$ and RMB. The monetary assets and liabilities are denominated
mainly in HK$, US$ and RMB. Apart from HK$, which is pegged to
USS$, any significant exchange rate fluctuations of HK$ against RMB
may have a financial impact on the Group. As the foreign exchange
risks arising from sales and purchases can be eliminated against
each other, and the fluctuations of RMB during the year had no
significant impact on the costs and operations of the Group for the
year, the Directors do not foresee significant risk in exchange rate
fluctuation. Currently, the Group has not entered into any financial
instrument for hedging purposes. However, the Group will closely
monitor its overall foreign exchange exposures and interest rate
exposures, and consider hedging against the exposures should the
need arise.

CAPITAL COMMITMENT

As at 30 June 2020 and 2021, the Group did not have any significant
capital commitments.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 30 June 2020 and 2021, the Group did not have any significant
contingent liabilities.
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OUTLOOK

Looking forward, the Group will continue to focus on the
development of film and television production business as well as
artiste and celebrity agency business in Mainland China, and strives
to develop a pan entertainment business and integrate upstream
and downstream industry chains by proactively expanding various
realization channels from downstream industry chains in a bid to
attain our strategic deployment of firmly combining our strengths
and resources. Taking advantages of ample resources of online
platforms to cultivate new artistes and celebrities, the Group will
also proactively explore and develop its self-owned retail brand
targeting young consumers to further diversify the revenue base
by continuously identifying business opportunities in relation to the
stay-at-home economy on four aspects including online stream,
short videos, celebrity cultivation and traffic monetization.

The inspiring urban workplace TV series “The Ideal City”
independently produced by the Group, in which Sun Li (#&#&) and
Zhao You Ting (#X3E) starred as protagonists, was broadcasted
on the video site iQlYI exclusively in August 2021. Having a realistic
plot and portrayal of characters with depth, this series depicts a vivid
and unconventional image of a workplace community, which has
become a well acclaimed domestically produced workplace drama
in the summer of 2021. Since its launch, the series has continuously
initiated broad attention and discussion online, and achieved an
excellent performance with a 7.8 rating on Douban and heat of
8000+ on iQlYI. At the same time, a number of projects of the Group
are currently under production, including TV dramas “Romance in
the City” (3{/& A )and “Holding My Koi Husband” (38{E 348481 ).
With the good performance and online popularity of the first and
second seasons, the Group is also considering to produce the third
season of “I Love You, Me Too"” in order to create a self-developed
multi-season variety show brand. In addition, the Group will develop
film and television production of a series of popular copyrighted
works of fiction including “Love Destiny” (BB XE.), “Wishful Egg”
(tnE %), "Peach Blossom Debt” (#k{Ef&) and “Locard’'s Theory”
OB FRER).
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The Group’s management believes that as the business gradually
recovers from the effects of COVID-19 pandemic and the PRC
market continues to lead the economy of the Asia-Pacific region
towards recovery, the Group's business operation will fully return to
its pre-pandemic level, the constant enhancement of the capability
of the production teams and the variety of film and television
copyrights reserve will benefit the Group in continuously grasping
development opportunities in the PRC market, allowing business
to grow steadily and unceasingly in the future. As a diverse
development enterprise focusing on film, television and variety
show content creation and production with the spirit of business
value “Enabling”, the Group will make good use of the combined
resources of scriptwriting, directing and celebrity to cultivate,
explore and create popular films and television copyrights by
continuously offering quality content and nurturing talented artistes
in order to develop its self-owned full industry chain model and build
up a unique soft power, thereby continuously enhancing profitability,
sharpening competitive edges in the industry and generating
favorable long term returns for the Group’s Shareholders.
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Mr. Zhang Liang, Johnson (“Mr. Zhang”), aged 40, was
appointed as an executive Director and the chairman of the Board
on 13 December 2017. Mr. Zhang is responsible for the overall
corporate and business development and strategic direction of
the Group, and provides leadership for the Board of Directors. He
is an entrepreneur in various industries, including real estate and
energy etc. Mr. Zhang has more than 10 years of experience in
the energy sector. He is a controlling shareholder and an executive
director of Kinetic Mines and Energy Limited (stock code: 1277), a
company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) which principally engages
in coal production and coal trading. Mr. Zhang is also a controlling
shareholder, an executive director and the chairman of the board
of Brainhole Technology Limited (formerly known as Top Dynamic
International Holdings Limited) (stock code: 2203), a company listed
on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange. Mr. Zhang has more than
12 years of experience in the real estate sector. He is a director of
Seedland Construction Holdings Limited, a company incorporated in
Hong Kong on 15 July 2008 with limited liability which, through its
subsidiaries, principally engaged in real estate business.

Ms. Zhao Wenzhu (“Ms. Zhao”), aged 36, joined the Company
as the President of the Company on 17 September 2018 and was
appointed as an executive Director of the Company on 26 November
2018. She holds a Master of Filmography from the Communication
University of China. Ms. Zhao has over 11 years of experience in
mass communications. She is a dynamic leader with broad exposure
and has spearheaded growth initiatives in her different roles in
various companies in mass communication. Ms. Zhao is currently
the general manager of Khorgas Houhai Culture Media Company
Limited (“Houhai Culture”) (ER R EE X(LEEBR A A, the
manager and an executive director of Beijing Juhai Culture Media
Company Limited* (1t = B8 XL EF H B R 2 7)), an executive
director of Huzhou Houhai Culture Media Company Limited* (&M
EE b EH AR AR, the manager and an executive director of
Tianjin Chuan Di Zhong Xing Entertainment Limited* (KEZEIERE
REEFRAF]) (since March 2019), an executive director of Tianjin
Chuan Di Si Li Culture Media Limited* (R)ZEEE N 3L BEEAR A
7)) (since June 2019), a director of Tianjin Chuan Di Wei Lai Culture
Media Limited* (REEIER R LFEHEBR AT (since June 2019),
and an executive director of Tianjin Chuan Di Shuo Chi Advertising
Limited* (K3Z{EIEASE S G A7) (since August 2019), being
subsidiaries of the Group. Prior to this, she was the deputy director
of Dongyang Sansang Media Co., Ltd.* (R[5 = R{EEK KD B R A )
until 2013. She was also the distribution director and vice-president
of Beijing Xishiji Film and Television Culture Development Co., Ltd.*
bt EH LR LR B2 7)) in 2014 and the general manager
and vice-president of the department of filmography and television
of Nanjing Avenue Hengzhi Culture Media Co., Ltd.* (E & K &
TR EHE AR A F]) from 2014 to 2016. She gained abundant
experience by participating in many television entertainment shows
and television series before, including “Three Kingdoms" ({(=E&)),
“Long Trip to Beautiful Rivers and Mountains” ((FELIL)), “The
Lost Tomb” ((BEZ2)), “Go Fighting” ((f&EBKEL)) and “Give Me
Five" ((@Be L EE)).

*  For identification only
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Mr. Lee Hin Kwong, Patrick (“Mr. Lee”), aged 46, was appointed
as an executive Director on 1 December 2017. Mr. Lee has over 18
years of experience in the financial services industry. He obtained
a Bachelor of Business degree from the La Trobe University,
Melbourne Victoria Australia in 1997. During the period from 1997
to 2006, he was employed by HSBC Broking Securities (Asia) Ltd
with his last position as a vice president. He was also a type 4
(advising on securities), type 5 (advising on futures contracts), type
6 (advising on corporate finance) and type 9 (asset management)
licensed representative of the HSBC group from 2003 to 2004, and a
type 1 (dealing in securities), type 2 (dealing in futures contracts) and
type 3 (leveraged foreign exchange trading) licensed representative
of the HSBC group from 2003 to 2006. He then worked as the
personal assistant of Mr. Zhang, an existing executive Director and
the chairman of the Board and the controlling shareholder of the
Company, from 2006 to 2011. Since 2011, he has been employed as
a financial analyst by Kinetic (Asia) Limited which is a wholly owned
subsidiary of Kinetic Mines and Energy Limited (stock code: 1277), a
company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, of which
Mr. Zhang is an executive director and a controlling shareholder.
Since 2016, he has also been a director of Seedland Construction
Holdings Limited, a company indirectly wholly owned by Mr. Zhang.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Wang Bo (“Mr. Wang”), aged 45, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director on 13 December 2017. Mr.
Wang has over 23 years of experience in financing and insurance
industry. He received from the Sun Yat-Sen University in China
his Bachelor of International Accounting degree minoring in
international finance in June 1998. He was the general manager
of Guangdong Baolihua New Energy Stock Co., Ltd. (stock code:
000690), a company listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange from
August 2015 to March 2018. From July 1998 to June 2015, he was
employed by Guangdong Finance Investment (Holding) Corporation
Limited with his last position as the deputy general manager in the
financial planning department. During the course of employment
with Guangdong Finance Investment (Holding) Corporation Limited,
he also served as the deputy general manager of Guangdong
Finance Trust Company Limited, the director of Zhong Cheng
Vehicle Insurance Company Limited and Zhu Jiang Life Insurance
Company Limited, and the supervisor in Guangdong Guanhao
High-tech Co., Ltd. (stock code: 600433), a company listed on the
Shanghai Stock Exchange.
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Mr. Xiang Feng (“Mr. Xiang”), aged 44, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director on 13 December 2017. Mr.
Xiang has over 16 years of experience in the movie industry. He
received his Bachelor of Economics degree from the University of
International Business and Economics in China in July 1998 and
his Master of Arts in Media Production degree from the Griffith
University in Australia in April 2005. He has been a general manager
of Funtasy Pictures Co., Ltd. since February 2015. He has also
been a supervisor of Fengzhimeng Visual Media Culture (Beijing)
Company Limited from October 2013 to March 2019. Previously
he has served as the chief operating officer of the Entgroup from
March 2009 to September 2010. Mr. Xiang was also the executive
producer of the movie “No Liar, No Cry”, the art director interpreter
of the movie “the Mummy, Tomb of the Dragon Emperor”, the
script planner of the movie “Cities in Love”, the bilingual production
coordinator of the movie “Up in the Wind"”, and the line producer of
the movie “Last Flight”.

Mr. Chang Eric Jackson (“Mr. Chang”), aged 41, was appointed
as an independent non-executive Director on 13 December 2017.
Mr. Chang has over 18 years of experience in accounting, finance
and business advisory work. He received his Bachelor of Commerce
degree from the University of British Columbia in May 2002. He is a
member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
since September 2005 and the American Institute of Certified
Public Accountants since January 2005. Mr. Chang has been an
independent non-executive director of DL Holdings Group Limited
(previously known as Season Pacific Holdings Ltd) (stock code:
1709), a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange
since May 2018. From September 2019 to May 2020, Mr. Chang
was the independent non-executive director of Centenary United
Holdings Limited (stock code: 1959), a company listed on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange since 18 October 2019. He had been
the chief financial officer, company secretary and an authorised
representative under the Listing Rules and under Part 16 of the
Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the laws in Hong Kong) of
China Tangshang Holdings Limited (previously known as Culture
Landmark Investment Limited) (stock code: 674), a company listed
on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, from April 2017 to August
2019. He was also a non-executive director of Sino Vision Worldwide
Holdings Limited (previously known as DX.com Holdings Limited)
(stock code: 8086), a company listed on the GEM of the Stock
Exchange, from May 2017 to July 2018. From July 2015 to April
2017, Mr. Chang served as the executive director, chief financial
officer, joint company secretary and authorised representative of ZH
International Holdings Limited (stock code: 185), a company listed
on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Ms. Zhang Tingting (“Ms. Zhang”), aged 43, joined Houhai Culture
on 1July 2018. Ms. Zhang is currently the deputy general manager
of Houhai Culture and the general manager of Tianjin Chuan Di Si Li
Culture Media Limited* (FKEEIEMN I LEEBR AR, a wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Group. She obtained a Bachelor’s degree in
journalism from Communication University of China and did further
study at Peking University of China and the University of Cambridge
of the United Kingdom. Ms. Zhang has over 20 years of experience
in the media and film and television industry, during which she
was responsible for the production and direction as well as the
arrangement and operation of channels of Anhui TV, established the
branding department and was in charge of the broadcasting channel
operation and the national promotion of various projects, such as
Mao Ren Chao Ji Mei Li Host Show (" AR I EHHF") (the
promotion of artistes like Liu Yan, Xie Nan and Shi Yang), Domestic
TV Series Ceremony and the New Four Great Classical Novels.

Mr. Ma Jin (“Mr. Ma"”), aged 38, joined Houhai Culture on 1
December 2017. Mr. Ma is currently the deputy general manager
of Houhai Culture, an executive Director of Tianjin Miu Si Culture
Media Limited* (X 22 ff XL F K F R 2 &), a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Group and the general manager of Chuan Di Living
Technology (Tianjin) Limited* (FiEEERHR(KE) BRAF]). He
graduated from Zhejiang University of Technology with a Bachelor
degree in Law and obtained a professional certificate in production
and direction from the academy of visual arts of the Shanghai
Fudan University. Mr. Ma has over 9 years of experience in variety
shows and the film and television industry. From 2012 to 2015, he
has been the assistant of general manager of Blue Star Company
under the Zhejiang Radio and TV Group as well as being responsible
for and participating in the production, planning and promotion of
variety show “Running Man” ({GEHIE25)) as well as movies like
“Running Man"” %)), “Monster Hunt” (#lEK5E)). From 2015 to
November 2016, he was the general manager of TV entertainment
show department of the Beijing Jingxi Culture & Tourism Co.,
Ltd (stock code: 000802.SZ) who was responsible for the content
production and artiste arrangement of Dragon TV's variety shows
“Go Fighting” ((f&R K& )) and " Girls Fighting” ((IRZEA22)). He
was the executive filmmaker of Zhejiang TV's “Give Me Five” &8k
DEE)) Season | and Il as well as the executive filmmaker of iQlYI
love programme “I Love You, Me Too” ({(Z &R » Hb=)).

*  For identification only
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Mr. Wang Jun, aged 40, joined Houhai Culture on 1 April 2017.
Mr. Wang Jun is currently the deputy general manager of Houhai
Culture, the vice-president of Guangzhou Daide Management
Consultancy Company Limited (“Guangzhou Daide"”), a subsidiary
of the Group, the general manager of Tianjin Chuan Di Zhong Xing
Entertainment Limited* (REEREREIRLBFR A F]), the general
manager of Tianjin Chuan Di Wei Lai Culture Media Limited* (XZ{&
EARE S EE AR AR, the general manager of Chuan Di Family
(Shanghai) Technology Limited* ({EiEXRE(_ &) BHEERAF]) and
the general manager of Tianjin Chuan Di Ai Yu Culture Limited* (X
EEETIREL AR AF]). He graduated from the Business School
of the University of Shanghai for Science and Technology with a
bachelor’'s degree in management. Mr. Wang Jun has 17 years
of experience in the film and television industry and was the vice
president of Cathay Media (Beijing) Co., Ltd. from 2014 to 2016,
of which he was responsible for the production and marketing of
TV dramas, namely “Gods of Honour” ({¥f##)) and “The Condor
Heroes” ({f#EEf&{E)). From 2013 to 2014, he was the marketing
director of B A 18 & 19 B R 2 7] and was responsible for the
production and marketing of the TV drama namely “Bu Bu Jing
Qing” ((FFHEE)) as well as the promotion of artistes like Hu Ge,
Liu Shishi and Gulinazha. From 2004 to 2012, he was the promotion
director of L REFZEFAREM AR A F who was responsible for TV
dramas, namely “the Dream of the Red Chamber” (AT#£)), “Ma
La Po Xi" (ERE1E)) and movies like “Gongfu Xia" ((I1KfK)) and
“Door” ({F9)) as well as the promotion of artistes ranging from Chen
Kun, Yang Mi, Yang Yang and Li Qin.

*

For identification only
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Mr. He Xian (“Mr. He"), aged 35, joined Houhai Culture on 26
October 2016. Mr. He is currently the producer of Houhai Culture
and the general manager of Tianjin Chuan Di Kua Ke Culture
Media Limited* (RKZEEFIES = X(LEEBR 2 F]), a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Group. He graduated from the Communication
University of China with a Master's degree in filming. Mr. He
has 10 years of experience in the film and television industry, of
which he was in charge of film and television program planning
and distribution in Dongyang Sansang Media Co., Ltd.* (RF=#
X 1t {8 1% X 7)) and was responsible for the post-production and
overseas distribution of the movie version of “New Romance of
the Three Kingdoms” ({(Z=E)) from 2011 to 2014. He was the
producer of Nanjing Avenue Hengzhi Culture Media Co., Ltd.* (/&
RABITHXLERARR AR from 2014 to 2016, during which he
was the executive producer of “Singing All Along” KFEIILZ &
#17)), the executive producer of TV drama “Naughty Grandfather
and Grandson” (VAR EET)), the executive producer of web drama
“The Lost Tomb" ((ABEZE:Z)), the joint producer of movie “Bad
Guys Always Die” ({(ZEZE 7B )) and the executive producer of
“Go Fighting — Royal Treasure” ((iRR BB 2 EXEH )). He is
currently responsible for web dramas namely “Hikaru no Go” ({1
ZR)), “Persuader” ({5277 2 #)REN)) and “Love Destiny” (B H
RED).

Ms. Lau Yee Wa (“Ms. Lau”) was appointed as the company
secretary of the Company and the authorized representative under
Rule 3.05 of the Listing Rules on 4 April 2018. Ms. Lau has over 20
years of experience in the corporate secretarial field and provides
professional corporate services to Hong Kong listed companies as
well as multinational, private and offshore companies. Ms. Lau is
a Chartered Secretary and an Associate of both The Hong Kong
Institute of Chartered Secretaries and The Institute of Chartered
Secretaries and Administrators in the United Kingdom. She holds
a Bachelor's degree in Business Administrative Management from
University of South Australia. Ms. Lau is a senior manager of the
corporate services division of Tricor Services Limited.
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The Directors are pleased to present their report and the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended 30
June 2021.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding.
The principal activities and other particulars of the Company’s
subsidiaries are set out in Note 50 to the consolidated financial
statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A fair review of the Group’s business for the year ended 30 June
2021, a discussion on the Group's future business development
and a description of the principal risks and uncertainties that the
Group may be facing are set out in the Chairman’s Statement on
pages 6 to 7 and the Management Discussion and Analysis on
pages 8 to 20 of this annual report. The capital risk management and
financial risk management objectives and policies of the Group are
set out in Notes 44 and 45 to the consolidated financial statements
respectively. An analysis of the Group's performance during the year
using financial key performance indicators is set out in the Financial
Summary on pages 275 to 276 of this annual report. This discussion
forms part of this report.

The Group respects the environment and is committed to the
sustainable development of the environment and the society. For
details of the Group's environmental policies and performance
during the year, please refer to the Environmental, Social and
Governance Report on pages 73 to 116 of this annual report.

The Group and its business operations are subject to various laws,
rules and regulations. The Company seeks to ensure adherence to
such laws, rules and regulations through various measures such as
internal controls, approval procedures, staff trainings and overseeing
the business operations at different levels of the Group. The Board
also monitors the Group's policies and practices on compliance with
relevant laws, rules and regulations on a regular basis.
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So far as the Directors and senior management are aware of, for
the year ended 30 June 2021, the Group has obtained the requisite
approvals, permits, consents, licences and registrations for its
business and operations.

To the best knowledge of the Directors, information and belief,
having made all reasonable enquiries, the Group has complied in
material respects with the relevant laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the business and operation of the Group during
the year ended 30 June 2021.

The Group believes that its success depends on the support from
key stakeholders which comprise employees, customers and
suppliers.

The Group recognises that employees are the valuable assets of the
Group. The Group has complied with the applicable employment
laws and regulations and periodically review the remuneration
package of the Group’s employees with reference to market
conditions and conform to the performance, qualifications and
experience of employees.

The key customers of the Group include the co-producers,
distributors, online video-streaming platforms and cinemagoers.
The Group is committed to providing good quality service to
its customers and enhance the loyalty of the customers by
increasing the interaction with customers through social media
platforms, which provide good development to the Group’s overall
performance in the long run.

The Group has maintained solid and good relationships with its

suppliers which ensures quality supply so as to provide high quality
films and services to customers.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The Group’s loss for the year ended 30 June 2021 is set out in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income on pages 123 to 124 of this annual report.

The Directors do not recommend payment of any final dividend for
the year ended 30 June 2021 (30 June 2020: Nil).

TRANSMIT ENTERTAINMENT LIMITED Annual Report 2020/21

REFGREREEEMMN - 22202156
AB0RLLFE  AEECBSEEBREE
PRBAVHLS ~ FFAIRE ~ AR ~ R RANREAD -

REENEL — S EEREMA - &R
Fi{E - 81220216 A30R ILFEHMHE - &
SEEEBEATEETHASEEK K EE
BEEBREZABARRZER -

AEBBRERNBURN T 2N HEEE (B2
RS - P MHERE) ISR -

AEERR  BERAKENEEEE - &
SECETERNERERESR  X2RW
MREREENAEN EREERUARKE
B B BN S 1T E MmAT -

AEENTEZTFPBREBASRA A - #1T
B NLRARSRTEREFXER - AEE
AR BEERREFeEMETFNE
B AEREZEPRHEZRSE MEAFP
MEHE  EMARKEERANBERIRRE
HRIFHER -

AEBERZFEAREEHEOHRER AR
RERRIFHNEER  NERTEPREEZEH
BER LR -

EEBERBRE
AREBEZE2021F6 830H FFERNEESH
RAFRE123ZR124ENGEBHFNEMME

E R -

BEEEERNEZ2021F6 A308 ILEE
B R AAPR 2. (20206 5301 : &) o



REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EELHE

SEGMENT INFORMATION

Details of the segment information of the Group are set out in Note
6 to the consolidated financial statements.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the published results and assets and liabilities of
the Group for the past five financial years as extracted from the
consolidated financial statements in the annual reports 2016/17,
2017/18, 2018/19, 2019/20 and this annual report, respectively are
set out on pages 275 to 276 of this annual report.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of
the Group are set out in Note 14 to the consolidated financial
statements.

BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS

Details of bank and other borrowings during the year ended 30 June
2021 are set out in Note 32 to the consolidated financial statements
of the Group (30 June 2020: HK$67,000,000).

CAPITALISATION OF INTEREST

The Group has not capitalised any interest during the year ended 30
June 2021 (30 June 2020: Nil).

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the Company’s share capital during the
year ended 30 June 2021 are set out in Note 38 to the consolidated
financial statements.

Details of other equity-linked agreements are included in the section
headed "“Share Option Scheme” in this report.
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RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Company and the
Group during the year ended 30 June 2021 are set out in Note 49
to the consolidated financial statements and in the consolidated
statement of changes in equity on page 127 of this annual report,
respectively.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 30 June 2021, the Company had no reserves available for
distribution, calculated in accordance with the Companies Law,
Chapter 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated and revised) of the
Cayman Islands (30 June 2020: HK$Nil).

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
LISTED SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries had purchased, sold
or redeemed any of the listed securities of the Company during the
year ended 30 June 2021.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year ended 30 June 2021, income received/
receivable from the top five customers in aggregate accounted
for approximately 37.3% of the Group's revenue (30 June 2020:
51.6%). During the same period, income received/receivable from
the single largest customer accounted for approximately 20.7% of
the Group's revenue (30 June 2020: 27.8%).

During the year ended 30 June 2021, the fees paid/payable to the
top five suppliers in aggregate constituted approximately 21.5%
(30 June 2020: 33.0%) of the Group's total fees paid/payable to the
suppliers. During the same period, fees paid/payable to the largest
supplier constituted approximately 5.8% (30 June 2020: 12.3%) of
the Group's total fees paid/payable to the suppliers.

None of the Directors, their respective close associates or any
shareholder of the Company (who to the knowledge of the Directors
owns more than 5% of the share capital of the Company) had any
interest in any of the top five customers and suppliers.
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EMOLUMENTS POLICY AND PENSION
SCHEMES

The emoluments of the Directors are recommended by the
remuneration committee of the Company (the “Remuneration
Committee”) after considering factors such as the Company's
operating results, individual performance, salaries paid by
comparable companies, time commitment and responsibilities and
employment conditions elsewhere in the Group.

The remuneration of the employees of the Group is determined with
reference to market terms and the performance, qualifications and
experience of the individual employee.

The Company has adopted a share option scheme (the “Scheme”)
as an incentive to Directors and eligible employees who contribute
to the success of the Group's operations. Details of the Scheme
are set out in the following section headed “Share Option Scheme”
in this annual report. The Group has also adopted other employee
benefit schemes which include a provident fund scheme for
its employees in Hong Kong, as required under the Mandatory
Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance, and has participated in
employee pension schemes organised and governed by the relevant
local governments for its employees in the PRC.

Details of the emolument of the Directors and the five highest paid
individuals of the Group are set out in Note 12 to the consolidated
financial statements.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company operates the Scheme for the purpose of providing
incentives and rewards to eligible persons who contribute to the
success of the Group’s operations. The Scheme was approved by
the then sole shareholder of the Company on 5 October 2012. There
were no outstanding share options under the Scheme as at 30 June
2020 and 2021. No share options have been granted, exercised or
cancelled/lapsed under the Scheme during the years ended 30 June
2020 and 2021. Details of the Scheme are set out in Note 41 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

During the year ended 30 June 2021, other than the share option
scheme as set out in the paragraph headed “Share Option Scheme”
of this annual report, the Company did not enter into any other
equity-linked agreement, nor did any other equity-linked agreement
exist during the year.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year ended 30 June 2021 and up to the date
of this report were:

Mr. Zhang Liang, Johnson (Chairman)
Ms. Zhao Wenzhu
Mr. Lee Hin Kwong, Patrick

Mr. Wang Bo
Mr. Xiang Feng
Mr. Chang Eric Jackson

Pursuant to Article 84(1) of the Company's Articles of Association, at
each annual general meeting one-third of the Directors for the time
being, or, if their number is not three or a multiple of three, then
the number nearest to but not less than one-third, shall retire from
office by rotation and shall be eligible for re-election. Every Director,
including those appointed for a specific term, shall be subject to
retirement by rotation at least once every three years. Accordingly,
Mr. Zhang Liang, Johnson and Mr. Wang Bo will retire by rotation at
the forthcoming annual general meeting, and being eligible, will offer
themselves for re-election at the annual general meeting.
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BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT

The biographical details of Directors and senior management of the
Group are disclosed in the section headed “Profile of Directors and
Senior Management” on pages 21 to 26 of this annual report.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE AGREEMENTS

Each of Mr. Zhang Liang, Johnson, Ms. Zhao Wenzhu and Mr.
Lee Hin Kwong, Patrick, being the executive Directors during the
year, had each entered into with the Company a service contract
for an initial fixed term of one year, three years and three years
commencing from 13 December 2017, 26 November 2018 and
1 December 2017 respectively, renewable automatically until (i)
terminated by not less than respectively one month's, two months’
and one month's notice in writing served by either party on the other
expiring at the end of the initial term or any time thereafter or (ii) not
being re-elected at an annual general meeting of the Company at
which he retires and offers for re-election.

Each of Mr. Wang Bo, Mr. Xiang Feng and Mr. Chang Eric Jackson,
being all the independent non-executive Directors during the year,
had respectively renewed a letter of appointment with the Company
in 2018. Each letter of appointment is for a term of one year from the
date of the letter of appointment.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors has or is proposed
to enter into a service contract/letter of appointment with the
Company or any of its subsidiaries (other than contracts expiring or
determinable by the Group within one year without the payment of
compensation (other than statutory compensation)).
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CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE

The Company has received from each independent non-executive
Director an annual confirmation of his independence pursuant to
the Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and the Company considers the
independent non-executive Directors to be independent.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

Details of Directors’ interest in transactions, arrangements or
contracts of significance in relation to the Group's business are set
out in the section headed “Related Party Transactions/Connected
Transactions/Continuing Connected Transactions” in this annual
report and Note 48 to the consolidated financial statements.

Other than as disclosed above, there was no transaction,
arrangement or contract of significance to which the Company
or its subsidiaries, or its holding companies or any of its fellow
subsidiaries was a party, and in which a Director was materially
interested, whether directly or indirectly, subsisting during or at the
end of the year ended 30 June 2021.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

Save as disclosed in Note 48 to the consolidated financial
statements, none of the Directors or the controlling shareholders of
the Company or their respective associates as defined in the Listing
Rules has any interest in any business which competes or may
compete with the business of the Group during the year ended 30
June 2021.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the businesses of the Company
were entered into or existed during the year ended 30 June 2021.

CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

Saved as disclosed above, there is no contract of significance
between the Company or any of its subsidiaries, and a controlling
shareholder or any of its subsidiaries during the year ended 30 June
2021.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
THE SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY AND ITS
ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS

As at 30 June 2021, the interests of Directors and chief executive of
the Company in the shares and underlying shares of the Company
or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part
XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO") which
were notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant
to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests
which they are taken or deemed to have under such provisions of
the SFO) and required to be entered in the register maintained by
the Company pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO or which were
required, pursuant to Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules relating
to securities transactions by the Directors, to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange, were as follows:

EERTHRAZRARTAREMN
BEENKRG -  HERORES
MERRAR

R2021F6A30R ' EFERARAITTHAE
RARBSHEEMAREE (TR RES RS
BN T (BHRAEGO) IEXVED) Bk
LA P A ERIBEFESFRBEGDE
XVEBE 7 K87 BB #R TE &€ A1 B) Je B 22 T Y
Em (BREBEESRBPEKIEEBIEUES
WEFSIRAEAENER) - RAZBRAR
AIREBEES RSN EIL2EMTEER
faotEss - SZERE EMARRMETBREE
FRTEFZHNATENERNR A R
RSN T ¢

Number of
Shares or Approximate
Company/name of underlying percentage of
Name of Director associated company  Nature of interest Shares Position the interest
B A
BEps EQT/HBATER ERME BROBE B BAEEEDL
Mr. Zhang Liang, Johnson Company Interest in a controlled  1,836,391,914 Long 70.75%
RELE iN/NE] corporation (Note) ##&
REEEE R (Pi=E)
Company Beneficial owner 87,984,000 Long 3.39%
AN/NG] EREAA )
1,924,375,914 74.14%

Note:

These shares are registered in the name of Nice Rich Group Limited (“Nice
Rich”), the entire issued share capital of which is legally and beneficially
owned as to 100% by Mr. Zhang Liang, Johnson. Under the SFO, Mr. Zhang
Liang, Johnson is deemed to be interested in all the shares registered in the
name of Nice Rich.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN THE SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE COMPANY

As at 30 June 2021, the interests of the persons, other than
the interests disclosed above in respect of Directors or chief
executive of the Company, in the shares and underlying shares of
the Company which were notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO and
entered in the register maintained by the Company pursuant to
Section 336 of the SFO, or otherwise notified to the Company were

FERRREAQXTARG REERK
RN AE

R2021F6 8308 » LN AL ( EXATIFFER
EBRARFITBUHEEMEZSRIN RARF]
B RABRE IR 5 B ZBIRIEES LA EE
BIEXVEBE 2RI HMTEME R R T REER
FrevfEss - R8N AQARREEERBE
155336 IEFTIFBE B MM EzD  SAHE
A NG ARRD B RER

as follows:

Number of
Shares or Approximate
underlying percentage of
Name of shareholder Nature of interest Shares Position interest
IR 4 R AE RS
RRAB A ERME ROBE B BHEZES L
Nice Rich™m&®@ Beneficial owner 1,836,391,914 Long 70.75%
Nice Rich(&@ BHEEA e
Mr. Zhang Liang, Johnson Interest in a controlled corporation 1,836,391,914M&2 | ong 70.75%
REXE R EE S HE
Beneficial owner 87,984,000 Long 3.39%
EREAA )
China Orient Asset Management Interest in a controlled corporation 1,836,391,914 Long 70.75%
Co., Ltd (“China Orient") REE =B HE
HERSFEEEERHNARAR
= )]
Dong Yin Development (Holdings) Interest in a controlled corporation 1,836,391,914 Long 70.75%
Limited (“Dong Yin")? NI EE R )
RPER(ZER)BRAB(ERR])
Wise Leader Assets Ltd. Interest in a controlled corporation 1,836,391,914 Long 70.75%
(“Wise Leader”)? R EE# S )
Wise Leader Assets Ltd.
(TWise Leader])®?
China Orient Asset Management  Interest in a controlled corporation 1,836,391,914 Long 70.75%
(International) Holding Limited ~ RS EE 55°)
(“China Orient Int'|")?
HEIR T EEEE (BB )R
BRAB(THERFERE )
Charming Treasure Investments  Person having a security interest 1,836,391,914 Long 70.75%
Ltd. (“Charming Treasure")? in shares He

Charming Treasure Investments
Ltd.([ Charming Treasure])®?

REMEE R ER 2 AL
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Notes:

1. Nice Rich is a British Virgin Islands company wholly owned by Mr.
Zhang Liang, Johnson. Under the SFO, Mr. Zhang is deemed to be
interested in all the shares registered in the name of Nice Rich.

2. 1,836,391,914 shares were charged by Nice Rich as chargor and
Charming Treasure as chargee as security interest on 30 May 2018.
Charming Treasure is wholly owned by China Orient Int’l. China Orient
Int’l is owned as to 50% by Dong Yin and 50% by Wise Leader. Both
Wise Leader and Dong Yin are wholly owned by China Orient. By
virtue of the SFO, each of the China Orient, Dong Yin, Wise Leader,
China Orient Int'l is deemed to be interested in all the shares held by
Charming Treasure as security interest.

Save as disclosed above, as at 30 June 2021, the Company had not
been notified by any persons (other than Directors or chief executive
of the Company) who had interests or short positions in the shares
or underlying shares of the Company which would fall under the
provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO to be disclosed
to the Company, or which were recorded in the register required to
be kept by the Company under Section 336 of the SFO.

RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Other than as disclosed under the sections headed “Share Option
Scheme” and "Directors’ and chief executives’ interests and short
positions in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the
Company and its associated corporations” in this annual report, at
no time during the year ended 30 June 2021 was the Company or
any of its subsidiaries, or any of its fellow subsidiaries, a party to
any arrangement to enable the Directors or chief executives of the
Company or their respective close associates (as defined in the
Listing Rules) to have any right to subscribe for securities of the
Company or any of its associated corporations as defined in the
SFO or to acquire benefits by means of acquisition of shares in, or
debentures of, the Company or any other body corporate.
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PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISIONS

The Company's Articles of Association provides that the Directors
and officers shall be indemnified out of the assets and profits of
the Company from and against all actions, costs, charges, losses,
damages and expenses with they shall or may incur or sustain by or
by reason of any act done, concurred in or omitted in or about the
execution of their duty.

The Company has arranged appropriate insurance coverage on
directors’ and officers’ liabilities in respect of any legal actions
against the Directors and senior management of the Group that may
be incurred in the course of performing their duties.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company is committed to maintaining the highest standard
of corporate governance practices. Information on the corporate
governance practices adopted by the Company is set out in the
Corporate Governance Report on pages 53 to 72 of this annual
report.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS/CONNECTED
TRANSACTIONS/CONTINUING CONNECTED
TRANSACTIONS

Details of the related party transactions of the Group for the year
ended 30 June 2021 are set out in Note 48 to the consolidated
financial statements. Some of these transactions also constitute
“Continuing Connected Transactions” under the Listing Rules, as
identified below.
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During the year ended 30 June 2021, the Group had the following
continuing connected transactions, details of which are set out
below:

1)

Management Agreement

As disclosed in the Company’s announcements dated 18
January 2021 and 26 May 2021, the Company entered into a
management agreement (“Management Agreement”) and a
supplemental agreement (“Supplemental Agreement”) with
Cinema City (WL) Limited (“Target Company”) and Mandarin
Motion Pictures Limited (“Mandarin Motion Pictures”) in
relation to the provision of services by Mandarin Motion
Pictures to the Company upon the completion of disposal of
Target Company in respect of the management of Cinema City
(Langham Place) Limited (“Langham Cinema") for the period
from the date of completion of disposal to 25 May 2024.

The Group is the lessee of the Langham Cinema, the lease of
which will expire in 2024.

Taking into account the unfavourable and challenging
environment brought about by COVID-19 resulting in
the temporary closure of cinemas, the Group intended
to reallocate its financial and other resources to other
businesses. Accordingly, upon Completion of the disposal of
Target Company, Mandarin Motion Pictures would provide
management services to the Langham Cinema pursuant to the
Management Agreement, while the Company could earn a fee
during the term of the Supplemental Agreement.

The annual cap and the actual transaction amount of the
transactions contemplated under the Management Agreement
(as novated and supplemented by the Supplemental
Agreement) for the year ended 30 June 2021 is HK$8,900,000
and HK$4,934,000 respectively. The actual transaction include
1) reimbursement of operation income, operational cost
and expense to Langham Cinema from Mandarin Motion
Pictures, amounting to HK$4,884,000; 2) management fee to
the Company from Mandarin Motion Pictures, amounting to
HK$50,000.
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Mr. Wong Pak Ming (“Mr. Wong"), being a director of certain
subsidiaries of the Company, and his associates hold 100%
of the issued share capital of Mandarin Motion Pictures.
Accordingly, Mandarin Motion Pictures is a connected
person of the Company at the subsidiary level and the
Management Agreement (as novated and supplemented
by the Supplemental Agreement) constitutes a continuing
connected transaction for the Company under Chapter 14A
of the Listing Rules. By virtue of Rule 14A.101 of the Listing
Rules, since (i) Mandarin Motion Pictures is a connected
person at the subsidiary level, (ii) the Board has approved
the Management Agreement (as novated and supplemented
by the Supplemental Agreement), and (iii) the Directors
(including the independent non-executive Directors) have also
confirmed that the terms of the Management Agreement (as
novated and supplemented by the Supplemental Agreement)
are fair and reasonable, are on normal commercial terms
or better and the Management Agreement (as novated and
supplemented by the Supplemental Agreement) is in the
interests of the Company and the Shareholders as a whole, the
Management Agreement (as novated and supplemented by
the Supplemental Agreement) is subject to the reporting and
announcement requirements, but is exempt from the circular,
independent financial advice and shareholders’ approval
requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

For further details about the Management Agreement and
the Supplemental Agreement, please refer to the Company’s
announcements dated 18 January 2021 and 26 May 2021,
respectively.

The Directors confirm that the Company has complied with the
disclosure requirements in accordance with Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules.

All independent non-executive Directors of the Company have
reviewed the above continuing connected transactions and
confirmed that the transactions have been entered into:

(a)

(b)

(c)

in the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group;

either on normal commercial terms or on terms no less
favorable to the Group than terms available to or from
independent third parties; and

in accordance with the relevant agreement governing them on
terms that are fair and reasonable and in the interests of the
shareholders of the listed issuer as a whole.
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In accordance with Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules, the Company's
auditor was engaged to report on the Group's continuing connected
transactions in accordance with Hong Kong Standard on Assurance
Engagements 3000 (Revised)”Assurance Engagements Other Than
Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial Information” and with
reference to Practice Note 740 “Auditor’s Letter on Continuing
Connected Transactions under the Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. The
auditor has issued his unqualified letter containing his findings and
conclusions in respect of the continuing connected transactions
disclosed by the Group in pages 39 to 41 of this annual report in
accordance with Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules. A copy of the
auditor’'s letter has been provided by the Company to the Stock
Exchange.

CONTRACTUAL ARRANGEMENTS

Guangzhou Daide Management Consultancy Company Limited
("Guangzhou Daide"), through its wholly-owned subsidiary, Houhai
Culture as operating company and its subsidiary (the “Khorgas
Group”), is principally engaged in TV entertainment show and TV
program production and operation (including introduction business).
Guangzhou Daide is a limited liability company established under the
laws of the PRC and is owned as to 99% by Mr. TANG Jimin (“Mr.
Tang") (480 and 1% by Ms. WANG Qinyang (“Ms. Wang") (£ &
[%), being the equity owners of Guangzhou Daide nominated by the
Company (the “"PRC Equity Owners”).

The aggregate revenues of the Khorgas Group that were attributable
to the Group through the VIE Operating Agreements amounted to
approximately HK$145,000,000 for the year ended 30 June 2021. As
at 30 June 2021, the net assets attributable to the Khorgas Group
were approximately HK$158,000,000.
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On 27 May 2018, Guangzhou Huohua Investment Company
Limited (“Guangzhou Huohua”), Guangzhou Daide and the PRC
Equity Owners entered into the VIE acquisition agreement (the
"VIE Acquisition Agreement”), pursuant to which the parties shall
upon completion enter into the VIE operating agreements. VIE
operating agreements comprised the exclusive operation service
agreement, the exclusive option agreements, the entrustment
agreements and powers of attorney, the equity pledge agreements
and the loan agreement (collectively are referred to as the "VIE
Operating Agreements”). Under the VIE Operating Agreements,
Guangzhou Huohua will have effective control over the finance and
operation of Guangzhou Daide and Houhai Culture and will enjoy
the entire economic interests and benefits generated by Guangzhou
Daide and the Khorgas Group from completion (the “Contractual
Arrangements”), for a cash consideration of RMB450,000,000
(subject to any downward adjustment as contemplated by the profit
guarantee agreement).

Houhai Culture is a limited liability company established under the
laws of the PRC and is principally engaged in TV entertainment show
and TV program production and operation (including introduction
business). Pursuant to the Catalogue of Industries for Guiding
Foreign Investment (2017 revised version) ({AMNEIREE¥IEER
8% (20174 {E3T))) (the “Catalogue”) promulgated by the Ministry
of Commerce, the principal business of Houhai Culture, falls
within the prohibited industry for foreign investment. In light of the
abovementioned foreign ownership restriction, in order to comply
with applicable PRC laws and regulations and obtain the entire
economic benefits attributable to the Khorgas Group, Guangzhou
Huohua (a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company), Guangzhou
Daide and the PRC Equity Owners entered into the VIE Acquisition
Agreement, pursuant to which the parties agreed to enter into
the VIE Operating Agreements upon completion. Under the VIE
Operating Agreements, Guangzhou Huohua will have effective
control over the finance and operation of Guangzhou Daide and the
Khorgas Group and will enjoy the entire economic interests and
benefits generated by Guangzhou Daide and the Khorgas Group
from completion. No other approval is required to be obtained and
no other additional eligibility standards is required to be fulfilled by
the Khorgas Group under the arrangements as contemplated under
the VIE Operating Agreements.
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Investment activities in the PRC by foreign investors are primarily
regulated by the Catalogue, which was promulgated and is amended
from time to time jointly by the Ministry of Commerce of the PRC
(the "MOFCOM") and the National Development and Reform
Commission of the PRC. The Catalogue divides industries into four
categories in terms of foreign investment, including “encourage”,
“restricted” and “prohibited”, and all industries not listed under any
of these categories are deemed to be “permitted”. Pursuant to the
Catalogue, the business that the Khorgas Group currently operates
falls into the category of “prohibited”. Therefore, as Guangzhou
Huohua is a foreign-owned company, it is not allowed to hold any
equity interests of Houhai Culture under the PRC laws.

The PRC legal advisers, after taking all reasonable and possible
actions and steps to reach its legal conclusions, are of the following
legal opinion:

- the VIE Operating Agreements are narrowly tailored to achieve
the business purposes of the Company and minimise the
potential for conflict with relevant PRC laws and regulations;

- each of Guangzhou Huohua, Guangzhou Daide and the
members of the Khorgas Group are duly established and validly
existing under the PRC laws, and has obtained or completed
all requisite approvals, permits, registrations or filings that are
material for carrying out its business operations as required by
the applicable PRC laws, regulations and rules;

- each of the VIE Operating Agreements, taken individually and
collectively, constitutes legal, valid and binding obligations
of the parties thereto and will be enforceable under
applicable PRC laws and regulations except that (a) the China
International Economic and Trade Arbitration Commission
has no power to grant injunctive relief, nor will it be able to
order the winding up of Guangzhou Daide or Houhai Culture
pursuant to the current PRC laws; and (b) interim remedies
or enforcement order granted by overseas courts such as
the courts of Hong Kong and the Cayman Islands may not be
recognised or enforceable in the PRC;

- the VIE Operating Agreements do not, individually or
collectively, violate the mandatory provisions of the PRC
Contract Law, the General Principles of the PRC Civil Law and
other applicable PRC laws and regulations and are not deemed
as “concealing illegal intentions with a lawful form” resulting in
the invalidity of the VIE Operating Agreements;
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none of the VIE Operating Agreements violates any provisions
of the existing articles of association of each of Guangzhou
Huohua, Guangzhou Daide and members of the Khorgas
Group; and

the execution, effectiveness and enforceability of the VIE
Operating Agreements do not require any approvals from
any PRC governmental authority, except that (1) each of the
Equity Pledge Agreements (as defined below) is subject to
registration requirements with the relevant administration
for industry and commerce; (2) the exercising of the
exclusive options by Guangzhou Huohua according to the
Exclusive Option Agreements (as defined below) shall be
subject to the then effective PRC laws and regulations and
relevant approving procedures (if applicable); and (3) if the
enforcement of the VIE Operating Agreements is subject to
the enforcement of the ruling by the arbitrator and/or overseas
courts outside PRC, the claimant shall enforce the ruling via
PRC courts with jurisdiction.

The following sets out the principal terms of the VIE Operating
Agreements, which were in place since 28 August 2018:

The exclusive operation service agreement was entered into
between Guangzhou Huohua, Guangzhou Daide, Houhai
Culture and the PRC Equity Owners pursuant to which
Guangzhou Daide and Houhai Culture agreed to engage
Guangzhou Huohua as its exclusive consultant and service
provider. Guangzhou Huohua has the exclusive right to
provide Guangzhou Daide and Houhai Culture with consulting
services including but not limited to: (1) provision of advice on
the operations of the movie and drama production business;
(2) management and consultation related to the movie and
drama production business, and training of the staff; (3)
provision of advice on human resources; (4) assistance on
market research;(5) selection and introductions of clients; (6)
formulation of operation and sales strategies; (7) quality control
of the movie and drama production business; and (8) provision
of advice on financing.

Guangzhou Daide shall pay to Guangzhou Huohua a service
fee which is equal to 100% of its audited annual distributable
profits (after deduction of any loss of the previous year and
statutory provident fund (if applicable)) before 30 June of every
year. The services fee was determined by the parties to ensure
that Guangzhou Huohua will enjoy the economic benefits of
the VIE Operating Agreements.
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The first exclusive option agreement was entered into
between Guangzhou Huohua, Guangzhou Daide and the PRC
Equity Owners (the “Exclusive Option Agreement 1"”), and
the second exclusive option agreement was entered into
between Guangzhou Huohua, Guangzhou Daide and Houhai
Culture (the "Exclusive Option Agreement 2" and together
with the Exclusive Option Agreement 1, the “Exclusive Option
Agreements”).

Pursuant to the Exclusive Option Agreement 1, each of the
PRC Equity Owners irrevocably and unconditionally granted
an exclusive option to Guangzhou Huhoua which entitles
Guangzhou Huohua to elect to purchase at any time, when
permitted by the then applicable PRC laws, all or any part of
the equity interest in the Guangzhou Daide by itself or through
its designated person(s); and Guangzhou Daide irrevocably
and unconditionally granted an exclusive option to Guangzhou
Huohua which entitles Guangzhou Huohua to elect to purchase
at any time, when permitted by the then applicable PRC laws,
all or any part of the assets of Guangzhou Daide by itself or
through its designated person(s).

Pursuant to the Exclusive Option Agreement 2, Guangzhou
Daide irrevocably and unconditionally granted an exclusive
option to Guangzhou Huohua which entitles Guangzhou
Huohua to elect to purchase at any time, when permitted by
the then applicable PRC laws, all or part of the equity interest
in Houhai Culture by itself or through its designated person(s);
and Houhai Culture irrevocably and unconditionally granted
an exclusive option to Guangzhou Huohua which entitles
Guangzhou Huohua to elect to purchase at any time, when
permitted by the then applicable PRC laws, all or part of the
assets of Houhai Culture by itself or through its designated
person(s).

The transfer price of the relevant equity interests and assets
shall be the minimum purchase price permitted under PRC
law, and each of the PRC Equity Owners, Guangzhou Daide
and the Houhai Culture will undertake that she/he/it will return
in full the consideration received in relation to such transfer
of equity interests or assets to Guangzhou Huohua or its
designated person(s). The exercise price was determined
by the parties to ensure that WOFE will enjoy the economic
benefits of the VIE Operating Agreements.
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The first entrustment agreement and powers of attorney was
entered into between Guangzhou Huohua, Guangzhou Daide
and the PRC Equity Owners (the "Entrustment Agreement
and Powers of Attorney 1"), and the second entrustment
agreement and powers of attorney was entered into between
Guangzhou Huohua, Guangzhou Daide and Houhai Culture (the
“Entrustment Agreement and Powers of Attorney 2").

Pursuant to the Entrustment Agreement and Powers of
Attorney 1, each of the PRC Equity Owners irrevocably
appointed Guangzhou Huohua or its designated person(s)
(other than the PRC Equity Owners) as its attorney-in-fact to
act for all matters pertaining to the Guangzhou Daide and to
exercise all of their rights as shareholders of the Guangzhou
Daide, including but not limited to: (i) proposing to convene
and attend shareholders’ meetings of the Guangzhou
Daide;(ii) exercising all the voting rights as shareholders
of the Guangzhou Daide; (iii) dealing with the rights as a
shareholder to the assets and profits of the Guangzhou Daide;
(iv) transferring or disposing of the shares of the Guangzhou
Daide; (v) receiving notice of convening and proceedings of
shareholders’ meetings of the Guangzhou Daide, signing
minutes of shareholders’ meetings and submitting any
documents to relevant company registration authorities for
filing purpose; (vi) receiving the remaining assets of the
Guangzhou Daide upon its dissolution or liquidation; and (vii)
exercising all other shareholders’ rights under other applicable
PRC laws and regulations and the articles of association (as
amended from time to time) of the Guangzhou Daide.

Pursuant to the Entrustment Agreement and Powers of
Attorney 2, Guangzhou Daide irrevocably appoints Guangzhou
Huohua or its designated person(s) (other than the PRC
Equity Owners) as its attorney-in-fact to act for all matters
pertaining to Houhai Culture and to exercise all of its rights
as the shareholder of Houhai Culture, including but not
limited to: (i) proposing to convene and attend shareholders’
meetings of Houhai Culture; (ii) exercising all the voting
rights as shareholders of Houhai Culture; (iii) dealing with the
rights as a shareholder to the assets and profits of Houhai
Culture; (iv) transferring or disposing of the shares of Houhai
Culture; (v) receiving notice of convening and proceedings
of shareholders’ meetings of the Houhai Culture, signing
minutes of shareholders’ meetings and submitting any
documents to relevant company registration authorities for
filing purpose;(vi) receiving the remaining assets of Houhai
Culture upon its dissolution or liquidation; and (vii) exercising all
other shareholders’ rights under other applicable PRC laws and
regulations and the articles of association (as amended from
time to time) of Houhai Culture.
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The first equity pledge agreement was entered into between
Guangzhou Huohua, Guangzhou Daide and the PRC Equity
Owners (the “Equity Pledge Agreement 1”), and the
second equity pledge agreement was entered into between
Guangzhou Huohua, Guangzhou Daide and Houhai Culture (the
“Equity Pledge Agreement 2", and together with the Equity
Pledge Agreement 1, the “Equity Pledge Agreements”).

Pursuant to the Equity Pledge Agreement 1, each of the PRC
Equity Owners agreed to pledge all of his/her respective
equity interests in Guangzhou Daide to Guangzhou Huohua to
secure performance of the obligations of himself/herself and
Guangzhou Daide under the VIE Operating Agreements and
pursuant to the Equity Pledge Agreement 2, Guangzhou Daide
agreed to pledge all of its respective equity interests in Houhai
Culture to Guangzhou Huohua to secure the performance
of obligations of itself and Houhai Culture under the VIE
Operating Agreements. Without the prior written consent
of Guangzhou Huohua, each of the PRC Equity Owners and
Guangzhou Daide has undertaken not to create or allow to
create any new pledge or encumbrance over their respective
interests in Guangzhou Daide and Houhai Culture.

The loan agreement (the “Loan Agreement”) was entered
into between Guangzhou Huohua and Guangzhou Daide.
Pursuant to the terms of the Loan Agreement, Guangzhou
Huohua shall provide a non-interest bearing loan facility in
the maximum principal amount of RMB450,000,000 (subject
to any downward adjustment as contemplated by the profit
guarantee agreement) to Guangzhou Daide for the purpose of
the acquisition of the entire equity interest of Houhai Culture.
The loan will be provided to Guangzhou Daide by installment
corresponding to Guangzhou Daide’s payment schedule under
the equity transfer agreement. The loan will be financed by
way of shareholder’s loan to be made available to Guangzhou
Huohua, with an annual interest rate of 7% and a term of
three years. The loan will be for a term of 20 years from the
respective drawdown date of each installment of the loan.
Guangzhou Daide shall repay the loan in full if Guangzhou
Huohua gives prior notice to Guangzhou Daide demanding for
repayment. Save as the demand notice given by Guangzhou
Huohua, Guangzhou Daide shall have no right of early
repayment.
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6. The Spouse's Undertaking

The spouse of Ms. Wang executed a spouse confirmation,
pursuant to which he undertook and agreed to, among
others, (i) acknowledge that all the equity interests held by
Ms. Wang in Guangzhou Daide belongs to herself and do not
form part of the matrimonial property, and any disposal of the
equity interest held by Ms. Wang pursuant to the relevant
VIE Operating Agreements does not require the consent
of him; and (ii) any execution and amendment of any of the
VIE Operating Agreements does not require the signing,
confirmation and consent of him. The other PRC VIE Owner,
Mr. Tang does not have a spouse.

The following are the risks associated with the Contractual
Arrangements. Further details of the risks were set out in the
circular of the Company dated 26 July 2018.

- There is no assurance that the VIE Operating Agreements
could comply with future changes in the regulatory
requirements in the PRC and the PRC government may
determine that the VIE Operating Agreements do not comply
with applicable regulations;

- The VIE Operating Agreements may not be as effective
in providing operational control as direct ownership and
Guangzhou Daide or its shareholders may fail to perform its
obligations under the VIE Operating Agreements;

- The Group may lose control over Houhai Culture and may
not enjoy the full economic benefits of Houhai Culture if
Houhai Culture declares bankruptcy or becomes subject to a
dissolution or liquidation proceeding;

- The VIE Operating Agreements may be subject to scrutiny
by the PRC tax authorities and additional taxes may be
imposed. A finding that the Group’s owe additional taxes could
substantially reduce the Group’s net income;

- The shareholder(s) of Guangzhou Daide may have conflicts of

interest with the Group, which may materially and adversely
affect the Group's business and financial conditions;
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Certain terms of the VIE Operating Agreements may not be
enforceable under PRC law and enforcement of certain of the
Group’s rights under the VIE Operating Agreements is subject
to regulatory approval;

A substantial amount of costs and time may be involved in
transferring the ownership of Guangzhou Daide and Houhai
Culture to the Group under the Exclusive Option Agreements;
and

The Group does not have any insurance which covers the risks
relating to the VIE Operating Agreements and the transactions
contemplated thereunder.

The Group adopted the following measures to mitigate against any
potential risk.

On 19 January 2015, the MOFCOM circulated Foreign
Investment Law (“FIL") of the PRC (Draft for Comment)
((REAREMBEIINEKREE(ERHKERR))) and the
Explanation on the draft PRC Foreign Investment Law ({ [
RCREARKFBEIINEREEZ(BERERKERR)) B5HA))
(collectively the “Draft Law"), which proposed changes to the
PRC foreign investment legal regime and the treatment of the
VIE structures, including contractual arrangement such as the
VIE Operating Agreements. The Draft Law, if finally adopted,
may have a material impact on the PRC foreign investment
legal regime. As such, as advised by the PRC legal advisers,
the Board will closely monitor the development of the Draft
Law with the help of the Company’s in house counsel in the
PRC and if there is any development, they will discuss with the
Company’s PRC legal advisers in order to assess any possible
impact arising from the change of the Draft Law or the FIL on
the VIE Operating Agreements and the business operation of
the Group. In case there would be material and adverse effect
on the Group or the business of Houhai Culture arising from
the Draft Law or the FIL, the Company will pursuant to Part
XIVA of the SFO, timely announce (i) any updates or material
changes to the Draft Law; (ii) in the event that the FIL has
been promulgated, a clear description and analysis of the law,
specific measures taken by the Company to be in compliance
with the FIL with the support of a PRC legal opinion; and (iii)
any material impact of the FIL on the Company’'s operations
and financial position;
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as part of the internal control measures, major issues arising
from the implementation of the VIE Operating Agreements
with Guangzhou Daide, the PRC Equity Owners and Houhai
Culture will be regularly reviewed, at least on an annual
basis, by the Board. The Board will determine, as part of its
periodic review process, whether legal advisers and/or other
professionals will be engaged to assist the Group to deal with
specific issues arising from the VIE Operating Agreements;

if the payment of the service fees from Guangzhou Daide to
Guangzhou Huohua is delayed, the chief financial officer must
meet with the PRC Equity Owners to investigate, and should
report any suspicious matters to the Board;

matters relating to compliance and regulatory enquiries from
government authorities (if any) will be discussed at regular
meetings by the Board no less frequently than on a quarterly
basis;

the relevant business units and operation divisions of the
Group will report regularly, which will be no less frequently
than on a monthly basis, to the senior management of the
Company in relation to compliance and performance conditions
under the VIE Operating Agreements and other related
matters;

the chief financial officer of the Company shall conduct regular
site visits to Guangzhou Daide and Houhai Culture and conduct
personnel interviews quarterly and submit reports to the
Board,;

the chief financial officer of the Company shall collect monthly
management accounts, bank statements and cash balances
and major operational data of Guangzhou Daide and Houhai
Culture for review. Upon discovery of any suspicious matters,
the chief financial officer must report to the Board,;

any material contracts entered into by Guangzhou Daide and
Houhai Culture which is outside their respective ordinary
course of business must be approved by the Company;

Guangzhou Daide and the PRC Equity Owners have
undertaken that they will not carry on, own or acquire any
business which is in competition with or is likely to be in
competition with the business carried on by Houhai Culture
without the prior written consent of Guangzhou Huohua; and

the Group will terminate the VIE Operating Agreements as
soon as the law allows the business to be operated without
them.

TRANSMIT ENTERTAINMENT LIMITED Annual Report 2020/21

ERAMEEREEN—3 D EFEH
EHERMA(ZLEF-RBEHRTVIES
BihEABEREMNERE - FERERR
AREBX L ZBHBENEKRRRE - 1F
RERRHABIEN D EFSHR
ERATEEEER R, HHEMBEEA
TR AEEEEVIEE EREITE
HRF R R

fie /2B ' B0 4 A2 1) B M NCTE ST A BR 7%
B OUMBREAETREERAAS
| AETTHRE  WARERSERT
{a] ] &8 55 1

KEBNHEBRERLEENERNSE
H(MB)BREFENERER(TD
REF—R)F IR

NS B ARRE RS B R R 0 5B E A
(FPREBA-R)AARRBSRERE
BEBBVIELERHEE TNERNRE
1TIER - AR E AR EIA

RNRTHEREATE D EMNEE LR
BXACETEMWER - URRFETA
Bl MESTSRIME

RNARMIEBEBRERBNBELES
Xtz BAEEERE ROLERERS
EHRUALTELEEE  UETER -
MR EM A RSB - MIFREAERE
EZER

BEMNEE R EE LA L EMREE S
ZBEBEBBREAINZEREH A
AR R AR

RAEEMAEELETMAE - BMNEE
RABIRERER NERERETGHET
A R BEEREE S FH %
BB FRAREBRBEFNER &

A B A RS A VB E
10338 00 13 T A2 22 7S T B4R L VIE
BB -



There has not been any material change in the Contractual
Arrangements and/or the circumstances under which they were
adopted for the year ended 30 June 2021.

Pursuant to the relevant provisions of the VIE Operating
Agreements, Guangzhou Huohua has the right to unwind the VIE
Operating Agreements as soon as the relevant PRC laws allow
Guangzhou Huohua to register itself as the shareholder of Houhai
Culture. There has not been any unwinding of any Contractual
Arrangements, nor has there been any failure to unwind any
Contractual Arrangements when the restrictions that led to the
adoption of the Contractual Arrangements are removed.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

As at the date of this annual report, based on information that is
publicly available to the Company and within the knowledge of the
Directors, the Directors confirm that the Company maintained the
prescribed of public float as required under the Listing Rules.

EVENTS AFTER REPORTING PERIOD

Subsequent to the end of the reporting period, Mr. Zhang Liang,
Johnson, a controlling shareholder of the Company, advanced the
Company a loan advance of HK$45,000,000 on 31 July 2021. The
loan advance was unsecured, interest-free and payable on 30 July
2023. The loan was fully withdrawn on 2 August 2021.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee has reviewed the consolidated financial
statements of the Group for the year ended 30 June 2021. For
details of the composition and the functions of the Audit Committee,
please refer to pages 61 to 62 of the Corporate Governance Report
contained in this annual report.

AUDITOR

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu will retire, and being eligible, offer
themselves for re-appointment at the forthcoming annual general
meeting. A resolution for their re-appointment as auditor of the
Company will be proposed at the forthcoming annual general
meeting.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
Articles of Association or the laws of the Cayman Islands, being the
jurisdiction in which the Company was incorporated, which would
oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro rata basis to
existing shareholders of the Company.

On behalf of the Board
Zhang Liang, Johnson
Chairman

Hong Kong, 27 September 2021
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The Company is committed to achieving high standards of corporate
governance practices and following the principles as set out in the
Corporate Governance Code contained in Appendix 14 to the Listing
Rules (the "CG Code").

The Board is of the view that throughout the year ended 30 June
2021, the Company has complied with and did not deviate from
the code provisions as set out in the CG Code. The Board regularly
monitors and reviews the Group’s progress in respect of corporate
governance practices to ensure compliance.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding securities
transactions by Directors on terms no less exacting than the
required standard of dealings set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing
Rules.

Having made specific enquiries, all the Directors have confirmed
that they have complied with the required standard of dealings and
the code of conduct regarding securities transactions by Directors
adopted by the Company during the year ended 30 June 2021.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board is responsible for the leadership and control of and
promoting the success of the Company. This is achieved by
setting up corporate and strategic objectives and policies, and the
monitoring and evaluations of operating activities and financial
performance of the Company.

All the Directors carry out their duties in good faith and in
compliance with applicable laws and regulations, taking decisions
objectively and acting in the interests of the Company and the
Shareholders at all times.
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BOARD COMPOSITION

The Board of the Company comprises the following Directors:

Mr. Zhang Liang, Johnson (Chairman)
Ms. Zhao Wenzhu (President)
Mr. Lee Hin Kwong, Patrick

Mr. Wang Bo
Mr. Xiang Feng
Mr. Chang Eric Jackson

Biographical details of the Directors are set out in “Profile of
Directors and Senior Management” on pages 21 to 26 of this annual
report. The composition of the Board is well balanced. Each of
the Directors has relevant expertise and extensive corporate and
strategic planning experiences that can contribute to the business of
the Group.

During the year ended 30 June 2021, the Company had complied
with Rules 3.10(1) and (2) and 3.10A of the Listing Rules relating
to the appointment of at least three independent non-executive
Directors representing more than one-third of the Board and at
least one of them has appropriate professional qualifications or
accounting or related financial management expertise. All the
independent non-executive Directors have met the guidelines for
the assessment of their independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of
the Listing Rules. The Board has received an annual confirmation
of independence from each of the independent non-executive
Directors. The Company considers all the independent non-
executive Directors to be independent.

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Profile of Directors and
Senior Management” on pages 21 to 26 of this annual report, there
is no relationship (including financial, business, family or other
material/relevant relationship(s)) among members of the Board and
the senior management of the Group.
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Formal service contracts or letters of appointment have been issued
to the executive Directors and the independent non-executive
Directors respectively setting out the key terms and conditions of
their respective appointments.

The insurance cover in respect of any legal action against the
Directors and senior officers arising out of corporate activities is
covered by the Directors and Officers Liability Insurance Policy of
the Company.

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

The positions of Chairman and President, who serving the function
of Chief Executive Officer (“CEQ"), are held by Mr. Zhang Liang,
Johnson and Ms. Zhao Wenzhu respectively. Under the code
provision A.2.1 of the CG Code, the roles of Chairman and CEO
should be separated and should not be performed by the same
individual. The division of responsibilities between the Chairman and
CEO should be clearly established and set out in writing.

The Chairman is responsible for the overall strategic planning
and policy-making of the Group while the Company’s business
development and daily management have been monitored by the
President together with the executive Directors as well as the senior
management of the Group.

The Company has no written terms on the general division of
responsibilities between the Chairman and the President. The Board
considers that the responsibilities of the Chairman and the President
are clear and distinctive and hence written terms thereof are not
necessary.
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RESPONSIBILITIES AND DELEGATION OF
FUNCTIONS

The Company has formalised and adopted written terms on the
division of functions reserved to the Board and those delegated to
the management of the Group. The Board reserves for its decision
on all major matters of the Company, including the approval and
monitoring of all policy matters, overall strategies and budgets, risk
management and internal control systems, material transactions
(in particular those that may involve conflict of interests), financial
information, appointment of Directors and other significant financial
and operational matters. Responsibilities relating to implementing
decisions of the Board, directing and coordinating the daily
operation and management of the Company are delegated to the
management.

All Directors have full and timely access to all relevant information
as well as the advice and services of the company secretary of
the Company (the “Company Secretary”) and senior management
of the Group, with a view to ensuring compliance with the Board
procedures and all applicable laws and regulations. Any Director
may request independent professional advice in appropriate
circumstances at the Company’s expense, upon reasonable
request being made to the Board. The day-to-day management,
administration, and operations of the Company are delegated to
the executive Directors and senior management of the Group.
The Board has delegated a schedule of responsibilities to these
officers for the implementation of the Board decisions. The Board
periodically reviews the delegated functions and work tasks. Prior to
entering into any significant transactions, the aforesaid officers have
to obtain the Board's approval.

No corporate governance committee has been established by the
Company and the Board is responsible for performing the corporate
governance duties, which included:

(1) developing and reviewing the policies and practices on
corporate governance of the Group;

(2)  to review and monitor the training and continuous professional
development of Directors and senior management of the
Group;

(3) to review and monitor the Group’s policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

(4)  to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual (if any) applicable to Directors and

employees; and

(5) to review the Company's compliance with the CG Code and
disclosure in the corporate governance report of the Company.
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APPOINTMENT, RE-ELECTION AND REMOVAL
OF DIRECTORS

Mr. Zhang Liang, Johnson, Ms. Zhao Wenzhu and Mr. Lee Hin
Kwong, Patrick, being all the executive Directors during the year
under review, had each entered into with the Company a service
contract for an initial fixed term of one year, three years and three
years commencing from 13 December 2017, 26 November 2018
and 1 December 2017 respectively renewable automatically until (i)
terminated by not less than respectively one month's, two months’
and one month’s notice in writing served by either party on the other
expiring at the end of the initial term or any time thereafter or (ii) not
being re-elected at an annual general meeting of the Company at
which he retires and offers for re-election.

Each of Mr. Wang Bo, Mr. Xiang Feng and Mr. Chang Eric
Jackson, being all the independent non-executive directors during
the year under review, had respectively renewed the letter of
appointment with the Company on 13 December 2018. Each letter
of appointment is for a term of one year from the date of the letter
of appointment and renewable automatically for successive terms
of one year each commencing from the next day after the expiry
of the then term of appointment but subject to the memorandum
and the articles of association of the Company. Their appointment
as independent non-executive directors of the Company shall be
terminated by either party giving not less than one month’s prior
notice in writing.

Pursuant to Article 84(1) of the Company's Articles of Association, at
each annual general meeting one-third of the Directors for the time
being, or, if their number is not three or a multiple of three, then
the number nearest to but not less than one-third, shall retire from
office by rotation and shall be eligible for re-election. Every Director,
including those appointed for a specific term, shall be subject to
retirement by rotation at least once every three years. Accordingly,
Mr. Zhang Liang, Johnson and Mr. Wang Bo will retire by rotation at
the forthcoming annual general meeting, and being eligible, will offer
themselves for re-election at the annual general meeting.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

PEEAWRS
BOARD MEETING, GENERAL MEETING AND EEE22E  RREASRER
PROCEDURES

During the year ended 30 June 2021, the Board convened a total of BE2021F6A30ALFE EFEEAHA
N PN 2 N N & S y.

four board meetings and one general meeting have been held. The ﬁmﬂ%%ggﬁ%&__/ﬂﬂﬁﬁﬁg TR

following is the Directors’ attendance records of meetings held by ESHRESEMBITEHRMN L FCE

the Board:
Number of Number of
attendances/ attendances/
number of number of
board general
meetings meetings
HERE, HERE,
Exyg BRAE
SREE 2B
Executive Directors HITEE

Mr. Zhang Liang, Johnson RESLE 4/4 1/
Mr. Lee Hin Kwong, Patrick TEREE 4/4 11
Ms. Zhao Wenzhu AT 2+ 4/4 1/1

Independent Non-Executive Directors BV HHITESE
Mr. Wang Bo FoREE 4/4 1/1
Mr. Xiang Feng [\ & %t & 4/4 1/1
Mr. Chang Eric Jackson SR TR S A 4/4 11

Apart from regular Board meetings, the Chairman also held a BREZSMNGI  EEREIIENITESIT
meeting with the independent non-executive directors without the RENTELEEARARAAMEZTLHENBRLT
presence of other directors of the Company during the year. BIT—REHE o

Independent non-executive directors have attend general meetings BUERTEECHERRASUES RS

to gain and develop a balanced understanding of the view of HEBRAANFRENER
shareholders of the Company.
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Board members were provided with complete, adequate and timely
information to allow them to fulfill their duties properly.

Draft agenda of each Board meeting is sent to all Directors in
advance. Notice of at least seven days is given for a regular Board
meeting. For other Board and committees meetings, reasonable
notice is generally given. Board papers together with all appropriate,
complete and reliable information are dispatched to all Directors at
least three days before each regular Board meeting to ensure that
the Directors have sufficient time to review the related documents
and be adequately prepared for the meeting.

The Company Secretary is responsible to keep minutes of all Board
meetings and committees meetings. Draft minutes are normally
circulated to all Directors for comments within a reasonable time
after each meeting and the final versions are open for Directors’
inspection. The Company’'s Articles of Association contains
provisions requiring Directors to abstain from voting and not to
be counted in the quorum at meetings for approving transactions
in which such Directors or any of their associates have a material
interest.

CONTINUOUS PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT

All Directors with names as listed out in the section headed “Board
Composition” in this annual report have been given relevant
guideline materials regarding the duties and responsibilities of
being a Director, the relevant laws and regulations applicable to
the Directors, duty of disclosure of interest and business of the
Group and such induction materials will also be provided to newly
appointed Directors shortly upon their appointment as Directors. All
Directors have been updated on the latest developments regarding
the Listing Rules and other applicable regulatory requirements to
ensure compliance and enhance their awareness of good corporate
governance practices. Continuing briefings and professional
development to Directors will be arranged whenever necessary.
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During the year ended 30 June 2021, all Directors were provided
with monthly updates on the Group’'s business, operations, and
financial matters to facilitate the discharge of their responsibilities.
During the year ended 30 June 2021, the Directors also participated
in other training activities such as attending seminars and reading
materials relevant to the Company’s businesses or to their duties
and responsibilities as directors of a listed company. A summary of
the individual training record of each Director received for the year
ended 30 June 2021 is as follows:

Directors

2=

Executive Directors HITEE

Mr. Zhang Liang, Johnson RELE

Ms. Zhao Wenzhu HEX T2+

Mr. Lee Hin Kwong, Patrick EENEE
Independent non-executive Directors BUHHITESE
Mr. Wang Bo FREE

Mr. Xiang Feng M) 55 &=

Mr. Chang Eric Jackson oR RS &

Note:
Types of Training

A: Attending training sessions, including but not limited to, briefings,
seminars, conferences and workshops

B: Reading relevant news alerts, newspapers, journals, magazines and
relevant publications

All Directors had provided the Company Secretary with their training
records for the year ended 30 June 2021.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established three board committees, namely
the Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee, and the
Nomination Committee, with written terms of reference which are
available for viewing on the websites of the Company and the Stock
Exchange to assist them in the efficient implementation of their
functions. Specific responsibilities have been delegated to the above
committees.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Board established the Audit Committee on 5 October 2012
with written terms of reference (updated on 31 December 2018)
in compliance with Rules 3.21 to 3.23 of the Listing Rules and the
CG Code. The primary duties of the Audit Committee are mainly
to communicate with external auditor; to review the remuneration,
terms of engagement, independence and objectivity of the external
auditor; to review the accounting policy, financial position and
financial reporting procedures of the Company; and to review
and assess the financial reporting, risk management and internal
control systems, effectiveness of the internal audit function of the
Company and arrangements to enable employees of the Company
to raise concerns about possible improprieties in financial reporting,
internal control or other matters of the Company and making
recommendations thereof.

The Audit Committee has three members comprising three
independent non-executive Directors, currently they are Mr. Chang
Eric Jackson (Chairman of the Audit Committee), Mr. Wang Bo
and Mr. Xiang Feng. During the year ended 30 June 2021, the
Audit Committee had reviewed the annual results and report of
the Company in respect of the year ended 30 June 2020 and the
interim results and report of the Company for the six months
ended 31 December 2020 and re-appointment of auditor. The
Audit Committee had been provided with the Group’s consolidated
financial statements, risk management report, internal control
report and other necessary information to consider, review and
access significant issues and matters arising from these works
conducted. Subsequent to 30 June 2021 and up to the date of this
report, all members of the Audit Committee conducted a meeting
to review the effectiveness of the Group's risk management and
internal control systems for the year ended 30 June 2021. The Audit
Committee had considered and reviewed, with management and
the external auditor of the Company, in detail of the identification
and approach with respect to the key audit matters that were most
significant in the audit procedures included in the “Independent
Auditor’'s Report” on pages 117 to 122 of this annual report. The
Group's final results and the annual report for the year ended 30
June 2021 had been reviewed by the Audit Committee before
submission to the Board for approval. Members of the Audit
Committee are of the opinion that the preparation of such final
results and annual report complied with the applicable accounting
standards, the Listing Rules, and that adequate disclosure have
been made. The Audit Committee also recommended to the Board
of Directors the re-election of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu as the
external auditor of the Company in the forthcoming annual general
meeting.

BEREES

BEEN2012F10AHR Y BEZEZES -
WARE PR BIE3 212 F3. 23R EE
JASFRIRIEE B EEE (B R2018F 128
3THEH) BEXREZESTHNTEHE AHEHN
IEZEEER  BHIINEZBMOE &
BEER  BYMERFTEMN  BEHARRE:
KR - MR R ERIZRF LA KRER]
KFHEARRBIMP B ER - BRERE KA
EERRG c NEERINEZ B RIERESH
RNAR SRR - AEBES sk H b 5 T AT A
BAEMTEZTAREBEINTHEIWEL A
BER -

EZZEESH-_RNEHEK  BREIE=%
BYIERITERRERBAE(EREZES

B TREERMIELLE - HZE2021F6 A
0RIEFE Fr ERZESEEREARRAEE
20206 H30H L FEvFEXERBER
NABEZE20209612 8318 1E/5E B 2+ Ef
EERRERZEMZER EREZE8E0
BEREAEENGEETBSRE  BREER
& APEEREREMBEERAEZE
BRI EZEMETZTEPSIBHNEE
MENEE - N2021F6 A30H B REE K
HREBH TEEZZEEREBRITEE
st A EBE 20216 A308 FFEEH
EREERANDEIEHENFRIE - EZE
BeDHEMRE K AR A INEIZ AN 4L
BREBEHIBARNFRBINTIEZI1228 [BI%
HEmE INBEEZARTEAEENHE
EZBENENEAR - XEEEE2021F
AR IEFERPEERFHRNERES
SHENDEEZEZECEN  E%E8T
RERABRUZSERPEERFTRHDEST
EAREFERR EWARR - WEEETES T
B oBRZEENERESERNERERER
FRELEREY - BEMRAHASAITAL
NaEIINEERZ SR o

BRIREBR AT 2020/21 F#



During the year ended 30 June 2021, two meetings of the Audit
Committee have been held and the attendance of each member of
the Audit Committee is contained in the following table:

Mr. Chang Eric Jackson SR E S A
(Chairman of Audit Committee)
Mr. Wang Bo

Mr. Xiang Feng

FRELE
[F) I 52 A

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Company established the Nomination Committee on 5 October
2012 with written terms of reference (updated on 31 December
2018) in compliance with the CG Code. The primary duties of the
Nomination Committee are mainly to review of the structure, size,
and composition (including the skills, knowledge, experience and
diversity of perspectives) of the Board at least annually and to
make recommendations on any proposed changes to the Board
to complement the Company’s corporate strategy; to identify
individuals suitably qualified to become the Board members and
select or make recommendations to the Board on the selection
of individuals nominated for directorships of the Company and to
assess the independence of independent non-executive Directors.
In reviewing and recommending the appointment of new Directors,
the Nomination Committee would seek to identify the competencies
required to enable the Board to fulfill its responsibilities. The resume
or document of the nominee or candidate will be given to the
Nomination Committee for consideration.
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The Company has adopted a board diversity policy (the “Board
Diversity Policy”) in September 2013 and revised in December 2018
setting out the approach to achieve diversity on the Board. Selection
of candidates will be based on a range of diversity perspectives,
including but not limited to skills, knowledge, industry and regional
experience, cultural and educational background, gender, age and
professional qualification. The ultimate decision will be based on
merit and contribution that the selected candidates will bring to
the Board. The Nomination Committee shall discuss and where
necessary, agree on the measurable objectives for achieving
diversity on the Board and make recommendations to the Board.
The Board may adopt and/or amend from time to time (as applicable)
such diversity perspectives and/or measurable objectives that are
appropriate to the Company’s business and Board succession
planning, as applicable.

The Company has also adopted a director nomination policy (the
“Director Nomination Policy”) in December 2018 setting out the
procedures and criteria to be used by the Company in relation to
the selection, appointment and re-appointment of Directors to
ensure that the Board maintains an appropriate mix and balance of
skills, knowledge, experience, and diversity of perspectives to the
requirements of the Company's business.

The Nomination Committee shall make reference to this Director
Nomination Policy and the Board Diversity Policy to nominate
suitably qualified candidates to the Board for it to consider and
make recommendations to shareholders for election as Directors at
general meetings or appoint as Directors to fill casual vacancies or
as an addition to the Board.
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The Nomination Committee has three members comprising three
independent non-executive Directors, currently they are Mr.
Wang Bo (Chairman of the Nomination Committee), Mr. Lee Hin
Kwong, Patrick and Mr. Xiang Feng. During the year ended 30 June
2021, one meeting of the Nomination Committee has been held
to review the structure, size and composition of the Board and
assess the independence of independent non-executive Directors.
The attendance of each member of the Nomination Committee is
contained in the following table:
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Number of
attendance(s)/
number of
meeting(s)
HERE
2EHA

Mr. Wang Bo TR EE
(Chairman of Nomination Committee) (IBEZReFE) 1/
Mr. Lee Hin Kwong, Patrick TEHREE 1/1
Mr. Xiang Feng A 55 &= 1/1

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Company established the Remuneration Committee on 5
October 2012 with written terms of reference (updated on 13
December 2017) in compliance with the CG Code. The primary
duties of the Remuneration Committee are mainly to make
recommendations to the Board of Directors on the Company's
policy structure for the remuneration of the Directors and senior
management and on the establish of a formal and transparent
procedure for developing a remuneration policy, review the terms
of the remuneration package of each Director and member of senior
management of the Group and making recommendations to the
Board regarding any adjustment thereof; and to review and evaluate
the performance of individual Directors. No Director shall participate
in any discussion about his or her own remuneration.
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The Remuneration Committee has three members comprising one
executive Director and two independent non-executive Directors,
namely, Mr. Wang Bo (Chairman of the Remuneration Committee),
Mr. Lee Hin Kwong, Patrick and Mr. Xiang Feng. The remuneration
of the Directors is determined with reference to their respective
experience, responsibilities with the Group and general market
conditions. During the year ended 30 June 2021, one meeting of the
Remuneration Committee has been held to review the remuneration
package of the Directors and senior management of the Group. The
attendance of each member of the Remuneration Committee is
contained in the following table:
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Number of
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Mr. Wang Bo LA
(Chairman of Remuneration Committee) (FNZEeF/E) 11
Mr. Lee Hin Kwong, Patrick EENEE 1/
Mr. Xiang Feng ) 55 = 171

REMUNERATION OF SENIOR MANAGEMENT

The biographical details of senior management of the Group are
disclosed in the section headed "Profile of Directors and Senior
Management” on pages 21 to 26 of this annual report.

The remuneration paid/payable to senior management of the Group
for the year ended 30 June 2021 fell within the following bands:
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DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Board acknowledges its responsibility to prepare the Group's
consolidated financial statements for each financial year and to
ensure that the consolidated financial statements are prepared in
accordance with statutory requirements and applicable accounting
standards. The statement by the auditor of the Company about
their responsibilities for the consolidated financial statements
is set out in the “Independent Auditor's Report” on pages 117
to 122 of this annual report. The Board also ensures the timely
publication of the financial statements. The Directors, having
made appropriate enquiries, confirm that they are not aware of any
material uncertainties relating to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt upon the Company's ability to continue as a going
concern.

AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION

The remuneration paid/payable to the auditors of the Group for the
year ended 30 June 2021 is set out as follows:

ESHSREUBRRNEE
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MG EFBERE  THRRESVEREIIE
BEERAIMBAGERE - NQFZ
HEhir A B MERE LN ETERHRNE
FRFENTEN1228 [ B ZBEIRE] - ES
GNBRENHEMEHRRE - EFLIELHE
EERNEER  BETENBRTMNEBEE
SARNAFBEEENENTEEARBNE
HekIERMERTHBPREZE °

B ET &

BZE2021F6A30ALFE - B EHA
SEZBEAMETIINT

Paid/payable

B EREE
HK$'000
BT T
Statutory audit services TEE R B AR TS 2,600
Non-statutory audit services IEETE LR
Agreed-Upon procedure in relation to interim reporting FRHEISREEERR R 720
Indebtedness and working capital sufficiency BHEEREEES TR MER 5
statements in a circular, continuing connected B 5 R H AR
transaction and other services 640
Total e 3,960
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board has developed the Group's internal control, risk
assessment and management systems and has overall responsibility
for reviewing and maintaining an adequate and effective risk
management and internal control systems to safeguard the interests
of the Shareholders and the assets of the Group. It evaluates
the effectiveness of the systems at least annually to ensure the
adequacy of resources, staff qualifications and experience, training
programmes and budget of the Group’s accounting, internal audit
and financial reporting functions. The review covers all material
controls, including financial, operational and compliance controls and
risk management.

The Group's risk management and internal control systems are
designed to manage and mitigate risks, rather than eliminate risks,
and can only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance against
material misstatement or loss. The Group has employed a bottom-
up approach for identification, assessment, and mitigation of risk at
all business unit levels and across functional areas.

The key elements of the Group's risk management and internal
control systems include the establishment of a risk register to
keep track of and document identified risks, the assessment, and
evaluation of risks, the development and continuous updating of
responsive procedures, and the ongoing testing of internal control
procedures to ensure their effectiveness.

Annually, the Group identifies and assesses the key inherent risks
that affect the achievements of its objectives. A risk matrix is
adopted to determine risk rating into three categories: low, medium
and high, after evaluation of the risk by the likelihood and the impact
of the risk event. The risk ratings reflect the level of management
attention and risk treatment effort required.

[\ B B 3 e 0 R BE 42

EXeChEAREZAEEE - ARG
REBRSE  UHRSREFEHRERZ
RERERABERIERAZEEE - A
RERRANERAREEE - E&DBFF
EHENAREERASEESE - AT
ZhMHERBETENER BTEER
K BIRERBERLRHN - BHRE
BREME  KERAREHNRARERES
PIEBEARER

AEBENEREERNEIERRE BERE
FOom KRR T FE e 2 HERR R R - BERT R4
EEAREMIBHRESE HREAHRK
MHBKR - AERBESHRA A T M LN TTEA
il HERREMERBEMER RES
WreEIRH R

AEENEREERANNEERREBTER
B ¥R R LR\ Bk RO 85 T DA 28 Bt % RO 8% P M BN
Rk~ FEE PR R BREEETHE
iz o ARFENHA N EIERE F ARER
HAMIE

AEEESFERINFETELEIRENE
ZEARR - AREENFERRERAA
BEUEREREENFERER—ERREL
BERRIERERRE - hERRNSER
B ARFIRRREEEMT IR RERE
JE\BR 71 EIKF o

BRIREBR AT 2020/21 F#



During the process of risk assessment, each of the risk owners of
departments is required to capture and identify the key inherent
risks that affect the achievement of its objectives. Each inherent
risk is evaluated according to the risk matrix. After taking into
consideration the risk response, such as control measures in
place to mitigate the risk, the residual risk of each inherent risk
is evaluated again. The risk register with the risk responses and
residual risks is presented to the Audit Committee. The Audit
Committee evaluates the effectiveness of the systems and reports
to the Board. The highest category of residual risks is subject to the
Board's oversight.

The management is responsible for the design, implementation, and
monitoring of the risk management and internal control systems. In
view of the Group’s business and scale of operations, and in order
to adopt the most cost-effective method of conducting periodic
reviews of the Group’s internal controls, an independent consulting
firm (the “Internal Control Auditor”) has been engaged to work with
the Board, through the Audit Committee, to execute the internal
audit function. The Internal Control Auditor has conducted a review
of the effectiveness of the Group’s risk management and internal
control systems for the year ended 30 June 2021 according to the
scope of review determined, agreed and approved by the Audit
Committee and in accordance with the requirements under code
provision C.2 of the CG Code.

The Internal Control Auditor reported to the Audit Committee and
the Audit Committee is satisfied that there had been no material
deficiency identified in the areas of the Group's risk management
and internal control systems being reviewed, where some minor
areas need to be improved have been identified and reported to the
Audit Committee and the Group would take further steps to improve
by taken implement of the recommendations suggested by the
Internal Control Auditor. Accordingly, the Board considered the risk
management and internal control systems to be effective and have
been implemented with adequate resources during the year ended
30 June 2021.
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The Company is aware of its obligations in disclosure of inside
information under the Listing Rules and Part XIVA of the SFO.
The Board has already established and implemented a policy on
the procedures, guidelines and internal controls for the handling
and dissemination of inside information. The policy stipulated
the duty and responsibility of inside information announcement,
restriction on sharing non-public information, handling of rumours,
unintentional selective disclosure, exemption and wavier to the
disclosure of inside information, and also compliance and reporting
procedures. Every senior management of the Company must take
all reasonable measures to ensure that proper safeguards exist
to prevent a breach of a disclosure requirement in relation to the
Group from time to time. They must promptly bring any possible
leakage or divulgence of inside information to the attention of the
Company Secretary, who will notify the Board accordingly for taking
the appropriate action promptly. For any material violation of this
policy, the Board will decide, or designate appropriate persons to
decide the course of actions for rectifying the problem and avoiding
recurrence.

COMPANY SECRETARY

During the year under review, Ms. Lau Yee Wa (“Ms. Lau") of
Tricor Services Limited, an external service provider, was the
company secretary of the Company. Her primary contact person at
the Company from 1 July 2020 to 18 January 2021 was Ms. Cao
Mengxiao (“Ms. Cao"), who is the then Chief Financial Officer of
the Company. Upon Ms. Cao’s resignation as CFO of the Company,
Ms. Lau’s primary contact at the Company changed to Ms. Li Yuling,
who is the Chief Financial Officer of the Company. The biographical
details of Ms. Lau are set out under the section headed “Profile of
Directors and Senior Management” on pages 21 to 26 of this annual
report. Ms. Lau confirmed that she has taken no less than 15 hours
of relevant professional training during the year ended 30 June 2021
in accordance with the requirements of Rule 3.29 of the Listing
Rules.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

During the year ended 30 June 2021, there was no change in the
Company's constitutional documents.
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SHAREHOLDERS'’ RIGHTS

The Company has established a range of communication channels
between itself and the Shareholders and investors. These include
answering questions through the general meetings, the publication
of annual and interim reports, notices, announcements and circulars
and the Company’s website at www.transmit-ent.com.

The general meetings of the Company provide an opportunity for
communication between the Shareholders and the Board. An annual
general meeting of the Company shall be held in each year and at
the place as may be determined by the Board. Any general meeting
other than an annual general meeting shall be referred to as an
extraordinary general meeting (“EGM").

Subject to applicable laws and regulations, including the Listing
Rules and the Company’'s Articles of Association as amended
from time to time, Shareholders may convene an EGM to consider
proposals in accordance with the following provisions:

1. One or more Shareholders holding, at the date of deposit of
the requisition, not less than one-tenth of the paid-up capital
of the Company having the right of voting at general meetings
can deposit a written request to convene an EGM at the
principal place of business of the Company in Hong Kong (the
“Hong Kong Head Office"), for the attention of the Board or
the Company Secretary.

2. The written request must state the name of the Shareholders
concerned, their respective shareholdings, the objects of the
meeting, including details of the business(es) and resolutions
proposed to be considered and approved at the meeting,
signed by the Shareholders concerned.
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3.  The request will be verified with the Company’s Hong Kong
branch share registrar and transfer office and upon their
confirmation that the request is proper and in order, the
Company Secretary will ask the Board to convene an EGM
by serving sufficient notice in accordance with the statutory
requirements to all the Shareholders. On the contrary, if the
request has been verified as not in order, the Shareholders
concerned will be advised of this outcome and accordingly, an
EGM will not be convened as requested.

4. If within 21 days of such deposit of the requisition, the Board
fails to proceed to convene such meeting, the requisitionist(s)
himself (themselves) may do so in the same manner, and
all reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a
result of the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed to the
requisitionist(s) by the Company.

5. The notice period to be given to the Shareholders in respect of
the EGM varies according to the nature of the proposal. Notice
of the EGM at which the passing of a special resolution is to be
considered, a notice of the EGM shall be arranged to be sent
to the Shareholders at least 21 clear days or 10 clear business
days (whichever is longer) before such EGM. Notice of all other
EGM shall be arranged to be sent to the Shareholders at least
14 clear days or 10 clear business days (whichever is longer)
before such EGM.

6. There are no provisions allowing Shareholders to move new
resolutions at the general meetings under the Companies Law,
Chapter 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated and revised) of
the Cayman Islands or the Company’s Articles of Association.
Shareholders who wish to move a resolution may request the
Company to convene an EGM following the procedures set out
above in this section.

Shareholders and other stakeholders can make any enquiry
in respect of the Company in writing either by email at
“info@transmit-ent.com” or deposited at the Hong Kong Head
Office for the attention of the Board or the Company Secretary. The
appropriate management member of the Company will respond to
the legitimate enquiry of the Shareholders, the Company's potential
investors or analysts.
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DIVIDEND POLICY

The dividend policy of the Company (the “Dividend Policy”) is in
place setting out the principles and guidelines that the Company
intends to apply in relation to the declaration, payment or distribution
of its net profits as dividends to the shareholders of the Company.
The Board shall take into account factors including but not limited
to financial results, cash flow situations, future operations, and
earnings, any restriction on payment of dividends when considering
the declaration and payment of dividends:

- financial results;

- cash flow situation;

- business conditions and strategies;

- future operations and earnings;

- capital requirements and expenditure plans;

- interests of shareholders;

- taxation consideration;

- any restrictions on the payment of dividends; and

- any other factors that the Board may consider relevant.

The Dividend Policy shall be reviewed when necessary and can be
revised by the Board from time to time.
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ABOUT THIS REPORT

Transmit Entertainment Limited (the “Company”), together with its
subsidiaries (the “Group”), is pleased to present this Environmental,
Social and Governance Report 2021 (the "Report”) to provide an
overview of the Group's management of significant issues affecting
the operation, including environmental, social and governance
issues. This Report is prepared by the Group with the professional
assistance of APAC Compliance Consultancy and Internal Control
Services Limited.

This Report is prepared in accordance with Appendix 27 to the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) (the “Listing Rules”) —
“Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide” and has
complied with the “comply or explain” provision in the Listing Rules.

This year, the Group has extended the scope of this report so that
it covers both its Hong Kong (“HK") and the People’'s Republic
of China (the "PRC") operations. This Report summarises the
performance of the Group in respect of corporate environmental
and social responsibility, covering its operations which are

considered as material by the Group - (i) film, TV series and variety
show production, distribution and licensing of film rights; (ii)
film exhibition; (iii) pan entertainment; and (iv) other businesses,

including post-production, advertising, marketing and publication
businesses. With the aim to optimise and improve the disclosure
requirements in the Report, the Group has taken initiative to
formulate policies, record relevant data, implement and monitor
measures. This Report shall be published both in Chinese and
English on the website of Stock Exchange. Should there be any
discrepancy between the Chinese and the English versions, the
English version shall prevail.

This Report demonstrates our sustainability initiatives during the
reporting period from 1 July 2020 to 30 June 2021.

The Group welcomes your feedback on this Report for our
sustainability initiatives. Please give your suggestions or share your
views with the Group via the Group's social media platforms or
email at info@transmit-ent.com.
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INTRODUCTION

The Group is principally engaged in (i) film, TV series and variety
show production, distribution and licensing of film rights; (ii)
film exhibition; (iii) pan entertainment; and (iv) other businesses,
including post-production, advertising, marketing and publication
businesses. The Group mainly produces Chinese films, variety
shows and TV series in both Mainland China and Hong Kong. It also
operates one Hong Kong based cinemas during the year.

In order to response to growing trends on the expectation of the
stakeholders on the corporate responsibility performance, the
Group is committed to integrating sustainable development into
business operations. We maintain our operation in a responsible
and value-optimizing manner and value creation for stakeholders
and community by integrating environmental and social factors
into management considerations. Sustainability strategy is based
on the compliance with the legal requirements applicable to us
and opinions from stakeholders. Sustainability is essential for
the Group’s growth in order to achieve business excellence and
enhance capabilities for long-term competitiveness. The Group
has established and implemented various policies to manage and
monitor the risks related to the environment, employment, operating
practices and community. Details of the management approaches
to sustainable development of different areas are illustrated in this
Report.

STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT AND MATERIALITY
ASSESSMENT

The Group understands the success of the Group's business
depends on the support from its key stakeholders, who (a) have
invested or will invest in the Group; (b) have the ability to influence
the outcomes within the Group; and (c) are interested in or affected
by or have the potential to be affected by the impact of the Group's
activities, products, services and relationships. It allows the Group
to understand risks and opportunities. The Group will continue to
ensure effective communication and maintain good relationship with
each of its key stakeholders.

Stakeholders are prioritised from time to time in view of the Group's
roles and duties, strategic plan and business initiatives. The Group
engages with its stakeholders to develop mutually beneficial
relationships and to seek their views on its business proposals and
initiatives as well as to promote sustainability in the marketplace,
workplace, community and environment.
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The Group acknowledges the importance of intelligence gained
from the stakeholders’ insights, inquiries and continuous interest
in the Group’s business activities. The Group has identified key
stakeholders that are important to our business and established
various channels for communication. The following table provides an
overview of the Group’s key stakeholders, and various platforms and
methods of communication are used to reach, listen and respond.

Stakeholders
F = AEREE

Expectations
HAZ

Compliance with the applicable laws
and regulations

BPEAERROER
Proper tax payment
FEHE

Low risk

(YN

Return on the investment
& & [

Information disclosure and
transparency
BHHERERE

Protection of interests and fair
treatment of shareholders
REREED R A TEFR

Safeguard the rights and interests of
employees

RIS (R SRR R

Working environment

THERE

Career development opportunities
BEEREES

Health and safety

REEZ S

Safe and high-quality products
ZEREBEEmM

Stable relationship

IRERR

Information transparency
BHERE

Integrity

HWEIFHE

Business ethics

EESELS

AEBEARRMEERE RN RSB XK
EEBRE  SARBERIZEENR - K
SEERRIREGMEBEZ 2 T EN A
BE UYRIZEBBRRE - TREHAE
BT ENHZEEEANARNERE  RIERE

EHEEAEBTERTANHE -

Engagement channels
SHERE

Annual reports, interim reports and
announcements

FH - PEMERAM

Company website

NGk

Annual general meetings and other
shareholder meetings
RERBFREREMKRERRE
Annual reports, interim reports and
announcements

Fil - PHEIRE R QM

Company website

YNGIF DA

Meetings with investors and analysts

B EER DA S E

Trainings, seminars, briefing
sessions

Bl - BERENE
Newsletters

B R

Intranet and emails

B N EE

Annual reports, interim reports and
announcements

FHR - REIRERAM

Company website

YNSIF R

Email and customer service hotline
BELREPREELR

Regular meetings

P A
FEANE R
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Stakeholders
FME=MEEE

Expectations
HiE

e Long-term partnership

o RHEIAERAR

e Honest cooperation

e HWAE

e Fairness and openness

o RNFRFM

e |nformation resources sharing
o BHARKE

e Risk reduction

o [REER

e Compliance with the applicable laws
and regulations

o ETERARNER

e Disclosure of information

. ERER

e |nformation transparency
o BHBEHE

e Community involvement
o iHESHE

e Social responsibilities

o HEEHME

Through general communication with stakeholders, the Group
understands the expectations and concerns from stakeholders.
The feedbacks obtained allow the Group to make more informed
decisions, and to better assess and manage the resulting impact.

The Group has adopted the principle of materiality in the ESG
reporting by understanding the key ESG issues that are important
to the business of the Group. All the key ESG issues and key
performance indicators (KPls) are reported in the Report according
to recommendations of the ESG Reporting Guide (Appendix 27 of
the Listing Rules) and the Global Reporting Initiative Guidelines. The
Group has evaluated the materiality and importance in ESG aspects
through the following steps:
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Engagement channels
BHRE

e Business meetings and phone calls
© EHEURE:

e Regular meetings

s EHEH

e Reviews and assessments

. BMRIHE

e (Consulting

o i

e [nformation disclosure

. EHEE

e Annual reports, interim reports and
announcements

o Fi - PHITRE LM

e Company website
LI/NES v
e |nterviews

. K

e Annual reports, interim reports and
announcements

o FH - PHBERAM
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

RIR - g MERTRE

Step 1: Identification — Industry Benchmarking

° Relevant ESG areas were identified through the review of
relevant ESG reports of the local and international industry
peers.

o The materiality of each ESG area was determined based on
the importance of each ESG area to the Group through internal
discussion of the management and the recommendation of
ESG Reporting Guide (Appendix 27 of the Listing Rules).

Step 2: Prioritisation — Stakeholder Engagement

° The Group discussed with key stakeholders on key ESG areas
identified above to ensure all the key aspects were covered.

Step 3: Validation — Determining Material Issues

° Based on the discussion with key stakeholders and internal
discussion among the management, the Group’s management
ensured that all the key and material ESG areas, which were
important to the business development, were reported and in
compliance with ESG Reporting Guide.

As a result of this process carried out in 2021, those important ESG
areas to the Group were discussed in this Report.

ESG GOVERNANCE

Board’s oversight of ESG issues

Board’s overall vision and strategy in managing ESG

issues

The board of directors (“Board”) has a primary role in overseeing
the management of the Group's sustainability issues. During the
year, the Board and the ESG Working Group spent significant time
in evaluating the impact of ESG-related risks on our operation and
formulating relevant policy in dealing with the risks. The oversight
of the Board is to ensure the management to have all the right tools
and resources to oversee the ESG issues in the context of strategy
and long-term value creation.
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ESG Working Group

To demonstrate our commitment to transparency and accountability,
our Group has established an ESG Working Group, which has
clear terms of reference that set out the powers delegated to it by
the Board. We highly value the opinions of each stakeholder and
treat them as the cornerstone for the development of the Group.
During the reporting period, the ESG Working Group consisted of 6
members, including 3 executive directors and 3 independent non-
executive directors.

The ESG Working Group is primarily responsible for reviewing
and supervising the ESG process, and risk management of the
Group. Different ESG issues are reviewed by the Working Group
at the meetings, which holds annually. During the reporting period,
the ESG Working Group and the management reviewed the ESG
governance and different ESG issues.

Board's ESG management approach and strategy for

material ESG-related issues

In order to better understand the opinions and expectations of
different stakeholders on our ESG issues, materiality assessment
is conducted each year. We ensure various platforms and channels
of communication are used to reach, listen and respond to our key
stakeholders. Through general communication with stakeholders,
the Group understands the expectations and concerns from
stakeholders. The feedbacks obtained allow the Group to make
more informed decisions, and to better assess and manage the
resulting impact.

The Group has evaluated the materiality and importance in ESG
aspects through the steps: (1) material ESG area identification
by industry benchmarking; (2) key ESG area prioritization with
stakeholder engagement; and (3) validation and determining material
ESG issues based on results of communication among stakeholders
and the management.

Hence, this can enhance understanding of their degree and change
of attention to each significant ESG issue, and can enable us to more
comprehensively plan our sustainable development work in the
future. Those important and material ESG areas identified during our
material assessment were discussed in this Report.
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The progress of target implementation and the performance of
the goals and targets should be closely reviewed from time to
time. Rectification may be needed if the progress falls short of
expectation. Effective communication about the goals and target
process with key stakeholders such as employees is essential, as
this enables them to be engaged in the implementation process,
and to feel they are part of the change that the company aspires to
achieve.

Setting strategic goals for the coming three to five years enables
the Group to develop a realistic roadmap and focus on results in
achieving the visions.

Setting targets requires the ESG Working Group to carefully
examine the attainability of the targets which should be weighed
against the company’s ambitions and goals. During the year, our
Group set targets on an absolute basis.

A. ENVIRONMENTAL ASPECTS

The Group is mainly involved in office operations, films, variety
shows and TV series production. Hence, its business activities
do not have significant impact on the environment or natural
resources. In spite of this, we believe that our enterprise
has responsibility in promoting and implementing the
sustainable development of environment. We are committed
to continuously improving our environmental sustainability
by responsibly managing our operation, reducing our carbon
footprint and using resources effectively.
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Accordingly, the Group establishes environmental principles
and policies to ensure the effective execution in various
measures. From film and TV series production to film
exhibition at the cinemas, the Group is committed to making
efforts towards sustainable business and reducing carbon
footprint while showing good stewardship in the community
that the Group serves. For instance, during film and TV
series production, a production manager is assigned for each
production in order to carefully manage, supervise and execute
sustainability practice and performance in every aspect
of the production, from reducing the use of plastic water
bottles to renting vehicles with higher fuel efficiency and the
use of rechargeable batteries. For film exhibition operation,
vegetarian options are available for cinemagoers, as well as
ensuring the cinema venue is accessible to meet the needs of
customers.

The Group always endeavours to operate in a manner that
is economically, socially and environmentally sustainable
while balancing the interests of our various stakeholders and
fostering a positive impact on the society. We also regularly
update ourselves with the latest development of the applicable
laws and regulations on environmental protection.

The Group acknowledges its responsibility to the
environment and has ethical duties to reduce emissions.
Given the nature of our business, the impacts on the
environment and nature resources are not significant.
In spite of this, we are committed to minimizing our
environmental impacts by responsibly managing our
business operations, reducing our carbon footprint and
using resources effectively.

In the meantime, we have full complied with all of the
relevant environmental laws and regulations where we
operated such as the Atmospheric Pollution Prevention
and Control Law of the People’s Republic of China (2015)
in the PRC, the Motor Vehicle Idling (Fixed Penalty)
Ordinance (Cap. 611), and the Road Traffic Ordinance
(Cap. 374) in Hong Kong. Besides, no concluded case
regarding emissions was brought against us or our
employees during the year ended 30 June 2021.
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Air Pollutant Emissions

Air emission control is essential to mitigate
environmental impacts and to protect the health of
employees. As the Group is mainly involved in general
office activities, the amount of air pollutant emissions is
insignificant. Our air pollutant emissions are generated
from the mobile sources including passenger cars.
We take initiative to formulate plans in transportation
management for the reduction of air pollutant emissions
in our daily business operation. For example, encouraging
employees and clients to conduct video conference
meetings instead of transportation. Furthermore, the
Group targets to reduce the emission of air pollutants
by 20% in 2025. The decrease in air pollutant emissions
in 2021 was mainly attributable to the effective
implementation of natural gas saving strategies in the
PRC, as well as the disposal of the vehicles in HK during
the year ended 30 June 2021. The details of air pollutant
emissions during the reporting period were as follows:

Type of air pollutants Unit
RIS RYE R B
Nitrogen oxides (NOx) kg
AELINOX) NI
Sulphur oxides (SOx) kg
HA L¥(SOx) NI
Particulate matter (PM) kg
R (PM) Ny

Greenhouse Gas (“GHG”) Emissions
Greenhouse gas is considered as one of the major
contributors to the climate change. Besides, global
warming affects our daily life and poses a risk to
the Group’'s business. Hence, we are committed to
mitigating the effects of climate change and protecting
the health of employees.

Regarding GHG emissions of the Group, scope 12 direct
emissions, scope 2° and scope 3* indirect emissions
mainly result from the combustion of fuels in mobile
sources, purchased electricity and business air travel
respectively for business operations.

! The 2020 data has been restated as different calculation
models and methodologies were adopted.

2 Scope 1: Direct emissions from sources that are owned or
controlled by the Group.

3 Scope 2: Indirect emissions from the generation of
purchased electricity consumed by the Group.

4 Scope 3: Indirect emissions from the business travel by
employees.
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During the year ended 30 June 2021, the Group fully
complied with all applicable environmental laws and
regulations, and was not subject to any fine, penalty,
investigation or prosecution for non-compliance with the
relevant laws and regulations relating to emissions.

Giving the majority of the GHG emissions of the Group
come from energy consumption, the Group tackles the
GHG emission by lowering the energy consumption
in our business operations. Policies and procedures
as mentioned in the section “Use of Resources” to
encourage energy saving have been incorporated
throughout the operations in order to reduce the carbon
footprint. The Group will strive to reduce the emission
of GHG by 20% in 2025. The decrease in GHG scope
1 emission in 2021 was mainly due to the disposal of
vehicles in HK during the year ended 30 June 2021. In
light of the mandatory closure of cinemas and social
distancing measures implemented by the Hong Kong
Government for coping with coronavirus pandemic,
this led to a decrease in the film exhibition business
activities and reduction in electricity consumption during
the year. Hence, the GHG scope 2 emission dropped
accordingly. In addition, as there was no business travel
by HK employees during the year ended 30 June 2021,
the resulted in the decrease in GHG scope 3 emission.
The details of GHG emissions during the reporting period
were as follows:

Type of GHG emissions® Unit

mERBHEREE B

Scope 1 tonnes of CO2e
EE M= Ab iR E =
Scope 2 tonnes of COze
#[E2 WS LIRE S
Scope 3 tonnes of COze
#[E3 Wbk E 2
Total GHG emissions tonnes of CO2e
BERBHEREE WE—SEALIRE 8

tonnes of CO2e/m?
M-S tiEE

GHG emission intensity

BEREHFNETE

5 The calculation of the GHG emission is based on the
“Corporate Accounting and Reporting Standard” from
GHG Protocol published by World Resources Institute and
World Business Council for Sustainable Development.
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Hazardous and Non-hazardous Wastes
Waste management is considered as one of the material
topics in environmental protection. The Group recognises
the importance of waste reduction. Waste management
measures have been introduced and implemented
to minimise the amount of waste generated and the
impact on the environment. With our business nature,
no hazardous waste was generated or discharged in our
office operation during the year.

Non-hazardous waste mainly consists of paper waste
which is generated from daily office operation. The
Group takes initiative to reduce waste by formulating
effective measures. Generally, we have engaged
qualified recycling companies to collect and handle the
waste in accordance to the Prevention and Control of
Environmental Pollution by Solid Wastes in the PRC and
the Waste Disposal Ordinance (Cap. 354) in Hong Kong.
The major source of our non-hazardous waste is paper
waste.

With the aim to reduce the amount of waste generated,
the Group endeavours to cultivate environmental
awareness among employees. In order to reduce the
paper consumption, we actively promote electronic
communication instead of paper use. We also encourage
our employees to consider environmental-friendly
printing such as double-sided printing and copying.
Moreover, we encourage employees to reuse single
sided non-confidential print out. We will seek other
possible measures to manage and reduce the waste
generated in operations in the future. The Group will look
into the development of waste management system and
recycling practice in business operations in the coming
future. The Group has set comprehensive reduction
target by 10% reduction in non-hazardous waste by
2025. The decrease in the amount of non-hazardous
waste generated in 2021 was mainly due to the effective
implementation of waste management policies during
the year ended 30 June 2021.
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The details of non-hazardous waste generated and
recycled by the Group during the reporting period were
as follows:

Wastes Unit

REZEY By

Non-hazardous waste tonnes
generated

EEANEEREEY i

Non-hazardous waste
generated intensity

tonnes/employee

BEEANEBEEEVTE W &S

Non-hazardous waste tonnes
recycled

EERAEEEEY i

Non-hazardous waste
recycled intensity

BERKHEESEENEE M ES

tonnes/employee

The Group considers environmental protection as an
essential component of a sustainable and responsible
business. We have an in-depth understanding of the
importance of safeguarding sustainable development of
the environment and this to attach importance to efficient
utilization of resources by introducing various measures
in daily business operations. We understand that staff
participation is the key to achieve such goals.

We have adopted energy and water efficiency initiatives
to motivate our employees to participate in resource
conservation activities.

Energy Consumption

With the aims of resource saving and implementation
of energy saving measures, we actively promote the
concept of energy saving and emission reduction into
the entire process of our business development and
operation and implements different energy saving
measures.
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Regarding energy consumption, the use of electricity
accounts for the Group’s major energy consumption. In
view of the scarcity of energy, the Group has advocated
various energy conservation strategies to increase
energy efficiency and reduce energy consumption.
For example, all facilities for film exhibition operations
comply with the Building Energy Efficiency Ordinance
(Cap 610) implemented by the Electrical and Mechanical
Services Department to ensure key building services
meet the minimum energy efficiency standards of the
Building Energy Code.

Besides, the temperature of air-conditioners is
maintained at an energy-efficient level at around 25
degrees Celsius. A standby mode is set for computers
when they are not in use for a long period of time.
Besides, all lighting and power supply in the area
are switched off while leaving. In order to increase
the environmental awareness of employees, energy
saving reminder notices are posted near the switches
and sockets to encourage our employees to reduce
electricity usage. The Group has set inclusive total
energy consumption reduction target by 5% by 2025.
The decrease in the total energy consumption in 2021
was mainly attributable to the mandatory closure of
cinemas and social distancing measures implemented by
the Hong Kong Government for coping with coronavirus
pandemic and the disposal of HK vehicles during the year
ended 30 June 2021. During the reporting period, the
details of energy consumption were as follows:

Type of energy Unit
RRESR By
Purchased electricity MWh
EEE IR ELBF
Petrol MWh
i JEE B
Steam MWh
&R JEELBF
Natural gas MWh
KRR JRELBF
Total energy consumption MWh
BEERHER JK LB
Energy consumption intensity MWh/m?
BEIRERER S KRS,
7K

HK
it

1,721

1,721

0.14
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Water Consumption

Water is an important resource used by the Group
during operation. Although the Group does not
consume a significant amount of water during business
operations, we still actively seek ways to minimise
water consumption and endeavour to conserve water
effectively in our operations by implementing various
water-saving measures. For example, employees are
encouraged to turn off the water taps when they are not
in use. Besides, in case of leaking faucet or pipe, we will
promptly report to relevant authority in order to reduce
unnecessary water consumption.

Moreover, the amount of water consumption is
recorded regularly for the Group to monitor the water
consumption level and better formulate water-saving
measures. The Group has set a reduction target of 10%
in water consumption by 2025. In light of the mandatory
closure of cinemas and social distancing measures
implemented by the Hong Kong Government for coping
with coronavirus pandemic, this led to the decrease in
the amount of water consumption in 2021.

During the reporting period, the details of water
consumption were as follows:

Water consumption Unit
KEFRHEFE By
Water consumption m?
IKEIRERE ST OK
Water consumption intensity m?3/m?
IKERBFEEE SHKS
Frk

Packaging Material

Due to our business nature, some packaging material
made with recyclable paper was used at film exhibition
operation. The Group does not have manufacturing
facilities and does not consume a significant amount of
packaging materials.
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The Group understands that implementing environmental
protection can reduce operational risk and increase
business opportunities. Regarding the business nature,
we are not aware of any significant impact of our
business activities on the environment and natural
resources.

Despite this, we endeavour to consistently improve
our environmental performance by implementing
aforementioned waste reduction measures and
resources saving initiatives.

We will continue to seek opportunities to further
reduce emission and resources consumption with the
aim to reduce the impacts on environment and natural
resources to minimal. We will review our environmental
policy from time to time and consider implementing
further eco-friendly measures and practices in order to
enhance environmental sustainability in future.

Governance

Our Group addresses climate-related risks based on the
nature of the risk to our operations. The physical impacts
of climate change, including extreme weather events,
or damage to facilities have immediate operational
impacts and are treated as operational risks. Long-term
challenges, such as emerging ESG issues and climate-
related risks and opportunities, may be discussed by
the Group’'s ESG Working Group. Our ESG Working
Group provides effective governance for integrating and
addressing ESG issues, including climate change, within
our business.

The ESG Working Group is responsible for approving
operational emissions targets for the Group and
commissioning an ESG benchmarking, as well as gap
analysis exercise to identify gaps in both disclosure and
policy relative to best practice standards. Moreover,
the ESG Working Group works closely with the Group's
different operation departments, with an aim to develop
consistent and enhanced approaches on addressing ESG
risk issues and report to the management.
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Strategy

Climate change risk forms part of our overall risk profile
through its role in increasing the frequency and intensity
of certain diseases, and the health and mortality impacts
resulting from natural disasters. We assess the overall
level of risk by taking into consideration a range of
diverse risk factors across the many categories in our
product or services range.

This diversity of risk is combined with our business
strategy and broad geographic footprint helps us
distribute risk and provide protection against the impacts
of short-term climate change effects. Our products and
services continue to provide protection for people in our
communities against weather and heat-related disease.
Besides, we continue to explore opportunities to engage
our business partners and encourage them to develop
climate resilience and reduce their operational carbon
footprint by taking into consideration of different climate-
related scenarios, including a “2°C or lower scenario”
through the following steps:

Step 1: Set Future Images Assuming Climate Change
Effects

As climate change measures proceeds, there is
a possibility that the industry will be exposed to
substantial changes, such as stricter policies including
the introduction of and increases in carbon pricing, as
well as advances in technology and changes in customer
awareness. In light of these climate change effects,
based on the International Energy Agency (“IEA")
scenarios and others, we developed multiple future
images as the external environment that will surround
our Group.

With regard to the IEA scenarios, we put focus on the
2°C scenario (2DS) and pictured future images in case
where climate change measures do not progress and
where such measures progress further “Beyond 2°C
scenario”.
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Step 2: Consider the Impacts

We considered the impacts on our Group for each of the
future images developed in Step 1. We believe that it will
be possible to expedite carbon dioxide reduction effects
in our society.

With regard to the effects on raw material procurement
and production, introduction of and increases in carbon
pricing is anticipated in accordance with the global
advance of climate change measures, leading to the
possibility of higher raw material procurement and
production costs.

On the other hand, in the case where climate change
measures are not adequate throughout society,
production interruptions and supply chain disruptions
are likely to increase as a result of higher frequency and
intensification of natural disasters such as flooding.

Step 3: Respond to the Strategies

Our Group will begin promoting the reduction of non-
renewable energy in our daily operation. This strategy will
allow for flexible and strategic responses to each demand
for the regions where the emission factors of purchased
electricity consumptions are high. By promoting real
carbon emissions reductions throughout the world
through these types of initiatives, we are working to
achieve zero carbon emission in our business.

We minimize carbon emissions through comprehensive
energy-saving and introduction of renewable energy.
With respect to renewable energy in particular, we have
set a new target, achieve a reduction rate for purchased
electricity in coming few years.

With regard to the ongoing confirmation of the suitability
and progress of the Group's strategies, we believe
that we will have opportunities for stable funding
and sustainable increase in corporate value through
appropriate information disclosure, dialogue with
institutional investors and other stakeholders.

Risk Management

Our Group identifies the climate change related risks or
to test the existing risk management strategies under
climate change with the aid of risk assessment. Hence,
the areas where new strategies are needed can be
identified.
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The risk assessment takes a standard risk-based
approach using national data, local information and expert
knowledge, which can identify how climate change may
compound existing risks or create new ones.

The risk assessment is conducted through the following
steps:

Step 1. Establish the context
° Objective/goal

° Scale
° Time frame

° Climate change scenario for most climate variables
and sea level

Step 2: Identify existing risk (past and current)

o Identify the record of occurrence of climatic hazard
in the past in the area

° Risk management strategies in place to tackle
future occurrence of the hazard

Step 3: Identify future risk and opportunities
° Explore climate change projections for the selected
time frame(s) and emission scenario(s)

° Identify potential hazards

° Investigate whether any existing risk from Step 2
may get worse under future projected changes

° Identify new risks that can emerge under future
projected changes

Step 4. Analyze and evaluate risk

° Identify a set of decision areas or systems (i.e.,
geographical areas, business operation, assets,
ecosystems, etc.) that has the potential to be at risk
in future
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As outlined within the Governance section above,
the Group has robust risk management and business
planning processes that are overseen by the board of
directors in order to identify, assess and manage climate-
related risks. The Group engages with government
and other appropriate organizations in order to keep
abreast of expected and potential regulatory and/or fiscal
changes.

We continue to raise awareness of climate change in
regard to monitoring of carbon and energy footprint in
our daily operation. However, there remains gaps in
understanding how such climate risks and opportunities
may impact our operations, assets and profits. Our Group
assesses how the business addresses climate change
risks and opportunities and takes the initiative to monitor
and reduce their environmental footprint.

Significant Climate-related Issues

During the reporting period, the significant climate-
related physical risks and transition risks, which have
impacted and/or may impact our Group, as well as the
steps taken to manage these risks, were as follows:

Detailed description of risks Financial Impact

L Bk Y = A 4 B E

Physical Risk

B ERE

Acute physical risks

S ERRE

e |Increased severity and e Operating cost and
frequency of extreme weather repairing expense
events such as cyclones increase
and floods. These have o HEBNARMEEHEZ
the potential to cause both 0

idiosyncratic and systemic
risks, resulting in potential
damage to office equipment
and film production or
exhibition facilities.
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Steps taken to manage the risks
REBEZEARMERRNER

e Planned to establish a natural
disasters emergency plan.
o FEIRVAERAKNEERESTE -

e Planned to devise an action
plan to articulate the goals
and targets of the reductions
in GHG emission and energy
consumption. Outlined the plan
to achieving those targets and
defined responsibilities.
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Detailed description of risks Financial Impact

L Bk Y = A 4 B E

Chronic physical risks

181 B B =

®* (Changes in precipitation e Revenue reduces
patterns and extreme o WERD
variability in weather patterns.
Frequent extreme weather e QOperating cost
events and rising in sea levels increases
are likely to pose disruptions o CEIERAIZ N

to communities across the
region over the long term,
affecting economic output and
business productivity.
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®* Governments that have been
pushing for new regulation
to reduce GHG emission will
pose a threat to financial
performance of a business
and increase regulatory risk.
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Steps taken to manage the risks
REBEZEARMERENERE

e Planned improvements,
retrofits, relocations, or other
changes to facilities that may
reduce their vulnerability to
climate impacts, and increases
climate resilience in long term.
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e Record the energy
consumption to identify peaks
in usage, thus significant
savings could be determined.
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e Engaged with local or
national governments and
local stakeholders on local
resilience.
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Steps taken to manage the risks

RHEEZE AR MR

Detailed description of risks Financial Impact

B\ B B 36 A 4 pis 2

Transitional Risk

1B B

Policy risk

SR L

e As aresult of energy e QOperating cost
efficiency requirements, the increases

carbon-pricing mechanisms by o &iEp AL )
the PRC Government, which
increase the price of fossil
fuels.
o FREIHATREIR R iR E Rk E
Bt - BB ARRER L
Fo

e Mandates on and regulation
of existing film and TV show
broadcasting services.

s BRATTNEMRL B BERS
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Planned to conduct a carbon
footprint survey, in order

to work out the company's
footprint, to prioritize energy
and waste reductions.
STEETHIRE AT - UEER
AIEVER BN - H5SRkE B e Rl EE
BB RIRT °

Monitor the updates of the
relevant environmental laws
and regulations against existing
products and services, to avoid
the unnecessary increase in
cost and expenditure due to
non-compliance.
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E P& R I8 HIRA &
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Detailed description of risks

Financial Impact

Steps taken to manage the risks

L Bk Y = A 4 B E REBZZRBMERRNER
Legal risk
ERRER

Exposure to litigation risk. We e
have to adapt the tightened

law and regulations imposed .
by the government due to

climate change, as well as

bear the risk of potential

litigation once we fail to

obligate the new regulations.
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& R 1k B (b i Y BOE B K R

Bl - —BReeEFHARL - B
GHEGRFARR

Enhanced air pollutant
emissions-reporting
obligations for local
government, and we may
have to spend more time on
fulfilling the ESG reporting
standards to comply with the
updating Hong Kong Listing
Rules.

g BT HN 98 28 SRS R HE R
ENEME - KMAIEFERE
FERERRERE HgRE
BWREER - NBTFEHEB
AR -

Operating cost
increases

BB AN

e Monitored the updates of
environmental laws and
regulations and engage
professional to carry out
ISO9001 audit in advance.

o ERBIANINROINEFHE
T WEREBEEATTREET
ISO9001 %1% °

e Continued monitoring of the
ESG reporting standards of the
Hong Kong Listing Rules.

o HEEREBLMHRAUNERER -
HEgkERWELED -
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Detailed description of risks

2R Bz B = A 4 3t

Technology risk
e [ Bix

More films and TV series with
low-carbon, energy-saving
technologies are produced.
Lagging behind of technology
advancement may weaken our
competitive edges.

B AR - e E
T R EREE RUE - RITER
THIEFTREEHI SR MR FE

2 o

Market risk
5 @

More customers are
concerned about climate-
related risks and
opportunities, which may
lead to changes in customer
preference.
EEEFPEEREAEBRRR K
s AR BRI AR

4
= e

Inability to attract co-
financiers and/or investors
due to uncertain risks related
to the climate.

F SRR AS B8 B TR T B R M
BREERSIME S ERH
R,/ HBEE -

Financial Impact

1)

=

L

Capital investment
increases

BARELEN

Research and
Development (R&D)
expense increases
9t & 5 2% (3 3% ) B
A

Revenue decreases

Yo 25

Operating cost
increases
BB AN E N

Production cost
increases

B{ERR A N

Steps taken to manage the risks
AREBEZEARMERRNERE

Examined the feasibility and
benefits of applying the latest
environmental technologies
during film and TV series
production. The Group

targets to have a long-term
footprint reduction as filming
technologies will switch

from film to High Definition
(HD) technology. Besides,

we planned to study the
development of digital cinema
in future.
EREBR LB B RENA
2 ERA SRR A AT
NABgs - BEE BRI B IEME
REBRM - AEBCFIIRE
WA B AR o Esh - B
STEIERRRRBISE A
=

Fulfilled the climate-related
regulations by the government.

A BFHRIZAER R -

Prioritize the climate change as
a high concern in the market
decisions to show to the clients
that the company is concerned
about the problem of climate
change.

YR TR ISR R 8 RAR B LB 5T
JlREmEEEER  EEP TR
FReERIEE(CEERNET -
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Detailed description of risks

L B B 5 A 3

Reputational risk

B

e Risk of stigmatization of film o
and TV production sector, as °
there will be more stakeholder
concern or negative o

stakeholder feedback on our
Group if the film and TV show e
productions are produced in
a less environmental-friendly

way.

e BYNEBREABUEITETE
LE R - IAARREARTIR
ROTABEEY LERE
B #EeRBESZHOHEBT
FHEEER -

e Negative press coverage
related to support of our
Group's business projects
or activities with negative
impacts on the climate (e.g.,
GHG emissions and energy
conservation), which may
affect our reputation and
image.

s BEHASERMEEAIEDHX
EHREEEEZE(INAER
B E B IR ) ) B E T E
B Fegr ERMNEE
RER o

TRANSMIT ENTERTAINMENT LIMITED Annual Report 2020/21

Financial Impact
BikeeE

Revenue decreases

Yz m

Operating costs
increases

BERAIE N

Steps taken to manage the risks
REBEZEARMERENERE

e Fulfilled the social responsibility
by organizing more public
relation activities to show how
our Group places importance on
climate change.

o MBELZLNEIBRRAEEY
RIS HER - LEITHER
T

e Reviewed the film and TV show
production process, as well as
business projects to ensure the
production and the projects are
environmental-friendly.

o FRBRXKLEREAREBIEN
RE%IER @ BRBEAENRSE
BRI BRI -



During the reporting period, the primary climate-related
opportunities and the corresponding financial impacts

were as follows:

Detailed description of opportunities

RBmERA - RIREENEEH
BRI BZENT

Financial Impact

BB 0 = A 4 B E

Resource efficiency

BRE

e Use of more efficient modes of transport e QOperating cost reduces through efficiency
o FHEAMEMNRBILA gains and cost reductions

Use of more efficient production and
distribution processes

EREARERNRER D HRIE

Use of recycling

BIREH

Reduce water consumption

Bk

Energy source

4k
BE m

Use of lower-emission sources of energy o

& REBERBETR

Use of supportive policy incentives

SRR R 1 .

Use of new technologies o

{58 AR # 4

Shift toward decentralized energy
generation
#EEE 7D AR RA K

Products and services

7 i B AR5

Development of climate adaptation and o
insurance risk solutions
il 7 SR 16k 3 B % AR B LB AR R 7 R

Ability to diversify business activities

ZICEB RSB

Development of new products or services
through R&D and innovation
i B A B Ko BT B 1l A 38 A o AR TS

BB IR R K BE AN AR R E R AR

Operating cost reduces through use of
lowest cost abatement

BB E AR AR B E & ER A

Returns on investment in low- emission
technology increases

& AMEBE B AT O 58 (B 3R

Revenue increases through new solutions
to adaptation needs, such as insurance risk
transfer of products and services
FiRERERIRE(CPAREERT R(MER R
AR5 B IR B R P 88 78 ) 1R T W 2
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Detailed description of opportunities
BB 0 = A 4

Markets

M5

e Access to new markets

o EAFTS

Resilience

HEN

e Participation in renewable energy programs
and adoption of energy-efficiency measures

o 2T AR E REKEERELE B

e Resource substitution or diversification

s BRBRZZTI

Financial Impact
ke

Revenue increases through access to new
and emerging markets
i iR A\ FT BT 58 I a

Market valuation increases through resilience
planning, such as planning of the research in
the use of electric vehicles

FiREHEARE (MREFREASEE) LM
mishE

Reliability of supply chain and ability to
operate under various condition increases
545 (118 S0 ] SR A SR IE T IR TR BB A
sl

Revenue increases through new products
and services related to ensuring resiliency

575 38 B3 B 7 48 B O R 2 o S AR A 0% hn b ==

Metrics and Targets

Our Group adopts the key metrics to assess and manage
climate-related risks and opportunities. The energy
consumption and greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions
indicators are the key metrics used to assess and
manage relevant climate-related risks where we consider
such information is material and crucial for evaluating the
impact of our operation on global climate change during
the year.

Our Group strives to track our energy consumption and
greenhouse gas emissions indicators regularly to assess
the effectiveness of emission reduction initiatives,
as well as set targets to contribute our effort to have
minimal impact on global warming. The details are
described in the sections A1: “Emissions” and A2: “Use
of Resources” of this Report. Our Group has adopted
absolute target to manage climate-related risks and
opportunities and performance.
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B. SOCIAL ASPECTS

The Group believes employees are valuable assets and
the foundation for success and development of the
Group. We strive to maintain a safe and equal working
environment for its employees and promote employees’
health and well-being. Policies and regulations in the
Group's staff handbook have been established for the
guidance and observation by the employees of the Group
and will be subject to the laws of the PRC and Hong
Kong as far as they may be applicable in conjunction
with the policies. Staff handbook provides information
and guidelines regarding employee’s standard working
hours, rest days, statutory holidays, termination of
employment, summary dismissal, exit interview, salary
payment, overtime work, various types of leaves,
medical coverage, mandatory provident fund, night shift
travel allowance and overtime work allowance.

Equal opportunity

The Group places a high priority on achieving equality
of opportunity for all employees in relation to all
personnel matters including recruitment, training,
promotion, transfer, benefits and dismissal. The dignity
and individuality of each employee is respected, and
the privacy and confidentiality of employee records
is safeguarded. Employees’ performance is assessed
solely according to their individual ability to meet job
requirements.

Promotion and appraisal

The Group offers internal promotions to employees,
whenever possible, within the Group. Promotion to a
higher grade normally depends on the availability of
vacancy, individual performance and potential to take up
the new position.

AEERAREREEAKRENES
BE  TEADRERIBAX -
BHBNOAREEERZERTSE
MTEIRE - UiIRERERFEE
BAL - AEBEE T FMAMNBER
RBOITIHESI N EENEE K
HREBTMRY - LHZ A B
HEMBRRRAKERNTELE
BIEPIFR - ETFMEHBER
BEFRETR  AKEB JEEMR
Hi - RILEE - BRI - BEE
E - TEXM - i - K
R BERE  REEIES
TR 2= iR B R NP E BE 60 B R
ECE

FERS

EREREEREFEDNAEE
MEZER BREER &I
BI - AME - B RBERAE RS
FEAEEE AKEBEFA
BENEBRLEN  REEEE
HOLERRT - BEMWRERE
RBEE T e T1EZE K fE A s
HEITRHE ©

B R
AEEKEAEREEREEA
BRAKE -  BENEERBAAR
—RREURR B ZE RAKR - EA
KA RFEENBAEHES -
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The Group provides an open, challenging and
participative environment for all employees. We aim to
provide opportunities for the development of the skills
of employees to the fullest extent possible, consistent
with the needs of the Group. Job performance is
reviewed annually, and this serves as an opportunity
for the supervisor to evaluate employee’s performance
in an objective and open manner, to discuss concerns,
strength and suggestions for further improvement.

Employees’ remuneration and pay scale adjustment are
made reference to individual’'s performance and appraisal
results, industrial standard and market trend.

Employee welfare

Employees can enjoy free enrolment to Cinema City's
membership along with complimentary movie tickets
and coupons. Movie premiere invitations are also given
to employees for the Group's own film productions.
The Group offers special arrangement to employees
to leave work early on important traditional days which
are not public holidays such as Mid-Autumn Festival,
Winter solstice, Christmas Eve and Chinese New Year's
Eve. The Group regularly organises internal events to
strengthen the sense of belonging within the Group
and boost the communication transparency among all
levels of employees, through Christmas party and annual
dinner, etc.

During the reporting period, the Group was in strict
compliance with the relevant laws and regulations in
the PRC and Hong Kong, including the Labour Law
of the PRC, the Labour Contract Law of the PRC, the
Employment Ordinance (Chapter 57), the Mandatory
Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance (Chapter 485), the
Sex Discrimination Ordinance (Chapter 480) and the Race
Discrimination Ordinance (Chapter 602) in HK. During
the reporting period, the Group was not aware of any
material non-compliance with those applicable laws and
regulations.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
RE - g RERRE
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A2204 (2020%6 A30H : 308
7)o TR - FlAR R ER

At the end of the reporting period, the total number of
employees of the Group was 220 (30 June 2020: 308).
Below is the employee breakdown by gender, age group,

geographical region.

HEDMWEERALT -

2021 2020
Employee Breakdown EE A 20214 20204
By gender R BI85
Male B 51% 48%
Female peg 49% 52%
By age group RFiRAR B2
30 or below 30FREIA T 57% 72%
31-40 315 2405% 34% 20%
41-50 41 E505% 5% 5%
51 or above 515%a A 4% 3%
By geographical region ZithE B E 5
PRC s 38% 49%
Hong Kong BB 62% 51%
By employee category ZERBERE S
Senior management SEEEAS 10% 1%
Middle management REEEAS 18% 18%
General staff — 71% 69%
Contract/short term B4,/ G 1% 2%

The employee annual turnover rate by gender, age group,
geographical region during the reporting period was as

follows:

RBEHE BEFERARR
MR - S B AR R R IR [ 8

LI

2021 2020
Employee Turnover Rate EBERLE 202145 20204
By gender gl B
Male B 78% 79%
Female pegis 72% 68%
By age group EEFRAE R E D
30 or below 30BRE A T 93% 85%
31-40 312405% 50% 45%
41-50 41%E505% 60% 25%
51 or above 5155 A 32% 47 %
By geographical region ZRithE B E 5
PRC F 63% 48%
Hong Kong BB 82% 87%
Overall #st 75% 74%

BIRREBR AR 2020/21 3
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Employee health and safety is the Group's top priority.
The Group takes into consideration every precaution to
establish a healthy and safe working environment for its
employees. We strictly abide by the relevant laws and
regulations in the PRC and Hong Kong, including the Law
of the PRC on work safety, the Law of the PRC on the
Prevention and Control of Occupational Disease, and the
Occupational Safety and Health Ordinance (Chapter 509)
in Hong Kong. During the year ended 30 June 2021, there
was no case of non-compliance in relation to health and
safety or work-related injury within the Group.

The Group not only strictly complies with relevant labour
laws and regulations, but also proactively formulates
internal policies and standards related to specific
business departments of the Group. For example, the
Group's film exhibition operation has obtained Places
of Public Entertainment License issued by Food and
Environmental Hygiene Department (“FEHD") to ensure
its business comply with relevant laws and regulations.
Besides, as stated in the staff handbook, health and
safety at work are the interest and responsibility of both
employees and the Group.

Employees’ compensation insurance is provided to cover
any work-related injuries, illnesses and occupational
diseases. The Group is committed to complying with
all local occupational health and safety legislations that
are relevant to the Group. First-aid kits are provided at
all workplaces. Employees must take reasonable care
for the health and safety of themselves and others, as
well as participating in fire safety training or fire drills
provided by the Group or property management offices.
If any employee notices any unsafe conditions or gets
injured at work, he/she should immediately report it to
the supervisor.
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During the year ended 30 June 2021, there was no work
injury case (30 June 2020: nil, 30 June 2019: 3) and lost
day (30 June 2020: nil, 30 June 2019: 239) due to minor
injuries during film exhibition and production operations.
There was no work-related fatality case (30 June 2020:
nil, 30 June 2019: nil) during the reporting period.
Employees were given paid sick leave for their recovery.
Overall, no employees had serious accident during the
reporting period.

The Group believes the knowledge and skills of its
employees are vital to the sustainable development of
the Group. All training activities, executed through the
Human Resources & Administration Department of the
Group (“HRA"), should comply with the applicable local
laws and regulations and protect the Group’s interest.
We maintain an open dialogue with our employees by
facilitating a transparent two-way communication and
providing on-the-job training to ensure they are well
equipped with skills, knowledge and competencies that
are needed to perform their job duties. Besides, we
also encourage employees to attend external courses
regarding operation skills required for upgraded software
and new equipment during office hours. Standard training
is arranged for directors and the company secretary
on an annual basis and a regular basis respectively, to
strengthen their continuous professional development as
well as to comply with requirements of the Listing Rules.
The Group will enhance the training system in order
to improve the personal development of employees in
future.

HZE2021F6HA30BItFE &
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RBEHR - ZlEERER KX
BREENEDOBESLLINT

At the end of the reporting period, the percentage of
employees received training by gender and employment
category was as follows:

2021 2020
Percentage of Employees Received Training TI|{EEBF D 202145 20205
By gender mER &S
Male St 45% 49%
Female peglis 63% 61%
By employment category ZREBERES
Senior management BEEEAB 65% 71%
Middle management FEBEAR 71% 65%
General staff —REE 48% 50%
Contract/short term Ry gse:t - 80%
Overall @et 54% 55%

RBEHR - ZIRERER
REEREI D AT :

At the end of the reporting period, the composition of
employees received training by gender and employment
category was as follows:

104

2021 2020
Composition of Employees Received Training Z3I|{E S48 K 202145 20204
By gender &1 Rl Bl 5
Male Efia 43% 43%
Female pegis 57% 57%
By employment category ZEEERE S
Senior management SEEEAE 13% 15%
Middle management REEEAS 24% 21%
General staff —RIEE 63% 62 %
Contract/short term A%,/ G = 2%
Overall st 100% 100%

And the average training hours by gender and
employment category at the end of the reporting period

was as follows:

R|E R - RIUEFI R EREER
D FHZIIEHNT

2021 2020
Average Training Hours Received per Employee S {EEF1HZIIBKH 20215 20205
By gender BRI &S
Male B 0.5 1.1
Female pegi 0.3 0.6
By employment category ZEEERE S
Senior management SEEEAR 2.3 1.8
Middle management FEEEAE 0.4 1.5
General staff —REE 0.1 0.5
Contract/short term A%,/ G = 0.8
Overall et 0.4 0.8
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The Group respects the human rights of employees
and is strongly against the employment of child labour
and forced. The Group is strictly in compliance with the
relevant laws and regulations, such as the Labour Law
in the PRC and the Employment Ordinance (Chapter 57)
in Hong Kong. We pursue fair and equitable principle,
promote equal opportunity in recruiting and promotion for
employees and prohibit any kind of forced labour. We are
committed to supporting the effective abolition of child
labour and upholding the elimination of all forms of forced
labour.

The HRA conducts checking on candidates and newly
joined employee’s identity cards, working visa, relevant
certificates, and references to ensure compliance
with all the applicable laws and regulations relating to
labour standards. The Group respects the freedom of
employees.

All works should be voluntarily performed and must
not involve forced labour. The Group forbids abusing,
corporal punishment, violence, spirit oppression, sexual
harassment (including improper language, posture and
body contact) as forms of penalty.

During the reporting period, the Group was not aware
of any material non-compliance with the relevant laws
and regulations related to recruitment of child labour or
forced labour practices.
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The Group strives to maintain long-term and good
relationships with suppliers, maintain competitive
advantages in the value chain, and provide stable
products and services to our customers. In order to
manage and mitigate the environmental and social risks
in the supply chain, we have adopted a procurement
policy and a stringent supplier selection procedure for
assigning purchasing responsibilities and ensuring a
consistent approach for selecting suppliers who will
provide the best terms, conditions and products to meet
our standards and requirements. We require that all
material aspects of procurement of goods, raw materials,
works and services be conducted to the highest ethical
standards and consistent with the following principles:

o Competitive tendering wherever possible and
the impartial selection of appropriately qualified
tenderers;

° Objective evaluation of tenders and selection of
contractors and suppliers;

° Adoption of appropriate forms of contract according
to needs; and

o Adoption of effective monitoring systems and
management controls to ensure the proper
fulfilment of contractual obligation, and to detect
and prevent bribery, fraud or other malpractices
throughout all stages of the procurement process.

During the year, the Group had 45 (30 June 2020: 164)
suppliers in Hong Kong and 9 (30 June 2020: nil) suppliers
in the PRC.
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The Group regards product quality as a key competitive
advantage of its business and makes every effort
to improve the product quality while strengthening
communications with customers. We have strictly
complied with the applicable laws and regulations in the
PRC and Hong Kong, including the Product Quality Law
of the PRC, the Consumer Protection Law of the PRC
and the Trade Descriptions Ordinance (Chapter 362) and
the Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance (Chapter 486).
During the reporting period, the Group was not aware of
any material non-compliance with the relevant laws and
regulations related to product responsibility in the PRC
and Hong Kong.

Customer Relations

The management plays a vital role in understanding and
communicating with what its customers need. Thus, the
Group has maintained years of business relationships
with its key customers and ensured the end product
fitting for the users. We recognise that customer
satisfaction is of primary importance to our success. We
strive to understand their requirements and concerns and
to merit their business by responding effectively to their
needs. Specifically, our policies include:

° Always put the customers first by providing them
with good quality cinema facilities, high quality
viewing environment and the services that meet or
exceed the customers’ needs under all reasonable
circumstances;

° Provide service hotline and email enquiry channel,
in which all enquiries must be responded within 3
working days;

o Provide services that reliably and safely meet
responsible standards of performance, efficiency,
and courtesy; and

o Provide timely, accurate and sufficient information
about its operations, capabilities, and services,
without misrepresentation, exaggeration, and
overstatement.
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Accessible seats are provided for people with disability
and the people along with them. Subtitled screenings
are provided for deaf and hearing-impaired customers.
Moreover, it is the Group's standard practice to check
every customer’s identification card when watching age-
restricted movies. During the reporting period, 4 material
products and service-related complaints were received,
and 532 products sold or shipped subjected to recalls for
safety and health reasons.

Food Health and Safety at Cinemas

The Group obtained the Food Factory License issued
by Food and Environmental Hygiene Department
("FEHD™) and strictly complies with the policies and
relevant regulations set by FEHD. Officers from FEHD
regularly conducts inspection on the Group's film
exhibition premises to ensure food quality and hygienic
environment are maintained. Employees working at
concession stands are required to attend training courses
provided by the FEHD and strictly follow the food
preparation guidelines.

Copyrights Management

The Group has established a copyrights management
policy for its distribution and production of films, in
the aspects of copyright’s filing procedure, define
ownership of the copyrights and contract terms. Digital
Cinema Package (DCP) is used for movies for protection
against illegal copying and piracy as specific decryption
is required. In case of any suspected copyrights
infringement item coming to the Group's attention, the
policy also provides guidance on reporting structures
and responsible parties and departments. Moreover,
the Group enforces security encryption, subject to
customers’ instruction, and the Group sets securities
codes for internal data and privacy protection. The use
of pirate software is prohibited to avoid infringement of
copyrights of other parties. For film exhibition operation,
the Group ensures the warning message and policy
trailers are displayed to protect intellectual property
rights of the films exhibited in the cinemas. Employees
are required to strictly follow work procedures to patrol
inside the cinemas during screening to ensure no illegal
recording.
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Personal Data Protection and Privacy Policy
The Group is committed to complying with data
protection principles and the requirements of the
Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance. Security software
is installed on server for data protection. No collected
personal data of employees, customers, suppliers and
cinemagoers shall be shared with any third party outside
the Group without their prior consent unless permitted
or requested by law. Only those employees who need
these personal data need to perform a specific task
with such information. For example, job application
and customer services are granted access rights for
personally identifiable information. Personal information
is retained only for such period whenever necessary for
carrying out of the purposes stated in the policy or as
otherwise specified at the time of collection.

The Group is committed to upholding high standards of
business ethics and integrity. The Group strictly abides
by the relevant laws and regulations in the PRC and
Hong Kong, including the Criminal Law of the PRC and
the Prevention of Bribery Ordinance (Chapter 201) in
Hong Kong. The Group forbids any form of corruption,
extortion, bribery, fraud, money laundering and
embezzlement.

The Group has also established an anti-fraud policy and
code of conduct manual for employees to maintain the
highest standards of integrity and honesty in conducting
the Group's affairs. Any employee contravening the
Group's rules and ethical standards is liable to disciplinary
action.
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The Group does not tolerate any illegal or unethical acts.
Anyone violating the code of conduct will be disciplined
and may be dismissed. The Group expects all employees
to honestly uphold the Group’s policy, the accounting
procedures and other controls. Employees should
report to the management at once when any suspected
violations of the code of conduct and anti-fraud policy
including conflicts of interest, deception, bribery, forgery,
extortion, corruption, theft, conspiracy, embezzlement,
asset misappropriation, false representation,
concealment of materials facts and collusion, fighting or
gambling whilst on duty, serious negligence of duties,
money laundering, etc. are found. This aims to minimize
damage to the Group’s reputation. In cases of suspected
corruption or other forms of criminality, once prima facie
evidence has been established, cases will be reported to
Hong Kong Independent Commission Against Corruption
or other appropriate regulatory authorities.

The Group strongly believes that conducting the business
within an honest, moral, and ethical arena is the best
business policy to achieve healthy and sustainable
growth of the Group. The Group manages and directs
its business with honesty including honest financial
procedures, budget proposals and honest economic
evaluation of its business. According to the code of
conduct, those who are involved in the selection of and
purchase from suppliers and contractors should avoid
misuse of authority or engagement in situations which
could interfere, or appear to interfere, with their ability to
make free and independent decisions regarding purchase
or procurement.

During the reporting period, no legal case concerned
with corrupt practices was brought against the Group.
Besides, the Group was not aware of any material non-
compliance with the relevant laws and regulations related
to anti-corruption in the PRC and Hong Kong during the
year ended 30 June 2021.
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At the end of the reporting period, the number of
employees received anti-corruption training and the
training hours by employment category were as follows:

Anti-corruption Training

Number of employees received training

RE S

EEIEINEEAR

Senior management SEEEAS
Middle management FEEEAS
General staff —®RET
Total employees EE#Y
Number of training hours B

Senior management SEEREAE
Middle management FEEEAS
General staff —RET
Total training hours L 4B R

As a socially responsible enterprise, the Group is
constantly aware of the needs of community and strives
to bring a positive impact on community development.
The Group encourages its employees to dedicate their
time and skills to supporting local communities with the
aim to create a harmonious society. The Group strives
to discharge its corporate social responsibility and has

been offering special movie ticket price for the elderly
and students. Moreover, we may consider supporting
non-governmental organisations through charity gala
premiere of the Group's productions or the films

exhibited in the Group’s cinemas.
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TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF TRANSMIT ENTERTAINMENT LIMITED
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Transmit
Entertainment Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 123 to 274,
which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as
at 30 June 2021, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in
equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then
ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including
a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at
30 June 2021, and of its consolidated financial performance and its
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs") issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA")
and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing (“HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial
Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group
in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period. These matters were
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we
do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.
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TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF TRANSMIT ENTERTAINMENT LIMITED

(Continued)
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Key audit matters

ARELER

Impairment assessment of goodwill

RS

We identified the impairment assessment
of goodwill as a key audit matter due to the
significance of the balance to the consolidated
financial statements as a whole and significant
judgement and estimate involved in determination
of the recoverable amount of the cash generating
units (“CGUs") to which goodwill has been
allocated.

RITHRPIEBRENMEAAREZEE  EANEH
BRI E B RRERBC EEN REFCENEHE
BoRESESLEN ( [ReEASG] ) 2rlkEs
B R E AR R AEE o

As disclosed in notes 4 and 16 to the consolidated
financial statements, the carrying amount of
goodwill was HK$473,363,000 as at 30 June
2021. In estimating the recoverable amount of
the CGUs to which goodwill has been allocated,
the management has made a number of key
assumptions in the value in use calculations. The
key assumptions include revenue growth rates,
discount rates, the forecast performance in respect
of budgeted sales and budgeted costs based on
management'’s view of future business prospects.
As disclosed in note 16 to the consolidated
financial statements, based on the management’s
assessment, no impairment loss was recognised
for the year ended 30 June 2021.
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How our audit addressed the key audit matters

RITNBERNMEERRERSE

Our procedures in relation to the impairment assessment
of goodwill included:

AITEAREAERENENERF B

Understanding the process of how management
performs impairment assessment of goodwill;

AR E IR AN AT TR B AR E AT A

Challenging the key assumptions used, including
specifically the operating cash flow projections and
revenue growth rates based on our knowledge of the
entertainment related industry as well as historical
performance of the Group;

BRAEANHEIERE  BRER(LHEZ)REBEARTTHRE
MERBIT R R K %%iﬁﬁﬁiﬁﬁﬁ{’ﬁﬁmﬂ“%ﬁﬁ
e TR R E R

Engaging our internal valuation expert to assess the
discount rates used in the impairment assessment
model by benchmarking against independent data;
ZRABHEZRABIBBRAELE - SHHRENGIE
A FTRMALER K

Testing a selection of data inputs underpinning the
cash flow forecast against appropriate supporting
evidence, such as approved budgets, to assess the
accuracy and reliability of the data inputs; and
NEENZRER(FINERTEE) BE%E - AR IR
TREBTRANZETRABE - AT BUR @ A B £
MRATSEMN &

Assessing the sensitivity analysis prepared by
management on the significant assumptions to
evaluate the extent of impact on the recoverable
amounts of the CGUs.
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information
included in the annual report, but does not include the consolidated
financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed,
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact. WWe have nothing to
report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THOSE
CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors
either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have
no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the
Group’s financial reporting process.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue
an auditor’s report that includes our opinion solely to you, as a
body, in accordance with our agreed terms of engagement, and
for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards
or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but
is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with
HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be
expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the
basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of
the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud
or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations,
or the override of internal control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group's internal control.

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used

and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.
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o Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt
on the Group's ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to
draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures
in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures
are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditor’'s report. However, future events or conditions may
cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

o Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding,
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate
threats or safeguards applied.
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From the matters communicated with those charged with
governance, we determine those matters that were of most
significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements
of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters.
We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when,
in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter
should not be communicated in our report because the adverse
conseguences of doing so would reasonably be expected to
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in the independent
auditor’s report is Ip Yat Hung.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

27 September 2021
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For the year ended 30 June 2021 #Z2021F6 A30H It FE

Revenue
Cost of sales

Gross profit

Other gains and losses

Other income

Selling and distribution expenses
Administrative expenses

Impairment loss on property, plant

and equipment
Reversal of impairment loss
(impairment loss) on trade and

other receivables under expected

credit loss model

Impairment loss on right-of-use assets

Fair value change on purchased
call option

Fair value change on contingent
consideration payable

Finance costs

Share of results of associates

Share of result of a joint venture

Profit (loss) before tax
Income tax (expense) credit

Profit (loss) for the year

Other comprehensive income
(expense) for the year

Items that may be reclassified
subsequently to profit or loss

Reclassification adjustments upon
disposal of an associate included in

profit or loss
Exchange difference arising on
translating foreign operations

Total comprehensive income
(expense) for the year

iy #8
$HE A

EF

Hh Wozs Mg
HAUA

HERBITRX

TTHRFX

ME - BERRIEN
ERET SR
BEMEEEERARTZ
B 5 M Al UG IR E
EREECRERBR)

B REAE A ERE
B REEEL TEED

BN AREN D FEZ
BB A

R oUNEIE 3

i —MAERERE

BRBLAT 2R (B 1R)
PSRt (R0 %

FrWs(EE)

FREMEEBA(FAX)

BEX A BB D E R e i)
EH

LN s E A i NS
HEREHMDEAE

BINEIEME 2 BN Z R

FREEBA (FAX) B

NOTES
P

23
15

42

45(b)

18
19

2021
20214
HK$'000
BT T

456,988
(325,857)

131,131

115,287

70,416
(159,453)
(82,413)

44

4,781

1,268
(67,382)

(8)

13,671
(5,450)

8,221

24,144

24,144

32,365

2020
20204
HK$'000
BEETIT

465,534
(291,830)

173,704
(2,790)
42,348
(181,793)
(60,997)

(2,189)

(2,998)
(28,895)

(6,161)
(57,630)
(855)

(6)

(128,262)
885

(127,377)

(321)

(1,144)

(1,465)

(128,842)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
fre 8o MR E S

For the year ended 30 June 2021 #,%202146 A30H [LF/E

2021 2020
20214 2020
NOTE HK$'000 HK$'000
B &E BT T ST IT
Profit (loss) for the year THATEEER
attributable to: EFI(ER) -
— Owners of the Company AVNCIEZ N (7,633) (126,598)
- Non-controlling interests — JEFE R 2 15,854 (779)
8,221 (127,377)
Total comprehensive income THALEEER
(expense) for the year Z2EWA(BX)
attributable to: #azE
- Owners of the Company —ARRNBEB A 16,511 (128,063)
- Non-controlling interests —JEIn R RS 15,854 (779)
32,365 (128,842)
Loss per share BRERE 13
Basic (HK cents) EARGEN) (0.29) (4.88)
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At 30 June 2021 7202146 H30H

Non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment
Right-of-use assets

Goodwill

Derivative financial assets
Intangible assets

Interest in a joint venture
Rental deposits

Pledged bank deposits
Deferred tax assets

Current assets
Film rights

Television series production in progress

Inventories

Trade and other receivables

Contract assets

Rental deposits

Loan to a related party

Financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss

Restricted bank balances

Pledged bank deposits

Bank balances and cash

Current liabilities
Trade and other payables
Contract liabilities
Tax payable
Bank and other borrowings
Loans from related companies
Amount due to

the controlling shareholder
Bonds payable
Amount due to a joint venture
Contingent consideration payable
Lease liabilities

Net current liabilities

Total assets less current liabilities

FRBEE

ME - BB RRE
EREEE
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EHIFIRITER
BRI E E

REBEE
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hRBAE
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BHAEE

FEHRIA
BRIT M B A& X
KB AR ZER
& A5 R B B SRR TR

FEfHE 7
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e AR HE
HEAE

RBEEFHE

REERABAE

NOTES
P&

14
15
16
42
17
19
20
28
40

21
21
22
23
24
20
25

26
27
28
29

30
31

32
33

34
35
36
45(b)
37

2021

20214
HK$°000
BETT

1,415
170,517
473,363

20,332
91,325

155
15,089
21,000

793,196

518,780
3,863
168,970
23,647

2,761

12,274
2,898
668
103,823

837,684

275,986
356,999
9,797
78,556

14,308

380
69,082
63,890

868,998
(31,314)

761,882

2020
20204
HK$'000
BT
(restated)

(F&&E5)

74,689
668,311
432,622

15,5651
102,416

163

14,878

297

1,308,927

163,736
1,249
126,281
16,599
13,389

7,040
13,098
21,667

112,263

475,322

215,806
60,695
5,713
22,000
30,303

27,500
22,000
385

145,262
71,962

601,626
(126,304)

1,182,623
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At 30 June 2021 7202146 H30H

Non-current liabilities
Deposits received
Bonds payable

Bank and other borrowings

Loans from related companies

Loans from the controlling shareholder
Contingent consideration payable

Deferred tax liabilities
Lease liabilities

Net assets

Capital and reserves
Share capital
Reserves

Deficit in shareholders’ equity

Perpetual bonds

Non-controlling interests

Total equity

FRBEE
Elize

B
RTT M EAD SR
K8 BEEsE N Bl B R
KB EBRBROER
e ARE
EERARE
HEAE

BEEFE
BXRf#EE
AR
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The consolidated financial statements on pages 123 to 274 were
approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors of the
Company on 27 September 2021 and are signed on its behalf by:

Zhang Liang, Johnson

DIRECTOR
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2021
20214

NOTES HK$°000
B BETT
30 383
35 13,281
32 18,000
33 188,992
34 38,560
45(b) 70,865
40 21,215
37 160,778
512,074

249,808

38 6,489
(16,024)
(9,535)

39 204,600
54,743

249,808

HNE123FF274H 2 34
NEEEEN2021F9827 Bt /ENIRET
% THUATATRARE

Lee Hin Kwong, Patrick
ES$
DIRECTOR
EBEF

2020
20204
HK$'000
BT
(restated)

(F&&E5)

383
29,500
45,000
89,721

103,693

23,231
685,490

977,018

205,605

6,489
(44,373)

(37,884)
204,600

38,889

205,605
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

A= N\ 7/

EE PR

N

For the year ended 30 June 2021 #,%202146 A30H [LF/E

Attributable to owners of the Company

ROTREEAEL
Non-
Share Share Other  Exchange Accumulated Perpetual  controlling
capital  premium reserve reserve losses  Sub-total bonds interests Total
k& RGEE  EftRE  ERRE  RHER Nt XEE  FERER &g
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
AT AETr A%Tr AETr AETr AT BETr BBt #ETx
(Note i)
(Bizk)
At 1 July 2019 20197818 6,489 521,046 10 1,996 (439,362) 90,179 - (3,963) 86,216
Loss for the year ERNEE - - - - (126598 (126,598 - (7790 (127,377)
Reclassification adjustments 3t A% 7 —EBEAF
upon disposal of an HERSHHERE
associate included in profit ~ ([if518)
or loss (note 18) - - - (321) - (321) - - (321
Exchange difference arising BN EBHEEREE
on translating foreign
operations - - - (1,144) - (1,144) - - (1,144)
Total comprehensive expense  FRZ A% B8
for the year - - - (1,465) (126,598)  (128,063) - (7790 (128,842)
Capital contribution from non- 7R B —EHB A AR
controlling interests of ERiTE
a subsidiary - - - - - - - 5390 5390
Acquisition of a subsidiary ~ WE-EHBAE
[note 42) (FiiE42) - - - - - - - 34,278 34,278
Disposal of subsidiaries HEMBAR
(note 43) (Ft3x43) - - - - - - - 3,963 3,963
Issuance of perpetual bonds by BMBATRITKER
subsidiaries (note 39) (FH3£39) - - - - - - 204,600 - 204,600
At 30 June 2020 12020668308 6,489 521,046 10 531 (565,960) (37,884) 204,600 38,889 205,605
(Loss) profit for the year EN(EE)EH - = - - (7,633) (7,633) - 15,854 8,221
Exchange difference arising B/ ERBEZ B ZE
on translating foreign
operations - = = 24,144 = 24,144 - - 24,144
Total comprehensive income  ER2ENA(F%) 25
(expense) for the year - - - 24,144 (7,633) 16,511 - 15,854 32,365
Deemed contribution from the BERRRETE
controlling shareholder - - 11,838 - - 11,838 - - 11,838
At 30 June 2021 R2021667308 6,489 521,046 11,848 24,675 (573,593) (9,535) 204,600 54,743 249,808
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For the year ended 30 June 2021 #Z2021F6 A30H It FE

Notes:

(i)

Other reserve of HK$10,000 represents the difference between
the aggregate nominal value of the respective share capital of the
companies now comprising the subsidiaries of Transmit Entertainment
Limited (the “Company”) over the nominal value of the shares of the
Company issued pursuant to the group reorganisation completed on 5
October 2012 (the “Reorganisation”) to rationalise the structure of the
Company and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”)
in preparation for the listing of the Company's shares on GEM of The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).

The remaining balance of HK$11,838,000 represents an initial fair
value adjustments of loan advances from Mr. Zhang Liang, Johnson
(“Mr. Zhang”), the controlling shareholder of the Company, and
Guangzhou Puji Real Estate Agency Co. Limited (“Guangzhou Puji”),
a company in which Mr. Zhang has controlling interest, which are
unsecured, interest-free and each repayable in July 2022 and February
2023 respectively. Details please see notes 33 and 34. Such fair value
adjustments measured as the difference between proceeds received
and the fair value of the loan based on prevailing market interest
rates were considered as deemed contribution from the controlling
shareholder.
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For the year ended 30 June 2021 & ZE202146 A30R I FE

OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Profit (loss) before tax
Adjustments for:
Finance costs
Interest income
Depreciation of property,
plant and equipment
Depreciation of right-of-use-assets
Amortisation of intangible assets
(Gain) loss on disposal of subsidiaries
Gain on disposal of associates
Impairment loss on right-of-use assets
Impairment loss on property,
plant and equipment

(Reversal of impairment) impairment loss

on trade and other receivables
Fair value change on contingent
consideration payable

Fair value change on purchased call option

Share of results of associates
Share of result of a joint venture

Operating cash flows before movements in

working capital

Increase in film rights and television series

production in progress
Increase in inventories
(Increase) decrease in trade and
other receivables
Increase in rental deposits
Increase (decrease) in trade and
other payables and deposits received
Increase in contract liabilities
Increase in contract assets

Net cash generated from operations
Income tax refund
Income tax paid

NOTES
P EE
AR
PRBLATE A (&5 18)
BRI B IBR R
BERA 8
MBWA 7
ME - BEMRETE
14
EREEENE 15
BV EE#IE 17
HEHE QR (k) BB 43
RS N R e 18
E A ERRERE 15
MmE - BB RREHRE
EiR 14
g5 KA RN IAR
CRlER @) REEE 45(b)
EASAREN D FER
45(b)
CREREHEQTER 42
A /NCIE S 18
B —HaEERE 19

LEESRHHLLTERE

B E R BUET
ERBIE AN

FEEM

B 5 R E AR FIE (M)
b

MEREIEN

B RAMRNTAR
Bl e R mORD)

RGN

GRS

REMBHREFE
BIRMEMH
ERPAEH

NET CASH FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES &= EBFSHEFE

2021 2020
20215 20204
HK$°000 HK$'000
BETT BEEF T
13,671 (128,262)
67,382 57,630
(1,038) (551)
9,080 12,052
106,194 109,495
17,557 4,389
(114,566) 4,838
- (4,258)
= 28,895
= 2,189
(44) 2,998
(1,268) 6,161
(4,781) -
= 855
8 6
92,195 96,437
(340,288) (29,767)
(2,984) (564)
(37,967) 31,777
(724) (49)
124,142 (10,400)
295,389 14,133
(5,447) (16,750)
124,316 84,817
= 670
(3,125) (221)
121,191 85,266
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For the year ended 30 June 2021 & ZE202146 A30R I FE

2021
20214
NOTES HK$'000
fizE BT T
INVESTING ACTIVITIES REEH
Repayment of contingent EERNTHIARE
consideration payable (126,995)
Net cash outflow on acquisition of WENB ARz Re R F5
subsidiaries 42 (56,640)
Purchase of derivative financial assets BETESMEE 42 -
Purchase of financial assets at BEERAFEFAERNER
fair value through profit or loss BE (12,069)
Placement of pledged bank deposits EFCEBRITER (21,668)
Placement of restricted bank balances BEZRHIRITER (2,449)
Purchase of property, plant and equipment #EE W% - BB & & (107)
Proceeds from disposal of financial assets HEZRAFEFABRZNEHE
at fair value through profit or loss EfEHIA 7,552
Net cash inflow on disposal of associates HEME AT ZEESTAEE -
Net cash inflow on disposal of subsidiaries HEMBRATZELRARE 43 84,828
Dividend received from an associate Bl —fEEE QAR E =
Withdrawal of pledged bank deposits RIRBERRITER 21,667
Withdrawal of restricted bank balances REUZ IR IR IT A5 54 13,650
Disposal of property, HEME « BEM&E
plant and equipment =
Interest received U F B 7 1,038
Loan to a related party ml— & BH T B3 (2,761)
NET CASH USED IN INVESTING REZRHMARRFE
ACTIVITIES (93,954)
FINANCING ACTIVITIES BEEH
Loans from related companies REBHARNER 63,282
Repayment of loans from related EBERAEBARNER
companies (5,310)
Proceeds from bank and other borrowings 4347 R E 0 (&2 FT1E 218 99,120
Repayment of bank and other borrowings  {B&RE1T M EMER (72,023)
Proceeds from issuance of bonds BITEFABRHA =
Repayment of bonds payable BERNES (22,783)
Advance from the controlling shareholder & 5 2iR iX YA X 8,417
Capital contribution by non-controlling RIS
interests =
Repayment of lease liabilities BEHEAR (59,269)
Interest paid BERFE (56,427)
NET CASH (USED IN) FROM FINANCING ~ Ri& &8 (BB ) FriSH & )%a
ACTIVITIES (44,993)
NET DECREASE IN CASH AND RekReEEWRADFE
CASH EQUIVALENTS (17,756)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS FOREIREEEY
AT BEGINNING OF THE YEAR 112,263
EFFECT OF FOREIGN EXCHANGE HINGE P 2R B B i B 28
RATE CHANGES 9,316
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS EXRFeRREFEY - 5HRT
AT END OF THE YEAR, represented by #EuRkAe
bank balances and cash 103,823
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2020

20204
HK$'000
BEEF T

(64,047)

(34,660)
(15,551)

(45,954)
(21,667)
(13,098)
(11,608)

38,914
8,700
5,755

2,800
664

521
551

(148,680)

132,611
(25,530)
28,200
(26,220)
29,500
27,750
5,390

(63,407)
(54,495)

53,799

(9,615)
122,035

(157)

112,263



For the year ended 30 June 2021 #Z202146 A30H ILF /&

1A. GENERAL INFORMATION

1B.

The Company is a limited company incorporated in the Cayman
Islands and its shares are listed on the Stock Exchange. The
Company’s registered office is located at Cricket Square,
Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman KY1-1111,
Cayman lIslands and its principal place of business is located
at Flat B, 14/F, Neich Tower, 128 Gloucester Road, Wanchai,
Hong Kong. Its immediate and ultimate holding company is
Nice Rich Group Limited, a company incorporated in the British
Virgin Island (the “BVI"). Its ultimate controlling shareholder is
Mr. Zhang, who is also the Chairman and an executive director
of the Company.

The Company is an investment holding company and the
principal activities of its subsidiaries are set out in note 50.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollar (“HK$"), which is also the Company's functional
currency.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

As at 30 June 2021, the Group had net current liabilities of
HK$31,314,000 (2020: HK$126,304,000). The net current
liabilities included contract liabilities of HK$356,999,000 (2020:
HK$60,695,000) which will be recognised as revenue upon
the delivery of the television (“TV") series program to TV
broadcast networks and shall not have any cash outflow to the
Group, bank and other borrowings of HK$78,556,000 (2020:
HK$22,000,000) which was repayable within one year, bonds
payable of HK$14,308,000 (2020: HK$22,000,000) which was
repayable within one year.
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For the year ended 30 June 2021 #Z202146 A30H ILF /&

1B. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Continued)

In the opinion of the directors of the Company (the
"Directors”), after taking into account, among other things,
the financial resources available to the Group including
the future cash flows to be generated from the TV series
production through distribution and new loan facility granted
by the controlling shareholder amounting to HK$45,000,000
on 31 July 2021 which was unsecured, interest-free and
repayable on 30 July 2023. The Directors are satisfied that the
Group will have sufficient working capital to meet its financial
obligations and commitments as and when they fall due within
the next twelve months from the end of the reporting period.
Accordingly, the Directors are satisfied that it is appropriate
to prepare the consolidated financial statements of the Group
on a going concern basis. Management is not aware of any
material uncertainties related to events or conditions that may
cast significant doubt upon the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern.
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For the year ended 30 June 2021 #Z202146 A30H ILF /&

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs")

Adjustment to goodwill subsequent to
acquisition

A valuation report for the acquisition of a subsidiary for the
year ended 30 June 2020 was received in the current year.
The comparative figures have been restated as if the initial
accounting had been completed from the acquisition date. The
impact of the restatements is set out in note 42.

In the current year, the Group has applied the Amendments to
References to the Conceptual Framework in HKFRS Standards
and the following amendments to HKFRSs issued by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA")
for the first time, which are mandatorily effective for the annual
period beginning on or after 1 July 2020 for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements:

Amendments to Definition of Material
HKAS 1 and
HKAS 8
Amendments to Definition of a Business
HKFRS 3
Amendments to Interest Rate Benchmark Reform
HKFRS 9,
HKAS 39
and HKFRS 7

In addition, the Group has early applied the Amendment to
HKFRS 16 Covid-19-Related Rent Concession beyond 30 June
2021.

Except as described below, the application of the
Amendments to References to the Conceptual Framework
in HKFRS Standards and the amendments to HKFRSs in the
current year had no material impact on the Group's financial
positions and performance for the current and prior years and/
or on the disclosures set out in these consolidated financial
statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 30 June 2021 & Z2021F6 A30H L FE

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (continued)

Amendments to HKFRSs that are
mandatorily effective for the current year

(Continued)

Impacts on application of Amendments to
HKAS 1 and HKAS 8 Definition of Material

The Group has applied the Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKAS
8 for the first time in the current year. The amendments
provide a new definition of material that states “information is
material if omitting, misstating or obscuring it could reasonably
be expected to influence decisions that the primary users of
general purpose financial statements make on the basis of
those financial statements, which provide financial information
about a specific reporting entity.” The amendments also
clarify that materiality depends on the nature or magnitude of
information, either individually or in combination with other
information, in the context of the financial statements taken as
a whole.

The application of the amendments in the current year had no
impact on the consolidated financial statements.

Impacts on early application of Amendment to
HKFRS 16 “Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions
beyond 30 June 2021”

In relation to rent concessions that occurred as a direct
consequence of the Covid-19 pandemic, the Group has elected
to apply the practical expedient not to assess whether the
change is a lease modification if all of the following conditions
are met:

° the change in lease payments results in revised
consideration for the lease that is substantially the
same as, or less than, the consideration for the lease
immediately preceding the change;
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 30 June 2021 & Z2021F6 A30H L FE

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (continued)

Amendments to HKFRSs that are
mandatorily effective for the current year

(Continued)

Impacts on early application of Amendment to
HKFRS 16 “Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions
beyond 30 June 2021"” (Continued)

o any reduction in lease payments affects only payments
originally due on or before 30 June 2022; and

° there is no substantive change to other terms and
conditions of the lease.

A lessee applying the practical expedient accounts for changes
in lease payments resulting from rent concessions in the
same way it would account for the changes applying HKFRS
16 “Leases” if the changes are not a lease modification.
Forgiveness or waiver of lease payments are accounted for
as variable lease payments. The related lease liabilities are
adjusted to reflect the amounts forgiven or waived with a
corresponding adjustment recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which the event occurs.

The application of the amendment had no impact to the
opening accumulated losses at 1 July 2020. The Group
has derecognised the part of lease liability that has been
extinguished by the forgiveness of lease payments using the
discount rates originally applied to these leases respectively,
resulting in a decrease in the lease liabilities of HK$20,169,000,
which has been recognised as variable lease payments in profit
or loss for the current year.
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For the year ended 30 June 2021 #Z202146 A30H ILF /&

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (continued)

The Group has not early applied the following new and
amendments to HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 30 June 2021 & Z2021F6 A30H L FE

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue
but not yet effective (continued)

i Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2023.

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2022.

g Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be
determined.

4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2021.

Except for the amendments to HKFRSs mentioned below, the
Directors anticipate that the application of all other new and
amendments to HKFRSs will have no material impact on the
consolidated financial statements in the foreseeable future.

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of
Liabilities as Current or Non-current and related
amendments to Hong Kong Interpretation 5
(2020)

The amendments provide clarification and additional guidance
on the assessment of right to defer settlement for at least
twelve months from reporting date for classification of
liabilities as current or non-current, which:

° specify that the classification of liabilities as current
or non-current should be based on rights that are in
existence at the end of the reporting period. Specifically,
the amendments clarify that:

(i)  the classification should not be affected by
management intentions or expectations to settle
the liability within 12 months; and

(i) if the right is conditional on the compliance with
covenants, the right exists if the conditions are met
at the end of the reporting period, even if the lender
does not test compliance until a later date; and
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue
but not yet effective (continued)

o clarify that if a liability has terms that could, at the option
of the counterparty, result in its settlement by the
transfer of the entity’s own equity instruments, these
terms do not affect its classification as current or non-
current only if the entity recognises the option separately
as an equity instrument applying HKAS 32 Financial
Instruments: Presentation.

In addition, Hong Kong Interpretation 5 was revised as a
consequence of the Amendments to HKAS 1 to align the
corresponding wordings with no change in conclusion.

Based on the Group's outstanding liabilities as at 30 June
2021, the application of the amendments will not result in
reclassification of the Group's liabilities.

Amendments to HKFRSs Annual Improvements
to HKFRSs 2018 - 2020

The annual improvements make amendments to the following
standards.

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments

The amendment clarifies that for the purpose of assessing
whether modification of terms of original financial liability
constitutes substantial modification under the “10 per cent”
test, a borrower includes only fees paid or received between
the borrower and the lender, including fees paid or received by
either the borrower or the lender on the other’s behalf.

HKFRS 16 Leases

The amendment to lllustrative Example 13 accompanying
HKFRS 16 removes from the example the illustration of
reimbursement relating to leasehold improvements by the
lessor in order to remove any potential confusion.

The application of the amendments is not expected to have
significant impact on the financial position and performance of
the Group.
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For the year ended 30 June 2021 #Z202146 A30H ILF /&

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA. For
the purpose of preparation of the consolidated financial
statements, information is considered material if such
information is reasonably expected to influence decisions
made by primary users. In addition, the consolidated financial
statements include applicable disclosures required by the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock
Exchange at Hong Kong Limited (“Listing Rules”) and by the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance (“CO").

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on
the historical cost basis except for certain financial instruments
that are measured at fair value at the end of each reporting
period, as explained in the accounting policies set out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an
asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date,
regardless of whether that price is directly observable or
estimated using another valuation technique. In estimating
the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group takes into
account the characteristics of the asset or liability if market
participants would take those characteristics into account
when pricing the asset or liability at the measurement date.
Fair value for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in
these consolidated financial statements is determined on
such a basis, except for share-based payment transactions
that are within the scope of HKFRS 2 Share-based Payment,
leasing transactions that are accounted for in accordance
with HKFRS16 /ease, and measurements that have some
similarities to fair value but are not fair value, such as net
realisable value in HKAS 2 /nventories or value in use in
HKAS 36 Impairment of Assets.

For financial instruments which are transacted at fair value and
a valuation technique that unobservable inputs is to be used
to measure fair value in subsequent periods, the valuation
technique is calibrated so that at initial recognition the results
of the valuation technique equals the transaction price.
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For the year ended 30 June 2021 #Z202146 A30H ILF /&

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value
measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on
the degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements
are observable and the significance of the inputs to the fair
value measurement in its entirety, which are described as
follows:

° Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity
can access at the measurement date;

o Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices
included within Level 1, that are observable for the asset
or liability, either directly or indirectly; and

° Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or
liability.

The principal accounting policies are set out below.

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and entities controlled by the
Company and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved when the
Company:

° has power over the investee;

° is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee; and

° has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if
facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one
or more of the three elements of control listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains
control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses
control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses
of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are
included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income from the date the Group gains
control until the date when the Group ceases to control the
subsidiary.
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For the year ended 30 June 2021 #Z202146 A30H ILF /&

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive income
are attributed to the owners of the Company and to the
non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive income of
subsidiaries is attributed to the owners of the Company and
to the non-controlling interests even if this results in the non-
controlling interests having a deficit balance.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies
into line with the Group's accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses
and cash flows relating to transactions between members of
the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are presented
separately from the Group’s equity therein, which represent
present ownership interests entitling their holders to a
proportionate share of net assets of the relevant subsidiaries
upon liquidation.

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in

existing subsidiaries

Changes in the Group's interests in subsidiaries that do not
result in the Group losing control over the subsidiaries are
accounted for as equity transactions. The carrying amounts
of the Group's relevant components of equity and the non-
controlling interests are adjusted to reflect the changes in their
relative interests in the subsidiaries, including re-attribution of
relevant reserves between the Group and the non-controlling
interests according to the Group’s and the non-controlling
interests’ proportionate interests.

Any difference between the amount by which the non-
controlling interests are adjusted, and the fair value of the
consideration paid or received is recognised directly in equity
and attributed to owners of the Company.
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For the year ended 30 June 2021 #Z202146 A30H ILF /&

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the assets and
liabilities of that subsidiary and non- controlling interests (if
any) are derecognised. A gain or loss is recognised in profit
or loss and is calculated as the difference between (i) the
aggregate of the fair value of the consideration received and
the fair value of any retained interest and (ii) the carrying
amount of the assets (including goodwill), and liabilities of
the subsidiary attributable to the owners of the Company.
All amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive
income in relation to that subsidiary are accounted for as if the
Group had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities
of the subsidiary (i.e. reclassified to profit or loss or transferred
to another category of equity as specified/permitted by
applicable HKFRSs).

Acquisitions of businesses, other than business combination
under common control are accounted for using the acquisition
method. The consideration transferred in a business
combination is measured at fair value, which is calculated
as the sum of the acquisition-date fair values of the assets
transferred by the Group, liabilities incurred by the Group to
the former owners of the acquiree and the equity interests
issued by the Group in exchange for control of the acquiree.
Acquisition-related costs are generally recognised in profit or
loss as incurred.

Except for certain recognition exemptions, the identifiable
assets acquired and liabilities assumed must meet the
definitions of an asset and a liability in the Framework for the
Preparation and Presentation of Financial Statements (replaced
by the Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting issued in
October 2010).

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired and the
liabilities assumed are recognised at their fair value, except
that:

o deferred tax assets or liabilities, and assets or liabilities
related to employee benefit arrangements are recognised
and measured in accordance with HKAS 12 Income Taxes
and HKAS 19 Employee Benefits respectively;
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For the year ended 30 June 2021 #Z202146 A30H ILF /&

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

° liabilities or equity instruments related to share-based
payment arrangements of the acquiree or share-based
payment arrangements of the Group entered into to
replace share-based payment arrangements of the
acquiree are measured in accordance with HKFRS 2 at
the acquisition date;

o assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as held for
sale in accordance with HKFRS 5 Non-current Assets
Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations are measured
in accordance with that standard; and

° lease liabilities are recognised and measured at the
present value of the remaining lease payments (as
defined in HKFRS 16) as if the acquired leases were
new leases at the acquisition date, except for leases
for which (a) the lease term ends within 12 months of
the acquisition date; or (b) the underlying asset is of low
value. Right-of-use assets are recognised and measured
at the same amount as the relevant lease liabilities,
adjusted to reflect favourable or unfavourable terms of
the lease when compared with market terms.

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the
consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling
interests in the acquiree, and the fair value of the acquirer’s
previously held equity interest in the acquiree (if any) over the
net amount of the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities
assumed as at acquisition date. If, after re-assessment, the
net amount of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities
assumed exceeds the sum of the consideration transferred,
the amount of any non-controlling interests in the acquiree and
the fair value of the acquirer’s previously held interest in the
acquiree (if any), the excess is recognised immediately in profit
or loss as a bargain purchase gain.
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For the year ended 30 June 2021 #Z202146 A30H ILF /&

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Non-controlling interests that are present ownership interests
and entitle their holders to a proportionate share of the relevant
subsidiary’s net assets in the event of liquidation are initially
measured at the non-controlling interests’ proportionate share
of the recognised amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable net
assets.

When the consideration transferred by the Group in a
business combination includes a contingent consideration
arrangement, the contingent consideration is measured at
its acquisition-date fair value and included as part of the
consideration transferred in a business combination. Changes
in the fair value of the contingent consideration that qualify as
measurement period adjustments are adjusted retrospectively.
Measurement period adjustments are adjustments that arise
from additional information obtained during the “measurement
period” (which cannot exceed one year from the acquisition
date) about facts and circumstances that existed at the
acquisition date.

The subsequent accounting for the contingent consideration
that do not qualify as measurement period adjustments
depends on how the contingent consideration is classified.
Contingent consideration that is classified as equity is not
remeasured at subsequent reporting dates and its subsequent
settlement is accounted for within equity. Contingent
consideration that is classified as an asset or a liability is
remeasured to fair value at subsequent reporting dates, with
the corresponding gain or loss being recognised in profit or
loss.

If the initial accounting for a business combination is
incomplete by the end of the reporting period in which the
combination occurs, the Group reports provisional amounts
for the items for which the accounting is incomplete. Those
provisional amounts are adjusted retrospectively during the
measurement period (see above), and additional assets or
liabilities are recognised, to reflect new information obtained
about facts and circumstances that existed at the acquisition
date that, if known, would have affected the amounts
recognised at that date.
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For the year ended 30 June 2021 #Z202146 A30H ILF /&

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is carried
at cost as established at the date of acquisition of the
business (see the accounting policy above) less accumulated
impairment losses, if any.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated
to each of the Group’s cash-generating units (or group of cash-
generating units) that is expected to benefit from the synergies
of the combination, which represent the lowest level at which
the goodwill is monitored for internal management purposes
and not larger than an operating segment.

A cash-generating unit (or group of cash-generating units) to
which goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment
annually or more frequently when there is indication that the
unit may be impaired. For goodwill arising on an acquisition
in a reporting period, the cash-generating unit (or group of
cash-generating units) to which goodwill has been allocated is
tested for impairment before the end of that reporting period.
If the recoverable amount is less than its carrying amount, the
impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount
of any goodwill and then to the other assets on a pro-rata basis
based on the carrying amount of each asset in the unit (or
group of cash-generating units).

On disposal of the relevant cash-generating unit or any of
the cash-generating unit within the group of cash-generating
units, the attributable amount of goodwill is included in the
determination of the amount of profit or loss on disposal.
When the Group disposes of an operation within the cash-
generating unit (or a cash-generating unit within a group of
cash-generating units), the amount of goodwill disposed of is
measured on the basis of the relative values of the operation
(or the cash- generating unit) disposed of and the portion of
the cash-generating unit (or the group of cash-generating units)
retained.

The Group's policy for goodwill arising on the acquisition of an
associate and a joint venture is described below.
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For the year ended 30 June 2021 #Z202146 A30H ILF /&

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant
influence. Significant influence is the power to participate in
the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee but
is not control or joint control over those policies.

A joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the parties
that have joint control of the arrangement have rights to
the net assets of the joint arrangement. Joint control is the
contractually agreed sharing of control of an arrangement,
which exists only when decisions about the relevant activities
require unanimous consent of the parties sharing control.

The results and assets and liabilities of associates and a
joint venture are incorporated in these consolidated financial
statements using the equity method of accounting. The
financial statements of associates and joint venture used
for equity accounting purposes are prepared using uniform
accounting policies as those of the Group for like transactions
and events in similar circumstances. Under the equity method,
an investment in an associate or a joint venture is initially
recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position
at cost and adjusted thereafter to recognise the Group’s share
of the profit or loss and other comprehensive income of the
associate or a joint venture. When the Group’s share of losses
of an associate or joint venture exceeds the Group's interest
in that associate or joint venture (which includes any long-
term interests that, in substance, form part of the Group's
net investment in the associate or joint venture), the Group
discontinues recognising its share of further losses. Additional
losses are recognised only to the extent that the Group has
incurred legal or constructive obligations or made payments on
behalf of the associate or joint venture.
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For the year ended 30 June 2021 #Z202146 A30H ILF /&

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

An investment in an associate or a joint venture is accounted
for using the equity method from the date on which the
investee becomes an associate or a joint venture. On
acquisition of the investment in an associate or a joint venture,
any excess of the cost of the investment over the Group's
share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets and
liabilities of the investee is recognised as goodwill, which
is included within the carrying amount of the investment.
Any excess of the Group's share of the net fair value of
the identifiable assets and liabilities over the cost of the
investment, after reassessment, is recognised immediately in
profit or loss in the period in which the investment is acquired.

The Group assesses whether there is an objective evidence
that the interest in an associate or a joint venture may be
impaired. When any objective evidence exists, the entire
carrying amount of the investment (including goodwill) is
tested for impairment in accordance with HKAS 36 as a single
asset by comparing its recoverable amount (higher of value
in use and fair value less costs of disposal) with its carrying
amount. Any impairment loss recognised is not allocated to
any asset, including goodwill, that forms part of the carrying
amount of the investment. Any reversal of that impairment
loss is recognised in accordance with HKAS 36 to the extent
that the recoverable amount of the investment subsequently
increases.

When a group entity transacts with an associate or a joint
venture of the Group, profits and losses resulting from the
transactions with the associate or joint venture are recognised
in the Group's consolidated financial statements only to the
extent of interests in the associate or joint venture that are not
related to the Group.

3.

EREFERR @

R—HBERRHEELENREB K
REER/—RBERRIALELE
Z BEFHRAEEEARR - R EE 2
NAHREEENRER - RENAHE
HAREDEZRREE BRI EER
BENAFEFENEAZEERSE
B Wt ARENEREE - REBEEH
KREMRE  AKEDEARNEERE
BN A FEFEBLIREKRANEMZE
MEEHMHERIIFNIER AR -

AEESHEEEFEREERZAR
—RABE AR EERNERAED
BE - REEEBERR &é“ﬁ’] B
REE(BEER)BEREETEGTE
AIF36RIERE —BEEITRENH -
TERBEAIE & 38 (VA R EE R
RFEREHERANRSE HE)HE
HIREE(FLL K - RN EARER
BTESEZERZREREE D
MEFEE(EREFE) - REBENE
A O RIEEE ST EREI65THER -
HELARZ IR B E R FTIB IR0 AT UL Bl & 38 5
IR -

»&»

HREEBEAKE BEATNRAE
TEETRS  MERRSMELN G
MEEEERNEENEEAFNGED
XD ERAR - TRAKENGS Y
%iﬁ%ﬁgﬁm °

BIRIREBR AT 2020/21 F#



For the year ended 30 June 2021 #Z202146 A30H ILF /&

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a performance
obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of the goods or
services underlying the particular performance obligation is
transferred to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or
a bundle of goods or services) that is distinct or a series of
distinct goods or services that are substantially the same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised
over time by reference to the progress towards complete
satisfaction of the relevant performance obligation if one of the
following criteria is met:

o the customer simultaneously receives and consumes
the benefits provided by the Group’s performance as the
Group performs;

o the Group's performance creates or enhances an asset
that the customer controls as the Group performs; or

o the Group's performance does not create an asset with
an alternative use to the Group and the Group has an
enforceable right to payment for performance completed
to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the
customer obtains control of the distinct good or service.

A contract asset represents the Group’s right to consideration
in exchange for goods or services that the Group has
transferred to a customer that is not yet unconditional. It is
assessed for impairment in accordance with HKFRS 9 Financial
Instruments. In contrast, a receivable represents the Group’s
unconditional right to consideration, i.e. only the passage of
time is required before payment of that consideration is due.

A contract liability represents the Group's obligation to transfer
goods or services to a customer for which the Group has
received consideration (or an amount of consideration is due)
from the customer.

A contract asset and a contract liability relating to the same
contract are accounted for and presented on a net basis.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3.

(Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers
(Continued)

Over time revenue recognition: measurement
of progress towards complete satisfaction of

a performance obligation

Input method

The progress towards complete satisfaction of a performance
obligation is measured based on input method, which is to
recognise revenue on the basis of the Group’s efforts or inputs
to the satisfaction of a performance obligation relative to the
total expected inputs to the satisfaction of that performance
obligation, that best depict the Group’s performance in
transferring control of goods or services.

Leases

Definition of a lease

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the
right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of
time in exchange for consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified on or after the date
of initial application or arising from business combinations,
the Group assesses whether a contract is or contains a
lease based on the definition under HKFRS 16 at inception,
modification date or acquisition date, as appropriate. Such
contract will not be reassessed unless the terms and
conditions of the contract are subsequently changed.
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For the year ended 30 June 2021 #Z202146 A30H ILF /&

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

The Group as a lessee

Allocation of consideration to components of a contract

For a contract that contains a lease component and one or
more additional lease or non-lease components, the Group
allocates the consideration in the contract to each lease
component on the basis of the relative stand-alone price of
the lease component and the aggregate stand-alone price of
the non-lease components. The Group also applies practical
expedient not to separate non-lease components from lease
component, and instead account for the lease component
and any associated non-lease components as a single lease
component.

Short-term leases

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption
to leases of buildings and equipment that have a lease term
of 12 months or less from the commencement date and do
not contain a purchase option. Lease payments on short-term
leases are recognised as expense on a straight-line basis over
the lease term.

Right-of-use assets
The cost of right-of-use asset includes:

° the amount of the initial measurement of the lease
liability;

o any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date, less any lease incentives received;
and

° any initial direct costs incurred by the Group.
Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, and

adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities.

Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis
over the shorter of its estimated useful life and the lease term.

The Group presents right-of-use assets as a separate line item
on the consolidated statement of financial position.
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For the year ended 30 June 2021 #Z202146 A30H ILF /&

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted under HKFRS 9
and initially measured at fair value. Adjustments to fair value at
initial recognition are considered as additional lease payments
and included in the cost of right-of-use assets.

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group recognises
and measures the lease liability at the present value of
lease payments that are unpaid at that date. In calculating
the present value of lease payments, the Group uses the
incremental borrowing rate at the lease commencement
date if the interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily
determinable.

The lease payments include:

o fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments)
less any lease incentives receivable; and

° payments of penalties for terminating a lease, if the lease
term reflects the Group exercising an option to terminate
the lease.

Variable lease payments that reflect changes in market rental
rates are initially measured using the market rental rates as
at the commencement date. Variable lease payments that
do not depend on an index or a rate are not included in the
measurement of lease liabilities and right-of-use assets, and
are recognised as expense in the period in which the event or
condition that triggers the payment occurs.

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are adjusted by
interest accretion and lease payments.
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For the year ended 30 June 2021 #Z202146 A30H ILF /&

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)

Lease liabilities (Continued)

The Group remeasures lease liabilities (and makes a
corresponding adjustment to the related right-of-use assets)
whenever:

° the lease term has changed or there is a change in
the assessment of exercise of a purchase option, in
which case the related lease liability is remeasured by
discounting the revised lease payments using a revised
discount rate at the date of reassessment.

o the lease payments change due to changes in market
rental rates following a market rent review in which cases
the related lease liability is remeasured by discounting
the revised lease payments using the initial discount rate.

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate line item on
the consolidated statement of financial position.

Lease modifications
The Group accounts for a lease modification as a separate
lease if:

o the modification increases the scope of the lease by
adding the right to use one or more underlying assets;
and

o the consideration for the leases increases by an amount
commensurate with the stand-alone price for the
increase in scope and any appropriate adjustments to
that stand-alone price to reflect the circumstances of the
particular contract.

For a lease modification that is not accounted for as a separate
lease, the Group remeasures the lease liability based on the
lease term of the modified lease by discounting the revised
lease payments using a revised discount rate at the effective
date of the modification.
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For the year ended 30 June 2021 #Z202146 A30H ILF /&

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

The Group as a lessor (Continued)

Lease modifications (Continued)

The Group accounts for the remeasurement of lease liabilities
by making corresponding adjustments to the relevant right-
of-use asset. When the modified contract contains a lease
component and one or more additional lease or non-lease
components, the Group allocates the consideration in the
modified contract to each lease component on the basis of
the relative stand-alone price of the lease component and the
aggregate stand-alone price of the non-lease components.

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group
entity, transactions in currencies other than the functional
currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are recognised
at the rates of exchanges prevailing on the dates of the
transactions. At the end of the reporting period, monetary
items denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at
the rates prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items that are
measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are
not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary
items, and on the retranslation of monetary items, are
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s operations
are translated into the presentation currency of the Group
(i.,e. Hong Kong dollars) using exchange rates prevailing at
the end of each reporting period. Income and expenses items
are translated at the average exchange rates for the period.
Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in equity under the
heading of exchange reserve (attributed to non-controlling
interests as appropriate).
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For the year ended 30 June 2021 #Z202146 A30H ILF /&

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

On disposal of a foreign operation (that is, a disposal of the
Group’s entire interest in a foreign operation, or a disposal
involving loss of control over a subsidiary that includes a
foreign operation, or a partial disposal of an interest in a joint
arrangement or an associate that includes a foreign operation
of which the retained interest becomes a financial asset), all of
the exchange differences accumulated in equity in respect of
that operation attributable to the owners of the Company are
reclassified to profit or loss.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments on identifiable assets
acquired arising on an acquisition of a foreign operation on
or after 1 January 2005 are treated as assets and liabilities of
that foreign operation and translated at the rate of exchange
prevailing at the end of each reporting period. Exchange
differences arising are recognised in other comprehensive
income.

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which are
assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get
ready for their intended use or sale, are added to the cost of
those assets until such time as the assets are substantially
ready for their intended use or sale.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they are incurred.

Government grants are not recognised until there is reasonable
assurance that the Group will comply with the conditions
attaching to them and that the grants will be received.

Government grants related to income that are receivable as
compensation for expenses or losses already incurred or for
the purpose of giving immediate financial support to the Group
with no future related costs are recognised in profit or loss in
the period in which they become receivable. Such grants are
presented under “other income”.
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For the year ended 30 June 2021 #Z202146 A30H ILF /&

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Payments to state-managed retirement benefit schemes and
the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (“MPF Scheme”) are
recognised as an expense when employees have rendered
service entitling them to the contributions.

Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the
undiscounted amount of the benefits expected to be paid
as and when employees rendered the services. All short-
term employee benefits are recognised as an expense unless
another HKFRS requires or permits the inclusion of the benefit
in the cost of an asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees
(such as wages and salaries and annual leave) after deducting
any amount already paid.

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently
payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the
year. Taxable profit differs from profit (loss) before tax because
of income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other
years and items that are never taxable or deductible. The
Group's liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that
have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the
reporting period.
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For the year ended 30 June 2021 #Z202146 A30H ILF /&

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the
consolidated financial statements and the corresponding tax
bases used in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax
liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary
differences. Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for
all deductible temporary differences to the extent that it is
probable that taxable profits will be available against which
those deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such
deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if the
temporary difference arises from the initial recognition (other
than in a business combination) of assets and liabilities in
a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the
accounting profit. In addition, deferred tax liabilities are not
recognised if the temporary difference arises from the initial
recognition of goodwill.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries and
associates, and interest in a joint venture, except where
the Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary
differences and it is probable that the temporary differences
will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets
arising from deductible temporary differences associated
with such investments and interests are only recognised
to the extent that it is probable that there will be sufficient
taxable profits against which to utilise the benefits of the
temporary differences and they are expected to reverse in the
foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that
it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be
available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates
that are expected to apply in the period in which the liability is
settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rate (and tax laws)
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of
the reporting period.
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For the year ended 30 June 2021 #Z202146 A30H ILF /&

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects
the tax consequences that would follow from the manner in
which the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period,
to recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and
liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for leasing
transactions in which the Group recognises the right-of-
use assets and the related lease liabilities, the Group first
determines whether the tax deductions are attributable to the
right-of-use assets or the lease liabilities.

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions are
attributable to the lease liabilities, the Group applies HKAS 12
requirements to the leasing transaction as a whole. Temporary
differences relating to right-of-use assets and lease liabilities
are assessed on a net basis. Excess of depreciation on right-
of-use assets over the lease payments for the principal
portion of lease liabilities resulting in net deductible temporary
differences.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there
is a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets
against current tax liabilities and when they relate to income
taxes levied to the same taxable entity by the same taxation
authority.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss,
except when they relate to items that are recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case,
the current and deferred tax are also recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively.
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For the year ended 30 June 2021 #Z202146 A30H ILF /&

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Property, plant and equipment are stated in the consolidated
statement of financial position at cost less subsequent
accumulated depreciation and subsequent accumulated
impairment losses, if any.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of assets
less their residual values over their estimated useful lives,
using the straight-line method. The estimated useful lives,
residual values and depreciation method are reviewed at the
end of each reporting period, with the effect of any changes in
estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected
to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss
arising on the disposal or retirement of an item of property,
plant and equipment is determined as the difference between
the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is
recognised in profit or loss.

Film rights are stated at cost less accumulated amortisation
and accumulated impairment losses (if any). The Group
amortises costs of film rights in the same ratio that current
period actual revenue (numerator) bears to estimated
total projected revenue (denominator). The Group begins
amortisation of the capitalised costs of film rights when a film
is released and it begins to recognise revenue from that film.

The Group reviews and revises estimates of total projected
revenue and total production costs of film rights at the end
of each reporting period. If estimates are revised, the Group
adjusts the amount of total projected revenue (denominator)
from the period when such changes in estimates take place
and re-calculated the ratio for amortisation of film rights.
The effect from changes in estimates is recognised on a
prospective basis.

Television series production in progress is stated at cost
less any provision for impairment losses. Cost includes all
costs associated with the production of television series
including remuneration for the television series director,
casts and production crew, costumes, insurance, makeup
and hairdressing as well as rental of camera and lighting
equipment.
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For the year ended 30 June 2021 #Z202146 A30H ILF /&

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Intangible assets acquired in a business

combination

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination
are recognised separately from goodwill and are initially
recognised at their fair value at the acquisition date (which is
regarded as their cost).

Subsequent to initial recognition, intangible assets acquired
in a business combination with finite useful lives are reported
at costs less accumulated amortisation and any accumulated
impairment losses, on the same basis as intangible assets that
are acquired separately.

An intangible asset is derecognised on disposal, or when no
future economic benefits are expected from use or disposal.
Gains and losses arising from derecognition of an intangible
asset, measured as the difference between the net disposal
proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset, are recognised
in profit or loss when the asset is derecognised.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of its property, plant and equipment, right-
of-use assets and intangible assets with finite useful lives to
determine whether there is any indication that those assets
have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists,
the recoverable amount of the relevant asset is estimated in
order to determine the extent of the impairment loss (if any).

The recoverable amount of property, plant and equipment,
right-of-use assets and intangible assets are estimated
individually. When it is not possible to estimate the recoverable
amount of an asset individually, the Group estimates the
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the
asset belongs.

3.

BEAEFBE @

EREHTRBZETLERE

EBAMTRB BN EERREDH
BRLNTRARBBREBZAFE
(RBEMRA)HER

RUITHERR  ZHEHTREZAER
PR AT A B 2 B B E IR AR R T
BEREMRRESEESR  £2ER
EREB BT EERR -

BYEERNHERIBEHELRBERE
FA & 1S R SR AT W 2t B 4% 1L B
R RITERBVEERMEE 2 WGE R
BREZEEZ WEMGHRIEFEER
HERZZHAE  URRIERRZE
ERERm PR -

RIMEMK  AEBERISEERAER
FHME  BEARE  EREEEMN
NERVEEZRAEMNRERS A EW
PRETZEFEEBZRERE - 1
BEMZFTR - MEGEFTHEREEZ
A Y el & B A B E HORVEE R (1B ) 12
o

ME - BEERE  EREEENNE
FEEMRIE S RIER G o W
AERIEFTEEZ IR EI SR - BIAE
Befit % EEMBREELEM A
Y Bl S5

BIRIREBR AT 2020/21 F#



For the year ended 30 June 2021 #Z202146 A30H ILF /&

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

In testing a cash-generating unit for impairment, corporate
assets are allocated to the relevant cash-generating unit
when a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can be
established, or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest
group of cash generating units for which a reasonable and
consistent allocation basis can be established. The recoverable
amount is determined for the cash-generating unit or group of
cash-generating units to which the corporate asset belongs,
and is compared with the carrying amount of the relevant cash-
generating unit or group of cash-generating units.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs
of disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific
to the asset (or a cash-generating unit) for which the estimates
of future cash flows have not been adjusted.
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For the year ended 30 June 2021 #Z202146 A30H ILF /&

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-generating
unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the
carrying amount of the asset (or a cash-generating unit) is
reduced to its recoverable amount. For corporate assets or
portion of corporate assets which cannot be allocated on a
reasonable and consistent basis to a cash generating unit,
the Group compares the carrying amount of a group of cash-
generating units, including the carrying amounts of the
corporate assets or portion of corporate assets allocated to
that group of cash-generating units, with the recoverable
amount of the group of cash-generating units. In allocating
the impairment loss, the impairment loss is allocated first
to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill (if applicable)
and then to the other assets on a pro-rata basis based on
the carrying amount of each asset in the unit or the group
of cash-generating units. The carrying amount of an asset is
not reduced below the highest of its fair value less costs of
disposal (if measurable), its value in use (if determinable) and
zero. The amount of the impairment loss that would otherwise
have been allocated to the asset is allocated pro rata to the
other assets of the unit or the group of cash-generating units.
An impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit or a group of
cash-generating units) is increased to the revised estimate
of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying
amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have
been determined had no impairment loss been recognised
for the asset (or a cash-generating unit or a group of cash-
generating units) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment
loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.
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For the year ended 30 June 2021 #Z202146 A30H ILF /&

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Costs of inventories are determined on a first-in, first-
out method. Net realisable value represents the estimated
selling price for inventories less all estimated costs of
completion and costs necessary to make the sale.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when a
group entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of
the instrument. All regular way purchases or sales of financial
assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis.
Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of
financial assets that require delivery of assets within the time
frame established by regulation or convention in the market
place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at
fair value except for trade receivables arising from contracts
with customers which are initially measured in accordance
with HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers.
Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities
(other than financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value
through profit or loss (“FVTPL")) are added to or deducted
from the fair value of the financial assets or financial liabilities,
as appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction costs directly
attributable to the acquisition of financial assets or financial
liabilities at FVTPL are recognised immediately in profit or loss.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability
and of allocating interest income and interest expense over
the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate
that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts and
payments (including all fees and points paid or received that
form an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction
costs and other premiums or discounts) through the expected
life of the financial asset or financial liability, or, where
appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying amount on
initial recognition.
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For the year ended 30 June 2021 #Z202146 A30H ILF /&

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets
Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at amortised cost:

the financial asset is held within a business model whose
objective is to collect contractual cash flows; and

the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest
on the principal amount outstanding.

All other financial assets of the Group are subsequently
measured at FVTPL.

(i)

(ii)

Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest
method for financial assets measured subsequently at
amortised cost. Interest income is calculated by applying
the effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount
of a financial asset, except for financial assets that have
subsequently become credit-impaired (see below). For
financial assets that have subsequently become credit-
impaired, interest income is recognised by applying
the effective interest rate to the amortised cost of the
financial asset from the next reporting period. If the
credit risk on the credit-impaired financial instrument
improves so that the financial asset is no longer credit-
impaired, interest income is recognised by applying the
effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount of the
financial asset from the beginning of the reporting period
following the determination that the asset is no longer
credit impaired.

Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for being
measured at amortised cost or at fair value through other
comprehensive income or designated as at fair value
through other comprehensive income are measured at
FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value at
the end of each reporting period, with any fair value gains
or losses recognised in profit or loss. The net gain or
loss recognised in profit or loss excludes any dividend or
interest earned on the financial asset and is included in
the “other gains and losses” line item.
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For the year ended 30 June 2021 #Z202146 A30H ILF /&

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9

The Group performs assessment under expected credit
loss (“ECL") model on financial assets at amortised cost
(including trade and other receivables, loan to a related party,
refundable rental deposits, restricted bank balances, pledged
bank deposits and bank balances) and contract assets, which
are subject to impairment assessment under HKFRS 9. The
amount of ECL is updated at each reporting date to reflect
changes in credit risk since initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all
possible default events over the expected life of the relevant
instrument. In contrast, 12-month expected credit loss (“12m
ECL") represents the portion of lifetime ECL that is expected
to result from default events that are possible within 12
months after the reporting date. Assessments are done based
on the Group's historical credit loss experience, adjusted for
factors that are specific to the debtors, general economic
conditions and an assessment of both the current conditions at
the reporting date as well as the forecast of future conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade
receivables and contract assets. The ECL on these assets are
assessed individually for debtors with significant balances
and/or collectively using a provision matrix with appropriate
groupings.

For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss
allowance equal to 12m ECL, unless when there has been
a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition,
in which case the Group recognises lifetime ECL. The
assessment of whether lifetime ECL should be recognised
is based on significant increases in the likelihood or risk of a
default occurring since initial recognition.
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For the year ended 30 June 2021 #Z202146 A30H ILF /&

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets and other items subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

(i)

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group compares
the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument
as at the reporting date with the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of
initial recognition. In making this assessment, the Group
considers both quantitative and qualitative information
that is reasonable and supportable, including historical
experience and forward-looking information that is
available without undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has
increased significantly:

o an actual or expected significant deterioration in
the financial instrument’s external (if available) or
internal credit rating;

° significant deterioration in external market
indicators of credit risk, e.g. a significant increase in
the credit spread, the credit default swap prices for
the debtor;

° existing or forecast adverse changes in business,
financial or economic conditions that are expected
to cause a significant decrease in the debtor's
ability to meet its debt obligations;

° an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
operating results of the debtor;

° an actual or expected significant adverse change
in the regulatory, economic, or technological
environment of the debtor that results in a
significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet
its debt obligations.
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For the year ended 30 June 2021 #Z202146 A30H ILF /&

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets and other items subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

(i)

Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)
Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment,
the Group presumes that the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition when contractual
payments are more than 30 days past due, unless the
Group has reasonable and supportable information that
demonstrates otherwise.

Despite the aforegoing, the Group assumes that the
credit risk on a debt instrument has not increased
significantly since initial recognition if the debt
instrument is determined to have low credit risk at the
reporting date. A debt instrument is determined to have
low credit risk if (i) it has a low risk of default, (ii) the
borrower has a strong capacity to meet its contractual
cash flow obligations in the near term and (iii) adverse
changes in economic and business conditions in the
longer term may, but will not necessarily, reduce the
ability of the borrower to fulfil its contractual cash flow
obligations. The Group considers a debt instrument to
have low credit risk when it has an internal or external
credit rating of “investment grade” as per globally
understood definitions.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of
the criteria used to identify whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk and revises them as
appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable of
identifying significant increase in credit risk before the
amount becomes past due.

Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group considers
an event of default occurs when information developed
internally or obtained from external sources indicates that
the debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors, including the
Group, in full (without taking into account any collaterals
held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers that
default has occurred when a financial asset is more than
90 days past due unless the Group has reasonable and
supportable information to demonstrate that a more
lagging default criterion is more appropriate.
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For the year ended 30 June 2021 #Z202146 A30H ILF /&

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets and other items subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

(iif)

(iv)

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more
events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated
future cash flows of that financial asset have occurred.
Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes
observable data about the following events:

° significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the
borrower;

o a breach of contract, such as a default or past due
event;

o the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or
contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s
financial difficulty, having granted to the borrower
a concession(s) that the lender(s) would not
otherwise consider; or

° it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation.

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is
information indicating that the counterparty is in severe
financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect
of recovery, for example, when the counterparty has
been placed under liquidation or has entered into
bankruptcy proceedings. Financial assets written off
may still be subject to enforcement activities under
the Group's recovery procedures, taking into account
legal advice where appropriate. A write-off constitutes
a derecognition event. Any subsequent recoveries are
recognised in profit or loss.
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For the year ended 30 June 2021 #Z202146 A30H ILF /&

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets and other items subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

(v)

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability
of default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the
loss if there is a default) and the exposure at default.
The assessment of the probability of default and loss
given default is based on historical data adjusted by
forward-looking information. Estimation of ECL reflects
an unbiased and probability-weighted amount that is
determined with the respective risks of default occurring
as the weights. The Group uses a practical expedient in
estimating ECL on trade receivables using a provision
matrix taking into consideration historical credit loss
experience, adjusted for forward looking information that
is available without undue cost or effort.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all
contractual cash flows that are due to the Group in
accordance with the contract and the cash flows that the
Group expects to receive, discounted at the effective
interest rate determined at initial recognition.

For collective assessment, the Group takes into
consideration the following characteristics when
formulating the grouping:

° Past-due status;

° Nature, size and industry of debtors; and

° External credit ratings where available.

The grouping is regularly reviewed by management to
ensure the constituents of each group continue to share
similar credit risk characteristics.
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For the year ended 30 June 2021 #Z202146 A30H ILF /&

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items subject to

impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

(v)  Measurement and recognition of ECL (Continued)
Interest income is calculated based on the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset unless the financial asset
is credit impaired, in which case interest income is
calculated based on amortised cost of the financial asset.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in profit
or loss for all financial instruments by adjusting their
carrying amount, with the exception of trade and other
receivables and contract assets where the corresponding
adjustment is recognised through a loss allowance
account.

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or
when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another entity.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised
cost, the difference between the asset’s carrying amount
and the sum of the consideration received and receivable is
recognised in profit or loss.

Financial liabilities and equity

Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments issued by a group entity are
classified as either financial liabilities or as equity in accordance
with the substance of the contractual arrangements and the
definitions of a financial liability and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual
interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its
liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Company are
recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.
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For the year ended 30 June 2021 #Z202146 A30H ILF /&

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Financial liabilities and equity (Continued)

Equity instruments (Continued)

Repurchase of the Company’s own equity instruments is
recognised and deducted directly in equity. No gain or loss
is recognised in profit or loss on the purchase, sale, issue or
cancellation of the Company’s own equity instruments.

Perpetual instruments, which include no contractual obligation
for the Group to deliver cash or other financial assets or the
Group has the sole discretion to defer payment of distribution
and redemption of principal amount indefinitely are classified
as equity instruments.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities (including trade and other payables, loans
from related companies, loans from/amount due to the
controlling shareholder, bonds payable, amount due to a joint
venture and bank and other borrowings) are subsequently
measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest
method.

Financial liability at FVTPL

Financial liability is classified as at FVTPL when the financial
liability is contingent consideration of an acquirer in a business
combination to which HKFRS 3 Business Combinations applies
or it is designated as the FVTPL.

A financial liability other than a financial liability held for trading
or contingent consideration of an acquirer in a business
combination may be designated as at FVTPL upon initial
recognition if:

o such designation eliminates or significantly reduces a
measurement or recognition inconsistency that would
otherwise arise; or

° the financial liability forms part of a group of financial
assets or financial liabilities or both, which is managed
and its performance is evaluated on a fair value basis,
in accordance with the Group's documented risk
management or investment strategy, and information
about the grouping is provided internally on that basis; or
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Financial liabilities and equity (Continued)

Financial liability at FVTPL (Continued)

o it forms part of a contract containing one or more
embedded derivatives, and HKFRS 9 permits the entire
combined contract to be designated as at FVTPL.

For financial liabilities that are designated as at FVTPL, the
amount of change in the fair value of the financial liability
that is attributable to changes in the credit risk of that liability
is recognised in other comprehensive income, unless the
recognition of the effects of changes in the liability’'s credit
risk in other comprehensive income would create or enlarge
an accounting mismatch in profit or loss. For financial liabilities
that contain embedded derivatives, the changes in fair value
of the embedded derivatives are excluded in determining
the amount to be presented in other comprehensive income.
Changes in fair value attributable to a financial liability’s credit
risk that are recognised in other comprehensive income are
not subsequently reclassified to profit or loss; instead, they are
transferred to accumulated losses upon derecognition of the
financial liability.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only
when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or
have expired. The difference between the carrying amount of
the financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid
and payable is recognised in profit or loss.

Derivative financial instruments

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value at the
date when derivative contracts are entered into and are
subsequently remeasured to their fair value at the end of the
reporting period. The resulting gain or loss is recognised in
profit or loss.

BEAEFBE @

cREENER @

BN FEGIABRZ B EE(E)

o HABAKBEE B LERARXLT
ETHEZEHN—o  mEE
B 75 iR 5 HE B 2957 1 FF BB D & fF
BHIEE AR AT ET AEBZ -

SLIEEREAFEFARENERAE
mE - BHEENEERRESHEME
ZEMBEAFEESSENEMERE
Was R - FROFERBERAEREME
mEENEERRNESHTESN RS
ERIBAGHER - LESRANDT
ATAMESRMABENS @ BESEIIRN
Hpzmban SRR - Y IeaEHk
ARTTETAENAFEES - REME
HREEZANEREBEERBREGH
NP EEPRERITEEHHHAEE
@ Bz - AR e LEBRS R
BERERERFEE -

HIUER TR E
rEESREERAERAKENEE
ERRER - BUBSE M R IEHER - R1E
ERNeReERmERDS N REMNR
BEZRBINE R o

PTEERMTA
TTETATRITES KR AR AF
BUNLHER  HERNBERRENTE
EERYE - IBH R B RN E
o R o

BIRIREBR AT 2020/21 F#



For the year ended 30 June 2021 #Z202146 A30H ILF /&

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’'s accounting policies,
which are described in note 3, the Directors are required
to make judgments, estimates and assumptions about the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily
apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated
assumptions are based on historical experience and other
factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may
differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on
an on-going basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the
revision affects only that period, or in the period of the revision
and future periods if the revision affects both current and
future periods.

The followings are the key assumptions concerning the future,
and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of
the reporting period, that may have a significant risk of causing
a material adjustments to the carrying amounts of assets
within the next financial year.

Determining whether goodwill is impaired requires an
estimation of the recoverable amounts of the cash-generating
units to which goodwill has been allocated, which is the higher
of the value in use or fair value less costs of disposal. The
value in use calculation requires the Group to estimate the
revenue growth rates, future cash flows expected to arise
from the cash-generating unit and a suitable discount rate in
order to calculate the present value. Where the actual future
cash flows are less than expected, or changes in facts and
circumstances which results in downward revision of future
cash flows, a material impairment loss may arise. As at 30
June 2021, the carrying amount of goodwill is HK$473,363,000
(2020 (restated): HK$432,622,000). No impairment loss has
been recognised on goodwill for the year ended 30 June 2021
(2020: Nil). Details of the recoverable amount calculation are
disclosed in note 16.
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For the year ended 30 June 2021 #Z202146 A30H ILF /&

4. KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

(Continued)

Trade receivables and contract assets are assessed for ECL
individually or on a collective basis. The provision of ECL is
sensitive to changes in estimate. The information about the
ECL and the Group's trade receivables and contract assets are
disclosed in Note 45b. The carrying amount of trade receivable
as at 30 June 2021 is HK$76,329,000 (2020: HK$78,970,000),
net of an allowance for expected credit loss of HK$1,982,000
(2020: HK$2,998,000) and the carrying amount of contract
assets as at 30 June 2021 is HK$23,647,000 (2020:
HK$16,599,000). Details are set out in notes 23 and 24.

Determining whether intangible assets, which represent the
six-year agency contract associated with an artiste as at 30
June 2021, are impaired require an estimation of the value
in use of calculation. The value in use calculation requires
the Group to estimate the cash flows projection expected to
arise from the relevant group entity and a suitable discount
rate in order to calculate the present value. The estimation
of the budgeted sales and budgeted costs is based on past
performance of the relevant group entity and management'’s
expectations for the market development as well as the
existing performance contracts entered or to be entered
by the artiste. Where the actual future cash flows are less
than expected, or changes in facts and circumstances
which results in downward revision of future cash flows, a
material impairment loss may arise. As at 30 June 2021, the
carrying amount of intangible assets is HK$91,325,000 (2020:
HK$102,416,000). No impairment loss has been recognised on
intangible assets for the year ended 30 June 2021(2020: Nil).
Details of the recoverable amount calculation are disclosed in
note 16.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE VB EERMIEE
For the year ended 30 June 2021 & Z2021F6 A30H L FE

5. REVENUE 5. Wz

Disaggregation of revenue from contracts DIFREEFLESLHYHR
with customers

2021 2020
20215 2020%F
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Film and TV series production, distribution &5 &K ERBIEE « BEITR
and licensing income BITREF AR AR 205,335 307,144
Film exhibition income BRI A 62,828 139,861
Pan entertainment income A eI ON 188,825 18,509
Others Hi - 20
Total HRET 456,988 465,534
Timing of revenue recognition TSR U 2% B
At a point in time T E S R 2 345,694 376,256
Overtime T—ERERA 111,294 89,278
Total HET 456,988 465,534
The contracts for sales of goods and provision of services to MINBEFHEERMREERE A1
external customers are short-term and the contract prices are TEREH - aHERETEPHE °

agreed with the customers.
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For the year ended 30 June 2021 #Z202146 A30H ILF /&

5. REVENUE (Continued)

a.

b.

Film and TV series production, distribution

and licensing

Income from the distribution of variety shows
and TV series program is recognised when variety
shows and TV series program have been released
and distributed to TV broadcast networks.

Income from the licensing of the distribution
rights over films and TV broadcast networks are
recognised when the Group’s entitlement to such
payments has been established which, subject
to the terms of the relevant agreements, is
usually upon delivery of the film negatives, variety
shows and TV series program to the TV broadcast
networks.

Film exhibition

Income from box office takings for film exhibition is
recognised upon the sale of tickets and when the
film is released.

Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised when
the goods are delivered and titles have passed.

Pan entertainment

Income from pan entertainment services including
celebrity agency service and actor service. Income
from celebrity agency service is recognised at a point
of time when the services are delivered. Income from
actor service is recognised over time as performance
obligation is satisfied.
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For the year ended 30 June 2021 #Z202146 A30H ILF /&

5. REVENUE (Continued)

d. Others
Revenue from the sale of post-production goods is
recognised when the goods are delivered and titles have
passed.

All performance obligations for film and TV series production,
distribution and licensing, film exhibition, pan entertainment
and others are for periods of one year or less. As permitted
under HKFRS 15, the transaction price allocated to these
unsatisfied contracts is not disclosed.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

Information reported to the executive directors of the
Company, being the chief operating decision maker (the
“CODM?"), for the purposes of resources allocation and
assessment of segment performance is based on the following
reportable and operating segments identified under HKFRS 8
Operating Segments.

(i) Film and TV series production, distribution and licensing

(i) Film exhibition
(iii)  Pan entertainment
During the year ended 30 June 2020, the Group commenced

the business in pan entertainment through the Group’s
subsidiaries in the People’'s Republic of China (the “PRC").
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

%

sre PSRRI RE

For the year ended 30 June 2021 & Z2021F6 A30H L FE

SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

The accounting policies of the operating and reportable
segments are the same as the Group's accounting policies
described in note 3. Segment profit (loss) represent the profit
earned or loss incurred by each segment without allocation
of head office and corporate expenses, certain finance costs,
fair value change on contingent consideration payable, fair
value change on purchased call option, gain on disposal of
associates, gain/loss on disposal of subsidiaries, share of result
of a joint venture and share of results of associates. This is the
measure reported to the CODM for the purposes of resources
allocation and performance assessment.

Segment revenue and results

The following is an analysis of the Group's revenue and results
by operating and reportable segment.

2 EE R @)

LERAZ2H O MO S ET R R FES
Pt AEEEFHE—% - 284
M (B8 ) 5 & 7 2B P BREL A0 4 7 3k &
EREE - YES AT RERA
ETREKRAN  BRNIRAKEZAFE
2% EERBHRELTEEY HE
B NAEs  HEMBARKE B
B EHE-HEEEEXENEEHE
RAEFEE - W ERD i R R
AEBLERAREFELRENTA -

P e E

UTRREERAIZHRD D NS
Bz R EE DT

For the year ended 30 June 2021 HZE202156A30H L FE
Film and
TV series
production,
distribution Pan
and licensing exhibition entertainment Others Total
ERBIRE -
BORRTE
EREFT PR Hft @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETR BETR BETR BT T
Segment revenue o Hiias
- External customers —HNFEP 205,335 188,825 - 456,988
Segment profit (loss) AT (EE) 3,775 40,998 - (48,243)
Unallocated head office AOEHBHR
and corporate expenses ERY (37,088)
Fair value change on RS AREMN
contingent consideration NTEEEY
payable 1,268
Unallocated finance costs FOEMEKE (21,605)
Fair value change on EHEAEAELATE
purchased call option 2 4,781
Gain on disposal of HEMBLAME
subsidiaries 114,566
Share of result of a joint ElE—HRAELE
venture ] (8)
Profit before tax B A A 13,671

BIRREBR R R 2020/21 3
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ire MR

For the year ended 30 June 2021 & Z2021F6 A30H L FE

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 6. DEER @)
Segment revenue and results (Continued) pai 1) SES A0 )
For the year ended 30 June 2020 B ZE2020F6830HILEE
Film and
TV series
production,
distribution Film Pan
and licensing exhibition  entertainment Others Total
E- 254
BRBIRIE -
BIIREITE
A BRI IR Hith @it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BB BT AETT BT BT
Segment revenue A EE
- External customers —HNFRE 307,144 139,861 18,509 20 465,534
Segment profit (loss) 2 b (R 61,149 (126,633) (23,082) (1,286) (89,852)
Unallocated head office and AP EHEE MDE
corporate expenses 553 (27,251)
Fair value change on ERIARENATE
contingent consideration 2E
payable (6,161)
Unallocated Finance costs AOERERAR (3,557)
Gain on disposal of associates & R4 A Tl 4,258
Loss on disposal of HEMBARER
subsidiaries (4,838)
Share of results of associates [E{L ¥4 1N F1E4E (855)
Share of result of a joint [El—RAEtEEE
venture (6)
Loss before tax BRI A (128,262)

As the Group’s segment assets and liabilities are not regularly
provided to the Group's CODM, the relevant analysis for both
years is not presented.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ire MR

For the year ended 30 June 2021 & Z2021F6 A30H L FE

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 6. 7HER@
Other segment information HihpIHER
For the year ended 30 June 2021 B ZE2021F6B30HILEE
Film and
TV series
production,
distribution Film Pan
and licensing exhibition entertainment Others  Unallocated Total
E¥RERE
8 B#TR
BOEERTT E¥HM R At KB @zt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BRI BT BBTR BRI BETR BETR
Amounts included in the HESBERBAEEN
measure of segment ¢8.
profit or loss:
Amortisation of intangible assets T AREEH = - (17,557) S = (17,557)
Depreciation of right-of-use PRESERE
assets (881) (100,699) (1,981) - (2,633) (106,194)
Depreciation of property, plant %1% - BERREFE
and equipment (279) (8,684) (96) - (21) (9,080)
Interest income FEHA 196 14 285 - 543 1,038
Finance costs BARK (63) (45,555) (159) - (21,605) (67,382)
Reversal of impairment losson 25 kA ENFUE
trade and other receivables REBEREE 44 - - - - 4

ERREF R AT 2020/21 F
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
/\/ \ l:l /\ﬁ%%i&?%l%# HE

For the year ended 30 June 2021 & Z2021F6 A30H L FE

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 6. DHER @
Other segment information (continued) Bt o ZLER @
For the year ended 30 June 2020 B Z202056A30A L FE
Film and
TV series
production,
distribution Film Pan
and licensing exhibition  entertainment Others  Unallocated Total
EYRERE
B #TR
BT £33 AR Hf AOR &3t

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
AT BT AT AT AT AT

Amounts included in the TEATBRRERMEEN
measure of segment ¢8:
profit or loss:

Amortisation of intangible assets & A EH - - (4,389) - - (4,389)
Depreciation of right-of-use PREEENE

assets (2,341) (106,725) (265) - (164) (109,495)
Depreciation of property, plant ~ #1% - BERRETE

and equipment (283) (11,717) (39) (1) (12) (12,052)
Interest income HEHA 197 287 67 - - 551
Finance costs BAMA (4,483) (49,493) (97) - (3,557) (57,630)
Impairment loss of right-of-use (£ R EH) I (EEE

assets - (28,895) - - - (28,895)
Impairment loss on property, 1% - BiE k& ENRE

plant and equipment B - 2,189) - - - 2,189)
Impairment loss on trade E5RAMERFEA

and other receivables Bk 2,998) - - - - (2,998)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ire MR

For the year ended 30 June 2021 & Z2021F6 A30H L FE

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

Geographical information

An analysis of the Group’s revenue from external customers
by geographical market based on where the film and TV series
production, distribution and licensing income, film exhibition
income, pan entertainment income and others is derived from
are as below:

2 EE R @)
ih & & R

AEERBIMNBEFHKEIZMEER
RERBIBME  BTRRBETEER
AT~ ERRIA - TZIREEWA
REMMAEERM S D OIITT -

2021 2020

202145 20204F

HK$'000 HK$'000

BET T ST T

Hong Kong and Macau BB KR 65,740 152,836
Mainland, the People’'s Republic of China ™ & A RERME ([ ) A

(the “"PRC") 382,302 300,873

Others Hih 8,946 11,825

456,988 465,534

The Group’s non-current assets (excluded financial assets and
deferred tax assets) by geographical location of the assets are
details below:

FEBREEMEHRESNIFERDE
E(TEREREENEEHBREE)H

SR

2021 2020

20215 20204

HK$'000 HK$'000

BT T BT T

Mainland, PRC R B A B 564,843 541,784
Hong Kong B 171,932 736,417
736,775 1,278,201
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ire MR

For the year ended 30 June 2021 & Z2021F6 A30H L FE

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

Information about major customers

Revenue from customers of the corresponding year

2 EE R @)

BREEFFNEHR

HRPE 5 2 Y 2t B R AN 5% (B A e R 1B

contributing over 10% of the total revenue of the Group are as 10%MZF PR
follows:
2021 2020
20215 2020%F
HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BT T
Customer A' =2 E R 94,787 85,724
Customer B’ BB/ N/A2 129,351
TiE F?

! Revenue from film and TV series production, distribution and
licensing.

2 No revenue is recognised in profit or loss for the corresponding
year.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KR IR M R

For the year ended 30 June 2021 #,%202146 A30H [LF/E

7. OTHER GAINS AND LOSSES AND OTHER 7. HttEREBEREMEERA
INCOME

2021 2020
20214 20204
HK$°000 HK$'000
BET T ST T
Other gains and losses Hihz= R EiE
Gain (Loss) on disposal of subsidiaries HERE AR (EE)

(note 43) (F$7543) 114,566 (4,838)
Net foreign exchange gain (loss) PE 5 W as (E548 ) %58 721 (2,210)
Gain on disposal of associates (note 18)  H &G4 AT Yzs (M1EE18) - 4,258

115,287 (2,790)
Other income Hipgr A
Handling service income BRI RBUIA 1,405 1,936
Membership income gEIRA 896 864
Interest income FLEUWA 1,038 551
Rent concessions Hexme 20,169 15,889
Government subsidy received (note i) BB AT i B (BT 5D 15,162 3,656
Coupon sales income from REEBZREANERIES

film producers WA 13,483 3,515
Cinema promotion income BT HEE A 1,993 4,153
Commission income from REBABEENESWA

artiste management 12,019 8,001
Others Hib 4,251 3,883

70,416 42,348

Note: PiE -

i Amounts mainly represent subsidies granted by certain local i. FHASBEFERE THA BN AEE
governments for encouraging domestic business development AHEEZRBEME THMHE - WK
and recognised upon receipt. There are no unfulfilled conditions ER R HE R, o 75 A4l Bh I 00 e R BK
or contingencies relating to these subsidies. Mk BEIE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KR IR M R

For the year ended 30 June 2021 #,%202146 A30H [LF/E

8. FINANCE COSTS 8. RERA

2021 2020
20215 2020%F
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT BT T

Interest expenses on: HUTEEZFBMAY
Loans from related companies REBB AR ZER 9,576 3,379
Loans from the controlling shareholder REERREREZER 1,379 -
Lease liabilities HEAE 45,855 49,679
Bank and other borrowings BR1T R E A AR 6,522 1,030
Bonds payable EES 4,050 3,542
67,382 57,630

9. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (CREDIT) 9. FISHMAXZ(ER)
2021 2020
20214 20204
HK$’000 HK$'000
BT BT T
Current tax: BNEARIA

PRC Enterprise Income Tax (“EIT") PFEREMEMSHR(hE
PriSH ) 7,128 349
Deferred tax (note 40) EERIR (MI5E40) (1,678) (1,234)
5,450 (885)
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For the year ended 30 June 2021 & Z%2021566 A30H IFFE

INCOME TAX EXPENSE (CREDIT) (continued)

Pursuant to the rules and regulations of Cayman Islands, the
Company is not subject to any income tax in Cayman Islands
for both years.

On 21 March 2018, the Hong Kong Legislative Council
passed The Inland Revenue (Amendment) (No. 7) Bill 2017
(the “Bill") which introduces the two-tiered profits tax rates
regime. The Bill was signed into law on 28 March 2018 and
was gazetted on the following day. Under the two-tiered
profits tax rates regime, the first HK$2,000,000 of profits of
the qualifying group entity will be taxed at 8.25%, and profits
above HK$2,000,000 will be taxed at 16.5%. The profits of
group entities not qualifying for the two-tiered profits tax rates
regime will continue to be taxed at a flat rate of 16.5%.

Under the Law of the PRC on Enterprise Income Tax (the “EIT
Law”) and Implementation Regulation of the EIT Law, the tax
rate of the PRC subsidiaries is 25% for both years.

Taxation arising in other jurisdictions is calculated at the rates
prevailing in the relevant jurisdictions.

As stipulated in Cai Shui [2011] No. 112 and Cai Shui [2021]
No. 27, enterprises newly established in Khorgas special
economic areas and engaged in the encouraged industries
as defined under the ( T EERN M E EF B EREF X
Fr8 7 {E = B £% ) (Catalogue of Key Encouraged Developing
Industries for Enterprise Income Tax Benefits in Difficult Areas
of Xinjiang*) could enjoy EIT exemption for five years starting
from its first operation income-generating year during the
period from 2011 to 2020, and from 2021 to 2030 respectively.
According to (X FTISTHEREFIEHZERK) (Enterprise Income
Tax Benefits Record*), one of the Group’s subsidiaries
obtained the approval from relevant the PRC tax bureau on 23
June 2017 for entitlement of EIT exemption from 1 January
2017 to 31 December 2021. In July 2020, another subsidiary
of the Group obtained the approval from the relevant PRC tax
bureau for entitlement of EIT exemption from 1 January 2020
to 31 December 2024.

* For identification only

9.

FrEHAX(ER) @

REFASEESHAREMRD - RRRNM
EFEBEHREMFRSESHEH

M2018F3A21H » BEAEYL LSRG
CLO7TEBBUERT) (B7HR)GHIER)
([ZER]) - B3| AFSBRARS -
FZOAEMN2018F3A2BEKEEEK B
EE IR BHEFTRTIE - BEF
BHMEH - aEREEEREEK
2,000,0007T % FI H) 77 % 28.25% * 1M
#8387 2,000,000 7T B9 % FI B B R A
16.5% ° TEFE MG MRGIHEEE
B2 ORI E1R16.5% 2 Bl — T R
WHiTE o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KR IR M R

For the year ended 30 June 2021 #,%202146 A30H [LF/E

9. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (CREDIT) (continued) 9. FBHEAX(ER) @

FRMEHAX (ER)BpEBa L E
it 2 TET W e 5% AT S RO BR A5 AR ) (S 48D

The income tax expense (credit) for the year can be reconciled
to the profit (loss) before tax per the consolidated statement of

186

profit or loss and other comprehensive income as follows: HERMAT
2021 2020
20214 20204
HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T ST IT
Profit (loss) before tax BR AR A (B18) 13,671 (128,262)
Tax at the income tax rate of 16.5% LAFTE R R 16.56% T E 8
(2020: 16.5%) F18(2020%F : 16.5%) 2,256 (21,163)
Tax effect of income not taxable for BARB WA G2
tax purpose (12,620) (1,426)
Tax effect of expenses not deductible for A5 AT FS 2
tax purpose 1,090 7,821
Tax effect of fair value change on ERRAREN A EZEH
contingent consideration payable M E (209) 1,017
Tax effect of fair value change on ERERERELATEZSHN
purchased call option Nid -2 (789) -
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised RERNORBEEENREEE 29,807 31,523
Tax effect of utilisation of tax losses ) SR R FER M T IE S 18
and deductible temporary differences T2 B] FOH R 2 EE A TS
previously not recognised -1 (6,001) (1,289)
Tax effect of share of results of associates JE{GHE: L N T AN TS 2 - 141
Tax effect of share of result of Eh—HAEPEXENTL
a joint venture o 1 1
Effect of tax exemption granted to a BYHhENBAR ZHBESR
PRC subsidiaries of2 (3,410) (20,169)
Effect of different tax rates of subsidiaries R E fih BIARE & & & K&
operating in other jurisdictions RNEIM TR ENZE (4,675) 2,659
Income tax expense (credit) for the year FRAERASZ (EKR) 5,450 (885)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KR IR M R

For the year ended 30 June 2021 #,%202146 A30H [LF/E

10. PROFIT (LOSS) FOR THE YEAR 10. FRER(FHE)

2021 2020
202145 20204
HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T ST IT
Profit (loss) for the year has been arrived 4 i F (E518) T4 0%
at after charging: THEIRER
Directors’ emoluments (note 12) EEHM(HEE12) 4,087 4,049
Other staff costs Hih 8 Tk AR 49,767 43,463
Retirement benefit scheme contributions, E{REFETEIEE - T8I1E
excluding those of the Directors EEHER 4,547 2,948
Total staff costs BT ABER 58,401 50,460
Auditors’ remuneration IZ SN & 2,600 2,600
Depreciation of property, plant and ME - WEMREITE
equipment 9,080 12,052
Depreciation of right-of-use assets CREEENE 106,194 109,495
Amortisation of intangible assets R EEEE 17,557 4,389
Cost of television series production BRI R 149,037 161,024
Impairment loss on property, plant and ME - BB L RENRERE
equipment - 2,189
Impairment loss on right-of-use assets FRESEREEIE - 28,895
Short-term lease expenses for premises ¥ ¥ A ER 3,450 1,412
Variable lease payments for cinemas BEEFEEENRNK 70 585
Cost of scriptwriters for television series T8 I £V 4R IR A
production 23,769 20,315
Cost of services provided for television EIREIRUER
series production PR 755 AR AN 48 45 27,835 24,052
Cost of services provided B 27 MR B AR 755 A A 4 A
for film exhibition 26,978 46,944
Cost of artiste and internet celebrity A MBS 40 E TG
agency business 97,766 33,483
Cost of inventories sold HEFERA 472 2,574
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KR IR M R

For the year ended 30 June 2021 #,%202146 A30H [LF/E

11. DIVIDEND 11. K&
No dividend was paid or proposed for the year ended 30 June AAEREE2021F6 8308 EFEI
2021, nor has any dividend been proposed since the end of the RIEMSEZERMERRE - BE®RE
reporting period (2020: Nil). HASR DA BRI SR 22 5 Ik (M fRT AR S (2020
F |
12. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE’'S AND 12. EE - THHEARRESHE
EMPLOYEES' EMOLUMENTS
Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments EERTHEAT NS
Directors’ and chief executive’s remuneration for the year, RIEE A _ £ R AR RHEBIFT iR EE &
disclosed pursuant to the applicable Listing Rules and CO, is as NEZRITHAZHMST -
follows:
Retirement
Salaries benefit
Directors’ and other scheme
fees allowances contributions Total
&R BIREF
EZHe Hi2gs SRR |t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

BETR ERTR BETT BETR

For the year ended 30 June 2021 #Z202156H300 L&

Executive Directors (note a) HTES (HHa)

Mr. Zhang REE = - - -
Mr. Lee Hin Kwong, Patrick FENEE - - - =
Ms. Zhao Wenzhu Xt - 3,580 75 3,655
Independent Non-executive BUHTES

Directors (note b) (Mi&Eb)

Mr. Wang Bo TREE 144 = = 144
Mr. Xiang Feng Bl 144 - - 144
Mr. Chang Eric Jackson RitHEEAE 144 - = 144

432 3,580 75 4,087

188 TRANSMIT ENTERTAINMENT LIMITED Annual Report 2020/21
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For the year ended 30 June 2021 #,%202146 A30H [LF/E

12. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S AND

EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS (continued)

12. B - THEBREENS

Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments

(Continued)

it

(%)

EERTHETNE @)

Retirement
Salaries benefit
Directors’ and other scheme
fees allowances  contributions Total
ek RIKEFI
EZHE Hib 28, HEIGS AFt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT BETT BB BT
For the year ended 30 June 2020  #Z202056 5300 L[
Executive Directors (note a) HITESE (MEa)
Mr. Zhang aREA - - - -
Mr. Lee Hin Kwong, Patrick EFENEE - - - -
Ms. Zhao Wenzhu Yt - 3,564 53 3,617
Independent Non-executive BYkHTES
Directors (note b) (KizED)
Mr. Wang Bo T E 144 - - 144
Mr. Xiang Feng M) I& 55 A& 144 - - 144
Mr. Chang Eric Jackson SRR A 144 - - 144
432 3,564 53 4,049
Notes: MI5E

(a)  The executive directors’ emoluments shown above were mainly

for their services in connection with the management of the

affairs of the Company and the Group.

(b)  The independent non-executive directors’ emoluments shown

above were mainly for their services as directors of the

Company.

No emoluments of chief executive are disclosed as the Group
has no appointment of chief executive during the years ended

30 June 2021 and 2020.

(a) LEXFARATEEMEIEMEIM
BERARBRAEENEBELM
AR -

(o) LEXFARBIFRTEEHSEIER
EXNREEERRBDESAREHED

BR# °

RN AREEREE20214 £202056 A
0B ILFEIES(TITHRES, I E
WRITHAHNOE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ire MR

For the year ended 30 June 2021 #,%202146 A30H [LF/E

12. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S AND
EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS (continued)

Employees

Of the five highest paid individuals of the Group, the number of

(#8)

(==

12. B - THEBREENS

AEEREREHEALED  EFNE

directors and employees was as follows: ERAEWNT :
2021 2020
202145 20204
Directors s 1 1
Employees (== 4 4
5 5

The remuneration of the directors is set out above. The

BEEMER EXHT - SR TATHME

emoluments of the remaining individuals were as follows: [N
2021 2020
20215 20204
HK$000 HK$'000
BT T T IT
Salaries and other allowances 4 R EH fhERL 5,731 7,854
Retirement benefit scheme contributions R {RIEF|ETEIH 2k 103 60
5,834 7.914
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KR IR M R

For the year ended 30 June 2021 #,%202146 A30H [LF/E

12. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S AND 12. EE - THEBEKEEMS
EMPLOYEES' EMOLUMENTS (continued) ()
The emoluments were within the following band: EEMNE T F T3 EEF -
2021 2020
20215 20204
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 75 #1,000,001TE
75 #1,500,0007T 2 -
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 7B #1,500,001 TE
75 #2,000,0007T 2 3
HK$2,500,001 to HK$3,000,000 B2 500,001 TE
75 #£3,000,0007T - 1
During both years, no emoluments were paid by the Group MEFERN  NEEHBERTAESL
to any of the directors or the five highest paid individuals heEeg AT (BEESRES )X
(including directors and employees) as an inducement to join or & - ERRSIREMAREE MM
upon joining the Group or as compensation for loss of office. AREE R ZESIERBRMAE - &
No directors waived any emoluments for the years ended 30 %2021 %202066 H30H ILLFE -
June 2021 and 2020. BEMEBNERREMNHS -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KR IR M R

For the year ended 30 June 2021 #,%202146 A30H [LF/E

13. LOSS PER SHARE 13. EREE
The calculation of the basic loss per share attributable to RABHEE ANEGEFRENEIETIIRE
owners of the Company is based on the following data: ATEUEE -
2021 2020
20214 20204
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Loss o=
Loss for the year attributable to owners T ESREREIEN A D T
of the Company for the purpose of B AEEEANER
basic loss per share (7,633) (126,598)
2021 2020
202145 2020%F
Number of shares BROEE
Number of ordinary shares for the purpose zt& &A% E A E 18 A @ A%
of basic loss per share iR e 2,595,613,733 2,595,613,733
No diluted loss per share for both years were presented as the I & 25112021 FF & 20204 M & F & 79
Company has no potential ordinary shares issued for both 2021 FREESEEE - VAR ARA R ER
and 2020. A EEITEEERR
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For the year ended 30 June 2021 #,%202146 A30H [LF/E

14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

14. Y% - BERRE

Furniture,
Leasehold fixtures and Motor
improvements equipment vehicles Total
B %8
HEEE K& RE @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BETT BETT BETT
cosT KA
At 1 July 2019 7201967418 136,924 33,080 2,257 172,261
Exchange adjustments 5 AR - (5) (17) (22)
Additions E - 424 650 1,074
Acquisition of a subsidiary KE-ENBAR
(note 42) (FizE42) - 125 - 125
Disposals HE - (75) (1,761) (1,836)
Disposal of subsidiaries (note 43) LERBAF(MF43) (626) (1,545) - (2,171)
At 30 June 2020 1202056 A30H 136,298 32,004 1,129 169,431
Exchange adjustments B R - 4 103 144
Additions NE - 107 - 107
Disposal of subsidiaries (note 43) WEMBAT (HFH43) (107,488) (19,264) = (126,752)
At 30 June 2021 M2021E6 308 28,810 12,888 1,232 42,930
ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION AND  Z:FERRE
IMPAIRMENT
At 1 July 2019 M2019E7A18 61,191 21,606 1,183 83,980
Exchange adjustments EHREE - (1) 2) (3)
Provided for the year FREE 7,067 4,780 205 12,052
Eliminated on disposals N ERHE - (20) (1,295) (1,315)
Eliminated on disposal of subsidiaries R ERB L AR
(note 43) (Pitza3) (626) (1,535) - 2,161)
Impairment loss recognised FRBERNRESE
for the year 2,059 130 - 2,189
At 30 June 2020 1202056 A30H 69,691 24,960 91 94,742
Exchange adjustments i - 42 12 54
Provided for the year FREE 6,067 2,792 221 9,080
Eliminated on disposal of subsidiaries NHENBA AIE M
(note 43) (Hi343) (46,948) (15,413) - (62,361)
At 30 June 2021 120214664308 28,810 12,381 324 41,515
CARRYING AMOUNTS REE
At 30 June 2021 202156 A30E - 507 908 1,415
At 30 June 2020 320206308 66,607 7,044 1,038 74,689
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For the year ended 30 June 2021 #Z2021F6 A30H It FE

14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

(Continued)

The above items of property, plant and equipment are
depreciated on a straight-line basis at the following rates per
annum:

Over the shorter of
the term of the lease,

Leasehold improvements

or 5 years
Furniture, fixtures and equipment 20%
Motor vehicles 20%

As at 30 June 2020, the Group performed impairment
assessment on property, plant and equipment and right-of-use
assets based on value in use calculation of the cash generating
units (“CGUs") to which those assets belong within the film
exhibition segment, due to unsatisfactory operating results
of film exhibition operations under Covid-19 outbreak period.
During the year ended 30 June 2020, the Group recognised
impairment losses of HK$2,189,000 and HK$28,895,000
of property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets in
relation to film exhibition segment, respectively.

No impairment loss is recognised on the Group's property,
plant and equipment and right-of-use assets for the year ended
30 June 2021.
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BEBE)
B HEREE 20%
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72020F6 4308 @ AR B ML ETE
2R EETACovid-195 15 HA R Ak an3E
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KR IR M R

For the year ended 30 June 2021 #,%202146 A30H [LF/E

15. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS 15. FREEE
Leased
Cinema buildings Equipment Total
E¥hR CHEETF B3] st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T BT T BT T
COST AR
At 1 July 2019 MR2019F7A1H 797,907 1,738 800 800,445
Additions nNE - 5,199 - 5,199
Acquisition of a subsidiary Wi — B A =)

(note 42) (Mi7F42) - 1,059 - 1,059
Exchange adjustments b H B - (1 (1) (2)
At 30 June 2020 720206 H30H 797,907 7,995 799 806,701
Additions = - 8,490 - 8,490
Exchange adjustments M 5, 328 - 1,181 - 1,181
Disposal of subsidiaries HEKTE A A

(note 43) (Ht5£43) (518,303) - - (518,303)
At 30 June 2021 7R2021%6 830H 279,604 17,666 799 298,069
ACCUMULATED Bt ERRE

DEPRECIATION AND

IMPAIRMENT
At 1 July 2019 R2019%F7A1H - - - -
Provided for the year FNEE 106,725 2,266 504 109,495
Impairment loss recognised 1Bz HER R R EE I8

in profit or loss 28,895 - - 28,895
At 30 June 2020 R2020%6 830H 135,620 2,266 504 138,390
Provided for the year FREME 98,025 7,874 295 106,194
Disposal of subsidiaries HEKTE A A

(note 43) (Ft3£43) (117,137) - - (117,137)
Exchange adjustments PE 52 - 105 - 105
At 30 June 2021 R2021%F6H30H 116,508 10,245 799 127,552
CARRYING AMOUNTS REE
At 30 June 2021 R2021%F6H30H 163,096 7,421 - 170,517
At 1 July 2020 7K2020%F7H1H 662,287 5,729 295 668,311
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For the year ended 30 June 2021 & Z%2021566 A30H IFFE

15. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (Continued)

For the years ended 30 June 2021 and 2020, the Group leases
cinema, buildings and equipment for its operations. Lease
contracts are entered into for fixed terms of two to fifteen
years, but may have extension options as described below.
Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis and contain
a wide range of different terms and conditions. In determining
the lease term and assessing the length of the non-cancellable
period, the Group applies the definition of a contract and
determines the period of which the contract is enforceable.

The Group regularly entered into short-term leases for certain
of its office premises in the PRC. As at 30 June 2021, the
portfolio of short-term leases is similar to the portfolio of short-
term leases to which the short-term lease expense disclosed
in note 10.

As at 30 June 2020, the Group has extension options in a
number of leases for cinema. These are used to maximise
operational flexibility in terms of managing the assets used in
the Group's operations.

The Group assessed at lease commencement date whether
it is reasonably certain to exercise the extension options. In
addition, the Group reassesses whether it is reasonably certain
to exercise an extension option upon the occurrence of either
a significant event or a significant change in circumstances that
is within the control of the Group. During the year ended 30
June 2020, there is no such triggering event. Upon disposal of
subsidiaries as disclosed in note 43 during the current year, the
Group does not hold any extension options.

No impairment loss has been recognised on right-of-use assets
during the year ended 30 June 2021 (2020: HK$28,895,000).
Details of impairment assessment are set out in note 14.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

%

sre PSRRI RE

For the year ended 30 June 2021 #,%202146 A30H [LF/E

15. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (Continued)

Variable lease payments

Leases of cinema are either with only fixed lease payments
or contain variable lease payment that are based on 12% to
38% of certain revenue in cinema and minimum annual lease
payment that are fixed over the lease term. The payment
terms are common in Hong Kong where the cinema operations
are carried out. The amounts of fixed and variable lease
payments paid/payable to relevant lessor for the year ended 30
June 2021 are as follows:

15. EREEE @

FEIEE AR

BEYhiEiEEEETHENRLBEEZE
FHRENR MENEREXRE T
@mI2%E38%MTE * MEEFEMHE
NRAZHBET - ZEEKINFhR
EEMAEMESTRERE - 1 E2021
F6A30BILEFE Bt EMTIEE
THRANETRZFBHEEMSRESBN
‘Fo

For the year ended 30 June 2021 B ZE2021F6H30B ILFE
Number of Fixed Variable Total
cinema payments payments payments
EEREE ERENEA FEAR TRREEE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T BT T
Cinema with variable lease K& FEHEN KL
payments ER-A5 1 38,064 70 38,134
For the year ended 30 June 2020 B E2020F6 A30H L FE
Number of Fixed Variable Total
cinema payments payments payments
EFREE ERERE EEAR IREEE]
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T BT T
Cinema with variable lease  MiAZEIMRE R
payments ESEA 1 61,935 585 62,520

The overall financial effect of using variable payment terms is
that higher rental costs are incurred by the cinema with higher
sales. Variable lease payments are expected to continue to
represent a similar proportion of revenue in cinema in future
years.

Restrictions or covenants on leases

The lease agreements do not impose any covenants other
than the security interests in the leased assets that are held
by the lessor. Leased assets may not be used as security for
borrowing purposes. Details of lease maturity analysis of lease
liabilities are set out in note 37.

ERFHNKIEROBRRIBEES
EYRHEERAS  HelARS -
KEBF  ARHFDHEHENTEER K
SR PIBE R ROULLE -

HHEPR BN ReE
% e AR BT TR B 2 SRR 2
5h - MBS W ME MR o BE

BEETEREGTRNER -HERED
HERN WA IFEHNHIFEIT ©

BIRREBR R R 2020/21 3

197



For the year ended 30 June 2021 #Z2021F6 A30H It FE

15.

16.

TRANSMIT ENTERTAINMENT LIMITED Annual Report 2020/21

RlG HT-OF-USE ASSETS (Continued)

During the year ended 30 June 2021, lessors of various offices
and cinemas provided rent concessions to the Group through
rent reductions ranging from 19% to 70% over four to eleven
months.

These rent concessions occurred as a direct consequence of
Covid-19 pandemic and met of all of the conditions in HKFRS
16.46B as amended in the Amendment to HKFRS 16 Covid-
19-Related Rent Concessions beyond 30 June 2021, and the
Group applied the practical expedient not to assess whether
the changes constitute lease modifications. The effects on
forgiveness or waiver of lease payments by the lessors for
the relevant leases of HK$20,169,000 (2020: HK$15,889,000)
were accounted for as variable lease payments. The related
lease liabilities are adjusted to reflect the amounts forgiven or
waived with a corresponding adjustment recognised in profit or
loss in the period in which the event occurs.

GOODWILL AND IMPAIRMENT

15. EREEE@m

%zizozﬁsmoatif EAEE N

MEFROEHEARAEBRERS
%% ENE+—& A HEBENF
19%%70% °

BEHEHEEER ACovid- 19 IEMEESE
B FEECEBTEREERF 169
202146 A305% % Covid-191HETH S =
B ERIAR) FIERT BN B BN BHRSE
B 16.46BSE FT & FOFT B IR - ﬁﬁ
KEIEEWTﬁﬁﬁﬁiT%ﬁ% """""

BERBEEERIELFTE - BEHE
%ﬁ%ﬁ/\%—i‘:{ tHHE MR EHENERR
FfrEE A M52 225 520,169,000t (2020
£ F#15,889,0007T) it AF B E
N - EHEaFEET T ARURKE
TR EEE  WHZEHEEEHR
RIBE P ERERIEEARE -

16. & KRER G

ASSESSMENT
Goodwill
EmE
HK$'000
ST T
COST R
At 1 July 2019 R2019%F781H 592,960
Exchange adjustments PE X % (17,887)
Arising on acquisition of a subsidiary WkE— B A FREA
(restated, note 42) (&&&EY - MizE42) 38,633
Disposal of subsidiaries (note 43) HE M E A R (M13E43) (181,084)
At 30 June 2020 (restated) 7202096 A30H (KEF) 432,622
Exchange adjustments PE 40,741
At 30 June 2021 7R2021F6A30H 473,363
IMPAIRMENT WA
At 1 July 2019 201978 1H 181,084
Disposal of subsidiaries (note 43) HEW B AR (M5E43) (181,084)
At 30 June 2020 and 2021 720204F K& 2021F6 A30H =
CARRYING AMOUNTS BREE
At 30 June 2021 202166 H30R 473,363
At 30 June 2020 (restated) MR2020%F6 A30H (& &E7) 432,622



For the year ended 30 June 2021 #Z2021F6 A30H It FE

16. GOODWILL AND IMPAIRMENT 16. BE R BEFTH @
ASSESSMENT (Continued)
For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill has been BEASRmES  BEE2ESEREUT
allocated to the following CGUs. The carrying amounts of REELESN - ZSREELEVED
goodwill allocated to these CGUs are as follows: Bl 2 B ERmEENT ¢
2021 2020
20215 2020%F
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
(restated)
(&E5))
Khorgas Group (note a) ERRTEE(Mrka) 429,805 393,989
B (L8 X tEEBRAF B (L8) Xt EEBRAT
(“Wenlan”) (note b) (B8] (5ED) 43,558 38,633
Chili Group (note c) Chilise & (Mf5Ec) = -
473,363 432,622
Notes: BoaE -
(a)  During the year ended 30 June 2019, the Group had acquired (a) HZE2019F6A30HILFE  £A5%H

the entire equity interest in ERRHEEXLEEER QA
(Khorgas Houhai Culture Media Company Limited) and its
subsidiary, It REVGSLEHABR AR (Beijing Juhai Culture
Media Company Limited) (collectively known as the “Khorgas
Group”) and goodwill of HK$411,876,000 was resulted from the
acquisition within Film and TV series production, distribution and
licensing segment.

The recoverable amount of Khorgas Group has been determined
based on a value in use calculation.

The calculation of the recoverable amount of Khorgas Group
uses cash flow projections based on financial budgets approved
by management covering a 5-year period with an average annual
revenue growth rate of 3% to 36% (2020: 3% to 38%) and pre-
tax discount rate of 26.0% (2020: 25.2%) per annum as at 30
June 2021. Cash flows beyond the 5-year are extrapolated using
a steady expected inflation rate of 2.4% (2020: 3%) per annum.
Other key assumptions for the value in use calculation relate to
the estimation of cash inflows/outflows which include budgeted
sales and budgeted costs. Such estimation is based on Khorgas
Group's past performance and management’s expectations for
the market development.

During the year ended 30 June 2021, the Directors determined
that there is no impairment on the Khorgas Group containing
goodwill (2020: Nil). The Directors believe that any reasonably
possible change in any of these assumptions would not cause
the carrying amount of the Khorgas Group to exceed its
recoverable amount.

BEWBEBERMRGTEEULEREERA
AREMBARIRBEE X LEES
BAR(AEAERRGEEDNE
ERHE - MEBEEREZ RERE
SUE BT RBITHRERFADBH
EELEREAE411,876,0007T ©

ERRIEEN YRS AR EEN
EBEHEE -

MR2021F6 A30H  EBEIEEN
A E BT EFEREREEERAT
HERERFHRFHFREIERE
N F 3% E36% (20204 : 3% =
38% ) 2 B 75 T8 & I £ A B AT AL 3R &
FEF26.0% (20204 : 25.2% )t EH
BERBEH - BBAFHNESRE
ERBTERREWIRETF24%
(2020%F : 3% )HHE - HifFAEER
BT ERSZEREEEHEERTEE
RAZRERAFHHETERE - %
B REERIRNTEENBERE
LEBBHMBERE ZEHELD -

HE2021F6 A30B ILFE - EFHE
T REEENERRTSETEL
BRE(2020%F - &) - EERE - It
ER[/ZEMEEAIEESHETSTE
HERERNTSENEmEBEETRK
[l &5 o
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For the year ended 30 June 2021 #Z2021F6 A30H It FE

16. GOODWILL AND IMPAIRMENT
ASSESSMENT (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(b)

During the year ended 30 June 2020, the Group has
acquired 60% of equity interest in Wenlan and goodwill of
HK$38,633,000 (restated) was resulted from the acquisition
within pan entertainment segment. Details are set out in note
42.

The recoverable amount of Wenlan has been determined based
on a value in use calculation.

The calculation of the recoverable amount of Wenlan uses
cash flow projections based on financial budgets approved by
management covering a b5-year period with an average annual
revenue growth rate of -38% to 3% (2020: 3% to 62%) and pre-
tax discount rate of 27.5% (2020: 27.6%) per annum as at 30
June 2021. Cash flows beyond the 5-year are extrapolated using
a steady expected inflation rate of 3% (2020: 3%) per annum.
Other key assumptions for the value in use calculation relate to
the estimation of cash inflows/outflows which include budgeted
sales and budgeted costs. Such estimation is based on Wenlan's
past performance and management’s expectations for the
market development.

During the year ended 30 June 2021, the management
determined that there is no impairment on Wenlan containing
goodwill (2020: Nil). The Directors believe that any reasonably
possible change in any of these assumptions would not cause
the carrying amount of Wenlan to exceed its recoverable
amount.

On 30 November 2019, the Group entered into an agreement
to dispose of the entire equity interest in Chili Advertising and
Promotions Limited (“Chili”) and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as “Chili Group”), indirectly wholly-owned
subsidiaries of the Company, to an independent third party
at a cash consideration of HK$7,000,000. The disposal was
completed on 10 December 2019. Details are set out in note 43.

TRANSMIT ENTERTAINMENT LIMITED Annual Report 2020/21

16. BE R BEME @
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HZE2020F6 A30RIEFE ' A&
E U B8 E B 60% M AR - M g
BERZIRES MR ELEFEBLE
38,633,000 T (A& EF) o FIBE M
42 °

ERm A e e EREEREETE
B -

M2021F6 A308 @ ERM AT KE S
B EFE A ERE IR E R AT ®
ERNFHEFHEBFREERENT
-38% ZE3% (20204 : 3% £62%)
ZHBEENRABAEREERGF
27.5% (20204 : 27.6% ):TEMRE
IEH c BBAFHNESRENE
ARERBERRETF3% (2020
F:3%)HHE - HibERAEBEETED
FERRLHEQEREHEREENAK
ZBERA/ RLEF AR o ZIEE
AIREEENBAEREREREYM
R TBHEL -

HE2021F6 A30RIEFE - EEE
®E - BEmENERYELERE
(20204 : &) - EERE - WERBRR
ZEMARAEEHE TS ERER
WEREEBLE EATKREISEE

72019411 A308 » NEET L
FOUA—BBYUE=ZAEHEREAR
A 2 &K B2 RIChili Advertising
and Promotions Limited([ Chili]) &
HWBAR(FHBAChilEE]HNE
B HE - ReNRERBEE7,000,000
T o HEEIEM2019F12 8108 5%
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KR IR M R

For the year ended 30 June 2021 #,%202146 A30H [LF/E

17. INTANGIBLE ASSETS 17. B EE
Publishing
Agency cooperation
contract Brand agreement Total
REEH BE  HRSEHE st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

BT BT BT BB

COST BA

At 1 July 2019 #2019%7A818 - 5,600 31,900 37,500
Acquisition of a subsidiary (note 42) I — M B A A (Hi3H42) 106,805 - - 106,805
Disposal of subsidiaries (note 43)  HEKBAF (Fi3E43) - (5,600) (31,900) (37,500)
At 30 June 2020 #2020%6 4308 106,805 - - 106,805
Exchange adjustments [E A% 6,466 - - 6,466
At 30 June 2021 202146 A30H 113,271 - - 113,271

ACCUMULATED AMORTISATION ZE&f##REE
AND IMPAIRMENT

At 30 June 2019 #2019F6 A30H - - 31,900 31,900
Provided for the year FREE 4,389 - - 4,389
Eliminated on disposal of REERBD B

subsidiaries (note 43) (Pi5%43) - - (31,900) (31,900)
At 1 July 2020 #2020%7A18 4,389 - - 4,389
Provided for the year FREE 17,557 - - 17,557
At 30 June 2021 202146 A30H 21,946 - - 21,946
CARRYING AMOUNTS REE
At 30 June 2021 202146 /308 91,325 - - 91,325
At 30 June 2020 7202046 A30H 102,416 - - 102,416
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For the year ended 30 June 2021 #Z2021F6 A30H It FE

17. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued)

The agency contract is a six-year agency contract associated
with Ms. Yang Chaoyue (“Ms. Yang”) a famous artiste in the
PRC which is held by Wenlan, a non-wholly owned subsidiary
acquired by the Group on 12 March 2020. It is identified as
an intangible asset to the Group at the date of acquisition of
Wenlan and it is amortised over 6 years. The intangible assets
arising from acquisition of Wenlan together with the related
goodwill are included in the respective CGU for the purpose of
impairment assessment as detailed in note 16.

The brand name is associated to the advertising and promotion
services operated by Chili and was disposed of during the year
ended 30 June 2020 as set out in note 43.

The publishing cooperation agreement held by Chili Group was
disposed of during the year ended 30 June 2020 as set out in
note 43.
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For the year ended 30 June 2021 #Z2021F6 A30H It FE

18.

INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES

Interest in Jade Dynasty Holdings Limited
(“JDH")

JDH is an investment holding company incorporated in the BVI
with limited liability and its subsidiaries (collectively known
as “JDH Group”) are principally engaged in comic publication
and own the intellectual property rights of a database of
comic stories and comic heroes. The Group is able to exercise
significant influence over JDH because it has power to appoint
2 out of b directors of JDH under its articles of association.
Therefore, JDH is accounted for as an associate of the Group.

On 30 November 2019, the Group disposed of its equity
interest in JDH to an independent third party for a cash
consideration of HK$200,000. Before the disposal, the Group
owned 40% interest in JDH and the investment was previously
accounted for as an investment in an associate using the
equity method of accounting. This transaction has resulted
in the Group recognising a gain of disposal of HK$521,000 in
profit or loss for the year ended 30 June 2020.

18. REFE QXA WRER

REEFHERBRAB(NEER
CERDN:OE: 5
E;ﬁ%—ﬁﬁﬁ% LR SR
HRAERARA ZDRREE
‘M%mrfiﬂﬁsnzgm$§
BRI THEEBERERBEREA
MEEENNBER - AEEYELH
BEAVEN  BAERBHEKERE
MBI EEZ TS EERH2L o
Bt - EEBARIEAEE OB E A
A\l e

7R2019411 A30H - Kﬁlﬁf%ﬁ
VEZFHEERTIEARRE -

& R E A B 200,0007T ° EéHj%%IE
AT AEBHA E2540% 3% - Mk
WEENFEREESTEARAR —H
BENTRIRE - ZRHEHAEEH
£2020F6 A30H IEFER BT ER
HESRBE W EEES21,0000T °
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For the year ended 30 June 2021 #,%202146 A30H [LF/E

18. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued)
For the year ended 30 June 2020 (continued)

Interest in Jade Dynasty Holdings Limited

18. REF&E N AIMER @)
HZE202056 H30H L FE @)

REEFERBER2ATEER

(“JDH") (Continued) 2R @)
HK$'000
BT T
Cash consideration RENRE 200
Add: reclassification of cumulative exchange m:REESHEEENHE
reserve upon disposal REHE R EE 321
Less: carrying amount of the 40% investment W A0%IENHE FIEAER
on the date of disposal BRMEE -
Gain recognised in profit or loss RiBa P R AW E 521

Interest in Supreme Art Entertainment Limited

(“Supreme Art"”)

REBREBRAER DA

=N 2

&) s

(T8l

Supreme Art is a private entity incorporated in Hong Kong
with limited liability which is engaged in provision of artiste
management and agency services. The Group is able to
exercise significant influence over Supreme Art because it has
power to appoint 1 out of 3 directors of Supreme Art under its
articles of association. Therefore, Supreme Art is accounted
for as an associate of the Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ire MR

For the year ended 30 June 2021 #,%202146 A30H [LF/E

18. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued)
For the year ended 30 June 2020 (continued)

Interest in Supreme Art Entertainment Limited

(“Supreme Art”) (Continued)

On 30 November 2019, the Group disposed of its equity
interest in Supreme Art to an independent third party for a
cash consideration of HK$8,500,000. Before the disposal, the
Group owned 40% interest in Supreme Art and the investment
was previously accounted for as an investment in an associate
using the equity method of accounting. This transaction
has resulted in the Group recognising a gain of disposal of
HK$3,737,000 in profit or loss for the year ended 30 June

18. REF&E N AIMER @)
B Z2020F6H30H L FE )

R BREZXRERER AT ([l
8 |) 2w m)

M2019F11 A308 » KREE R —FB
VYEZHFHEERIENERE B
KB A7 18,500,0007T - NHEEE
AT REBHEANEA0%ER - Mm%
BRAERESSEARASN — B
ENRIMIE - EE 2020668308 1
FE  ZRHEBAEEREBZFER
HESBIE W E’ES,737,0007T °

2020.
HK$'000
T T
Cash consideration BeRE 8,500
Less: carrying amount of the 40% investment B 40%IERN T E SR B K
on the date of disposal IREE (4,763)
Gain recognised in profit or loss RIBZE R RER K= 3,737
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For the year ended 30 June 2021 #Z2021F6 A30H It FE

19. INTEREST IN A JOINT VENTURE

Cost of unlisted investment in
a joint venture

Share of post-acquisition losses and
other comprehensive expense

BEKAR

ZHE X

Bounty Productions Limited (“BPL"), a limited company
incorporated in Hong Kong, has been set up solely for the
film production of “Bounty Hunters”. The Group, Harmonious
Entertainment (Shanghai) Co., Ltd (“HES") and Bounty
Yoohanhwesa (“BY") held 40.00%, 25.51% and 34.49%
equity interest in BPL, respectively. The board of directors of
BPL, the governing body which directs the relevant activities
that significantly affects the returns of BPL, consists of three
directors of which the Group, HES and BY can appoint one
director each to the board of directors of BPL. The relevant
activities required to be approved unanimously by all these
three directors. Therefore, BPL is jointly controlled by the
Group, HES and BY. As the joint arrangement does not result
in either parties having rights to assets and obligations to
liabilities of BPL, it is accounted for as a joint venture of the
Group.

The details of the Group's joint venture at 30 June 2021 and
2020 are as follows:

Principal Proportion of
Name of Place of place of ownership interest
joint venture incorporation business held by the Group
REL¥E g REEFEHE
£ Bl e L e REZNLA
2021 2020
20215 20205
BPL Hong Kong PRC 40% 40%
Ed &R M

The joint venture is accounted for using the equity method in
the consolidated financial statements.

TRANSMIT ENTERTAINMENT LIMITED Annual Report 2020/21

19.

R—EEELENKRLER

FEIE U 1R B 18 e At

R—BE&EERAER

2021 2020
20214 20204
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BEET T
52,079 52,079
(51,924) (51,916)
155 163

e RIEARAR([ER]) BREH
EMAKYMBERAT  EKYEME
REBEET[E2BAN]l - XEEH -
Harmonious Entertainment (Shanghai)
Co., Ltd([HES) Bounty Yoohanhwesa
(IBY1) Rl A E£40.00% * 25.51%
N3449%HE - B EFER(FETRAER
AL PHEREERNREERE) S
=HRERMAK - HPAKE - HESKBY
AEEZA—RESEMAESESE -
AR ELZE=—REST—SUE -
Hit - E£HAKE - HESKBYHFEZE
#il e ARG ELH T EERE N —FHHEE
BEEMEERNRAREME  WEEARK
RAEENSERE -

AEBAELDEN20214F %2020%F6
A30B MBI :

Proportion of
voting rights

held by the Group

Principal activities

AREfE

RERMLH

2021
2021E

33.33%

FTEER
2020
2020

33.33%  Production and distribution of the
film and inactive

EYRIERETERRTER

REMBREAAALELEDEAERE
N



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 30 June 2021 #,%202146 A30H [LF/E

20. RENTAL DEPOSITS

20. lHE®Z S

2021 2020
20214 20204
HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BET T
Rental deposits HeExke 15,089 28,267
15,089 28,267
Note: M5t -

Cinema City (Langham Place) Limited, an indirect wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company, had entered into a lease agreement on
27 December 2013 to rent a cinema situated in Langham Place (the
“Lease Premises”), a prime location in Hong Kong, and to take the
cinema operation for a term of ten years commencing on 23 July 2014
and expiring on 22 July 2024 (the “Lease”). Based on the terms of the
Lease, the Company is obliged to pay a deposit in a sum equivalent
to the aggregate of three months’ base rent for the tenth year, three
months' management charges for the first year, three months’
promotional levy for the first year and one quarter’'s government rates
in respect of the Lease Premises. The operation of cinema and related
operations in the cinema could provide a platform for the development
of the film distribution business of the Group.

R2013F 128278 AR AEEE2EN
BRrrRAEFRMAxzmBER ARG A
EHE HENRNESESHERASY
IWR(HEEMEDREFEREE &
201447 23 A # E2024%F7 4228 1+ A&
H+FE(HE]) REAEKI A7
BERHEVELINZES SEHEERA
HETFN=EAELAHASES F—FH
—EAEREE E—FN=ARAHEER
BUAR—HAEEMNRFEMNZ - #bk
MEERERENEBERITUNALER
BERTEBENEREHRTS -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 30 June 2021 #,%202146 A30H [LF/E

21. FILM RIGHTS AND TELEVISION SERIES 21. EXMEURERERE
PRODUCTION IN PROGRESS
Television
series
Film production
rights in progress
EXNE RHFEPERE
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
COST 5%
At 1 July 2019 MR2019%F7A1H 784,204 174,078
Additions NE - 190,791
Transfer upon completion and sold RTER N & H 18 5 - (156,237)
Disposal of subsidiaries (note 43) KB AR (KMiFE43) (8,142) -
Exchange adjustments TE & % - (5,021)
At 30 June 2020 7202056 H30H 776,062 203,611
Additions NE - 517,215
Transfer upon completion and sold ATEAK M 6 18 B2 - (176,927)
Exchange adjustments N 54, A 2 - 14,756
At 30 June 2021 R20219F6 A30H 776,062 558,655
ACCUMULATED AMORTISATION AND ZE:t# R REE
IMPAIRMENT
At 1 July 2019 R2019%F7A1H 779,417 39,875
Charged for the year FAZIH 4,787 -
Disposal of subsidiaries (note 43) & BT A 7] (P EE43) (8,142) -
At 30 June 2020 and 2021 FA20204F 202146 4308 776,062 39,875
CARRYING AMOUNTS REE
At 30 June 2021 7202196 A30H - 518,780
At 30 June 2020 7202046 A30H - 163,736

No impairment loss has been recognised on film rights and
television series production in progress during the years ended

30 June 2021 and 2020.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KR IR M R

For the year ended 30 June 2021 #,%202146 A30H [LF/E

22. INVENTORIES 22. &
2021 2020
202145 20204F
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T ST T
Raw materials and consumables B R R EFE & 3,863 850
Finished goods BIRK T - 399
Total “BET 3,863 1,249
23. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 23. ES R HMEWFIE
2021 2020
202145 20204
HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T ST IT
Trade receivables g 5 W EIE 78,311 81,968
Less: Allowance for expected credit B TEHAME B EE
losses (1,982) (2,998)
76,329 78,970
Other receivables, deposits and HbprlEaE - e &
prepayments TETFRIE 7,737 11,166
Other receivable from TV series AR B & E At FE Y SR IE 37,724 8,637
Less: Allowance for expected credit B TEEEE RS
losses (972) -
44,489 19,803
Prepayment for artiste management EPNBEFERYSE Ty
agency and scriptwriters SN 10,503 4,160
Prepayments to suppliers TR 4 FE P 3R 10,814 16,629
Other deposits and prepayments for EREBHEMIES X
cinema operation TERTFIE 492 2,213
Other tax recoverable E b aTUg B F 18 26,343 4,506
168,970 126,281
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For the year ended 30 June 2021 #Z2021F6 A30H It FE

23. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (continued)

The aged analysis of the Group's trade receivables, net of
allowance for credit losses, based on the invoice date which
approximates the respective revenue recognition date, at the
end of the reporting period is as follows:

Trade receivables: B 5 e GRIA
0 - 30 days 0&30H
31 - 60 days 31260H
61 —90 days 61290H
91 - 180 days 91&180H
181 — 365 days 18123656H
Over one year Bl —F

Generally, with the exception of PRC TV series production
customers, who are generally granted credit period ranging
from 30 to 90 days, no credit period is granted to the Group’s
customers. Distribution and licensing fee from distributors in
Hong Kong, PRC Mainland and overseas countries are normally
settled upon delivery of negatives to the customers. On a
case-by-case basis, one to two months of credit period may be
granted to its customers with good repayment history.

As at 1 July 2019, trade receivables arising from contract with
customers amounted to HK$140,348,000.

As at 30 June 2021, included in the Group's trade receivables
balance are debtors with aggregate carrying amount of
HK$20,923,000 (2020: HK$15,173,000) which are past
due as at the reporting date. Out of the past due balances,
HK$17,520,000 (2020: HK$14,080,000) has been past due 90
days or more and is not considered as in default by considering
the background of the debtors and historical payment
arrangement. The Group does not hold any collateral over
these balances.

Details of expected credit losses assessment of trade and
other receivables are set out in note 45b.
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2021 2020
20215 20204
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T T IT
21,372 6,121
3,226 5,218
381 70

22 1,093
18,478 66,468
32,850 -
76,329 78,970
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For the year ended 30 June 2021 & ZE202146 A30R I FE

24. CONTRACT ASSETS

25.

TV series production

ERBIRUE

At 1 July 2019, the Group had no contract assets.

The contract assets relate to the Group's right to consideration
for television series production and not billed because the
rights are conditioned on the Group's future performance. The
contract assets are transferred to trade receivables when the
rights become unconditional.

The amounts are classified as current assets as they are
expected to transfer to trade receivables within twelve months
after the reporting date.

Details of expected credit loss assessment of contract assets
are set out in Note 45b.

LOAN TO A RELATED PARTY

As at 30 June 2021, the balance represents a loan to Skynova
International Limited (“Skynova”), a company in which Mr.
Zhang has controlling interest. The loan to a related party
is unsecured, carrying interest rate of 10% per annum and
repayable on 8 April 2022.

24,

25.

BHEE

2021 2020
20214 20204
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BEET T
23,647 16,599

R2019F7A1H » AEETESHE
EO

BHEERAREEENEAERIFK
BmEARRKRERR - BRZFE
MIDBURR AR BRI RKELD - HZF
R BEEGE  ARNEEERER
S EWGRIR -

BEHZEFENREEMRI2ZEAR
BREEHRWFR  BRELEIE

BHNEERREEBBEIHNFBIR
MfsE45b °

[ —BEBLER

20216 A30H @ BB &HIE
[ Skynova International Limited
(I'Skynova ) (— 5k 5 & % B 1E A 1
WHRFIRHNER - M —BHEES
ERREER  BREMNEI10%TERA
2022F4 B8R ERE -
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For the year ended 30 June 2021 & ZE202146 A30R I FE

26.

27.

28.

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

Financial assets at FVTPL

— wealth management products —EEEESD
Wealth management products are purchased from a bank with
expected rate of return ranging from 2.6% to 2.8% (2020:
2.9% to 3.4%) per annum and had maturity date within one
year and classified as financial assets at FVTPL. The principal
and returns of these wealth management products are not
guaranteed.

RESTRICTED BANK BALANCES

As at 30 June 2021, the Group has bank balances of
HK$2,898,000 (2020: HK$13,098,000) placed to banks which
are restricted in usage for a TV production in progress and
artistes management projects in the PRC. The amounts will be
released upon the completion of the TV production and artiste
management projects.

Details of impairment are set out in note 45b.

PLEDGED BANK DEPOSITS

At 30 June 2021, an amount of HK$668,000 (2020:
HK$667,000) has been pledged to a bank to secure the 4Dx's
equipment rental fees payable to a supplier of 4Dx equipment
for the Group's operation in the Lease Premises in accordance
with the 4Dx equipment rental agreement dated 20 August
2015. The pledged bank deposits carry interests at a fixed rate
of 0.2% per annum and it has been mature on 20 August 2021.

In addition, at 30 June 2021, the Group has pledged bank
deposit of HK$21,000,000 (2020: HK$21,000,000) which
carries at fixed interest rate of 0.3% (2020: 0.3%) per annum
and is pledged to a bank to secure the bank borrowings
granted to the Group. The pledged bank deposits will be
released upon the repayment of the relevant borrowings.
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BT T BEET T
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 30 June 2021 #,%202146 A30H [LF/E

28. PLEDGED BANK DEPOSITS (continued)

29.

The Group's pledged bank deposits that are not denominated
in the functional currencies of the relevant group entities are as

28. BEHBITER @)

AEBEAHBEEERESEUINE
EEHENDBRRTERAT :

follows:
2021 2020
20214 20204
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
usD ETT 668 667
Details of impairment are set out in note 45b. AT BN M 545D ©

BANK BALANCES AND CASH

Bank balances and cash of the Group carry interest at market

rates which are as follows:

29. SRITEBRRERE

AEBRITEBR KRB THIRATHISH

38

2021

20214
HK$'000
BT T

2020

20204
HK$'000
ST T

Interest rate per annum

ek

0.01% to 1.00%
0.01%%1.00%

0.01% to 0.29%

0.01%%0.29%

The Group's bank balances and cash that are not denominated
in the functional currencies of the relevant group entities are as
follows:

AEBEAEBREEERIEEEIUINE
BEHEMRITEREBRSHT ¢

2021 2020

20215 20204

HK$°000 HK$'000

BT T BT

Australian Dollar (“AUD") BT ([8t]) = 11
RMB AR 13 3,773
USD ETT 26 793
Euro ("EUR") BT oTl) 5 -
HKS s 1,819 1,329
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KR IR M R

For the year ended 30 June 2021 #,%202146 A30H [LF/E

30. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 30. EZ R HMENRIR

2021 2020

202145 20204

HK$'000 HK$'000

BT T ST T

Trade payables B ENRIE 88,233 29,846

Other payables and accruals HAb A FRIE R IERTE A 51,388 40,008
Investment funds from investors BB HEK AT EREREERN

measured at amortised cost (note i) wEES (W) 55,800 22,481
Investment funds from investors BAFEFABERERESE

at FVTPL (note i) KR E RS (M5 10,728 -
Advances from former shareholder of R AU B A A BT EAR ER

subsidiaries acquired (note iii) COEE NG D= 38,256 35,068
Consideration payable in respect of B AW — BB A R ERS

acquisition of a subsidiary RAB (MsE42 Kiv)

(notes 42 and iv) - 52,800
Deposits received (note ii) mEesACIED) 383 929
Payable to film producers (note v) &I E 52 BE ARIE (FsEv) 1,587 22,729
Accrued services fee for BB ABTERERERIEN

artiste management and FEET RIS B A (B aEvi)

TV series production (note vi) 29,994 12,328

276,369 216,189
Less: amount shown under non-current 8 : JERBERBREBE T2

liabilities (note ii) o RR (P &Eii) (383) (383)

Amount shown under current liabilities REABETRI 245 275,986 215,806
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30. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (continued)

The average credit period on purchases of goods is 60 to 90
days. The aging analysis of trade payables presented is based
on the invoice date. The following is analysis of the Group's
trade payables at the end of the reporting period:

Within 60 days 60H A
Within 61 to 90 days 61290H
Within 91 to 365 days 91£365H
Over 365 days HBiB365H

Notes:

(i)

(i)

(iif)

(iv)

(vi)

Investment funds from investors represent investors’
entitlement to the return on TV series produced by the Group
and the return are either fixed or variable based on contracts
with other investors.

Deposits received represent deposits received from a cinema
circuit operator in Hong Kong for a film to be theatrical release
in Hong Kong and licensing deposits received from the licensee
which are refundable at the expiry of the licenses.

Advances from former shareholder of subsidiaries acquired are
non-trade related, unsecured, interest-free and repayable on
demand.

The amounts represented consideration payable in respect of
acquisition of 60% equity interest in Wenlan in March 2020. The
amount has been settled during the current year. Details are set
out in Note 42.

The amounts represented the payable due to the film producers
who placed their films to be released in the Group’s film
exhibition and the films had been completed its theatrical
release during the year ended 30 June 2021.

The amounts represented the accrued services fee payable to
the artiste management agency, film director and scriptwriters
of TV series production.

30. ESG R HAMESRE@m

R

EmHFHEEHR60E90R

SR - BHRMNFRENREDT

DERBEZAHZS - ARERHEH
AOEZENFTESFTWAT :

2021 2020
20215 20204
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BEET T
59,144 13,353
11,271 -
12,694 16,493
5,124 -
88,233 29,846

GEX

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

(vi)

REREENREECHEREERLN
RNEE T EIFERNERE K @ & #E
Ao RIEEHMGIREENAN - B

BEWIR SRS T B R B A —
MEXE - BEBEXRARELEHNK
BERE - ARk B ERFEARRR
FratEE R ] TIRIENRAHERS -

2R 1 UK B PR B8 % B AR AR R A EA 3K
BHRESUE  BER  RERER

B SFEN2020F3 A WERRE
B0% AR EN KB - BREKEDR
REFZHER o FEHRMTEL2 -

EEFREENEXREATE &
FEUEANEZ BN A EEER N
- MAEBEFXENEZE202156
AB0H IEFE R E bR o

BERFEERNERBATERLL

EXEHNERERERE MRS R
BEM -

BIRIREBR AT 2020/21 F#
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For the year ended 30 June 2021 #,%202146 A30H [LF/E

31. CONTRACT LIABILITIES

31. BHAE

2021 2020

20214 20204

HK$'000 HK$'000

BET T BEETIT

Advances from customers ZE8H 356,999 60,695

At 1 July 2019, contract liabilities of the Group amounted to
HK$46,562,000.

The amount of HK$60,695,000 as at 30 June 2020 had been
recognised as the Group's revenue during the year ended 30
June 2021. The Directors considered that the entire amount
of contract liabilities as at 30 June 2021 will be recognised as
revenue within twelve months.

Deposits are received by the Group as the instalments of
the PRC TV series production in progress and advances of
distribution and licensing income received from distributors
prior to release and delivery of film negatives and TV series
program. Payment terms are negotiated on a case by case
basis. When the Group receives certain percentage of deposits
as an advance payment upon signing the contract, this will
give rise to contract liabilities at the start of a contract, until
the revenue is recognised upon the relevant performance
obligation is fulfilled.

32. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS

R2019F7H1H @ XEBRMEHNERE
BB 46,562,0007T °

M 20206 A30H ¥ 60,695,000
THRBEERRAAEEHE20214F
6A30HLFENKZE - EERE " 1
20216 A30EHMEBAE LN BES TG
P Z{E A AR AU

AEBEWEZREERRFET P EERE
TR B B SRR R B AR R X &
FIEMER RERBAIC WEITERE
17 R BATREE AT R A TEMGRIA » 13
R REREEETHER - EAEHE
REFFTBHALWEE TEA LIRS F
RBFRE - ERANFRRELGNEA
& EEMBEENE TR ERER RS
ALk e

32. RITREAMERR

2021 2020
202145 20204
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T

Bank borrowings: IRITE
Fixed-rate and secured (note i) EBRE I (KIEED 39,600 22,000
Variable-rate and unsecured (note ii) F B EAR R (5T 1,200 -
40,800 22,000
Other borrowings (note iii) At £ 3R (B &) 55,756 45,000
96,556 67,000
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For the year ended 30 June 2021 #,%202146 A30H [LF/E

32. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS (continued) 32. RITREMER@®

The Group's bank and other borrowings are repayable as

REBERIT REAERFRIA T HREE

follows: pEg
2021 2020
20214 20204
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Carrying amount repayable (based on [EEEREE (ENTE
scheduled repayment terms): ERE) -
Within one year or on demand —FNHBEREREER 78,556 22,000
More than one year, —FAEMFELAR
but not exceeding two years 18,000 45,000
96,556 67,000
Less: Amounts due shown under B RREBEE NI
current liabilities: JERT R
On demand or due within one year RE ke —F AN E|HE (78,556) (22,000)
Amounts due after one year —F 1B HIR IR 18,000 45,000
Notes: B 5 -

(i) During the year ended 30 June 2021, the Group obtained new
fixed rate secured bank borrowings amounting to approximately
HK$45,600,000 (2020: HK$22,000,000) and repaid bank
borrowings of HK$30,000,000 (2020: HK$26,220,000). The bank
borrowings are secured by bank deposits of HK$21,000,000
(2020: HK$21,000,000) and guaranteed by an insurance
company in the PRC.

(ii) During the year ended 30 June 2021, the Group obtained new
variable-rate and unsecured bank borrowings amounting to
approximately HK$1,200,000 (2020: Nil).

(i)

(i)

HZE2021F6 A30RILEE A&
EmASHEEBEBRITERLY
78 ¥ 45,600,000 7T ( 2020 F : B H&
22,000,000 7T ) * W EERITE R
78 # 30,000,000 7t ( 2020 F : B #&
26,220,0007C) ° B BRIT1E KA R
1T B 21,000,000 (20204 -
78 #21,000,0007T ) fE#E R - WA —
R B R B A BIE(R o

HZE2021F6A30B ILFE  A%H

BB FTF e F R & M RITIE KA
7#1,200,0007T(2020%F « &) ©

BIRREBR R R 2020/21 3
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For the year ended 30 June 2021 & ZE202146 A30R I FE

32. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS (continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(iii)

During the year ended 30 June 2021, Khorgas Houhai
Culture Media Company Limited (“Khorgas Houhai”), a
wholly owned subsidiary of the Company, borrowed a loan of
RMB45,000,000 (equivalent to HK$55,756,000) from a third
party company, which is secured by trade receivable amounting
to RMB19,705,000 (equivalent to HK$23,647,000) as at 30 June
2021, bearing interest at 15% per annum and repayable on 22
February 2022.

Other borrowing of HK$45,000,000 as at 30 June 2020 was loan
from Mr. Wong as defined in note 43, and Pure Project Limited
in which Mr. Wong has controlling interest during the year ended
30 June 2020, and was unsecured, interest-free and was fully
settled during the current year.

The ranges of effective interest rates (which are also equal
to contracted interest rates) per annum on the Group's bank
borrowings are analysed as follows:

Fixed-rate bank borrowings: RMB

denominated borrowings FHEMB R
Variable-rate bank borrowings: RMB FEIRITER  ARK
denominated borrowings sHEMB R

TRANSMIT ENTERTAINMENT LIMITED Annual Report 2020/21
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32. RITREMER @
BiEE : ()

(i) #HZE2021F6HA308ILFE  AAF
2ENBAREBRRMES L EHE
BRAR(ERRNESDA—ME
=HAafEAERARK45,000,000
7T (¥ & R /B # 55,756,000 ) * M
BB N2021F6 A30B AE &
I 7B A R ¥ 19,705,000 7t (B & K
75 #523,647,0007T ) fEHE R - 1R FF|
E15% T B RAMN2022F2 82280 E

i o
20204 6 A 30 A #Y E fth & 5K B
45,000,000t AR B E LR EHE R
(E&RWFE43) REIZ 202096 A30
AlFEETERBERERAER
BERATMER  AEER - 2B K
ERANFEEREN -

AEBRTERZBERFMNEZEE (TR
HERERTOFE)NIHFAT

2021
20214

2020
20204

3.6% and 4.8% 4.5% and 4.8%
3.6%%4.8% 45%E4.8%
4.15% N/A

A5 A
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For the year ended 30 June 2021 #,%202146 A30H [LF/E

33. LOANS FROM RELATED COMPANIES 33. REBEBKATNER

2021 2020
20215 20204
HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T ST IT

Loans from related companies REBEBEATNER
— Loan 1 (note i) — &5 (5T 29,532 25,303
- Loan 2 (note ii) — B2 (M &EiD) 104,473 89,721
- Loan 3 (note iii) — &3 (Pt &Eiii) - 5,000
- Loan 4 (note iv) —E R4 Eiv) 54,987 -
188,992 120,024

Analysed as: DA

Current liabilities MEAE = 30,303
Non-current liabilities EmEBE 188,992 89,721
188,992 120,024

Notes: P&k -

(i)  The balance as at 30 June 2021 represents a loan of (i) H 202146 A30HK4%%EMR
RMB23,000,000 (equivalent to HK$27,600,000) plus accrued Guangzhou Puji f& A # B & A
interest of RMB1,619,000 (equivalent to HK$1,932,000) from R # 23,000,000 7t ( 18 & X & #&
Guangzhou Puiji. The loan advance is unsecured, interest-bearing 27,600,0007T) © BNEEFEAR
at 7% per annum and repayable in July 2022. #1,619,0007T (FHE A% 1,932,000

TL) c BERBRAEIEWR - RFR X
7%=t B M BIR2022F7 A& °

BIRREBR R R 2020/21 3 219



For the year ended 30 June 2021 & ZE202146 A30R I FE

33. LOANS FROM RELATED COMPANIES

(Continued)
Notes: (Continued)

(ii) The balance as at 30 June 2021 represents loans of
RMB78,520,000 (equivalent to HK$94,224,000) plus accrued
interests of RMB8,541,000 (equivalent to HK$10,249,000) from
Guangzhou Black Hole Investment Limited (“Black Hole"), a
company in which Mr. Zhang has controlling interests. The loan
advance is unsecured, interest bearing at 7% per annum and
repayable in July 2022.

(i)~ During the year ended 30 June 2020, the Group borrowed a
loan of HK$5,000,000 from Skynova, a company in which Mr.
Zhang has controlling interests. The loan advance is unsecured,
interest-free and was settled in the current year.

(iv)  During the year ended 30 June 2021, Guangzhou Daide
Management Consultancy Company Limited (“Guangzhou
Daide”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, borrowed
loan of RMB12,000,000 (equivalent to HK$14,400,000) and
loan of RMB38,680,000 (equivalent to HK$46,416,000) from
Guangzhou Puji, a company in which Mr. Zhang has controlling
interests. The loan advances are unsecured, interest-free and
repayable in July 2022 and February 2023 respectively.

34. LOANS FROM/AMOUNT DUE TO
THE CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDER

As at 30 June 2021, the balance represents loans advances
of RMB25,000,000 (equivalent to HK$30,000,000) and
RMB10,000,000 (equivalent to HK$12,000,000) from
Mr. Zhang, the controlling shareholder of the Company. The
loan advances are unsecured, interest-free and repayable in
July 2022 and February 2023 respectively.

As at 30 June 2020, the amount was unsecured, interest-free
and has no fixed repayment terms.
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33. XKEEBKATINER @

BsE : (8)

(i) 72021 F£6 308/ & &% I8
Guangzhou Black Hole Investment
Limited([ Black Hole J) ( — f& 5k %
EHBEEREZEHAR) ERXRA
R # 78,520,000 7t ( #8 & B & %
94,224,000 7t ) * & M0 FE E A R
A R #8,541,000 T (48 & RN B
10,249,000 ) - EX B R A EK
| RENET% B AR AR 2022
FTRAEE -

(i)  HZ=2020F6A30HILFE - AEE
[ISkynova(—fEREEHE TR ER
# A R)) & AE & #5,000,0007T ©
ERBARABEERR 22 RERAF
EEE -

(ivi EHZE2021F6HA30BLFE  EIMNF
EEEAAGRAR(EMNEE] (K
Arl—HEE BN B2 ) Guangzhou
PUi(—MREEEBZEREZHA
Al) B AE AR 12,000,000 7T
(#8% R # % 14,400,00070) R E &
A % 38,680,000 7t (48 & R & 1
46,416,000 7L ) > B R B A #IK
2R URDRIZER2022F7A K
202352 188 -

34. REERBRRER T
IR IR RK TR

M2021%F6H308 ' BRELHIEREAR
NEERR R EMEBERBRARYE
25,000,0007T (#8E 1% #30,000,000
7T) M AR 10,000,000 (HBE R #E
12,000,0007T) - BB E KRB A EEK
- BB RAEDBIN2022%7 A %2023
F2RHEE -

M2020F6 A30H » ARKIEAEIR
- BB REETER -



For the year ended 30 June 2021 #Z2021F6 A30H It FE

35. BONDS PAYABLE

Bonds payable ESES
Bond 1 BEH1
Bond 2 B2
Bond 3 BE53
Analysed as: DA
Current mEp
Non-current IERB

On 16 May 2019, the Company has entered into the placing
agreement with the placing agent pursuant to which the
placing agent conditionally agreed to procure, on a best effort
basis, and the placees who are independent third parties to
the Group to subscribe in cash for the bonds (“Bond 1”) in an
aggregate amount of up to HK$150,000,000 with a maturity
date of one year from the issue date.

Bond 1 will be issued in tranches and Bond 1 are unsecured,
unsubordinated and carried at fixed coupon rate of 9% per
annum which are payable semi-annually in advance from the
date of issue of Bond 1. During the year ended 30 June 2020,
the Company issued in aggregate amount of HK$33,500,000 to
the placees of Bond 1 and HK$22,000,000 was settled in the
current year.

Based on the terms of the placing agreement, the Company
has the unconditional right to extend the maturity date of
Bond 1 for another one year from the initial maturity date.
The balance of the principal amount of bond payable of
HK$11,500,000 (2020: HK$22,000,000) net of prepaid interest
is due on October 2021 and therefore classified as current
liabilities as at 30 June 2021.

35. BfHEZ

2021 2020
20214 20204
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BEET T
11,177 33,500
13,281 14,500
3,131 3,500
27,589 51,500
14,308 22,000
13,281 29,500
27,589 51,500

R2019F5H16H » ARRIEERER
BTV EEEWRE Bt BEREREK
R E R B3R T RE B (R (A BE A (18
EHERNEBNBIE=ZH)UBEER
BEAS(ESF]  BeBERER/BE
150,000,0007T * R EAH A B #1TH
REET—F o

BEHFIE D BLEIT - MiEH1 AEER -
FBREWIETEFI%E T ZM@mFF Rt
B WAKESH1E1T B BT ien+
FEX - HZE202066 A30H LFE -
AN R B THERE S 533,600,000 F1&
E1EBA B #22,000,0007C B R
NEZLHEN -

REBREBZEOGRK - AR EFER
HREMBEFINIHBERIGEEA
ERFIN—F o EMBRIENF S ES
BEH AR 4B 11,500,0007T (2020
& #¥22,000,0007T) A20214F10 A
BIHR - R 2021F6 A30B WA B AR
BAE -

BIRIREBR AT 2020/21 F#



For the year ended 30 June 2021 & %202146 A30H IFF &

35. BONDS PAYABLE (continued)

On 16 September 2019, the Company has entered into the
placing agreement with the placing agent pursuant to which
the placing agent conditionally agreed to procure, on a best
effort basis, and the placees who are independent third parties
to the Group to subscribe in cash for the bonds (“Bond 2") in
an aggregate amount of up to HK$150,000,000 with a maturity
date of three years from the issue date. Based on the terms
of the placing agreement, Bond 2 are matured on the third
anniversary of the date of the issue of Bond 2 or any such other
dates as mutually agreed in writing and shortened or extended
by the Company and the placing agent.

Bond 2 will be issued in tranches and Bond 2 are unsecured,
unsubordinated and carried at fixed coupon rate of 6.5% per
annum which are payable semi-annually in arrears from the
date of issue of Bond 2. During the year ended 30 June 2020,
the Company issued an aggregate amount of HK$14,500,000
to the placees of Bond 2.

On 24 February 2020, the Company has entered into the
placing agreement with the placing agent pursuant to which
the placing agent conditionally agreed to procure, on a best
effort basis, and the placees who are independent third parties
to the Group to subscribe in cash for the bonds (“Bond 3") in
an aggregate amount of up to HK$150,000,000 with a maturity
date of three years from the issue date. Based on the terms
of the placing agreement, Bond 3 are matured on the third
anniversary of the date of the issue of Bond 3 or any such other
dates as mutually agreed in writing and shortened or extended
by the Company and the placing agent.

Bond 3 will be issued in tranches and Bond 3 are unsecured,
unsubordinated and carried at fixed coupon rate of 6.5% per
annum which are payable semi-annually in advance from the
date of issue of Bond 3. During the year ended 30 June 2020,
the Company issued an aggregate amount of HK$3,500,000 to
the placees of Bond 3. The first tranche of Bond 3 amounting
to HK$500,000 (2020: HK$500,000) will be expired on 28
April 2022 and the second tranche of Bond 3 amounting to
HK$3,000,000 (2020: HK$3,000,000) will be expired on 26 May
2022. Therefore the balance of bond 3 net of prepaid interest
was classified as current liabilities as at 30 June 2021.
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35. EtE%H @)

7201998168 * AAAE EEEN
BIIVEREHZ® Bt BREREBK
iR BB BT R ER AR A
(REHEAEENBIE=F)URE
REBEF([EFH2))  BeBERAE
#150,000,0007T © EIHiH A B %47 H
HIRAT=F - BREEEHEZIER &
FORBITESF AR = AFE A
AAREREREE S UEEBTERE
R ERME(IAREEM B ERRIH -

BEF28 D HLErT - MEHF2AERKIF -
BB IR T F6.5% B F = mE F H R
R BEHF2EITHHEABEES
~—k - B E20205E6 8308 L5 E -
AR EE{THEEEE 14,500,000 F &
H2EMEA o

M2020F2H248 » ARRIEEREER
BTV EEWE - Bt EEREREK
MR ERBRATEEERFEALEA
(REHEAEENBIE=Z7)URE
REEF([EHI)) BeBERAES
#150,000,0007T © BIH I AB %778
HIRT=F - REEEHRZER &
FINBITEARIBHR=AFEE B M
AAREREREE S UEMHTE RE
RERNEMABRBEMB AR E -

BEHIF D ILEEIT - MEHFIA/EER -
IE1R (B IR 5 F6.5% E F 2= M F A R
FPE - BEHIEITHBRAIRATES
S e EE2020F6 A30B FFE -
RN )BT A RE A 3,600,000 T T &
FIERAA o EHFIE —H#§R2022F
4H28HEIH - €% A B%500,0007T
(20204 : B ¥500,0007T) @ Mi&ES
3F B MR2022F 5 H26H R H - &
%8 578 13,000,000 (20204 : B
3,000,0007T) ° At © %202146 430
B E5F3NEH(CHREBENHFE)E
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For the year ended 30 June 2021 #,%202146 A30H [LF/E

36. AMOUNT DUE TO A JOINT VENTURE

37.

The amount is trade-related, unsecured, interest-free and

repayable on demand.

LEASE LIABILITIES

Information about leases for which the Group is a lessee is

presented below.

36. BN —B&8®EENEA

ZHEDNESHE  BER  2ERA
BERIEE -

37. HE&E

ARAEEEARRAANBELN 27
m .

2021 2020
20214 20204
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T T AREFT
Lease liabilities payable: ENHEESRE
Within one year —FR 63,890 71,962
Within a period of more than one year but —FEBRFIARN
not more than two years 73,753 99,935
Within a period of more than two years but MELATE T EUR
not exceeding five years 87,025 353,191
Within a period of more than five years HEFAE - 232,364
224,668 757,452
Less: Amount due for settlement with W ORBBEEETEY AR
12 months shown under current + {8 A NEEIE
liabilities (63,890) (71,962)
Amount due for settlement after ERBEEETEYZ
12 months shown under non-current -i—:{lﬂ@:fféf@ﬁ’]m
liabilities 160,778 685,490
The weighted average incremental borrowing rate applied is M2021E6 8308 © FifER 2 hn#E ¥

7% (2020: 7%) per annum as at 30 June 2021.

All lease obligations are denominated in the functional

currencies of the relevant group entities.

R EBRNERETEFT%(2020%F :
7%) °

PIEHEREENEREEERNESR
BatE -

BIRREBR R R 2020/21 3
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For the year ended 30 June 2021 #Z2021F6 A30H It FE

38. SHARE CAPITAL 38. kA&
Number of Share
shares capital
[k 4= [N
HK$'000
BETIT
Ordinary shares of HK$0.0025 each: SREEBR0.0025 LA E @A :
Authorised: EE
At 1 July 2019, 30 June 2020 and 30 June 2021 72019478 1H * 202096 A30H
202156 A30H 32,000,000,000 80,000
Issued and fully paid: BRTRAR
At 1 July 2019, 30 June 2020 and 30 June 2021 7201947818 * 202096 A30H
20216 A30H 2,595,613,733 6,489

39. PERPETUAL BONDS

On 29 June 2020, two wholly-owned subsidiaries of the
Company issued perpetual bonds (the “Issuers”) amounted
to RMB31,000,000 (equivalent to HK$34,100,000) and
RMB155,000,000 (equivalent to HK$170,500,000),
respectively to Guangzhou Puji, a company in which Mr.
Zhang, the controlling shareholder of the Company has
controlling interest, and the perpetual bonds are redeemable
at the issuers’ option on or after 28 June 2025. Interests are
payable annually in arrears at a fixed rate of 4.5% per annum,
which may be deferred at the issuers’ discretion and in which
event, the Company and the issuers will not declare or pay any
interests or redeem, reduce, cancel or buy back or otherwise
acquire any of the Company's and/or the Issuer’s securities of
lower or equal rank.

The Group is considered to have no contractual obligations to
call its principal or to pay any interests. The perpetual bonds do
not meet the definition for classification as financial liabilities.
They are classified as equity instruments and future interests
are treated as dividends distribution.
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39. X#EE

R20206F6H29H © ARARMMEEE
M E A RI([397 A1) % BlMGuangzhou
Puji( R RI¥E R AR 3R R S0 AE R 5 12
mAAE]) BT AEARY31,000,000
7T (#8& R 78 % 34,100,000 7T ) & A
R ¥ 155,000,000 7t ( 1 & R & &
170,500,000 7T ) Rk EfE © 1T A
A2 202546 A28 H 5 2 14 BE Bl 5k
BE - FEEFIREEFEMELS%RN
HARS T - mETARRIBEREGET
B RIEBERAT ARFIRETALE
FIRSR AT SkER - B - &
SH ek BE [l sk LA Bt 5 UK BB (A A A R)
5/ 88B T ANBREKE SRR E
%é °

AEERERERNETEEE LRSS
XERAE - KEBATTEERE
ENENER - AR BEAEaR T
AR A B AR BB DK ©
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For the year ended 30 June 2021 #,%202146 A30H [LF/E

40. DEFERRED TAX ASSETS (LIABILITIES) 40. EEHRIREE(BE)
The followings are the deferred tax assets (liabilities) REBRAFERBAFERRNIEL
recognised by the Group and movements thereon during the MEEERGR)REZFHNT :

current and prior years:

Intangible
Accelerated assets
tax arising on
Tax losses depreciation acquisition Total
g
i EEW
BIEEE BRI E BEEE st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BT BT BT
At 1 July 2019 20197 A1H 135 26 - 161
Credit to profit or loss (note 9) & A5 (FH:E9) 69 67 1,098 1,234
Acquisition of a subsidiary U BB b B A 7] (P 7E42)

(note 42) 2,414 - (26,701) (24,287)
Exchange adjustments fE 5% - - (42) (42)
At 30 June 2020 $2020%6 A30H 2,618 93 (25,645) (22,934)
(Charge) credit to profit or loss (BB NK )zt B

(note 9) (PH5E9) (2,454) (53) 4,185 1,678
Disposal of subsidiaries HEHB R (f43)

(note 43) - (40) - (40)
Exchange adjustments [ 5, AR - - 81 81
At 30 June 2021 7202146 A30H 164 - (21,379) (21,215)

For the purpose of presentation in the consolidated statement MEEMBRARNZImE  ET&
of financial position, certain deferred tax assets and liabilities ERBEERABBCHIKE - B@TS
have been offset. The following is the analysis of the deferred WMEMELEHBEBODTOT ¢
tax balances for financial reporting purposes:
2021 2020
20215 20204
HK$°000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Deferred tax assets BETIREE - 297
Deferred tax liabilities BELRER R (21,215) (23,231)
(21,215) (22,934)
BIRREEFR AR 2020/21 F3R 225



For the year ended 30 June 2021 & Z%2021566 A30H IFFE

40. DEFERRED TAX ASSETS (LIABILITIES)

(Continued)

Under the EIT Law, withholding tax is imposed on dividends
declared in respect of profits earned by the PRC subsidiaries
from 1 January 2008 onwards. Deferred taxation has not been
provided for in the consolidated financial statements in respect
of temporary differences attributable to undistributed earnings
of the Group's PRC subsidiaries as the Group is able to control
the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences and it is
probable that the temporary differences will not reverse in the
foreseeable future.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has unused tax
losses of HK$389,982,000 (2020: HK$402,563,000) available
for offset against future profits. Deferred tax asset has been
recognised in respect of HK$816,000 (2020: HK$9,544,000)
of such losses. No deferred tax asset has been recognised in
respect of the remaining tax losses of HK$389,166,000 (2020:
HK$393,019,000) due to the unpredictability of future profit
streams. Included in unrecognised tax losses are losses of
HK$25,729,000, HK$52,667,000 and HK$77,644,000 (2020:
HK$5,235,000, HK$47,688,000 and HK$52,667,000 will expire
in 2021, 2022 and 2023, respectively) that will expire in 2022,
2023 and 2024, respectively. Other losses may be carried
forward indefinitely.

As the end of the reporting period, the Group has deductible
temporary differences of approximately HK$2,705,000 (2020:
HK$2,749,000). No deferred tax asset has been recognised in
relation to such deductible temporary differences as it is not
probable that taxable profit will be available against which the
deductible temporary difference can be utilised.
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For the year ended 30 June 2021 & Z%2021566 A30H IFFE

41. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS

The Company’s share option scheme (the “Scheme”) was
approved and adopted by the sole shareholder on 5 October
2012 for the primary purpose to grant options to eligible
persons as incentives or rewards for their contribution to the
Group.

Under the Scheme, the board of directors of the Company
may, at its discretion, grant options pursuant to the Scheme
to the Directors (including executive directors, non-executive
directors and independent non-executive directors),
employees, advisors and consultants of the Company and
its subsidiaries who the board of directors of the Company
considers, in its absolute discretion, have contributed or will
contribute to the Group (the “Participants”).

The total numbers of shares in respect of which options may
be granted under the Scheme is not permitted to exceed 10%
of the shares of the Company in issue at any point in time,
without prior approval from the Company's shareholders. The
number of shares issued and to be issued in respect of which
options granted and may be granted to any individual in any
one year is not permitted to exceed 1% of the shares of the
Company in issue at any point in time, without prior approval
from the Company’s shareholders.

The Scheme shall be valid and effective for a period of 10
years commencing on 5 October 2012. Options granted
during the life of the Scheme shall continue to be exercisable
in accordance with their terms of grant. The exercise price
is determined by the Directors and will not be less than the
highest of (i) the closing price of the shares as stated in the
daily quotation sheets issued by the Stock Exchange on the
date of grant, which must be a trading day; (ii) the average
closing price of the shares as stated in the daily quotation
sheets issued by the Stock Exchange for the five trading days
immediately preceding the date of grant; and (iii) the nominal
value of the Company’'s shares. Upon acceptance of the
option, the Participants shall pay HK$1.00 to the Company by
way of consideration for the grant. The option will be offered
for acceptance for a period of 28 days from the date of grant.

As at 30 June 2021 and 2020, there were no share options
granted under the Scheme by the Company.

41.
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For the year ended 30 June 2021 & %202146 A30H IFF &

42. ACQUISITION OF A SUBSIDIARY

On 10 September 2019, Guangzhou Daide entered into an
equity transfer agreement with a group of third party sellers
(the “Sellers”) and Wenlan. Under the agreement, Guangzhou
Daide conditionally agreed to acquire, and Chen Jie (the “Seller
One") and EBNHEXLEEBR AT (Shanghai Aibo Culture
Communication Co., Ltd.*) (the “Seller Three”) conditionally
agreed to sell, the equity interest collectively hold by Seller
One and Seller Three, representing 60% equity interest in
Wenlan, at an aggregate consideration of RMB96,000,000
(equivalent to HK$105,600,000) and E3#iE (the “Seller Two")
and EBEHLEEEHR L (BERSE ) (Shanghai Huizhe
Enterprise Management Center Co., Ltd.*) (the “Seller
Four”) agreed to grant the call option to Guangzhou Daide for
purchasing the remaining 40% equity interest in Wenlan (the
“Acquisition”).

On the same day, Guangzhou Daide, the Sellers and Wenlan
also entered into a profit guarantee agreement, pursuant to
which and subject to the completion of the Acquisition, the
Seller Two and the Seller Four undertake to Guangzhou Daide
that the aggregated profit for the profit guarantee period from
1 September 2019 to 31 December 2022 shall be not less than
RMB70,000,000. If the profit guarantee is met, Guangzhou
Daide can exercise its sole and discretionary right for the call
option to acquire the 40% equity interest in Wenlan at the
consideration set out in the equity transfer agreement. The
Acquisition was completed on 12 March 2020. The Acquisition
had been accounted for using the acquisition method.
Wenlan was principally engaged in the planning of culture and
entertainment and the performance agent and the training for
music bands businesses.

A valuation report received upon completion of the acquisition
accounting in the current year indicates that the fair value of
the call option at the date of acquisition was RMB12,959,000
(equivalent to HK$15,551,000). The comparative amounts in
the consolidated financial statement have been restated as if
the initial accounting had been completed from the acquisition
date. There was a corresponding reduction in goodwill of
HK$15,551,000 (note 16).

The fair value of the purchased call option at 30 June 2021 was
RMB16,930,000 (equivalent to HK$20,332,000) and fair value
change of HK$4,781,000 (2020: Nil) was recognised in profit or
loss during the year ended 30 June 2021.

* for identification purpose only

TRANSMIT ENTERTAINMENT LIMITED Annual Report 2020/21

42. WEEHE A =)

MR201949 8108 » EMEEHE—4
F=HEAER]) RER IR
EEYE o BRERE  BNEBEEEK
HRZKEmEE(ES —])ERLE
YEXcEREERRAR(TEFA=Z]E
BHEREHEREF —ABEAZHEA
BHA A (B BEREG60%ARHRE)
BB A ARE96,000,000 T (FHER
7 #105,600,0007T) * MBEE(E
Ao DNBEESEFCEERPL(AR
AE)VEFN)RAERBERRGT
40% IR EREMNBERE T REHE
([UeBE=mE]) -

A BENEE  BHRERING 8
FRBEWZE B RFREBEIETK
% BAH-KEAWMEBEMNEEZES
i MR FEHAR (20199 A1 H £2022
F12A31B)NE &M BRER TER
AR #70,000,0007T ° i FIIREEE
B - BINEEr] SR ERITE 2R
1B - AR R A E BB E
A0 % I HE o WiEETEMN2020F3 512
AKX - WIBEEERAKEEAR -
EREENERE U RIRETEB R
AR A A AR5 3| B L BB 575 ©

A E A IS & 518 B &2 IRER A
BEREFRT  REHENKEABED
NFE B AR12,959,0007T (FHE R
75 #15,651,0007T) - EESI4RE B TE
RERZLUBRSE - BOLSETRED
B Uk EE A BRSERK - B AEEHR B S
15,551,0007C (FIzE16) °

EEREREN2021F6 A0 Z A
B A A RE16,930,0007T (FE B
#20,332,0007T) © MAFEEZHEE
4,781,00070 (20204 : &) BERE=
2021F6A30H L FERIBEFER °

* R



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ire MR

For the year ended 30 June 2021 #,%202146 A30H [LF/E

42. ACQUISITION OF A SUBSIDIARY (continued) 42. WEEFK B A Bl @)
At the date of
acquisition
MUk EE A
HK$'000
BT T
Consideration transferred EHENRE
Cash Be 37,249
Consideration payable (note 30) FERRE(HEE30) 52,800
Total HEET 90,049

* for identification purpose only

The fair values of net identifiable assets of Wenlan at the date

of acquisition were as follows:

*

Eas

RUEEEE - BEREAEREEFER
FEWAT

At the date of

acquisition

Uk EE A H

HK$'000

ST IT

Property, plant and equipment (note 14) W - BB LR E(HEE14) 125
Right-of-use assets (note 15) FRAEEE(ME15) 1,059
Intangible assets (note 17) mEE(ME17) 106,805
Deferred tax assets (note 40) EIERE B E EE (MIFF40) 2,414
Trade and other receivables B 5 R HAbFEW IR 1,287
Tax recoverable AR EIF IR 54
Bank balances and cash RITEHR KBS 2,589
Other payables H b e 5RTE (887)
Lease liabilities HEaE (1,051)
Deferred tax liabilities (note 40) EERTEE E(MIsE40) (26,701)
Net assets acquired B EE FE 85,694

BIRREBR R R 2020/21 3 229



For the year ended 30 June 2021 #Z2021F6 A30H It FE

42. ACQUISITION OF A SUBSIDIARY (Continued)

The non-controlling interest in Wenlan at the acquisition date
was measured by reference to the proportionate share of
recognised amounts of net assets of Wenlan and amounted to
HK$34,278,000.

42, WEEMB A T @)

R ULEE B B BER A FEI R AR A 25 T IR b
BloEERERREEFESETE
AEEEE34,278,0007T °

At the date of

acquisition

MUk EE A

HK$'000

ST T

Consideration transferred HENNKE 90,049
Plus: non-controlling interests o FEE AR e 34,278
Less: net assets acquired B TR B E R E (85,694)
Goodwill arising on acquisition (note 16) WS B BEEENEE(HsE16) 38,633

Goodwill arose in the acquisition of Wenlan because the cost
of the combination included a control premium. In addition,
the consideration paid for the combination effectively
included amounts in relation to the benefit of expected
synergies, revenue growth, future market development and
the assembled workforce of Wenlan. These benefits are not
recognised separately from goodwill because they do not meet
the recognition criteria for identifiable intangible assets.

None of the goodwill arising on this acquisition was expected
to be deductible for tax purpose.
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For the year ended 30 June 2021 #Z2021F6 A30H It FE

42. ACQUISITION OF A SUBSIDIARY (continued) . WBHNE AR @
Net cash outflow arising on acquisition: BBEE 2 RS
HK$'000
BT
Cash consideration ReRE (37,249)
Cash and cash equivalents acquired IR RIReEED 2,589
(34,660)

The fair value of trade and other receivables amounted to
HK$1,287,000, representing gross contractual amounts at the
date of acquisition and contractual cash flows are expected to
be fully collected.

The acquiree contributed revenue of HK$1,088,000 and profit
of HK$96,000 to the Group for the period between the date of
acquisition and 30 June 2020.

Had the acquisition been completed on 1 July 2019, total group
revenue for the prior year would have been HK$487,025,000,
and loss for the prior year would have been HK$125,646,000.
The pro forma information is for illustrative purposes only
and is not necessarily an indication of revenue and results
of operations of the Group that actually would have been
achieved had the acquisition been completed on 1 July 2019,
nor is it intended to be a projection of future results.

In determining the “pro-forma” revenue and profit of the
Group had Wenlan been acquired at the beginning of the prior
year, the Directors have determined amortisation of intangible
assets based on the recognised amounts of intangible assets
at the date of the acquisition.

B NEMEWHIBZ A FEREE
1,287,000t * IERWE R 2 & 404
SR EEHERBKEME LR SR

=
£ ©

AU EE B B 202096 B30 B HART -
WKRBHTAAEEEHR KB
1,088,0007T K 4 F1|7& # 96,0007 °

WU R 20197 A1 B =R - B E4F
E S5 B RWE K A 487,025,000
T o mMEFEBEB ABREK
125,646,0007T ° fEZERHEMHFHEA -
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43. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES

(a) Disposal of subsidiaries of Cinema City

Group Limited

On 18 January 2021, Cinema City Group Limited, a
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company entered into
a sale and purchase agreement with Mandarin Film
and Culture Development Limited, a company which is
beneficially owned by Mr. Wong Pak Ming (“Mr. Wong")
who is a connected person of the Company at the
subsidiary level, to dispose of the entire equity interest in
Cinema City (WL) Limited which indirectly held the entire
equity interests in Cinema City (Hong Kong) Limited,
Cinema City (Chai Wan) Limited, Cinema City (TW)
Limited and Screen Media & Promotion Limited, at a cash
consideration of HK$108,200,000. The disposed entities
are mainly engaged in cinema operation of the Group
which included four out of five cinemas operated in Hong
Kong by the Group. The disposal was completed on 26
May 2021, on which date when the control of disposed
entities passed to the acquirer.

Consideration received:

Cash received
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ire MR

For the year ended 30 June 2021 #,%202146 A30H [LF/E

43. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

For the year ended 30 June 2021 (continued)

(a) Disposal of subsidiaries of Cinema City

43. HEMEB 2T @)
HZE2021%F6H30H LFE @)

(a) HEEZHEEBRAFMN

Group Limited (Continued) BB 7] ()
Analysis of assets and liabilities over which control KREBRHECEEREBD
was lost:
Total
Mt
HK$'000
BT T
Property, plant and equipment ME - BB MR 64,391
Right-of-use assets FREEE 401,166
Rental deposits HEZe 16,210
Deferred tax assets R IBE E 40
Inventories FE 370
Trade and other receivables B 5 R HAtb fE W HIR 6,195
Bank balances and cash RITEHREE S 23,372
Trade and other payables B 5 REAMFENFIA (26,656)
Contract liabilities AHEE (9,449)
Lease liabilities HEBE (482,005)
Net liabilities disposed of BEHEABFE (6,366)
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries: HEMBAR Z WA :
HK$°000
BT T
Cash received BUIRE 108,200
Less: net liabilities disposed of B BEHEZABEFE 6,366
Gain on disposal (note 7) & 2 e (M EE7) 114,566
Net cash inflow arising on disposal: HEZRERAFEE
HK$'000
BT T
Cash received BUER S 108,200
Cash and cash equivalents disposed of EEREAREEEY (23,372)
84,828

BIRREBR R R 2020/21 3 233
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ire MR

For the year ended 30 June 2021 #,%202146 A30H [LF/E

43. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued)
For the year ended 30 June 2020

(a) Disposal of Chili Group

On 30 November 2019, the Group entered into an
agreement to dispose of the entire equity interest in
Chili Group to an independent third party, at a cash
consideration of HK$7,000,000. Chili Group is engaged
in advertising and marketing business. The disposal was
completed on 10 December 2019, on which date when
the control of Chili Group was passed to the acquirer.

(b) Disposal of Star Pictures Entertainment

(Hong Kong) Limited (“Star Pictures”)

On 30 November 2019, the Group entered into an
agreement to dispose the entire equity interest of
Star Pictures, an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of
the Company, to an independent third party, at a cash
consideration of HK$100,000. Star Pictures is engaged
in film production and distribution business. The disposal
was completed on 4 December 2019, on which date
when the control of Star Pictures was passed to the

43. HEM B2 3 @)

B Z22020F6 B30H LLFE

(a)

(b)

HECHIlIEER

72019411 8308 © KEBEF]L
W U —BBUE=FHE
RChilEB M2 IIE B2 R
& A7 %7,000,0007T ° ChiliEE
NREHEEREHER - HESFHE
R2019%F12 8108 (BEIChili£ ®
ZIERIEERERE TN E ) T
ﬁjz o

HEEMRE(FRB)BRA
([ 2R1RLE )

72019511 8308 © KEBFIL
W LA —BBUE=FHE
RAAREEE2EN B AR 2
R 2 ERE -  ReRERE
#100,0007C > 2 IRLEL =T
FRERETER - HEFER
2019% 12 A48 (BN 2 MR jR 24 7 472
HliEsE S UREE T H B ) SR ©

acquirer.
Consideration received: 2R E :
Chili Group Star Pictures Total
Chiliss# B MR gL st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETIT BT BT
Cash received BUIR & 7,000 100 7,100
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ire MR

For the year ended 30 June 2021 #,%202146 A30H [LF/E

43. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued)
For the year ended 30 June 2020 (continued)

(b) Disposal of Star Pictures Entertainment

(Hong Kong) Limited (“Star Pictures”)

(Continued)

Analysis of assets and liabilities over which control

was lost:

43. HEMEB 2T @)

HZE2020F6H30H L FE @)

(b) HEEMRE(EE)ERA

([ 2BRREE |) &)

REEHEZEEREEDIN

Chili Group Star Pictures Total

Chili£& 2 LR g4 HRET

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

BT T BT BT

Plant and equipment W E & A 10 - 10
Intangible assets B EE 5,600 - 5,600
Trade and other receivables 2B 5 & H fih f& Ui I8 486 2,039 2,525
Tax recoverable CIEEE 3 97 - 97
Bank balances and cash IRITHEB MRS 1,295 50 1,345
Trade and other payables B 5 Kk E RN FIE (659) (943) (1,602)
Net assets disposed of BEHEZEEFE 6,829 1,146 7,975

Loss on disposal: HEZES !

Chili Group Star Pictures Total

Chili%® 2 BRR gt #Et

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

BT T BT T BT T

Cash received BUWIRE 7,000 100 7,100
Non-controlling interests FEPERR M (3,963) - (3,963)
Net assets disposed of BEHEZEEFE (6,829) (1,146) (7,975)
Loss on disposal &2 EiE (3,792) (1,046) (4,838)

BIRIREBR AT 2020/21 F#
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ire MR

For the year ended 30 June 2021 #,%202146 A30H [LF/E

43. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

For the year ended 30 June 2020 (continued)

(b) Disposal of Star Pictures Entertainment
(Hong Kong) Limited (“Star Pictures”)

(Continued)

43. HEM B2 3 @)

HZE2020F6H308 L FE @)

(b) HEEMRK(FB)BRA
Bl ([ 2R |) ()

Net cash inflow on disposal: HEZESRAFHE

Chili Group Star Pictures Total

Chili& & B R gt HBEr

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

BETIT BETIT BETT

Cash consideration received B WIRE&RE 7,000 100 7,100
Cash and cash equivalents BERERRESEEY

disposed of (1,295) (50) (1,345)

5,705 50 5,755

44. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in
the Group will be able to continue as a going concern while
maximising the return to the shareholders through the
optimisation of the debt and equity balance. The Group’s
overall strategy remains unchanged from prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of cash and
cash equivalents, bank and other borrowings, loans from
related companies, loans from/amount due to the controlling
shareholder, bonds payable, lease liabilities and equity
attributable to owners of the Company, comprising share
capital and reserves.

Management reviews the capital structure on a regular basis.
As part of this review, management considers the cost of
capital and the risks associated with each class of capital.
Based on recommendations of management, the Group will
balance its overall capital structure through the payment of
dividends, new share issues as well as the issue of new debt
or the redemption of existing debt.
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For the year ended 30 June 2021 #Z2021F6 A30H It FE

45. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Financial assets SREE
Financial assets at amortised cost
Financial assets at FVTPL

EHMEE
Financial liabilities sRAE
Amortised cost B SHR R
Contingent consideration payable S AAR(E

Other payables at FVTPL
E fth A 5018

The Group’s major financial instruments include trade
and other receivables, refundable rental deposits,
financial assets at FVTPL, derivative financial assets,
loan to a related party, restricted bank balances, pledged
bank deposits, bank balances and cash, trade and other
payables, loans from related companies, loans from/
amount due to the controlling shareholder, amount
due to a joint venture, bank and other borrowings,
contingent consideration payable, bonds payable, lease
liabilities and deposits received. Details of these financial
instruments are disclosed in the respective notes. The
risks associated with the Group's financial instruments
include market risk (including currency risk, interest rate
risk and other price risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The
policies on how to mitigate these risks are set out below.
Management manages and monitors these exposures
to ensure appropriate measures are implemented on a
timely and effective manner.

REHRAGTENERMEE
B FER AR

WA ER AR

45 €T H

2021 2020
20214 20204
HK$°000 HK$'000
BT T BEET T
290,704 269,455
32,606 22,591
617,718 457,084
139,947 248,955
10,728 -

AEENTIECHMTIABTEERES
REAMEWFHIEA - REHEER
T BAFEFABZZERE
E TESREE W 2#EH
TER ZRFIRITHER  EE
HRITER - RITEHRERS
B 5 NHE MR FRIE - KB R
RAWER  REEBRERE
KRB R IR - AN —
BaELENE - RITREME
R BAHAKRE  BHES
HEREBEREWRRS  ZFE2R
TAMHEBREBHERE -8
BAEEcRmIANRREET
SRR (EFREERR - FXER
REMERERR) - FERRRR
BETRR  ARNAIREZSE
EEREBRRENTX - EEEE
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BRI RBUEE HE1E
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For the year ended 30 June 2021 #,%202146 A30H [LF/E

45. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

45b. Financial risk management objectives

and policies (Continued)

Market risk

Currency risk

Currency risk is the risk that the future cash flows of a
financial instrument will fluctuate as a result of changes
in foreign exchange rates.

The functional currency of all group companies is HK$
except for those subsidiaries operates in the PRC of
which their functional currency is RMB. At the end
of each reporting period, the carrying amount of the
monetary items of the group companies (including intra-
group balances), which are denominated in foreign
currencies, are as follows:
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45b. TRUEREE B ZERBR

(#&)

™5 B

B @b
E¥ERRATRIANRRERES
B [ S FE T K B B T R B P EE
EHI R

EEBEKRERARNIEEEY
BB MEZERPEEENN
BRARAMNINEEE/RARE -1
EHEHR - KEKE AR A
BEHENERHEEEEE(RREE
BRS¢

Assets

BE
2021 2020
2021%F 20204
HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BT IT
AUD ST = 11
RMB AR 25 3,784
usb ETT 694 1,460
EUR B 5 _
HK$ ke 1,819 1,329

The Group is mainly exposed to the foreign currency
risk of RMB and USD against HK$. Since HK$ is pegged
to USD, the Group does not expect any significant
movement in USD/HK$ exchange rate. No sensitivity
analysis is presented as management considered the
Group's foreign exchange exposure is insignificant.
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For the year ended 30 June 2021 #Z2021F6 A30H It FE

45. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Market risk (Continued)

Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future
cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate
because of changes in market interest rates.

The Group is exposed to fair value interest rate risk in
relation to fixed rate loan to a related party, restricted
bank balances, pledged bank deposits, fixed rate bank
and other borrowings, loans from related companies,
loans from/amount due to the controlling shareholder,
bonds payable and lease liabilities (see notes 25, 27,
28, 32, 33, 34, 35 and 37 for details of these balances,
respectively).

In addition, the Group is also exposed to cash flow
interest rate risk in relation to variable- rate bank balances
and bank and other borrowings.
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For the year ended 30 June 2021 #Z2021F6 A30H It FE

45. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Market risk (Continued)

Interest rate risk

If interest rate had been 50 basis points (2020: 50 basis
points) higher/lower for variable-rate bank balances and
bank and other borrowings, and all other variables were
held constant, the impact to the Group's profit (loss) for
the year would be increase/decrease is as follows:

Increase in profit for the year/decrease A% R H1, F R

in loss for the year ==V

In management’s opinion, the sensitivity analysis is
unrepresentative of the inherent interest rate risk as the
year end exposure does not reflect the exposure during
the year.

Other price risk

The Group is exposed to price risk in respect of its wealth
management products issued by banks and purchased
call option measured as financial assets at FVTPL,
contingent consideration payable and investment funds
from investors at FVTPL measured as financial liabilities
at FVTPL. The above financial instruments are exposed
to price risk because of changes in market prices, where
changes are caused by factors specific to the individual
financial instruments or their issuers, or factors affecting
all similar financial instruments traded in the market.
The fair value change of wealth management products
issued by banks is not considered to be significant
taking into account the short-term duration of such
wealth management products, while for other financial
instruments measured at fair value, the sensitivity
analysis of which has been disclosed in the fair value
measurement information in the consolidated financial
statements.
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For the year ended 30 June 2021 #Z2021F6 A30H It FE

45. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment

At 30 June 2021, the Group’s maximum exposure
to credit risk which will cause a financial loss to the
Group due to failure to discharge an obligation by the
counterparties is arising from the carrying amount of the
respective recognised financial assets as stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position.

The Group performed impairment assessment for
financial assets at amortised cost and contract assets
under ECL model. Information about the Group's credit
risk management, maximum credit risk exposures and
the related impairment assessment, if applicable, are
summarised as below:

Trade receivables and contract assets arising from
contracts with customers

In order to minimise the credit risk, the Group has a credit
control policy in place under which credit evaluations
of customers are performed on all customers requiring
credit. Other monitoring procedures are in place to
ensure that follow-up action is taken to recover overdue
debts. In addition, the Directors closely monitor the credit
quality of those counterparties and perform impairment
assessment under ECL model upon application of HKFRS
9 on trade balances individually or based on provision
matrix.

The Group measures the loss allowance on trade
receivables and contract assets at an amount equal
to lifetime ECL. Reversal of impairment loss on trade
receivables of HK$44,000 (2020: impairment loss on
trade receivables of HK$2,998,000) is recognised during
the year. Details of the quantitative disclosures are set
out below in this note.
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For the year ended 30 June 2021 #Z2021F6 A30H It FE

45. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment

(Continued)

Other receivables, loan to a related party and rental
deposits

The credit quality of other receivables, loan to a related
party and rental deposits has been assessed with
reference to historical information about the financial
position of the counterparties. The Directors closely
monitor the credit quality of those counterparties and
consider those amounts, which are neither past due nor
impaired, are of a good credit quality in view of the good
historical repayment record of such parties. In addition,
the Group performs impairment assessment under ECL
model under HKFRS 9 on these balances individually or
on a collective basis.

For the purpose of impairment assessment of other
receivables, loan to a related party and refundable rental
deposits, the loss allowance is measured at an amount
equals to 12m ECL, unless there has been a significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition, in which
case the Group recognises lifetime ECL. In determining
the expected credit losses for these assets, the Directors
have taken into account the financial position of the
counterparties, the industries they operate, as well as
their latest available operating results, in estimating the
probability of default of each of these financial assets
occurring within their respective loss assessment time
horizon, as well as the loss upon default in each case.

Restricted bank balances, pledged bank deposits and
bank balances

Credit risk on pledged bank deposits, restricted bank
balances and bank balances is limited because the
counterparties are reputable banks with high credit
ratings in the PRC and Hong Kong.

The Group assessed 12m ECL for pledged bank deposits,
restricted bank balances and bank balances by reference
to information relating to probability of default and loss
given default of the respective credit rating grades
published by external credit rating agencies. Based
on the average loss rates, the ECL on pledged bank
deposits, restricted bank balances and bank balances is
considered to be insignificant.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 30 June 2021 #,%202146 A30H [LF/E

45. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

45b. Financial risk management objectives

and policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment

(Continued)

The Group's internal credit risk grading assessment
comprises the following categories:
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ERBUR
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LAT%EE'J :

Internal Trade receivables/ Other financial
credit rating  Description contract assets assets
B REKRE
RBMEETR  FHH BHEE HitemEE
Low risk The counterparty has a low risk of default Lifetime ECL - 12m ECL
not credit-impaired
RSB T 7 R K0 AR IR >HEHEEHEE- 12EAEREEER
W R (S E R
Doubtful There have been significant increases in Lifetime ECL - Lifetime ECL -
credit risk since initial recognition through not credit-impaired not credit-impaired
information developed internally or
external resources
Tt RIBABERSINIER - EERRETS 2HEHEEEE- 2HEHEEBEE-
TR AR K I8 1S AN WARBEEEERE WARBEEEERE
Loss There is evidence indicating the asset is Lifetime ECL - Lifetime ECL -
credit-impaired credit-impaired credit-impaired
E1E FRBRREELREERE >HEHEEERE - 2HEMEEEE—
BEEEFEERE BEREEERE
Write-off There is evidence indicating that the debtor Amount is written off ~ Amount is written off
is in severe financial difficulty and the
Group has no realistic prospect of recovery
iG] EEBEREBABAERMBERE - B MEHKIE HsHRRIR
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For the year ended 30 June 2021 #,%202146 A30H [LF/E

45. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 45. TR T B @)
45b. Financial risk management objectives 45b. TRLEEIE B EREER
and policies (continued) ()
Credit risk and impairment assessment EE R FRRER G @)
(Continued)
The tables below detail the credit risk exposures of the TREIAEBEHMEERE D
Group's financial assets and contract assets, which are BERBEREBEESETGENE
subject to ECL assessment: BEEES
External Internal
credit credit 12m or Gross
rating rating lifetime ECL carrying amount
M A 128525
RETR FEFR AHEERR AEEE
2021 2020
2021% 2020
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
iz BT A¥Tx
Financial assets at amortised cost
RBERATENSREE
Trade receivables 23 N/A  Low risk (note a) Lifetime ECL 78,311 81,968
B ARWIE TER  BER(NH) 2HBHEEFE
Other receivables 23 N/A  Low risk (note b) 12m ECL 45,461 15,190
Ef el ~ER  BER(EED) N2EABRHEESE
Rental deposits 20 N/A  Low risk (note b) 12m ECL 15,089 28,267
HEZe ~ER EER(EEL) N2EARHEESE
Loan to a related party 25 AA N/A (note b) 12m ECL 2,761 -
R—&BEHAER TER (ML) 12EAEBEESE
Restricted bank balances 27 AA N/A (note ¢) 12m ECL 2,898 13,098
ZEHIRTES NER (M) 12ABSEEEE
Pledged bank deposits 28 AA N/A (note c) 12m ECL 21,668 21,667
BERRTER TER (M) NEABHEESE
Bank balances 29 AA+ N/A (note c) 12m ECL 103,823 112,263
RITEH TEB(Hie) 12ARBEEER
Other items
HitER
Contract assets 24 N/A  Low risk (note a) Lifetime ECL 23,647 16,599
EHEE TER  EBER(MEH) 2HEBEEESR
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For the year ended 30 June 2021 #,%202146 A30H [LF/E

45. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 45. £F T Em)
45b. Financial risk management objectives 45b. TRtEPR EE B ERBER
and policies (continued) ()

Credit risk and impairment assessment ZE &k & E A E @)

(Continued)

Notes: MEE -

a. For trade receivables and contract assets, the Group has a. MNEFEURFBEBRENEEM
applied the simplified approach in HKFRS 9 to measure s AEBCHEBEAEUE®R
the loss allowance at lifetime ECL. Except for debtors with SR BRI HETESR
significant outstanding balances in which ECL is assessed HBHEEEENEBEE -
individually, the Group determines the ECL on these items BREREEHEANFFNE
by using a provision matrix, grouped by internal credit FEREIE S FE R IE AN -
rating. REEFEABEERE(ERBE

EGoM)ET%REHEENE
HiEEES -

b.  For the purposes of the internal credit risk management, b. BAFEERBRERMS @ =&
the Group uses past due information to assess whether SEFERBHEENTEHEER
credit risk has increased significantly since initial BRVIRERERE B NRIE
recognition. o e
As at 30 June 2021, the balances of other receivables, M2021F6A30H @ HaEU
loan to a related party and rental deposits are not past due HIE - M—BEBEEREE
and the internal credit rating is considered as low risk. EReNEnTEAR MR

BEEFRRESHERRE -

. The Group did not provide any 12m ECL on restricted bank ) HREBITTREKN  REEW
balances, pledged bank deposits and bank balances as the EHEZREIRITEL - BT
amount is insignificant. RITERRIBITEBRERER

1218 A B B IR
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For the year ended 30 June 2021 #,%202146 A30H [LF/E

45. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 45. TR T B @)
45b. Financial risk management objectives 45b. TRLEEIE B EREER
and policies (Continued) (@)
Credit risk and impairment assessment EE R KR E S @)
(Continued)
The following table shows the movement in lifetime ECL TRINTRBHCETAARES R
that has been recognised for trade and other receivables EMEWRIBEAREHNEERR
and contract assets under the simplified approach. M2 B EEEENESIER -
Lifetime ECL
(not credit-impaired)
S HTEEE BB 1R
(WEBBREERE)
HK$'000
BT T
At 1 July 2019 R2019%F7A1H -
Impairment losses recognised ERRREEE 2,998
At 30 June 2020 R2020%F6 A30H 2,998
Impairment losses reversed B LR ERE (44)
At 30 June 2021 H2021%6 A30H 2,954
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For the year ended 30 June 2021 #Z2021F6 A30H It FE

45. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Liquidity risk

In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group
monitors and maintains a level of cash and cash
equivalents deemed adequate by Management to
finance the Group's operations and mitigate the effects
of fluctuations in cash flows. Management monitors
the utilisation of bank borrowings and other sources of
funding and considers the risk is minimal.

As at 30 June 2021, the Group had net current liabilities
of HK$31,314,000 (2020: HK$126,304,000). After taking
into account, among other things, the financial resources
available to the Group and new loan facility granted by
the controlling shareholder, the Directors are satisfied
that the Group will have sufficient working capital to
meet its financial obligations and commitments as and
when they fall due within the next twelve months from
the end of the reporting period.

The following tables provide details of the Group's
remaining contractual maturity for its non-derivative
financial liabilities based on the agreed repayment
terms. The tables have been drawn up based on the
undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based on
the earliest dates on which the Group can be required
to pay. Specifically, bank borrowing with a repayment
on demand clause is included in the earliest time band
regardless of the probability of the bank choosing to
exercise their rights. The tables include both interest and
principal cash flows.
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For the year ended 30 June 2021 #,%202146 A30H [LF/E

45b. Financial risk management objectives 45b. TR AP EIE B AZ RIBUER
and policies (continued) (&)
Liquidity risk (Continued) TEESEMB(
Weighted ~ On demand Total
average  orlessthan 3 months to undiscounted Carrying
interest rate 3 months Tyear  1-2years  2-Byears Over5years  cashflows amount
#ERY FERRS
nETEHE  ORMER  SEREIE 152k 2555 BB5E hESE 1]
% HK$ 000 HK§ 000 HK$ 000 HK§ 000 HK$ 000 HK§ 000 HK§ 000
oS BT i o S T oS T
At 30 June 2021 2021565308
Trade and other payables BAREMENE - 21,676 23,965 - - - 265,641 265,641
Investment funds from investors AT (B3 ABERE
at FVTPL REZMRELS - - 10,728 - - - 10,728 10,728
Amount due toa jointventure B -THASPEHE = 380 = . = . 380 380
Bank and other borrowings  BTREMER 3.60-15.00 314 81572 18,067 - - 103,380 96,556
Loans from related companies ~ REEEAZZES 7.00 13,843 4933 191,936 - - 210,712 188,992
Loans from the controllng ~—~~ RABRBEZEX
sharenolder 1.00 - - 30,000 12,000 - 42,000 38,560
Bonds payable EfifR 6.50-9.00 9,952 6,639 14,787 - - 31,378 21589
Contingent consideration ERASAE
payable - - 13980 29,956 49,926 - 153,862 139,947
Subtotal I 269,592 201,817 284,746 61926 - 818,081 768,793
Lease liabiltes HERg 700 6,862 57,028 78916 94,132 - 236,938 204,668
216,454 258,845 363,662 156,058 - 1,055,019 993,061
At 30 June 2020 142020565308
Trade and other payables BAREMENTE - 174,181 16,494 - - - 190,675 190,675
Amount due to the controlling ERERRERE
shareholder - 27500 - - - - 27,500 27,500
Amount due toajoint venture B[ —THALAEHE - 385 - - - - 385 385
Bank and other borrowings ﬁm&ﬁﬁﬁ%ﬁ 468 18700 4,255 45,000 - - 6795 67,000
Loans from related companis ~ KEEBLTZE 700 30,833 - 9,538 - - 12731 120,024
Bonds payable B 6.50-9.00 - 23,865 340 - - 57275 51,500
Contingent consideration ERASARE
payable 147,668 - 112,860 - - 260,528 248,955
Subtota It 399,267 44614 287,808 - - 731,689 706,039
Lease liabiles HEqE 700 38317 121,03 185,693 410449 3303 1098525 75745
437,584 165,647 473,501 410449 343,033 1830214 1,463,491

R PT E

45. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

45. TR T B @)
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45. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Liquidity risk (Continued)

Bank borrowing with a repayment on demand clause
is included in the “on demand or less than 3 months”
time band in the above maturity analysis. As at 30 June
2021, the aggregate undiscounted principal amounts of
the bank borrowing with a repayment on demand clause
amounted to nil (2020: HK$18,700,000).

Fair value measurement of financial instruments

Fair value of the Group’s financial assets and financial
liabilities that are measured at fair value on a recurring
basis

The following table gives information about how the fair
values of these financial assets and financial liabilities are
determined (in particular, the valuation techniques and
inputs used) as well as the level of the fair value hierarchy

45. €T Hm)

FENE b )

B IR BB B G R AR 1T 3K
T A EMEIER A STy [ Bk
DRZ=ZEA IRMER - 52020
F6HA30H ' FEZREREER
RZBITERORUB RS BT
AZ (20204 : %% 18,700,000
JT) °

@ TANNFEFTE

AR E MR N T EFAENA
SEsRmEENERABENQFT
{I=!
TREHREHAEETZTSREE
RemAENAFEZE(LE
SRR Z A ERM R ABR) 2
BRARRAFEFEBABE

into which the fair value measurements are categorised
(levels 1 to 3) based on the degree to which the inputs to

the fair value measurements is observable.

Financial assets/ Fair value
financial liabilities Fairvalue asat hierarchy
SREE/

tREE RTSIBBNATE ATEER

2021 2020

2021% 20208
HK$'000  HK$'000
BETr  BETR

Financial assets at FVTPL 12,274 7,040 Level 2
(note 26)

RATEIABSEZ
SREE (M)

K

JHF

Z—Iéﬁ%‘%krﬁﬁéﬂ SPA/NS =W

AKFE(E—ZE=R)2EH -
Significant Relationship of

Valuation techniques and unobservable unobservable
key inputs inputs inputs to fair value
TERTR TEFTEE BATERTRE
IZRAEE BAEE BABENER
Discounted cash flow. Future cash N/A The higher the

flows are estimated based on estimate discount

the contractual terms of wealth rate, the lower the
management products and discounted fair value.

at a rate that reflects the credit risk of

the counterparties.

HRALRE - REVECEERNGN TER [FHHRERR AT
BHRRRETHEERRMRERR ERE -
L ARAERE
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and policies (continued)

Liquidity risk (Continued)

Fair value measurement of financial instruments

(Continued)

Fair value of the Group’s financial assets and financial
liabilities that are measured at fair value on a recurring

45. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

45b. Financial risk management objectives

45. €T Hm)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FE IR R

For the year ended 30 June 2021 #,%202146 A30H [LF/E

45b. £ R E R E

(%)

EEEREEK

RENE € FE e @)

TR T AN FIEFE(E)

M EEREEZ N FEFENARN
SEHeREENERMAGBHNAYF

basis (Continued) B(&)
Significant Relationship of
Financial assets/ Fairvalue  Valuation techniques and unobservable unobservable
financial liabilities Fairvalueasat  hierarchy  key inputs inputs inputs to fair value
SREE/ ERMR IEFIEE EATERTER
tREE RTHIRHENATE ATEER IEBARE BAHE BABENER
2021 2020
01F 20205
HK$'000  HK$'000
EETn  AETR
Derivative financial 20,332 15,551 Level 3 Black Scholes model. Note (i) Note (i)
asset-purchased call The model was based on fair value and
option book value of the underlying net
assets as well as estimate of the
exercisability of the option. The fair
value of net assets was affected by
the estimated cash flows, based on
an appropriate discount rate.
fiemaE- E hRE—ABHERR - Bz FEEE )
EEARSE HEADENERFEENATERER

B KREREBRET TR
i o ENERNERE - FEENLY
EXMHRERETE -
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For the year ended 30 June 2021 #,%202146 A30H [LF/E

45. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

45b. Financial risk management objectives

and policies (continued)

Liquidity risk (Continued)

Fair value measurement of financial instruments

(Continued)

Fair value of the Group’s financial assets and financial
liabilities that are measured at fair value on a recurring

45. €T Hm)

45b. EREREEBEZRER
()
RENE € FE e @)
ST AR FEEE)

AR MEEER RN FEFENR
SEHeREENERMAGBHNAYF

basis (Continued) B(&)
Significant Relationship of
Financial assets/ Fairvalue  Valuation techniques and unobservable unobservable
financial liabilities Fairvalueasat  hierarchy  key inputs inputs inputs to fair value
SREE/ HERTR IEFIEE EATERTER
tREE RTSIRHEHATE ATEER IEBARE BAEE BABENER
2021 2020
021F 20204
HK$'000  HK$'000
EETn  A%TR
Investment funds from 10,728 N/A Level 3 Discounted cash flow. Future cash Discount rate Note (ii
investors at FVTPL flows are estimated based on the
contractual terms and discounted at a
rate that reflects the credit risk of the
counterparties.
BATETABRRE TER 2= HRRENE  REAHEIRRBYUT MRE i)
REZNRELES FEERROEELRRE AR
/)\LE °
Contingent consideration 139,947 248955 Level 3 Discounted cash flow method was used Discount rate Note (iii)
payable to capture the present value of the
expected cash outflows arising from
the contingent consideration payable,
hased on an appropriate discount rate.
ERFEARE £=8 BREFEMRE RRERREREER ERX Bk

(R ERNAARERELNESR S
RLRIRE -
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For the year ended 30 June 2021 & ZE202146 A30R I FE

45. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Liquidity risk (Continued)

Fair value measurement of financial instruments

(Continued)

Fair value of the Group’s financial assets and financial
liabilities that are measured at fair value on a recurring

basis (Continued)
Notes:

(i) Discounted cash flow method was used to determine
the fair value of underlying net assets of Wenlan. The
fair value of underlying net assets of Wenlan is most
significantly affected by estimated cash flows. The higher
the estimated cash flows, the higher the fair value of
the call option will be. A 5% increase/decrease in the
estimated cash flows, holding all other variables constant,
would increase/decrease the carrying amount of the
call option by HK$2,623,000 as at 30 June 2021 (2020:

HK$1,997,000).

(i)~ A slight increase in the discount rate used in isolation
would result in a slight decrease in the fair value
measurement of the investment funds from investors at
FVTPL, and vice versa. A 5% increase/decrease in the
discount rate holding all other variables constant would
decrease/increase the carrying amount of investment
funds from investors at FVTPL by HK$48,000.

(i) A slight increase in the discount rate used in isolation
would result in a slight decrease in the fair value
measurement of the contingent consideration
payable, and vice versa. A 5% increase/decrease in
the discount rate holding all other variables constant
would decrease/increase the carrying amount of the
contingent consideration payable by HK$623,000 (2020:

HK$538,000).
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45. €T Hm)

RENE € FE e @)
SETAMNAFEAEE)

AR EMEREER NP EAENAR
SEcRMEENRSREBENQT
B(&)

MEE

(i)

(iii)

ERERFEENATFERE
HAFRIREREAETE ° h
RS REHERAEFE
ENATENTEERKX - &
HAREREAS  REHE
B AFEBIARS - R20214
6A30H  EATAHEMES
HIRBTENBRT - Wbt
WERELN, HP5%
REHREERE®EES S
hn,/ A 2,623,000 7T
(20204 : % 1,997,000
JL) °

Fir AR Bk 2R 2= (& 51 8 45 588 hi 7%
BYR AT EGF ABREKE
REEMIREEEHM A TE
STEEMTE - R2IR °
EAAEMESHIFETER
BRT - WEEREH T
B5% - AT EFABR
REREENREZSHR
EEEERLD NS
48,0007 °

FFT F3 B 28 2 {8 1) &% 45038 hn &
BHENIARENAFE
FTEEM TR RZIMA -
EREEMEEEETIEN
BRT - WEEEREH T
B5% - B RAREBHE
EEEERD N
623,000 7T (20204 : B
538,0007T) °



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR B BT R I RE

For the year ended 30 June 2021 & Z202146 A30H L FE

45. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 45. €@ I @)

45b. Financial risk management objectives 45b. T RIEMEE B ERBEE
and policies (continued) ()
Liquidity risk (Continued) MENE SRR @)
Fair value measurement of financial instruments T TAMNATFEES(E)
(Continued)
Fair value of the Group's financial assets and financial B HEEERAFLEFENA
liabilities that are measured at fair value on a recurring EEcREENSRMABENAFE
basis (Continued) B(&)
The following table represents the reconciliation of level TERAEF=HATEFTERLE

3 fair value measurement:

Purchased
call option
CERENE
HK$’000
BT T

At acquisition date and at 30 June 2020 FUREE B H#3 X% 7A202096 A30H 15,551
Fair value change in profit or loss RIBEP A FEEE 4,781

At 30 June 2021 7202166 H30H 20,332

Investment
funds from
investors

at FVTPL
EAFE
AR
REREEN
REES
HK$'000
BT T

At 1 July 2019 and 30 June 2020 R2019F7H1H K&2020F6 A30H -
Addition i 10,728

At 30 June 2021 7202146 H30H 10,728
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KR IR M R

For the year ended 30 June 2021 #,%202146 A30H [LF/E

45. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 45. €FT H @)
45b. Financial risk management objectives 45b. TREREPR EIE B ERBUER
and policies (continued) ()
Fair value measurement of financial instruments SR T AN FEFTE(E)
(Continued)
Fair value of the Group's financial assets and financial A& & HEER N A=A
liabilities that are measured at fair value on a recurring EESREELRSRBENAF
basis (Continued) E(&)
The following table represents the reconciliation of level TREEFE=ZHAFEFTEDNY
3 fair value measurements: (Continued) iR (&)
Contingent
consideration
payable
ERRARNRE
HK$'000
ST T
At 1 July 2019 M2019%F7 818 317,390
Fair value change in profit or loss RIBXT AT EES 6,161
Settlements =N (64,047)
Exchange adjustments P& b B (10,549)
At 30 June 2020 7M2020%6 A30H 248,955
Fair value change in profit or loss REBEFHAFEEE 1,268
Settlements =N (126,995)
Exchange adjustments ME W, F8EE 19,256
At 30 June 2021 72021966 A30H 139,947
Analysis as: L=
Current liabilities mBEE 69,082
Non-current liabilities EmEaE 70,865
139,947
The contingent consideration payable measured at fair BEE=FAFEFEERER
value on Level 3 fair value measurement represents FEFENENKANRE R KE
contingent consideration payable relating to the ERREEEBAANEMNSAR
acquisition of Khorgas Group. Fair value change on B ERNSARENAFEE
contingent consideration payable is charged to profit or gz HIRR o
loss.
Fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities that WHUEF R E N FEAE
are not measured at fair value on a recurring basis (but (1EBEH AN FEFHE)NHE
fair value disclosures are required) ERTHEENATE
Management considers that the carrying amounts of EEERABEAVBEHRERANER
financial assets and financial liabilities measured at RHHERKATENSREERS
amortised cost recognised in the consolidated financial BhEENRMEREAFERS -

statements approximate their fair values.
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For the year ended 30 June 2021 #Z2021F6 A30H It FE

46. RETIREMENT BENEFIT PLANS

The Group operates a MPF Scheme for all its qualifying
employees in Hong Kong under the Mandatory Provident
Fund Schemes Ordinance. The assets of the MPF
Scheme are held separately from those of the Group in
funds under the control of trustees. Under the rule of the
MPF Scheme, the employer and its employees are each
required to make contributions to the scheme at rates
specified in the rules. The only obligation of the Group
with respect of MPF Scheme is to make the required
contributions under the MPF Scheme. No forfeited
contribution is available to reduce the contribution
payable in the future years.

The contribution to the MPF Scheme is calculated based
on the rules set out in the MPF Ordinance which is 5%
on the basic salary of the relevant employee subject to a
specific ceiling of HK$1,500.

The employees employed in the PRC are members
of the state-managed retirement benefits scheme
operated by the PRC government. The PRC subsidiary
is required to contribute a certain percentage of its
payroll to the retirement benefits scheme to fund the
benefits. The only obligation of the Group with respect
to the retirement benefits scheme is to make the
required contributions under the scheme. No forfeited
contribution is available to reduce the contribution
payable in the future years.

46. RIRERIFTE

AL BRI R G AE S B F
FIREMAEMNREENAERE
BRY-—ARESFE - BES
FPEIMEERAKREEED M
B AAFRFEAES - REBRTE
TEFEIMRA - BEREEES
B /B 1R 5 Bl #8 T #9 bL R A FT 8
Ko AREYRES A BIAME—
BEEDRBEBEEFEELAE
PR o b MR Y 4 3R AT SR
ARRFERAER -

¥R ST B MR IIRIE A
SO R AFTE - B8R
EEEAFSIHE% @ AT BE
1,500 T4 E PR AYPR ]

EHEERNEE T H S BEBT
EFMBIRE B RKENE S
KB - FENBARARZERT
BMET A DL RRKEF S
EH R DR ES - K
SEFERKRBA S M E— R (T
TR EMEL AR R - L&
E08 Y S 3K AT R 4 MURL R 2R 2
B RS K o

The total cost of HK$4,622,000 (2020: HK$3,001,000) charged AR KRB 4,622,0007T
to profit or loss represents contributions paid or payable to the (20204 : &#3,001,0007T)EAREH
above schemes by the Group for the year ended 30 June 2021. REE2021F6 A30H I FE M _Filtst

ZIE R HEK

BIRIREBR AT 2020/21 F#
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ire MR

For the year ended 30 June 2021 #,%202146 A30H [LF/E

47. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING 47. METEEENEBE2HER
FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
The table below details changes in the Group's liabilities TRV EETHEELANAEEBES
arising from financing activities, including both cash and non- B pREAeRIIFRCEE  HEED
cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities are EXANEBEERAEEBEARERER
those for which cash flows were, or future cash flows will be, RS SesEARME TS EERE
classified in the Group's consolidated statement of cash flows MRS RERAKBEESRENEGE -
as cash flows from financing activities.
Prepayment
of bond
interest
included
in trade Loans from Loans from Bank
and other Bonds related  the controlling and other Lease
receivables payable companies  shareholder horrowing liabilities Total
TARSR
HftEhzER by RH
BEHEN LD ERRRN B8R
5 Efig% £ £ ftfes HEER i
HK$ 000 HKS'000 HKS'000 RMB'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HKS'000
T EHTT EETT BB BT BT T
Note 23) (Note 35 (Note 33| (Note 34) (Note 32) Note 37)
(Fias) (Hist3s) (Hist33) (Histad) (H3E32) (Hsta7)
At T July 2019 PM019ETA1A (884) 22,000 205,969 - 65,220 814,609 1,126,914
Financing cash flows HEnSiE (3,786) 29500 107,081 21750 90 (113,086) 48409
Interests accrued Fitils 354 - 3,379 - 1,030 19679 57630
Exchange adjustments kL - - (11,809) (250) (200) - (12,258)
Acquisiion of a subsidiary JE-BHEAT - - - - - 1,051 1,01
New lsases entered BiTUMHRE - - - - - 5,199 5,199
Settlernents by issue of FRMTIEELE
nerpetual bonds - - (204,600) - - - (204,600)
At 30 June 2020 1202068308 (1,128) 51,500 120,024 27500 67,000 757 452 1,022,348
Financing cash flows BERLRE - (26,833) 571972 8417 20575 (105,124) (44,993)
Interests accrued Eitils - 4,050 9576 1379 6522 45,855 67,382
Exchange adjustments Bl A% - - 8439 6,083 2459 = 16,981
Disposal of subsidiaries HEHBAT - - - - - (482,005) (482,005)
New lease entered RHREEE - - - - - 8,490 8,490
Deemed contribution BIEfE - - (7.019) (4.819) - - (11,838)
Transfers & 1,128 (1,128) - - - - -
At 30 June 2021 H02156R308 - 27589 188,992 38,560 96,556 224,668 576,365
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KR IR M R

For the year ended 30 June 2021 #,%202146 A30H [LF/E

(1)

48. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES AND NON- 48. A ERIIEHRERSH
CASH TRANSACTION
Transactions (N x5
During the year, the Group entered into the following FRN - RNEEEBE TSI AT
significant transactions with related parties: BEARS :
Name of related party Nature of transaction 2021 2020
BB A E% XEHE 20214 2020F
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
Pzt BETT BETT
Black Hole (@) Interest expenses 6,486 3,379
Black Hole MEFX
Guangzhou Puji (a)  Interest expenses 3,090 -
Guangzhou Puiji B
Mr. Zhang (a) Interest expenses 1,379 -
SRS MEFXZ
Skynova (b)  Interestincome 61 -
Skynova B U A
Notes: s

(a)

(b)

The amounts represented the interest expenses or
imputed interest expenses for the loan advances made
to the Group from Black Hole and Guangzhou Puji which
are beneficially owned by Mr. Zhang, the controlling
shareholder and the executive director of the Company,
and Mr. Zhang.

The interest income was received from Skynova for
the loan provides to Skynova in which are beneficially
owned by Mr. Zhang, the controlling shareholder and the
executive director of the Company.

(b)

#% @ ¥ f§ Black Hole &
Guangzhou Puji( AR Al4EA%
BRRERATEERLEERE
B)RRAEEMAERIEENE
FRER SR F) B ST Sk R (R A B
FX e

Z ) B U A T Bt A Skynova 32
£ B 3 M [\ Skynova Uk BL -
Skynovaf 282 B AR AR 3R K
TESRAEERES -

BIRREBR R R 2020/21 3



For the year ended 30 June 2021 #Z2021F6 A30H It FE

48. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES AND NON- 48. BB A BHERFERER S W
CASH TRANSACT'ON (Continued)

Details of the loans from related companies, loans from/
amount due to the controlling shareholder and amount
due to a joint venture are set out in the consolidated
statement of financial position and in notes 33, 34 and
36, respectively.

During the year ended 30 June 2020, two wholly-owned
subsidiaries of the Company issued perpetual bonds
amounted to an aggregate amount of RMB186,000,000
(equivalent to HK$204,600,000) to Guangzhou Puji, a
related company in which Mr. Zhang, the controlling
shareholder of the Company has beneficial interests
in which the perpetual bonds are redeemable at the
issuers’ option on or after 28 June 2025 and the interests
are payable annually in arrears at a fixed rate of 4.5%
per annum, which may be deferred at the issuers’
discretion. The issue of perpetual bonds are solely for the
settlement of the outstanding loans from Guangzhou Puiji
and therefore it is considered as an non-cash transaction
for the year ended 30 June 2020.

TRANSMIT ENTERTAINMENT LIMITED Annual Report 2020/21

KEBEBARNER  REER
PR E R, FE A R AR AR R R IA &
BN —HaLEEREBENFR
7 BB e B B AR R M B
33+ 34}%36 ¢

HZE2020F6 8308 FFE -
ARABHMREE2EWBE QA M
Guangzhou Puji ( BB AN & &) 4%
R ERREEHEEESED D
MEAE) BITREAEREAR
¥ 186,000,000 7T ( 0 & R /& ¥
204,600,000 ) WK EFE - &
BT AREE 202546 H28
Beskz o itERKERE - F
EEFRETEFMNEA45%KH
RIS MBETATRIBLEESR
BAFE - BITXEBEREARL
Guangzhou PujiR EEE K - #)
REE2020F6 A30H It FE
RIER—HFBRERH o



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KR IR M R

For the year ended 30 June 2021 #,%202146 A30H [LF/E

48. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES AND NON- 48. BB A HBERIRERF @)
CASH TRANSACTION (continued)

(IV) Compensation of key management (IV) EEEIE A B FH
personnel
The remuneration of Directors and other key FR EERAEEHMBETEE
management personnel of the Group during the year was IBAENIHMES T -
as follows:
2021 2020
202145 20204
HK$°000 HK$'000
BET T ST T
Salaries and other allowances e LHAMER 10,347 12,190
Retirement benefit scheme RRAEFET B
contributions 436 369
10,783 12,559
The remuneration of directors and key executives is BEERTEARAENEMAE AN
determined by the remuneration committee of the NEHFMEEeREZEEAAXE
Company having regard to the performance of individuals RIS IEET o

and market trends.

>
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

%

sre PSRRI RE

For the year ended 30 June 2021 #,%202146 A30H [LF/E

THE COMPANY

49. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF

49. A 7] B AR R 3R

2021 2020
20216 20204F
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
L= BYT T BT

Non-current assets FRBEE
Investments in subsidiaries RB AR Z&%E 66,113 66,113
Plant and equipment 85 R 5% 26 40
Right-of-use assets FERBEE 327 818
66,466 66,971

Current assets REEE
Other receivables and prepayments  E b fEU R IE & T8 208 331 2,597
Amounts due from subsidiaries PPN B A R A 24,443 24,416
Loan to a related company A — R AR E R 2,761 -
Bank balances RITHE R 19,873 7,315
47,408 34,328
Current liabilities RBAE

Accruals EER 4,725 3,875
Amounts due to subsidiaries FENH B A RZIE 128,869 65,669
Loan from a related party — BB HER - 5,000
Bonds payable ERES 14,308 22,000
Lease liability HEBE 352 474
148,254 97,018
Net current liabilities FEBEERE (100,846) (62,690)

Non-current liabilities ¥nBEE
Bonds payable [ERHES 13,281 29,500
Lease liability HEBE - 335
13,281 29,835
Net liabilities =ik (47,661) (25,554)

Capital and reserves BEAR#E
Share capital A& A 38 6,489 6,489
Reserves (Note) s (FI3E) (54,150) (32,043)
Deficit in shareholders’ equity REREREA (47,661) (25,554)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KR IR M R

For the year ended 30 June 2021 #,%202146 A30H [LF/E

49. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF 49. 2 8 B ik R & (a0
THE COMPANY (continued)

The amount(s) due from/to subsidiaries and a related company FEU S FEN B A T R — R A TR
are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand. TE K - B NAIRERES o
Note: B3
Share Special Accumulated
premium reserve losses Total
R13RE RS HEtEE wct
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T BT T BT T
(Note)
(Fff5E)
At 1 July 2019 H2019%F7H18 521,046 47,196 (534,206) 34,036
Loss and total comprehensive SFREE K&
expense for the year SHEMAT A% - - (66,079) (66,079)
At 30 June 2020 720206 A30H 521,046 47,196 (600,285) (32,043)
Loss and total comprehensive £ AEE &
expense for the year 2R &% - - (22,107) (22,107)
At 30 June 2021 R2021F6 A30H 521,046 47,196 (622,392) (54,150)
Note: Special reserve represented the capital contribution from Bt : SRIRBIRREBR LD AIRIERIRE
Honour Grace Limited which is based on the total equity of AR AR (R4 )R EH R BE
Green Riches Holdings Limited (“Green Riches") at the date of WBTEITEER ©

Reorganisation.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KR IR M R

For the year ended 30 June 2021 #,%202146 A30H [LF/E

50. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE 50. 2 A AIKE D A EE S
COMPANY

a. The Company had the following a. M2021F Kk 20206 A
subsidiaries as at 30 June 2021 and 30H ' XA ABEE T
2020: Mt A = -

Issued and fully
Place of paid ordinary
incorporation/  share capital/  Attributable equity Proportion of
establishment/ registered  interest held by  voting power held

Name of subsidiary operations capital the Company by the Company  Principal activities
ERTRER
HEMERL/ LERBRE/ KAEREN NGt
MEAREHE R/ BEhE BTN FEfh I e REEHLA TEEHR

2021 2020 2021 2020
20216 20208 2021 2020%

Green Riches (Note i) BVI US$1 100% 100% 100% 100%  Investment holding

ZH (M) EERAMS (ES REBR

Pegasus Motion Pictures Hong Kong HK$1 100% 100% 100% 100%  Film production
Production Limited

AEEYHIEBRAR BE BEIT EFAE

Pegasus Motion Pictures Hong Kong HK$1 100% 100% 100% 100%  Film distribution
(Hong Kong) Limited

REEFLR(BR) & BT BY AT
BB LA

Pegasus Motion Pictures BVI US$1 100% 100% 100% 100%  Film distribution and
Distribution Limited production

AEEFRTBRARA RERLME (EF BEYRTREE

7K (Note i) PRC HK$1,500,000 100%  100% 100%  100%  Service provider of the

Group for facilitating

the establishment and

expansion of the Group's

business in the PRC
ERARE () HE 7%1,500,00070 AR R ERAEE

RAEEBNFEE

R e
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ire MR

For the year ended 30 June 2021 #,%202146 A30H [LF/E

50. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE
COMPANY (Continued)

a. The Company had the following
subsidiaries as at 30 June 2021 and

2020: (Continued)

50.

AATHE A TFEE @

a. MN2021%F Kk 2020F6 A
308 » XABEE T
MEAR @)

Issued and fully
Place of paid ordinary
incorporation/  share capital/  Attributable equity Proportion of
establishment/ registered interest held by  voting power held
Name of subsidiary operations capital the Company by the Company  Principal activities
BRTRER
ML/ ZERRE KARREN NG
MEARERE R/ BEhE ERER FEfE g REENLA TERE
2021 2020 2021 2020
20216 20206 2021 20206
Cinema City Group Limited ~ Hong Kong HK$1 100%  100% 100%  100%  Cinema operations and
management
EVNEEARAT £ BEIT PhEERER
Cinema City (WL) Limited Hong Kong HK$1 N/A 100% N/A~ 100%  Cinema operations
(Note iv)
EFM KA BRAF B B¥iT  FEA TER gl
(KIzEiv)
Cinema City (Langham Hong Kong HK$3,000,000 100% 100% 100% 100%  Cinema operations
Place) Limited
EXH (AR ERAT & 773,000,0007C gl
Cinema City (Chai Wan) Hong Kong HK$1 N/A 100% N/A 100%  Cinema operations
Limited (Note iv)
BN (2 BRAA £ BT TER TER whiEfE
(Btsziv)
Cinema City (Hong Kong) Hong Kong HK$1 N/A 100% N/A 100%  Cinema operations
Limited (Note iv)
EYR(BE)BRAR 0 B®1T  TER TER gl
(tsiv)
Cinema City (TW) Limited Hong Kong HK$1 N/A 100% N/A 100%  Cinema operations
(Note iv)
EVN(ZE)BRAA i B®1r  THERE TER FhiEfE
(BtsEiv)
Screen Media & Promotion  Hong Kong HK$1 N/A 100% N/A 100%  Film distribution, advertising
Limited (Note iv) and promotion
FRERETEERAA B BT FER TER BV BERER

(BisEv)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
/\/ \ l:l /\ﬁ%%i&?%l%# HE

For the year ended 30 June 2021 #,%202146 A30H [LF/E

50. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE
COMPANY (Continued)

50. A QA FME A AFE @

2021 %F K 2020%F 6 B
308 » XABEE T
MEAR @)

a. The Company had the following a.
subsidiaries as at 30 June 2021 and
2020: (Continued)

Issued and fully

264

Place of paid ordinary
incorporation/  share capital/  Attributable equity Proportion of
establishment/ registered  interest held by  voting power held
Name of subsidiary operations capital the Company by the Company  Principal activities
BRITRAR
MR,/ ZERRE RAEREN NG
MEARERE R/ BEhE ERER FEfE g REENLA TERE
2021 2020 2021 2020
2021F 20206 2021F  2020F
Hope Sound Limited BVI US$100 100% 100% 100% 100%  Investment holding
(“Hope Sound") (Note i)
AEERAAAE]) EBRRES 100%7T REBR
(H3ti)
Hong Kong Transmit Hong Kong HK$100 100% 100% 100% 100%  Investment holding
Entertainment Limited
ERBEREAR AT BE 1007 RERR
HEBREYIRER PRC RMB10,000,000 100% 100% 100% 100%  Cinema management and
BRAR operation in the PRC
TERRETRER i AR RAEEEREET R
BRAR 10,000,0007C
FEREXICERBRRRF  PRC RMB5,000,000  100%  100%  100%  100%  Film distribution in the PRC
TEFEBRBRAT  PE AEH RPEETEY
5,000,0007T
Shanghai Xinma PRC RMB?7,500,000 100% 100% 100% 100%  Cinema operation in the PRC
LB HE AEE RPEEE
7,500,0007T
Guangzhou Huohua PRC Note (v) 100% 100% 100% 100%  Investment holding
Investment Company
Limited (Note ii)
BMAREBRAA ik Mz v) RERR

CiED)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KR IR M R

For the year ended 30 June 2021 #,%202146 A30H [LF/E

50. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE
COMPANY (Continued)

50. A QA FME A AFE @

2021 %F K 2020%F 6 B
308 » XABEE T
MEAR @)

a. The Company had the following a.
subsidiaries as at 30 June 2021 and
2020: (Continued)

Issued and fully

Place of paid ordinary
incorporation/  share capital/  Attributable equity Proportion of
establishment/ registered  interest held by  voting power held
Name of subsidiary operations capital the Company by the Company  Principal activities
BRITRAR
ML/ ZERRE RAEREN NG
MEARERE R/ BEhE ERER FEfE g REENLA TERE
2021 2020 2021 2020
20216 20206 2021 20206
Guangzhou Daide PRC Note (v) 100% 100% 100% 100%  Investment holding
EMEE i MizE(v) RERR
Beijing Transmit Hong Kong HK$100 100% 100% 100% 100%  Investment holding
Entertainment Limited
FRERREBRAT & AE1007 REER
Transmit Creation Limited Hong Kong HK$100 100% 100% 100% 100%  Investment holding
BEEERRAT B 1007 REBR
Transmit Talent Limited Hong Kong HK$100 100% 100% 100% 100%  Investment holding
BEERBRA & A%1007T REER
Khorgas Houhai Culture Media PRC RMB12,500,000 100% 100% 100% 100%  Television series production
Company Limited
ERRIESULER # N EREIEE
AR 12,500,0007
Beijing Juhai Culture Media ~ PRC RMB3,000,000 100% 100% 100% 100%  Television series production
Company Limited
IRBEEEEARRE  # AEH ERBIEE
3,000,0007T
PNES U EEARAR  PRC RMB5,000,000  100%  100%  100%  100%  Television series production
HNEEXLEEERAR AR EREIEE
5,000,000
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
/\/ \ IZI Eﬁﬂqﬁ $&%§|}H>EJ\I_

For the year ended 30 June 2021 #,%202146 A30H [LF/E

50. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE 50. AT MEB D RAFE @
COMPANY (Continued)

a. The Company had the following a. MN2021%F Kk 2020F6 A
subsidiaries as at 30 June 2021 and 308 ' A BEET
2020: (continued) Bﬁ%i\\ﬁl > (@)

Issued and fully
Place of paid ordinary
incorporation/  share capital/  Attributable equity Proportion of
establishment/ registered  interest held by  voting power held

Name of subsidiary operations capital the Company by the Company  Principal activities
BRITRAR
MR,/ ZERRE RAEREN NG
WEARERE R/ BEhE ERER FEfE g REENLA TERE

2021 2020 2021 2020
2021F 20206 2021 2020

REBESRLER PRC Note v}  100%  100%  100%  100%  Screenwriter management
BRAR

REBEERULER HE MiEE() REIER
BIRAR]

AEEERERZERAR  PRC Note (v) ~ 100%  100%  100%  100% Artiste management

REBEREREARAT  E gl HAER

KEEREN N ER PRC Note (v) 100%  100% 100%  100%  Director management
BIRAR]

REBENHTLEE e MEE) BEER
BRAF

REEEATOULEE PRC Note v} 100%  100%  100%  100% Internet celebrity
BRAR]

REBERRILER i MiEE() fau
BRAR]

REBESHLER PRC Note v}~ 100%  100%  100%  100% Internet celebrity
BRAR

REERSIULER e MiEE() fam
BIRAR]

TRANSMIT ENTERTAINMENT LIMITED Annual Report 2020/21



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KR IR M R

For the year ended 30 June 2021 #,%202146 A30H [LF/E

50. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE 50. AT MEB D RAFE @
COMPANY (Continued)

a. The Company had the following a. MN2021%F Kk 2020F6 A
subsidiaries as at 30 June 2021 and 308 ' A BEET
2020: (continued) Bﬁ%i\\ﬁl > (@)

Issued and fully
Place of paid ordinary
incorporation/  share capital/  Attributable equity Proportion of
establishment/ registered  interest held by  voting power held

Name of subsidiary operations capital the Company by the Company  Principal activities
BRITRAR
MR,/ ZERRE RAEREN NG
WEARERE R/ BEhE ERER FEfE g REENLA TERE

2021 2020 2021 2020
2021F 20206 2021 2020

REBELHESEERAT  PRC Note v}  100%  100%  100%  100% Advertising
REEELHEEARAR  E MizE(v) EE
REBEERYI PRC RMB10,000,000 51% 51% 51% 51% Internet celebrity
BRAR(REER])
REEEFHRL i AR e
BRAR ([REER]) 10,000,0007C
EELTRR(KE) PRC Note (v) 100%  100% 100%  100%  E-commerce business
BRAR
BEEENR(KE) HhE MZE) B
BRAF
EERE(LE) R PRC Note (v) 100%  100% 100%  100%  E-commerce busingss
BRAR
BEZE(LE)ME HE fiEE() EHEK
BRAR]
Wenlan PRC RMB11,666,667 60% 60% 60% 60%  Artiste management
BN ] HE ARE EANERE
11,666,6677C

>
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
/\/ \ l:l E\ﬁﬂ_’f} $&2§M¢EJ\I;

For the year ended 30 June 2021 #,%202146 A30H [LF/E

50. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE 50. AT MEB D RAFE @
COMPANY (Continued)

a. The Company had the following a. MN2021%F Kk 2020F6 A
subsidiaries as at 30 June 2021 and 30H ' XAREEAT
2020: (continued) Bﬁ%i\\ﬁl > (@)

Issued and fully
Place of paid ordinary
incorporation/  share capital/  Attributable equity Proportion of
establishment/ registered  interest held by  voting power held

Name of subsidiary operations capital the Company by the Company  Principal activities
BRITRAR
MR,/ ZERRE RAEREN NG
WEARERE R/ BEhE ERER FEfE g REENLA TERE

2021 2020 2021 2020
2021F 20206 2021 2020

AREELEEERAR  PRC Note v}  100%  100%  100%  100% Film distribution and
production

AREBELERERAR  FE MizE() BYRITRAUE

ERRIZELEE PRC RMB5,000,000  100%  100%  100%  100%  Film distribution and
BRAT production

ERROFEUER P ARE BYRITREUE
BRAF 5,000,0007

FRERREBRAT PRC Note (v}  100% NA  100% N/A  Investment holding
(Note iii)

TREEREERAR HE fizEW) TER NER REER
(i)

BEEE UL ERERAR PRC RMB5,000,000 100% N/A 100% N/A  Television series/films
(Note i) production

REAZEERBRAF  RE ARE Tiaf TER  SRE/EFEY
(i) 5,000,0007
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ire MR

For the year ended 30 June 2021 #,%202146 A30H [LF/E

50. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE
COMPANY (Continued)

a. The Company had the following
subsidiaries as at 30 June 2021 and
2020: (Continued)

Notes:

(i) Except Green Riches and Hope Sound, all other
subsidiaries are indirectly owned by the Company.

(ii) The subsidiary is a wholly-foreign owned enterprise
established in the PRC.

(iii)  These subsidiaries were newly established/incorporated
during the year ended 30 June 2021.

(iv)  These subsidiaries were disposed of during the year
ended 30 June 2021. Details are set out in note 43.

(v) The registered capital of the subsidiaries was not yet
injected as at 30 June 2021.

None of the subsidiaries had any debt securities
outstanding at the end of the year or at any time during
the year

50. A QA FME A AFE @

a. MN2021%F Kk 2020F6 A
308 ' X BEAET
MEAR @)

GER

(i)

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

BRAERABI  AHMLN
BARIHARFIMEES

AN EENEIV Vil =T SV
BEELE -

ZEMBRRNE E2021F6
A308 IEFERFRL EMH
KL ©

ZENB AR TIRE E£20214F
6A30RIEFELE - FFHERN
Bi5E43 o

ZEKBAANEME AR
202196 B30H HAREA °

RERFIFAEMREE - ZHB
RAEEAIRERERES

BIRIREBR AT 2020/21 F#
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KR IR M R

For the year ended 30 June 2021 #,%202146 A30H [LF/E

50. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE
COMPANY (Continued)

b.

Details of non-wholly owned
subsidiaries that have material non-
controlling interests

The table below shows details of the non-wholly
owned subsidiaries of the Company that has material
non-controlling interests:

50. A QA FME A AFE @

b. BEERFERERAIF
2EWE R RIS

TREJNEAEANIFEBE DD
ARRFFREMBARNFE

Proportion of
ownership interests

Place of and voting rights Profit (loss)
incorporation and held by allocated to Accumulated
principal place of non-controlling non-controlling non-controlling
Name of subsidiary business interests interests interests
AR E R FERBERENME IREFERER
WEAREE TEREmE REZRREELH R (F8) R FERES
2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020
20215 20208 2021 20206  2021%F  2020F
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT BT BE%Tn B%Trx
Wenlan PRC 40% 40% 20,064 38 54,380 34316
BN HE
REER PRC 49% 49%  (4,210) (817) 363 4,573
REEH HE
15,854 (779) 54,743 38,889
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KR IR M R

For the year ended 30 June 2021 #,%202146 A30H [LF/E

50. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE 50. X EIMBARFEE @
COMPANY (Continued)

b. Details of non-wholly owned b. BEEEAREEZRERAIE
subsidiaries that have material 2 EM B A TS @)

non-controlling interests (Continued)

Summarised financial information in respect of the ERBEEEAREERETNAE
Group's subsidiary that has a material non-controlling BB AR IEER B EET
interest is set out below. The summarised financial TR o AT BERMERNY S
information below represents amounts before intragroup B REERE ALY -
eliminations.
Wenlan i
2021 2020
202145 20204
HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BEET T
Current assets TRENEE 66,145 5,268
Current liabilities PEB=NE (22,175) (2,856)
Non-current assets IEREEE 95,090 110,152
Non-current liabilities ERBEE (3,110) (26,774)

Equity attributable to owners of the ARNQFHA ABGHEEZ
Company 81,570 51,474

Non-controlling interests eI i 54,380 34,316
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KR IR M R

For the year ended 30 June 2021 #,%202146 A30H [LF/E

50. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE
COMPANY (Continued)

50. A QA FME A AFE @

BAEEARFFIERERMIE
2EM B A BN @)

b. Details of non-wholly owned b.
subsidiaries that have material
non-controlling interests (Continued)

For the
period from
For the year 12 March 2020
ended to
30 June 2021 30 June 2020
BZE 20204
20214 3A12B&
6H30H 20204
IEEE 6 H30H HifH
HK$°000 HK$'000
BET T ST IT
Revenue W zs 139,070 1,088
Expenses FX (88,909) (992)
Profit and total comprehensive F /NG K2
income for the year/period oL 50,161 96
Profit and total comprehensive KREEE ANEMRGEF &
income attributable to owners of EEW AL
the Company 30,097 58
Profit and total comprehensive FEE IR i o P A i R S
income attributable to 2EW AL
non-controlling interests 20,064 38
Profit and total comprehensive FEAPRE R N 2 IR A 4258
income for the year/period 50,161 96
Net cash inflow from operating KEEE RS RAFRE
activities 58,944 714
Net cash outflow from investing KEEB IR R FEE
activities (28,134) (1,540)
Net cash inflow (outflow) from MEETHZES
financing activities MACR L) FEE 571 (220)
Net cash inflow (outflow) BE&RACRE) F58 31,381 (1,046)

TRANSMIT ENTERTAINMENT LIMITED Annual Report 2020/21



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Re WIS

For the year ended 30 June 2021 & Z202146 A30H L FE

50. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE

COMPANY (Continued)

b. Details of non-wholly owned
subsidiaries that have mater

ial

non-controlling interests (Continued)

b. EREEAFERERAIIE

50. X EIMBARFEE @

2EMNE DTS @

KBER RKBER

2021 2020

202145 20204

HK$'000 HK$'000

BET T BEET T

Current assets mBEE 1,718 10,685

Current liabilities nBAIE (1,851) (1,825)

Non-current assets EREEE 871 1,687

Non-current liabilities FERBEME - (1,115)
Equity attributable to owners of NATHB AEEER

the Company 375 4,759

Non-controlling interests PR A 25 363 4,573

ERREF R AT 2020/21 F
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KR IR M R

For the year ended 30 June 2021 #,%202146 A30H [LF/E

50. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE 50. 22 B8 A AR @)

COMPANY (Continued)
b. Details of non-wholly owned b. BEEEAREEZRERAIE
subsidiaries that have material 2 EM B A TS @)

non-controlling interests (Continued)

KIEEIR (Continued) KIBZ IR (@)

For the For the period

year ended  from 13 April to
30 June 2021 30 June 2020
HZ2021F  2020F4A13H
6A30BLFE  ZE6H30RHE

HK$'000 HK$'000
BETRT AT
Revenue Wad 6,836 1,479
Expenses F (15,430) (3,146)
Loss and total comprehensive expense for i/,ﬁﬁmﬁéﬂi\&
the year/period ZEFXRE (8,594) (1,667)
Loss and total comprehensive expense ji’&ﬁj%ﬁ/gﬁ%{ﬁ%ﬁ&
attributable to owners of the Company ZEFXAE (4,384) (850)
Loss and total comprehensive expense FERESEEBER
attributable to FEAXRR
non-controlling interests (4,210) (817)
Loss and total comprehensive expense for ./ HIRBRR 2 A% 2%
the year/period (8,594) (1,667)
Net cash outflow from operating activities RERHRERLFE (7,694) (1,876)
Net cash (outflow) inflow from investing ~ REEB 2B L RH)EA
activities ek (3) 10,855
Net cash outflow from BMEEE RS MLFE
financing activities (1,115) (372)
Net cash (outflow) inflow Be(R)RNFE (8,812) 8,607
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FINANCIAL RESULTS

Revenue
Cost of sales

Gross profit

Other gains and losses

Other income

Selling and distribution expenses

Administrative expenses

Net foreign exchange (loss) gain

Fair value change on purchased
call option

Impairment loss on property,
plant and equipment

Impairment loss on interests in
associates

(Impairment loss) reversal of

s
HERA

£

B R ER
HipA
HERETHX
AHRL

B % (B8 )Wt P
ERZBHEATES

ER L)
REEE

REE N RIER
HEER

BHEEEREAE T

impairment loss on trade and other B 5 K& B ft1 fE U 518

receivables under expected
credit loss model

Impairment loss on right-of-use
assets

CEER)RESRRD

EREEERERR

Impairment loss on available-for-sale At H &R ERMREEE

investment

Impairment loss on investment in
film/drama production

Fair value change on contingent
consideration payable

Finance costs

Share of results of associates

Share of results of a joint venture

Loss (profit) before tax
Income tax (expense) credit

RARY /BB
REEE
ENRARENHAFE

BERA
2 NSIE 3
BlE—HAELEXE

KR AR R (1)
FEH (%)%

2017

20174
HK$'000
BT

225,631
(109,370)

116,261
5,353
6,593

(110,539)

(43,943)

(5,016)

(20,351)

(9)
(1,757)
13,494

(39,914)
(966)

2020

20204
HK$'000
BETT

465,534
(291,830

173,704
-580
42,348
(181,793)
(60,997)
(2,210)

(2,189)

(2,998)

(28,895)

(128,262)

P e
For the year ended 30 June
BZ6H30ALEE
2018 2019
2018F 20195
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT BETT
274,640 668,130
(136,196) (405,843)
138,444 262,287
8,608 21,055
7,681 11,347
(200,624) (207,271)
(50,981) (67,316)
1,859 (226)
(40,579) -
(22,295) (16,317)
(2,736) -
(19,613) -
- (20,511)
(262) (11,630)
74 (1,484)
445 97
(179,979) (29,969)
(10,072) (5,719)

885

2021
20214
HK$’000
BT

456,988
(325,857)

131,131
115,287
70,416
(159,453)
(82,413)

4,781

44

1,268
(67,382)

(8)

13,671
(5,450)

BIRIREBR AT 2020/21 F#
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY

B 75478 &

For the year ended 30 June

HZ6A30ALEE
2017 2018 2019 2020 2021
20174 20184 20194 20204 20215
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000
BB BETT BETT BETT BETT
(Loss) profit for the year ER(EE)RT (40,880) (190,051) (35,688 (127,377) 8,221
Other comprehensive income FREMZERA(FAS)
(expense) for the year
Items that may be reclassified Bk eET T EZ A
subsequently to profit or loss HE B
Reclassification adjustments upon ARz 7 —fEHEA R
disposal of a subsidiary included REEEEHDEAZE
in profit or loss - - 165 - -
Reclassification adjustments upon s AfB% 7 —EE L4 A7)
disposal of an associate included ~ RHEREH DAL
in profit or loss - - - (321) -
Share of exchange difference of BB E DB RAE g
associates arising on translating BELNERZ%E
foreign operation 48 (39) 305 - -
Share of exchange difference of EE—FAEC£RARE
a joint venture arising on BIEBEENELZH
translating foreign operation (2,413) 28 (133) - -
Exchange difference on translating B5MERinE 7 EH =4
foreign operation 1,116 (1,373) 5,266 (1,144) 24,144
Total comprehensive income FREARA(AS) @8
(expense) for the year (42,129) (191,435) (30,085) (128,842) 32,365
(Loss) profit for the year THALER
attributable to: FABE)RN
Owners of the Company AREHEBA (39,984) (189,750) (35,504) (126,598) (7,633)
Non-controlling interests i ER (896) (301) (184) (779) 15,854
(40,880) (190,051) (35,688) (127,377) 8,221
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EERAE
Total assets BERE 452,882 456,450 989,832 1,784,249 1,630,880
Total liabilities BERRE (145,146)  (340,149)  (903,616)  (1,578,644)  (1,381,072)
307,736 116,301 86,216 205605 249,808
Equity attributable to owners of AREEE NEG
the Company B 311,214 120,080 90,179 (37,884) (9,535)
Perpetual bonds KB - - - 204,600 204,600
Non-controlling interests FERER (3,478) (3,779) (3,963) 38,889 54,743
307,736 116,301 86,216 205605 249,308

TRANSMIT ENTERTAINMENT LIMITED Annual Report 2020/21
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